# INVESTIGATING THE CANCER STEM CELL HYPOTHESIS IN CANINE TUMOURS

Thalia M. Blacking



A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) College of Medicine and Veterinary Medicine The University of Edinburgh

2010

### DECLARATION

In accordance with the regulations of the University, I declare that this thesis has been completed entirely by myself, and that the work presented is my own, except where acknowledgement has been made in the text.

This work has not been submitted for any other degree or professional qualification.

Thalia Blacking

1 August 2010

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

With heartfelt thanks to all who gave so generously of their time and expertise to help me with this work. Special thanks to my supervisor, David Argyle, for taking me on for the project, and for his guidance, patience and advice throughout. I am grateful to my second supervisor, Donald Yool, for his help and encouragement. I would also like to thank all the members of the Argyle / Wallace research groups, past and present, for all of their support and insight, and most of all for their companionship and craic! I am particularly indebted to Rhona Muirhead, for all her help from the very start (and without whom we would all be lost); thanks also to Karen Tan for her advice with the NF $\kappa$ B work and for reading through the chapter.

To Martin Waterfall and Kay Samuel, my flow cytometry gurus, whose knowledge, endless enthusiasm and willingness to help were indispensable, and without whom I would have been very stuck on many occasions.... I could not have done this without your help - thank you.

I would have been unable to conduct many of the experiments herein without the advice of colleagues within the University, and also the generosity of those who permitted me to use their facilities. Jeremy Brown, Jon Lamb, Gerry McLachlan and all in the Wellcome corridor, Ivan Morrison, Niall McHugh and all in the CTVM, thank you. Thanks to Bob Fleming for help with the cell sorting.

Finally, a huge thanks to all of my friends and family, for endless support and encouragement throughout my studentship. In particular, to Mummy and to Aynsley - words cannot express... This work is dedicated to my father John (RIP) and my mother Zureena, for always believing in me.

#### ABSTRACT

The cancer stem cell hypothesis has recently re-emerged as a compelling paradigm for the development and progression of neoplastic disease. The hypothesis proposes that a specific subset of "cancer stem cells" (CSC), believed to share many features with normal stem cells, is exclusively responsible for maintaining tumour growth and driving progression. If the CSC hypothesis applies, it may require re-evaluation of the clinical approach to neoplasia. Spontaneous cancer in the domestic dog represents a significant welfare problem, with dogs developing many tumours strongly reminiscent of those affecting humans. This study sought to investigate whether cells with characteristics of CSC are identifiable in canine cancer.

Assays to identify, isolate and characterise CSC were adapted to the canine system, and cancer cell lines and spontaneous tumours of diverse origin evaluated for the presence of candidate populations. Whilst analysis of surface expression patterns did not identify specific subpopulations within canine cancer cell lines, these were detectable in cells derived directly from primary tumours. Assays for stem cell-associated drug resistance mechanisms could also be used to identify subsets of putative canine CSC. Formation of "tumourspheres" by canine cancer cell lines was found to be highly density-dependent, so a potentially unreliable method of isolating CSC. Expression of the cell surface glycoprotein CD44 was associated with cellular proliferation status, although it may not represent a stable canine CSC marker. The NF $\kappa$ B survival pathway, associated with apoptosis resistance of some putative CSC, was constitutively active in canine cancer cell lines; suppression using specific inhibitors could reduce cell viability, indicating that this may represent a rational therapeutic target.

Overall, these studies demonstrated that CSC assays may be adapted to the canine model system, although they require rigorous interrogation to distinguish apparent CSC attributes from basic biological properties. Cell lines have provided a stable background upon which to optimise assays, but appear less likely to demonstrate discrete CSC subpopulations. Putative CSC subsets may be more readily identifiable within heterogeneous primary tumour cells. The application of some of these adapted assays within a clinical setting may enable further characterisation of individual patients' tumours, and inform therapeutic regimes for improved treatment outcomes.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declaration	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Abstract	iii
Table of Contents	V
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	XV
List of Abbreviations	xvi

# Page

Chapter 1 - The Cancer Stem Cell Hypothesis - Theory Evidence and Implications	1
Introduction	2
Stem Cells and Cancer Stem Cells	2
Origins of the Cancer Stem Cell Hypothesis	9
Evidence for the Existence of the Cancer Stem Cell	10
Haematopoietic stem cells and leukaemia stem cells	10
Cancer stem cells in solid tumours	12
Prospective Isolation – How can you tell it's a Cancer Stem Cell?	17
Surface phenotype	17
Functional assays	19
Which Cell is the Target for Transformation?	20
Potential role of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in cancer	25
Signalling Mechanisms Regulating CSC Function	27
Bmi-1	27
Notch	28
Wnt and β-catenin	28
Markers / regulators of pluripotency - Oct4 and Nanog	30
Telomeres, telomerase and cancer stem cells	33
CSC, Metastasis and the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition	34
CSC Controversies and Alternative Hypotheses	38
Clinical Relevance of the CSC Hypothesis	43
Comparative Oncology - Spontaneous Cancer in the Dog as a	
Disease Model	45
Cancer Stem Cells in Canine Cancer	
Hypothesis and Research Questions	48

# Chapter 2

Materials and Methods	50
Cell Culture - Cell Lines	51
Culture Media	51
Thawing cryopreserved cells	53

### Page

Subculture - Adherent cells	53
Subculture - Suspension cultures	53
Cell counting	54
Cryopreservation	54
Primary Cells	55
Solid tissue	55
Isolation of bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNC)	56
Bone marrow-derived stromal cell culture	56
Isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNC)	57
Flow Cytometry	58
Protocol for antibody titration	59
Antibody staining protocol	60
Cell sorting	60
Fixation of antibody-stained cells for flow cytometry	61
Cell cycle / DNA content analysis	62
Low-density, Serum-free Culture for Tumourspheres	64
Tumoursphere passage protocol	64
Transferring tumourspheres to adherent culture	65
Chemosensitivity Assays	66
Western Blotting	68
Preparation of cell pellets	68
Cell lysis	68
Bradford assay for protein quantification	69
Western Blotting - reagents / materials	69
Buffers	70
Polyacrylamide gel preparation	70
Sample preparation	71
Sample separation and transfer	71
Blocking and primary antibody incubation	72
Secondary antibody incubation	73
Chemiluminescent detection	73
Loading control	73
Immunofluorescence	74
Coverslip preparation for adherent cell cultures	74
Preparation of adherent cells	74
Preparation of tumoursphere cells	75
Fixation and permeabilisation of samples	75
1) Methanol - Acetone	75
2) PFA - TritonX-100	75
Blocking and antibody staining	76
Microscopy	77

Chapter 3	
Flow Cytometric Techniques to Identify Cancer Stem Cells in	
Canine Tumours	78
Introduction	79
Identification of Cancer Stem Cells using Cell Surface Markers	80

CD34	80
<i>CD44</i>	80
CD24	81
CD117	81
CD133	82
Alternatives to Flow Cytometry for Surface Marker-based Isolation	83
Identification of Cancer Stem Cells using Functional Assays	84
Efflux of fluorescent substrates	84
Hoechst 33342 exclusion - the Side Population assay	84
Rhodamine 123 efflux	88
Activity of intracellular enzymes - Aldehyde Dehydrogenase	89
Materials and Methods	91
Cell Surface Phenotyping	91
Hoechst 33342 Efflux / Side Population Analysis	91
DyeCycle Violet staining protocol	92
Rhodamine Efflux Analysis	92
Aldefluor Staining Protocol for ALDH Expression	93
Results	95
Analysis of Surface Marker Expression on Canine Cancer Cell Lines	95
Demonstration of a Hoechst-effluxing Side Population within Canine	
Cancer Cell Lines	103
<i>DyeCycle Violet identifies an SP-like profile within canine BMMNC</i>	111
ABCG2 expression by canine cell lines	115
Rhodamine 123 Identifies an Effluxing Population Within Canine	
BMMNC, but not 3132 Lymphoma Cells	115
Assessment of Aldehyde Dehydrogenase Activity in Canine Cancer Cell	
Lines	119
CSC-Associated Phenotypes In Spontaneous Canine Neoplasia	122
(i) Primary Osteosarcoma	122
Cell surface markers	126
Functional assays	130
(ii) Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia	136
Cell surface markers	136
Functional assays - ALDH activity	137
Functional assays - Hoechst 33342 efflux	142
Discussion	145
Cellular subpopulations within canine cancer cell lines	145
Cellular subpopulations within canine primary tumour cells	149

# Chapter 4

Tumoursphere Culture to Isolate Canine Cancer Stem Cells	156
Introduction	157
Identifying Cancer Stem Cells in Solid Tumours	157
Propagating Solid Tissue Stem Cells - the Neurosphere Assay	158
Tumoursphere Culture to Identify Cancer Stem Cells in Solid Tumours	159
Potential advantages of tumoursphere culture techniques Staying round or going flat? Adherent cultures of brain tumour	162

stem cells	163
Interpretation of Data Gathered from Tumoursphere Culture	164
Materials and Methods	168
Tumoursphere Culture	168
Tumoursphere passage protocol	168
Limiting Dilution Assay for Population Analysis of Tumourspheres	168
Limiting Dilution Assay for Clonal Analysis of Tumourspheres	169
Results	171
Canine Cancer Cells can Proliferate as Spheres in Serum-Free,	
Low-Adherence, Growth Factor-Supplemented Conditions	171
Determinants of Tumoursphere Formation	174
Growth of Canine Cancer Cells as Spheroids results from Cellular	
Aggregation and not Autonomous Self-Renewal	179
Isolated D17 cells do not form tumourspheres	179
Single REM134 cells form small tumourspheres / serial tumoursphere	
passage does not enrich for sphere formation	181
Sphere formation in bulk tumoursphere cultures is density dependent	183
Expression Patterns do not suggest that Spheres formed by Canine Cancer	
Cell Lines Represent a Specific Stem Cell-Like Population	186
Flow cytometry	186
Western Blot	188
Immunofluorescence	190
Tumourspheres Formed by Canine Cancer Cell Lines Display No Significant	
Alterations in Sensitivity to Commonly Used Anticancer Drugs	197
Distinct Tumoursphere Populations may be Cultured from an Individual	
Spontaneous Canine Tumour	199
Discussion	203

# Chapter 5

Investigating CD44 as a Potential Cancer Stem Cell Marker in	
Canine Tumours	216
Introduction	217
CD44	217
CD44 in Cancer	218
CD44 as a Cancer Stem Cell Marker	219
Materials and Methods	221
Antibody Staining	221
Simultaneous Surface Marker and Cell Cycle Analysis	221
Colony Formation Assay	221
Tumoursphere Formation Assay	223
Drug Sensitivity Testing	223
Results	224
CD44 Expression in Canine Cancer Cell Lines Does Not Identify	
Positive Subpopulations	224
Flow Cytometric Sorting of REM134 CD44 <sup>High</sup> and CD44 <sup>Low/-</sup> Fractions	227
REM134 CD44 <sup>high</sup> Cells Proliferate More Rapidly than CD44 <sup>low/-</sup> Cells	229
REM134 CD44 <sup>high</sup> Cells Show Enhanced Colony Formation	229

REM134 CD44 <sup>high</sup> Cells Proliferate as Tumourspheres	231
CD44 Expression by Progeny of REM134 CD44 <sup>high</sup> and CD44 <sup>low/-</sup> Cells	
Returns Towards the Pattern Shown by Unfractionated Cells	234
REM134 CD44 <sup>high</sup> and CD44 <sup>low/-</sup> Cells Show Equivalent Sensitivity	
to Doxorubicin	236
CD44 Expression and Cell Cycle Distribution in Canine Cancer Cell Lines	237
Discussion	242

Chapter 6	
Cancer Stem Cells and Drug Resistance	249
Introduction	250
NFkB Signalling as a Resistance Mechanism – and Potential Drug Target	251
NFkB Inhibition as a Therapeutic Strategy	254
Can NFkB Activity be Exploited to Eradicate CSC?	256
$NF\kappa B$ inhibition to target LSC in acute myeloid leukaemia	257
$NF\kappa B$ inhibition to target CSC in breast cancer	258
CSC as a Moving Target – are Stem Cell-Associated Resistance	
Mechanisms Inherent or Acquired?	258
Materials and Methods	264
Cell Viability Assays	264
Extraction of Nuclear Protein for EMSA Assays	264
Buffers for nuclear protein extraction	264
Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assay (EMSA) for NFkB Activity	265
End-labelling of oligonucleotide sequences with DIG	266
Gel-shift binding reaction	266
Gel electrophoresis and electroblotting	266
Chemiluminescent detection	266
Cell Cycle Analysis / Cell Morphology After NFkB Inhibition	267
Drug Combination Assays	267
Development of Drug-Resistant Cell Lines	268
Results	269
Sensitivity of Canine Cancer Cell Lines to Chemotherapy Drugs	269
Canine Cancer Cell Lines Show NFkB Transcription Factor Activity	272
Inhibition of NFkB in Canine Cancer Cell Lines	275
Can Suppression of NFkB Signalling Potentiate the Effects of	
Conventional Chemotherapy on Canine Cells?	281
Does NFkB Inhibition Preferentially Target Putative CSC Subsets in	
Canine Cancer?	285
Can Exposure to Cytotoxic Drugs Modulate the CSC Phenotype?	287
Chemoresistance of cells chronically exposed to cytotoxic drugs	287
Side population and rhodamine efflux analysis of drug-adapted cells	291
Expression of ABCG2 by drug-adapted cells	293
Inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B in drug-adapted cell lines	293
Discussion	295
NFkB as a Therapeutic Target in Canine Cancer	295
Mechanisms of Acquired Drug Resistance and Effects on the CSC	

Phenotype Implications of CSC-Associated Resistance Mechanisms	297 300
Chapter 7 Discussion	306
Chapter 8 Bibliography	318
Appendix - Published papers	359

Blacking, T.M., Wilson, H. & Argyle, D.J., Veterinary & Comparative Oncology 2007 "Is cancer a stem cell disease? Theory, evidence and implications." 5(2):76-89

### Argyle, D.J. & Blacking, T.M., Veterinary Journal 2008

"From viruses to cancer stem cells: dissecting the pathways to malignancy." 177(3):311-23

# LIST OF FIGURES

Chapter 1 -

The Cancer Stem Cell Hypothesis - Theory, Evidence and Implications	1
Figure 1 – Hierarchical organisation of normal tissue	4
Figure 2 – Stem cell division patterns	5
Figure 3 – Models of tumour heterogeneity	7
<b>Figure 4</b> – The CSC hypothesis can account for observations of tumour	
behaviour	8
Figure 5 – Origin of the CSC	23
<b>Figure 6</b> – Proposed role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in carcinoma	
metastasis	36
Figure 7 – Summary of biological features associated with CSC	39
<b>Figure 8</b> – Tumour progression may involve a combination of CSC and	
clonal evolution paradigms	43

# Chapter 3

Flow Cytometric Techniques to Identify Cancer Stem Cells in	
Canine Tumours	<b>78</b>
Figure 1 - Staining of normal canine BMMNC - CD34, CD117, CD133	96
<b>Figure 2</b> - Relative position of normal CD34 <sup>+</sup> /CD117 <sup>+</sup> /CD133 <sup>+</sup> BMMNC	97
Figure 3 - Standard gating strategy used to determine surface expression	98
Figure 4 - REM134 cells showing apparent staining for CD24	100
Figure 5 - 3132 - Equivalent binding of CD24 and isotype control antibody	100
Figure 6 - CD44 expression by canine cancer cell lines	101
Figure 7 - Staining of MCF-7 cells for CD44 and CD24	102
Figure 8 – Side population profile - normal canine BMMNC	104
Figure 9 - Side population profile - MCF-7 cells	105
Figure 10 – Side population profile - REM134 cells	107
Figure 11 – Hoechst efflux analysis - CML10, SB cells	109
Figure 12 – Inconsistent Hoechst staining profile - D17 cells	109
Figure 13 – Side population profile - CatMT cells	110
Figure 14 - DCV identifies an SP-like profile within canine BMMNC	112
Figure 15 – Side population analysis - 3132 cells	114
Figure 16 – Western blot - ABCG2 expression by cancer cell lines	115
Figure 17 - Rhodamine efflux analysis of normal canine BMMNC	116
Figure 18 - Rhodamine efflux analysis of 3132 cells	118
Figure 19 - Analysis of normal canine BMMNC using Aldefluor	120
Figure 20 - Aldefluor analysis of established canine cancer cell lines	121
Figure 21(i) - Heterogeneity of kt-osa cells at derivation	123
Figure 21(ii) – Variable morphology in kt-osa populations at derivation	123
Figure 21(iii) - Reduced morphological heterogeneity of ktosa cells upon	
repeated subculture	124
Figure 22 - DNA content of canine osteosarcoma cell lines	125
Figure 23 - Expression of CD44 on kt-osa populations	126
Figure 24 - Loss of CD133 expression by kt-osa1 cells	128
Figure 25 - Loss of CD117 expression by kt-osa1 cells	129

Figure 26 - Hoechst efflux analysis of kt-osa1 cells	130
Figure 27 - Rhodamine efflux analysis of kt-osa populations	131
Figure 28a - Aldefluor analysis of kt-osa1 cells	133
Figure 28b - Aldefluor analysis of kt-osa4 cells	134
Figure 29 - CD34 expression by canine ALL BMMNC	137
Figure 30a - Aldefluor analysis of canine ALL BMMNC	138
Figure 30b - Aldefluor analysis of canine ALL PBMNC	139
Figure 31 - Aldefluor analysis of ALL BMMNC, excluding myeloid cells	140
Figure 32 - Aldefluor analysis of canine ALL PBMNC, after treatment	141
Figure 33 – Sorted canine ALL PBMNC treated with cyclophosphamide	143
Figure 34 – Hoechst efflux analysis of canine ALL PBMNC	144
Chapter 4	
Tumoursphere Culture to Isolate Canine Cancer Stem Cells	156
Figure 1 – Principle of the tumoursphere assay	161
Figure 2 – Tumoursphere formation by canine cancer cell lines	172
Figure 3 – Coalescence / fusion of D17 tumourspheres	173
<b>Figure 4</b> – D17 sphere after transfer to serum-containing conditions	173
<b>Figure 5</b> – D17 tumourspheres in absence of growth factor supplementation	174
<b>Figure 6</b> – D17 cells in tumoursphere culture demonstrating attachment	175
Figure 7 – D17 adherent and AdhGF cells	176
<b>Figure 8</b> – Tumoursphere formation by SB and CML10 cells in response to	
additional supplementation	178
Figure 9 – D17 limiting dilution assay	180
Figure 10 – Non-linear relationship between cells/well and tumoursphere	101
Figure 11 Tymourgehere formation by DEM124 calls in single call account	101
Figure 12 DEM124 tymourgheres in single cell assay	102
Figure 12 - KEW154 tumourspheres in single cell assay at 10 u.i.v.	102
Figure 13 – Density-dependent tumoursphere growth of $D17$ and $SD$ certs Figure 14 – Exponential growth of $D17$ and $REM134$ cells as tumourspheres	184
Figure 15 – Cells proliferating as tumourspheres are not rare in bulk culture	185
<b>Figure 16</b> – Tumoursphere cells show greater variation in size and	105
complexity and greater autofluorescence than adherent cells	187
<b>Figure 17</b> – Assessment of surface staining on tumoursphere cells	187
<b>Figure 18</b> – REM134 tumoursphere cells show reduced expression of CD44	188
<b>Figure 19</b> – Western blot analysis for expression of Oct4	189
<b>Figure 20 -</b> Autofluorescence of D17 tumoursphere	191
<b>Figure 21</b> - Immunofluorescent staining of bone marrow-derived stromal cells	191
Figure 22 - Immunofluorescent staining of D17 tumourspheres	191
Figure 23 - Inappropriate localisation of pluripotency-associated	
transcription factors within D17 and REM134 tumourspheres	193
<b>Figure 24</b> - Apparent positive staining of tumourspheres through alteration	
of exposure factors	195
Figure 25 - Apparent positive staining of tumourspheres through post-	
acquisition image processing	196
Figure 26 - Viability of tumoursphere cells in response to cytotoxic drugs	198
Figure 27 - Tumoursphere formation by kt-osa cells	200
Figure 28 – Tumourspheres formed by kt-osa populations	200

<b>Figure 29</b> – Transfer of kt-osa4 tumourspheres to serum-containing culture <b>Figure 30</b> – Tumourspheres derived from repeatedly subcultured kt-osa cells	201 202
Chapter 5	
Investigating CD44 as a Potential Cancer Stem Cell Marker in	
Canine Tumours	216
Figure 1 – Structure of CD44 gene	217
<b>Figure 2</b> – CD44 surface expression by canine (and feline CatMT) cell lines	225
Figure 3 – CD44 expression by MCF-7 cells	225
<b>Figure 4</b> – CD44 expression by kt-osa cell populations	226
Figure 5 – FACS of REM134 cells based on CD44 expression	228
<b>Figure 6</b> – Adherent growth of REM134 cells sorted for CD44 expression	230
Figure 7 - Colony formation by CD44-sorted cells - culture plates	230
Figure 8 - Colony formation by CD44-sorted cells - culture plates	231
Figure 9 – CD44 expression on REM134 tumourspheres is reduced in	
comparison with adherent cells	232
<b>Figure 10</b> – Tumoursphere formation by sorted REM134 CD44 <sup>low/-</sup> and	
CD44 <sup>high</sup> cells	233
<b>Figure 11</b> – CD44 expression by progeny of REM134 CD44 <sup>High</sup> , CD44 <sup>Low/-</sup>	
and unfractionated cells	235
<b>Figure 12</b> –REM134 CD44 <sup>High</sup> and CD44 <sup>Low/-</sup> cells treated with doxorubicin	236
<b>Figure 13</b> – Cell cycle distribution of REM134 CD44 <sup>High</sup> , CD44 <sup>Low/-</sup>	
and unfractionated cells	237
<b>Figure 14</b> – Cell cycle profiles of CD44 <sup>Low</sup> and CD44 <sup>High</sup> canine cancer cells	238
<b>Figure 15</b> - Relative proportions of CD44 <sup>Low</sup> and CD44 <sup>High</sup> cells in phases	
of the cell cycle	240
Chapter 6	
Cancer Stem Cells and Drug Resistance	249
<b>Figure 1</b> – Canonical and alternative NFκB pathways	253
Figure 2 – Models for drug resistance in tumours	260
Figure 3 – Cell viability in response to doxorubicin and mitoxantrone	271
Figure 4 – Cell viability in response to vincristine and carboplatin	271
<b>Figure 5</b> – Nuclear NF $\kappa$ B activity in cancer cell lines	274
<b>Figure 6</b> – Cell viability in response to indirect inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B	276
<b>Figure 7</b> – Cell viability in response to direct inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B	276
<b>Figure 8</b> – Cell cycle - D17 cells treated with 3.5nM ISNI	279
<b>Figure 9</b> – Cell cycle - REM134 cells treated with 40 µM WDL	280
<b>Figure 10</b> – Photomicrographs - canine cancer cells after treatment with	
NFKB pathway inhibitors	281
<b>Figure 11</b> – WDL antagonises the cytotoxic effect of doxorubicin on	
REM134 cells	283
<b>Figure 12</b> – ISNI does not enhance the cytotoxic effect of doxorubicin	
on D17 cells	284
<b>Figure 13</b> – NF $\kappa$ B inhibition does not selectively eliminate nutative	
REM134 CSC populations	286
Figure 14 – Increased resistance of 3132Drug cells	289
<b>Figure 15</b> - Increased resistance of MCF7Drug cells (500 cells/well)	290

Figure 16 – Increased SP of cells chronically exposed to doxorubicin	291
Figure 17 – 3132Drug cells do not show rhodamine efflux capacity	292
<b>Figure 18</b> – ABCG2 detection by western blot analysis of 3132Drug	
and MCF7Drug cells	293
Figure 19 – 3132Drug cells do not show increased sensitivity to	
inhibition of NFkB	294
Chapter 7	
Discussion	306
Figure 1 – Maintenance of a CSC population within a cell line	309

### LIST OF TABLES

### Chapter 2

Chapter 2		
Materials and Methods	50	
<b>Table 1</b> – Origin and source of cell lines used in experiments, and growth		
media used for culture	52	
Table 2 - Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies used for flow cytometry	58	
<b>Table 3 -</b> Concentration of fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies <b>Table 4 -</b> Example of dilution series for antibody titration		
Table 6 – Therapeutic plasma concentrations (TPC) for humans of		
commonly-used chemotherapy drugs	66	
Table 7 - Preparation of polyacrylamide gels	71	
Table 8 – Primary antibodies for western blotting / immunofluorescence	72	
Table 9 – Test and control samples for immunofluorescent staining	74	
Chapter 3		
Flow Cytometric Techniques to Identify Cancer Stem Cells in		
Canine Tumours	78	
Table 1 – Optimal conditions for SP discrimination	106	
<b>Table 2</b> – Titration of assay conditions for SP analysis of 3132 cells	106	
Table 3 – Summary of titration of Hoechst efflux by REM134 cells	107	
Table 4 - Summary of titration of Hoechst efflux by CatMT cells	111	
Table 5 - Summary of CSC-associated properties shown by kt-osa cells	135	
	150	
Chapter 5		
Investigating CD44 as a Potential Cancer Stem Cell Marker in		
Canine Tumours	216	
<b>Table 1</b> – Frequency of cells in each phase of the cell cycle for CD44 <sup>Low</sup>		
and CD44 <sup>High</sup> fractions	239	
<b>Table 2</b> – Proportion of cells in $G_0/G_1$ and $G_2/M$ phases for CD44 <sup>Low</sup> and		
CD44 <sup>High</sup> fractions	239	

## Chapter 6

Cancer Stem Cells and Drug Resistance	249
<b>Table 1</b> – Calculated IC <sub>50</sub> values of chemotherapy drugs for canine cancer	
cell lines	270
<b>Table 2</b> – Calculated IC <sub>50</sub> values of NF $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitors for canine	
cancer cell lines	275

### ABBREVIATIONS USED IN TEXT OF THESIS

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ABCG2	ATP-binding cassette, Subfamily G, Member 2
ALDH / ALDH1-A1	Aldehyde dehydrogenase / Isoform 1-A1
ALL	Acute lymphoblastic leukaemia
AML	Acute myeloid leukaemia
AP	Alkaline phosphatase
APC	Adenomatous Polyposis Coli tumour suppressor protein
APS	Ammonium persulphate
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
B27	B27 neural cell growth supplement
BAA	Bodipy-Aminoacetate
BAAA	Bodipy-Aminoacetaldehyde
BCRP	Breast cancer resistance protein
bFGF	Basic fibroblastic growth factor
BM	Bone marrow
BMMNC	Bone marrow mononuclear cells
BMSC	Bone marrow-derived stromal cells
bp	Base pair
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CD44s	CD44 standard form
CD44v	CD44 variant forms
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukaemia
CLP	Common lymphoid progenitor
CML	Chronic myeloid leukaemia
CMP	Common myeloid progenitor
CO <sub>2</sub>	Carbon dioxide
CSC	Cancer stem cell/s
DAPI	4',6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrocloride
DCV	Vybrant DyeCycle Violet
ddH <sub>2</sub> O	Double distilled water
DEAB	Diethylamino-benzaldehyde
DIG	Digoxigenin
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMEM-F12	DMEM / Hams's F12 nutrient mixture
DMEM-HG	High glucose (4.5g/dl) DMEM
DMEM-LG	Low glucose (1g/dl) DMEM
DMSO	Dimethyl sulphoxide

DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ds	Double stranded
DTT	Dithiothrietol
ECL	Enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid
EGF/R	Epidermal growth factor / receptor
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay
ESC	Embryonic stem cell
ESA / EpCAM	Epithelial surface antigen / Epithelial cell adhesion molecule
FACS	Fluorescence activated cell sorting
FCS	Foetal calf serum
FGFR	Fibroblastic growth factor receptor
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
FSC	Forward scatter
g	Relative centrifugal force
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GMP	Granulocyte monocyte precursor
НА	Hyaluronate
HBSS	Hank's buffered salt solution
HEPES	4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazineethanesulfonic acid
HFSA	Hospital for Small Animals
Но	Hoechst 33342
HSA	Haemangiosarcoma
HSC	Haematopoietic stem cell
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of KB
IC <sub>50</sub>	Inhibitory concentration – 50% toxicity
IKK	IκB kinase
ISNI	InSolution NF <sub>K</sub> B activation inhibitor
IU	International units
KCl	Potassium chloride
LSC	Leukaemia stem cell
MACS	Magnetic-activated cell sorting
MC	Methylcellulose
MDR	Multidrug resistance
MEP	Megakaryocyte-erythroid precursor
MFI	Mean fluorescence intensity
MgCl <sub>2</sub>	Magnesium chloride
MM	Multiple myeloma

Mesenchymal stem cell
Mammalian target of rapamycin
3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
Sodium chloride
Sodium fluoride
Bottenstein's N2 neural cell growth supplement
Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain enhancer of B cells
Non-obese diabetic/severe combined immunodeficient
Nonidet-P40 (octylphenoxypolyethoxyethanol)
Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
Peripheral blood
Peripheral blood mononuclear cells
Phosphate buffered saline
PBS with 0.05% w/v Tween 20
PBS with 0.1% w/v Tween 20
Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
Platelet-derived growth factor
Phycoerythrin
Phycoerythrin-Cyanine5
Penicillin-Streptomycin
Paraformaldehyde
P-glycoprotein
Propidium iodide
Phosphoinositide-3 kinase
Photomultiplier tube
Phosphatase and tensin homolog
Royal (Dick) School of Veterinary Studies
Rel homology domain
Rhodamine 123
Ribonucleic acid / messenger RNA
Ribonuclease
Reverse transcriptase polymerase chain reaction
Severe combined immunodeficient
Sodium dodecyl sulphate
Small interfering RNA
SCID leukaemia-initiating cell
Side population
Side scatter

STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3
TBE	Tris/borate/EDTA
TEMED	N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor-beta
TK / TKI	Tyrosine kinase / Tyrosine kinase inhibitor
TPC	Therapeutic plasma concentration
TSC	Tissue stem cell
UV	Ultraviolet
VEGF/R	Vascular endothelial growth factor / receptor
WBC	White blood cell
WDL	Wedelolactone
w/v	Weight for volume
w/w	Weight for weight

### **CHAPTER 1**

### THE CANCER STEM CELL HYPOTHESIS -

# THEORY, EVIDENCE AND IMPLICATIONS

#### Introduction

The concept of the "tumour stem cell" has existed in one form or another for many decades. However, over the past fifteen years, this idea has crystallised into a subject of intense interest, as well as considerable debate. The cancer stem cell hypothesis proposes that a specific subset of cells within a tumour is exclusively responsible for sustaining its growth, acting in a manner similar to the stem cells in normal tissues. If this is the case, it could have profound implications for cancer therapy.

Here is presented the theory underlying, and some of the key evidence in support of, the cancer stem cell hypothesis. Mechanisms and markers which may identify the putative cancer stem cell (CSC) are examined, and the controversies surrounding the hypothesis discussed. Also explored is the concept that, where the CSC hypothesis is applicable, it may require re-evaluation of the clinical approach to neoplastic disease.

### Stem Cells and Cancer Stem Cells

In normal adult mammalian tissues, a balance exists between the loss and the production of cells which maintains the steady state of normal tissue renewal. The rate of turnover varies according to the tissue in question, with some being constantly renewed (*e.g.* epithelia and cells of the haematopoietic system), and some formed during development and thereafter showing little regenerative capacity (*e.g.* neural tissue) under physiological conditions.

Within a given tissue, a hierarchy exists within the cell population in terms of the ability to divide and provide new cells for tissue renewal. At the apex of this hierarchy is the Tissue Stem Cell (TSC, also Adult Stem Cell), which can produce all the cells of the tissue in question. This TSC gives rise to more committed precursor or "transit-amplifying" cells, which are more numerous and cycle more frequently than the stem cells, but are restricted in terms of the cell types they can produce. The majority of cells are terminally differentiated and have tissue-specific functions, but

do not have the ability to divide or differentiate (Figure 1) (Weissman, 2000; Reya *et al.*, 2001; Pardal *et al.*, 2003; Sell, 2004).

This process of *determination*, by which progeny at different levels in the hierarchy acquire the differentiated properties of the functional tissue, but gradually lose the ability to proliferate and become restricted in their potential, remains poorly understood. Sell describes the structure of a tissue as analogous to a tree, with the scarce pluripotent TSC represented by the trunk, the progenitor/transit amplifying cells the branches, and the numerous differentiated tissue cells the leaves; the falling of the leaves is likened to the process of apoptosis, whereby proliferation is balanced by controlled loss (Sell, 2004).

Embryonic stem cells (ESC) are described as "totipotent" – that is, their progeny can go on to form any cell type in the developed individual. Somatic or adult stem cells, i.e. those present in formed tissues, have a more restricted differentiation pattern and are termed "multi-" or "pluripotent" (these terms are frequently used interchangeably). The germinal stem cell, which produces the sex cells (oocytes / spermatozoa) is the third kind of normal stem cell (Sell, 2004). These rare cells share the two defining properties which have become accepted as definitive of stem cells – firstly, they have the capacity for unlimited self-renewal, and secondly, they are capable of multilineage differentiation to generate the mature cells of a particular tissue (Reya *et al.*, 2001). Stem cells may self renew by dividing symmetrically (producing two identical stem cells) or asymmetrically (producing an identical stem cell and a more differentiated progeny cell) (Figure 2). By virtue of this unlimited self-renewal capacity, a stem cell can continue to divide (though often infrequently and interspersed by periods of quiescence) for the lifetime of the host.



Figure 1 – Hierarchical organisation of normal tissue - schematic.

A - Stem cells exist at the apex of a cellular hierarchy in normal tissues. Successive differentiation through a variable number of transit amplifying stages results in the generation of terminally differentiated cells with tissue-specific function. B – Hierarchical tissue organisation, exemplified in the haematopoietic system. Schematic illustrating critical stages of lineage divergence. As well as self-renewing, haematopoietic stem cells (HSC) may produce common myeloid or lymphoid progenitors (CMP / CLP), which in turn give rise to the precursors of the respective terminally differentiated cell types. MEP – megakaryocyte-erythroid precursor; GMP – granulocyte-macrophage precursor; Pro-T – Pro-T cell; Pro-B – Pro-B cell.



**Figure 2** – Stem cell division patterns. Asymmetrical division gives rise to an identical stem cell (self-renewal) and a more differentiated daughter cell, maintaining the stem cell pool. Symmetrical division may lead to formation of two identical stem cells (self-renewal), increasing the stem cell pool, or two more differentiated progeny, with consequent depletion of the stem cell component.

Cancer can be viewed as the acquisition by a cell/tissue of 6 fundamental properties (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000) -

- Self-sufficiency in growth signals
- Insensitivity to growth-inhibitory (antigrowth) signals
- Evasion of apoptosis
- Limitless replicative potential
- Sustained angiogenesis
- Tissue invasion and metastasis

This has classically been viewed as a multistep process, whereby cells initially accrue mutations enabling proliferation in an unregulated manner, and subsequently those allowing invasion of surrounding tissues and spread to distant sites (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). Early or premalignant manifestations are recognised for many cancers, where cells display several characteristics of the later malignant neoplasm but act in a less aggressive fashion until further transformation allows growth and spread, such as carcinoma-in-situ, or early colonic polyps seen in Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (Leedham *et al.*, 2005).

However, many phenomena recognised in cancer *in vivo* and *in vitro* have been hard to reconcile with this notion of one cell which, having acquired sufficient mutations, may proliferate to create multiple identical clones of itself. These include the observations that *in vitro*, a limited proportion of cells will demonstrate the capacity to proliferate to form clones, and that *in vivo* models frequently require inoculums of many thousands to millions of cells to induce tumour formation (Bruce and Van Der Gaag, 1963; Hamburger and Salmon, 1977; Griffin and Lowenberg, 1986). This heterogeneity amongst populations of genetically identical (albeit abnormal) cancer cells is also apparent histologically, particularly in more "well-differentiated" tumours, which often have a well-defined structural microanatomy that includes all the elements of the corresponding normal tissue.

The stochastic or "clonal evolution" model ascribes heterogeneity in the cancer cell population to ongoing genetic / genomic instability, combined with the effects of the microenvironment, leading to aberrant replication and the generation of multiple cancer cell phenotypes (Nowell, 1976; Clarke *et al.*, 2006; Dick, 2008). It holds that all cells within a tumour are competent for tumourigenesis – that any cell has the potential to proliferate and give rise to more cancer cells - but that the probability of an individual cell achieving this is limited – hence "stochastic". Another way in which heterogeneity might arise within a tumour is if the normal pyramidal process of proliferation and differentiation becomes deranged, such that a hierarchy of cells is produced, but in a dysregulated manner. This is the basis of the cancer stem cell hypothesis (Reya *et al.*, 2001) (Figure 3, Figure 4).

The hypothesis postulates that a specific subset of cells exists within a tumour, which have the capacity both to self-renew and to differentiate into all the different cell

types which make up the tumour. The progeny of these "cancer stem cells" (CSC) have more restricted potential – as such, in the same way as normal tissues are derived through successive differentiation and amplification from the stem cell component, the tumour is ultimately maintained by the CSC (Clarke *et al.*, 2006) (Figure 4).



### Figure 3 – Models of tumour heterogeneity

A – Cancer stem cell paradigm - CSC (red), through successive differentiation steps, give rise to all of the different cell types within the tumour, and may also self-renew to produce other CSC. Progeny cells have more restricted potential. CSC are thus biologically distinct from the majority of tumour cells and sustain tumour growth and progression. These inherent properties may be predicted, allowing the identification and prospective isolation of tumourigenic cells.

B – Clonal evolution paradigm – Heterogeneity arises through the acquisition of additional mutations (genetic / epigenetic) under the influence of intrinsic and extrinsic factors such as genetic instability, the environment or drug therapy. This results in distinct tumour cell populations based on the prevailing selective pressures. All cells may be inherently tumourigenic, but behaviour is stochastic and cannot be accurately predicted.



**Figure 4** – The CSC hypothesis can account for observations of tumour behaviour A – When dissociated and plated *in vitro*, some cancer cells do not form colonies; when transplanted *in vivo*, a large number of cancer cells must be inoculated in order to form a tumour. The CSC model predicts that only CSC, and not more differentiated progeny, have the unlimited self-renewal potential and multilineage differentiation capacity required to propagate the malignancy.

B – Even after apparent elimination of a tumour, disease may recur following cancer therapy. The CSC model predicts that this is due to the survival of CSC, which if not eradicated may recapitulate disease, leading to relapse.

C – Not all cells which disseminate from the primary tumour will form active metastases, but metastases show the cellular heterogeneity seen within the primary tumour. The CSC model predicts that dissemination of CSC - but not restricted progeny - to distant sites may result in the formation of secondary tumours with phenotypic characteristics of the primary tumour.

#### **Origins of the Cancer Stem Cell Hypothesis**

The idea that cancer results from the abnormal growth of primitive cells with extensive differentiation potential is not new. As far back as the 1800s, the pathologists Virchow, Cohnheim, Durante and Beard contributed to the formulation of the "Embryonal Rest" hypothesis, proposing that cancer arises from embryonic cells which become displaced during development and persist in adult tissues (Sell, 2004; Huntly and Gilliland, 2005). Experiments with both haematopoietic and solid malignancies between the 1960s and the 1980s demonstrated that, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, only a small percentage of cells isolated from a tumour was clonogenic, i.e within a tumour there was variability in the ability of cells to proliferate (Bruce and Van Der Gaag, 1963; Hamburger and Salmon, 1977; Griffin and Lowenberg, 1986; Huntly and Gilliland, 2005).

If heterogeneity amongst tumour cells results from the "hijacking" of normal differentiation processes, clear parallels can be drawn between the behaviour of normal tissue stem cells and the putative CSC. The degree to which the cell types within a tumour may be remarkably reminiscent of those in the normal system is epitomised in teratocarcinoma. The presence of strikingly "normal" tissues, such as formed teeth, hair, brain, muscle, skin, eyes, bone and intestine, within teratocarcinomas suggests that these tumours arise from abnormalities affecting a multi- or totipotent cell (Sell and Pierce, 1994; Reya *et al.*, 2001; Huntly and Gilliland, 2005).

Several prominent investigators in the 1970s and 1980s, notably Van Potter, Barry Pierce and Stewart Sell, argued that this (and by extension other tumours including carcinomas) might be brought about through superimposition of malignancy upon normal stem cells, with resultant "maturation arrest" creating a caricature of the normal tissue (Potter, 1978; Potter, 1987; Sell and Pierce, 1994).

Supporting this were observations made in many tumour types that cancer cells could show characteristics of more than one lineage, suggesting that transformation had

occurred in a multipotential cell (Sabbath *et al.*, 1985; Gorai *et al.*, 1997; Hellmen *et al.*, 2000). Investigations were restricted, however, by a limited understanding of the normal stem cell hierarchy. More recently, advances in the field of cell biology have renewed interest in stem cells and their properties, and facilitated more detailed examination both of their regenerative potential and how they might be involved in carcinogenesis (Weissman, 2000; Pardal *et al.*, 2003).

#### **Evidence for Existence of the Cancer Stem Cell**

#### Haematopoietic stem cells and leukaemia stem cells

The normal haematopoietic stem cell (HSC) is probably the best-defined of the adult TSC, although still not fully characterised (Figure 1B). As well as lacking the cell surface markers associated with specific, terminally differentiated haematopoietic lineages (Lin<sup>--</sup>), these cells express the cell surface marker CD34, but not CD38 (expression of which occurs later in the differentiation process). HSC were first demonstrated by their ability to reconstitute the bone marrow of lethally irradiated mice (Till and McCullough, 1961). Mirroring this work, experiments using severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice, which lack B and T cells, indicated that normal HSC become engrafted in the bone marrow and could proliferate to recapitulate mature human haematopoietic lineages (Baum *et al.*, 1992; Vormoor *et al.*, 1994).

Work by John Dick and colleagues demonstrated that transplantation of these mice with cells from human haematopoietic malignancies could be performed in the same way. SCID mice injected with cells from human acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) developed disease with a similar course to that seen in man (Kamel-Reid *et al.*, 1989), and similar recapitulation of human disease was seen for chronic phase and blast crisis chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML), and for acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) (Lapidot *et al.*, 1994; Sirard *et al.*, 1996). Significantly, however, it was found that when cells from human AML were fractionated according to cell surface marker expression, inoculation of the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> subset produced disease similar

to that of the unsorted cells. Moreover, CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup> cells and CD34<sup>-</sup> cells did not produce leukaemia in the recipient. The frequency of these "SCID Leukaemia-Initiating Cells" (SL-IC) was estimated as 1 in 250000 total cells by limiting dilution assay (Lapidot *et al.*, 1994).

However, the SCID mouse model had a number of limitations, precluding definitive demonstration of tumour recapitulation properties, and it was possible to show these similarities between the SL-IC and normal HSC for only one leukaemia subtype. It was only after the development of the non-obese diabetic (NOD)/SCID mouse, which has additional immune response deficits (e.g. lack of Natural Killer cell activity and complement activation), that the engraftment experiments could be refined to show that SL-ICs had properties which met the definition of CSC. One of the problems with the SCID model had been the need to transplant large numbers of host cells to ensure engraftment in the recipient. It was demonstrated that 10 to 20 times fewer cells were required in the NOD-SCID mice to achieve the same level of engraftment (Bonnet and Dick, 1997).

Experiments using the NOD/SCID model system showed that, for a range of AML subtypes, both unfractionated bone marrow samples and purified CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> cells could reproduce the phenotype of the original human tumour in the recipient animal. This was seen even when the CD34<sup>+</sup> purified fraction represented a tiny (0.2%) proportion of blast cells in the human tumour. In the NOD/SCID recipient mouse, the heterogeneous human-derived blast population (with CD38 expressed by almost all cells, even when transplanted cells had been CD38<sup>--</sup>) seemed to evoke normal haematopoietic differentiation.

Cells could be further transplanted into a secondary recipient, once again recapitulating the tumour; self-renewal was inferred by calculations suggesting that the SL-IC population must have expanded 30-fold. Thus, the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>--</sup> fraction specifically possessed both self-renewal and multilineage differentiation capacity. These findings were compelling evidence that for AML, transformation had occurred at the stage of the primitive stem cell, and that the heterogeneous leukaemic

population represented the differentiated but proliferation-restricted progeny of this cell, in the manner of the parent-progeny relationships seen for normal HSC (Bonnet and Dick, 1997).

A similarly hierarchical organisation, with a distinct, leukaemogenic stem cell (LSC) population, has since been reported for many different forms of haematological malignancy (Cozzio et al., 2003; Jamieson et al., 2004; Passegue et al., 2004). As well as demonstration that tumourigenicity is held within specific sorted cellular fractions, some studies have introduced specific gene mutations into isolated haematopoietic cell types, and shown that only certain of these are capable of producing disease. For example, Passegue et al. (2004) showed that in a murine model of CML, inactivation of the transcription factor JunB in HSC, but not more committed cells, resulted in a myeloproliferative disorder with marked expansion of the granulocyte progenitor compartment and progression to blast crisis. Only transplantation of JunB-deficient HSC, and not myeloid precursors, could recapitulate the disease in immunosuppressed recipients (Passegue et al., 2004). Although the function of JunB in myeloid neoplasia is not yet fully understood, more recent work has indicated that in the normal situation it acts to limit the proliferation of HSC whilst not affecting self-renewal potential, thus controlling the production of myeloid progenitors (Santaguida *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, whilst the malignancy manifests itself in this myeloid compartment, it originates from a lesion occurring more proximally in the developmental hierarchy.

#### Cancer stem cells in solid tumours

The extension of the CSC hypothesis to solid tumours has been more challenging experimentally. Probably the most significant factor in the demonstration of hierarchical organisation within haematopoietic malignancies has been an appreciation of that within the normal system, which is more clearly defined than that in most solid tissues. Importantly, cell surface markers for normal stem cells and their more differentiated progeny have been identified, facilitating the isolation and comparison of distinct populations.

For many solid tissues, understanding of the normal relationships between progenitors and progeny remains more limited, and assays which reliably identify stem cells have yet to be developed. A further obstacle is the physical nature of the tissues. Not only are cells generally larger and more fragile than blood cells, but often less accessible – for example, whilst blood or bone marrow sampling is likely to occur on multiple occasions during the course of a haematological disorder, solid tumour tissue is often available only at the time of surgery (and/or biopsy). This introduces either the requirement for immediate dissociation and analysis, which may be technically challenging as well as deleterious to viability, or initial expansion in culture, which may lead to a less accurate representation of cellular composition. In either case, the complex architecture and interplay between the various elements (including stromal and vascular components) of the mass, as well as its relationship to surrounding normal tissue, is unlikely to be well represented.

One technique which has become central to many studies investigating CSC in solid tumours is the "Neurosphere" assay. The system was developed and first reported in 1992 by Reynolds *et al*, as a means of propagating normal neural stem cells. They found that, under serum-free, low-density culture conditions and supplemented with epidermal growth factor (EGF), stem and progenitor populations of embryonic rat striatal cells could proliferate as clonal, spheroid clusters (neurospheres) whereas most (>99%) cells died (Reynolds *et al.*, 1992; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992).

Not only did neurosphere cells express the neuroepithelial stem cell marker nestin, but they had the capacity to differentiate into distinct populations expressing neuronspecific enolase (NSE) and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), markers for the neuronal and astrocytic lineages respectively. Dissociation of spheres and re-seeding led to generation of secondary spheres, at greater frequency than that seen when using unfractionated cells. Thus, the assay conditions and presence of EGF seemed to select for multipotent stem cells, defined by their capacity for self-renewal and multilineage differentiation (Reynolds *et al.*, 1992). Critically, the technique presented a means by which primitive progenitors might be isolated, identified and propagated in culture.

As well as contributing towards the characterisation of normal (and by extension cancerous) neural stem cells, the neurosphere technique has been widely adapted as a means of enriching putative stem and progenitor cells from a wide variety of normal tissues and tumours. The ability to propagate a putative CSC population as "tumourspheres" for further characterisation is particularly significant where tumour tissues might only be accessible on a single occasion. The assay has limitations, and observations must be carefully interpreted (Reynolds and Rietze, 2005; Singec *et al.*, 2006) – nonetheless, along with flow cytometry, it has provided the basis for many reports of CSC identification.

Between 2000 and 2003, three separate reports from Eric Holland and colleagues reported that neural progenitor cells underwent transformation (increased proliferation (Fults *et al.*, 2002), tumour formation (Holland *et al.*, 2000; Dai *et al.*, 2001)) more readily than more differentiated cell types, in experiments inducing overexpression of the proto-oncogene Myc, the oncogenes Ras and Akt, and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF). It was also reported for the first time that using the neurosphere technique, cells could be derived from human brain tumours which showed self-renewal and multilineage differentiation capacity but were transcriptionally distinct from normal neurosphere-forming clones (through expression of mediators of the Notch signalling pathway, associated with cell fate determination and self-renewal) (Ignatova *et al.*, 2002).

2003 saw publication of the first evidence for the hypothesis that, within a solid tumour, all of the tumourigenic potential might be held by a fraction of the cells (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003). Al-Hajj *et al.* used flow cytometry to separate cells from human primary and metastatic breast carcinomas according to the expression of cell surface markers. For all but one tumour, cells in the CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup> fraction required much lower inoculums (ten to fifty times fewer cells) than the unsorted population to form tumours in immunosuppressed mice. Tumourigenicity

was further enhanced by additionally selecting for those cells expressing high levels of ESA (epithelial surface antigen, epCAM).

Significantly, CD24<sup>+</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells were unable to form tumours except in one subject. CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup> Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells could be serially passaged in mice, forming tumours from which further CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells could be isolated (i.e. self-renewal capacity), as could be the other nontumorigenic cell populations found in the original tumour (i.e. multilineage differentiation) (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003). The ability to demonstrate these two cardinal CSC properties *in vivo* was considered a breakthrough in the demonstration of the CSC hypothesis, and this remains one of the most frequently cited experimental reports in the field. Critical also was the fact that these cells had been *prospectively* identified – confirming the concept that it might be possible to accurately predict the identity of the solid tumour CSC, making it a relevant clinical target.

Much of the earliest published work on prospective isolation of tumourigenic CSC relates to brain and breast cancer. The isolation was reported of brain tumour stem cells from a number of human nervous system cancers including astrocytomas, glioblastoma multiforme, medulloblastomas and ependymomas. The cells formed neurosphere clones in serum-free culture in the presence of mitogenic growth factors, and showed multipotent differentiation capacity when placed back into adherent culture, with the ability to form all of the lineages seen in the initial tumour (Ignatova *et al.*, 2002; Hemmati *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2003; Galli *et al.*, 2004; Singh *et al.*, 2004).

Expression of the foetal neuronal stem cell marker CD133 was also associated with these putative CSC populations (Hemmati *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2004). The *in vivo* ability of neurosphere (Hemmati *et al.*, 2003; Galli *et al.*, 2004) or CD133<sup>+</sup> cells (Singh *et al.*, 2004) to recapitulate the primary tumour mass was tested by subcutaneous and/or intracranial (orthotopic) transplantation in rodents. The resulting xenografts showed striking similarities to the tumours from

which the progenitors were derived, albeit with a "peculiar histomorphology" in some cases (Galli *et al.*, 2004).

CSC with transplantable tumourigenic capacity were also isolated from human breast cancers according to their ability to form spheroid clones *in vitro*. A low-adherence, clonal density serum-free *in vitro* culture system had been developed in the laboratories of Max Wicha, and could be used to propagate "mammospheres", enriched in mammary stem/progenitor cells, from normal human mammary tissue. As with the neurosphere assay, most primary mammary epithelial cells died under these conditions, but a few generated spheroidal colonies of cells. These were capable of self-renewal (passage), and of differentiation into the three cellular lineages seen in adult mammary tissue (Dontu *et al.*, 2003).

Extending this, Ponti *et al* described derivation of mammosphere-forming cells from human primary breast tumours and the well-characterised human luminal breast carcinoma cell line MCF-7, which could be serially passaged *in vitro*. Cells within mammospheres were reported as having a predominantly CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>Low/-</sup> surface expression pattern, consistent with the findings of Al-Hajj *et al*, and also to express the embryonic stem cell-associated transcription factor Oct4. Isolated CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>Low/-</sup> cells formed xenografts in immunocompromised mice, phenotypically similar to the human breast tumours from which they originated (Ponti *et al.*, 2005).

Similarly, the identification of candidate  $CD44^+\alpha_2\beta_1$ -integrin<sup>High</sup> normal prostate stem cells (Collins *et al.*, 2001) facilitated the purification of a population of putative prostatic CSC. These cells also expressed the brain tumour stem cell-associated surface marker CD133 (Richardson *et al.*, 2004). Although it had been observed in many of the brain cancer reports that the frequency of putative CSC appeared to positively correlate with the aggressiveness of the tumour, no association was found between the frequency of prostatic CSC and Gleason score (by which primary prostate tumours are graded) or metastatic status (Collins *et al.*, 2005).
Since these initial reports, putative CSC populations have been reported for primary cells and cell lines representing a wide range of solid tumours, including lung, liver, pancreatic, gastric, colon, nasopharyngeal, head and neck, ovarian and endometrial cancers, osteosarcoma and melanoma (Chu *et al.*, 1997; Bapat *et al.*, 2005; Fang *et al.*, 2005; Gibbs *et al.*, 2005; Dalerba *et al.*, 2007; Harper *et al.*, 2007; Li *et al.*, 2007; Ma *et al.*, 2007; Monzani *et al.*, 2007; O'Brien *et al.*, 2007; Ricci-Vitiani *et al.*, 2007; Atsumi *et al.*, 2008; Fujii *et al.*, 2008; Chan *et al.*, 2009; Hubbard *et al.*, 2009).

#### Prospective Isolation – How can you tell it's a Cancer Stem Cell?

#### Surface phenotype

A wide variety of surface markers, singly or in combination, has been used to isolate putative CSC from tumour cells and cell lines. These include CD34, CD44, CD49, CD117, CD123 and CD133 (Bonnet and Dick, 1997; Singh *et al.*, 2004; Collins *et al.*, 2005; Jin *et al.*, 2006; Suetsugu *et al.*, 2006; Li *et al.*, 2007; Ma *et al.*, 2007; Monzani *et al.*, 2007; Chiou *et al.*, 2008; Hong *et al.*, 2008; Hurt *et al.*, 2008; Yang and Chang, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2008a; Jin *et al.*, 2009; Takaishi *et al.*, 2009). Other putative CSC subsets are characterised by their lack of expression of certain markers (such as CD38 for AML stem cells, or CD138 for those of multiple myeloma) (Bonnet and Dick, 1997; Matsui *et al.*, 2004). Indeed, although the seminal breast cancer work done by Al-Hajj is frequently cited as evidence of CD44's status as a putative CSC marker, the report shows that CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup> cells did not show enhanced tumourigenicity – indeed, many specimens were predominantly CD44<sup>+</sup> - suggesting that CD24 expression level is more significant in this model (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003).

Markers tested for a given tumour have frequently been selected based on their ability to isolate tumourigenic fractions in other tumour types. CD133, for example, has been reported to enrich for CSC in tumours from a variety of tissues including colon, lung, liver and melanoma (Ma *et al.*, 2007; Monzani *et al.*, 2007; O'Brien *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2008), although prior to early brain tumour stem cell reports it

was recognised primarily as a marker of primitive haematopoietic, endothelial and neural cells (Handgretinger *et al.*, 2003; Hristov and Weber, 2004; Hess *et al.*, 2006).

The utility of CD133 expression as a CSC marker is a subject of some debate, particularly as detection method appears to have considerable bearing upon results (Bidlingmaier *et al.*, 2008; Smith *et al.*, 2008; Boegl and Prinz, 2009), as does glycosylation status of the protein. Indeed, whilst data from two groups, published simultaneously in 2007, described isolation of tumourigenic CD133<sup>+</sup> colon CSC (O'Brien *et al.*, 2007; Ricci-Vitiani *et al.*, 2007), other investigators reported soon after this that they had found CD133<sup>-</sup> cells to show similar activity to the CD133<sup>+</sup> fraction (Shmelkov *et al.*, 2008). This is critical – arguably, to substantiate the CSC hypothesis (by confirming hierarchical organisation within a tumour), it is as important to show that specific cells are *not* tumourigenic as to show that others are.

It is becoming clear that there is unlikely to be a universal CSC marker. Significantly, the function of some surface markers employed in CSC isolation, including CD133 and CD34, remains unclear. Also, it is not always clear why a given expression pattern should be associated with more tumourigenic cells – for example, although a CD24<sup>low/—</sup> phenotype is reported for many putative CSC populations, CD24 has been associated with enhanced proliferation, motility and invasion of cells in breast cancer as well as other solid and haematopoietic tumours (Baumann *et al.*, 2005; Lim and Oh, 2005; Kim *et al.*, 2007).

Conversely, tumourigenic pancreatic and colorectal carcinoma cells are described which express high levels of CD24 (Li *et al.*, 2007; Vermeulen and al., 2008), and work by Shipitsin *et al* suggested that the CD24<sup>+</sup> cells of some human breast tumours were genetically distinct from (rather than the progeny of) CD44<sup>+</sup> cells (Shipitsin *et al.*, 2007). Thus, it appears that CSC markers may vary, not only between tumours of diverse origin, but possibly also between individual types and/or subtypes (or even individual tumours) derived from the same tissue. This will necessitate testing with a wide range of candidate markers to establish and refine the surface phenotype of putative CSC.

Certain biological associations can inform these choices – for example, CD44, whilst not a defined epithelial stem cell marker, is generally expressed more heavily in the basal layers of epithelia (including prostatic and breast), where self-renewing cells are located (Alho and Underhill, 1989; Abbasi *et al.*, 1993; Collins *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, whilst CD34 is expressed in haematopoietic and endothelial tissues (Baum *et al.*, 1992; Asahara *et al.*, 1997), it seems unlikely that it would identify stem (or any other) cells of mesenchymal or epithelial origin, as it is not associated with these cell types at any stage of differentiation. Nonetheless, cancer is a disorder characterised by cellular mutation, and derangements of normal surface phenotype are likely.

#### Functional assays

As well as providing a platform for analysis of surface phenotype, flow cytometry is widely used to investigate the utility of functional stem cell assays for detecting CSC. The most frequently described of these is a technique which assesses efflux of Hoechst 33342 through demonstration of a "side population".

The side population (SP) phenotype was first identified in haematopoietic stem cells – when incubated with the fluorescent substrate Hoechst 33342, a minority subset of murine bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNC) were able to efflux the dye, and showed low Hoechst fluorescence at flow cytometry (Goodell *et al.*, 1996). These Hoechst-dull cells, representing approximately 0.05% of whole murine BMMNC, fell to the side of the bright-staining main population of cells and were predominantly positive for the murine HSC marker Sca-1 but negative for markers of more differentiated cells. When isolated by FACS, cells in the SP were enriched for repopulating capacity; intriguingly, the cells were negative for the classical HSC marker CD34, and have thus been postulated to represent an even more primitive CD34<sup>-</sup> population of HSC (Goodell *et al.*, 1996).

Subsequently, the technique was used to identify putative normal stem cell populations in a variety of tissue types. The dye-efflux SP phenotype for

haematopoietic and several other tissue progenitor cells has been associated both *in vitro* and *in vivo* with expression of the ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporter ABCG2 (Zhou *et al.*, 2001; Scharenberg *et al.*, 2002), thought to facilitate these cells' long lifespan by allowing them to efflux toxic substances. Critically, this membrane transporter protein also plays an important role in multiple drug resistance in cancer (Bunting, 2002; Doyle and Ross, 2003).

In 2004,Kondo *et al* described the presence of an SP phenotype in several cancer cell lines upon Hoechst efflux analysis, including the well-characterised rat C6 glioma and human MCF-7 breast carcinoma. The SP fraction (0.4%) of C6 glioma was increased in serum-free neurosphere culture, showed multilineage differentiation capacity and was more tumourigenic than non-SP cells (Kondo *et al.*, 2004). The same year, Hirschmann-Jax *et al* reported an SP phenotype in 5/5 human neuroblastoma cell lines and 15/23 (65%) of primary human neuroblastomas, as well as a variety of human tumour cell lines including those of breast, colon, ovary and brain (Hirschmann-Jax *et al.*, 2004). The technique has since been used to isolate SP cells from many tumours and cancer cell lines, and variously reported to enrich for cells showing CSC-associated attributes such as surface marker expression, drug resistance and tumourigenicity (Wang *et al.*, 2007; Chua *et al.*, 2008; Engelmann *et al.*, 2008; Mutsui *et al.*, 2008; Wu and Alman, 2008).

The demonstration of this phenotype in a subpopulation of tumour cells is consistent with the concept of a CSC fraction, with stem cell-associated properties, which may escape from cytotoxic challenge and mediate relapse after chemotherapy. Other assays developed to identify HSC based on resistance mechanisms, such as expression of the enzyme aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH), have been employed to identify putative CSC populations in cancer (Pearce *et al.*, 2005; Ginestier *et al.*, 2007; Matsui *et al.*, 2008, Preffer and Dombkowski, 2009).

#### Which Cell is the Target for Transformation?

The term "cancer stem cell" to describe a cell with the functional capacity to maintain tumour growth has led to considerable confusion within the CSC field. For

a cell to be considered a stem cell, it must have two cardinal properties – the ability to self renew, and the ability to give rise to all of the cell types within the relevant tissue. This also applies to CSC. This does not, however, equate to an assertion that the CSC must have arisen from the transformation of a normal stem cell. Although alternative nomenclature has been suggested, including terms such as "Tumour-Initiating Cell" and "Tumour-Propagating Cell", these have not necessarily helped to resolve this misconception (Clarke *et al.*, 2006; Jordan, 2009).

An improved understanding of how stem cells are arranged within normal tissues has enabled experiments using targetted expression / deletion strategies, to determine the cell in which mutations initially arise. Region-specific p53 mutation implicated neural stem and/or transit-amplifying populations in the subventricular zone of the brain as the source of glioma precursors in a murine model – whilst not in itself conveying a growth advantage, the mutation was permissive for further oncogenic mutations in affected cells (Wang *et al.*, 2009).

Similarly, facilitated by identification of a normal LGR5<sup>+</sup> stem cell compartment at the crypt base in normal colon, it was found that knockout of the APC tumour suppressor in these cells (but not more differentiated transit-amplifying cells) resulted in rapidly expanding adenomas (Barker *et al.*, 2009). Nonetheless, as even proponents of the hypothesis will point out, in a fully developed tumour, further mutations are likely to occur. Thus, the CSC maintaining the tumour will not necessarily be the same cell that sustained the initial oncogenic "hit" (Clarke *et al.*, 2006).

As discussed, many of the attributes of normal stem cells make them attractive candidates for malignant transformation into CSC. They are "pre-programmed" for self-renewal and multilineage differentiation. They persist and continue to divide for the lifetime of the host, allowing them more opportunity to accrue transforming mutations in tissues where turnover is rapid, such as epithelia. In many cases, isolated putative CSC are phenotypically similar (e.g. expression of cell surface markers) to the corresponding normal tissue stem cell. The functional attributes

which might enable putative CSC to persist after therapy, such as drug efflux capacity and (more speculatively) quiescence, are features of many normal stem cell populations (Reya *et al.*, 2001).

At the same time, multipotent stem cells represent a small minority of cells within a tissue. An individual stem cell would be a very small target population for the accumulation of sufficient mutations to confer a neoplastic phenotype. Also, pathways controlling normal stem cell function, such as the Wnt- $\beta$ -catenin pathway, show specific mutations in many cancers (Reya *et al.*, 2003; Reya and Clevers, 2005) – this would perhaps be unexpected if normal stem cell processes had simply been co-opted during tumourigenesis. Moreover, normal stem cell resistance mechanisms such as enhanced DNA repair capacity, quiescence or resistance to xenotoxic substances, might be expected to protect them from acquiring mutations, with their downstream progeny more susceptible.

Polyak and Hahn propose 3 models for the origin of CSC (Polyak and Hahn, 2006) (Figure 5):

- A mutation causes dysregulation of asymmetric division in a tissue stem cell (TSC), and is passed on to all progeny. Progression to full transformation occurs in this progeny population as further mutations are acquired.
- 2) The TSC itself acquires mutations sufficient for malignancy, and passes these on to all progeny.
- The transit-amplifying cells or more differentiated progeny accrue mutations leading to dedifferentiation and acquisition of stem-cell like properties; TSCs themselves are not involved.

Evidence exists to support all of these mechanisms as a potential source of CSC.





A – Initial mutation arises in tissue stem cell and is passed on to progeny; acquisition of further mutations by progeny leads to full neoplastic transformation.
B – All of the mutations required for neoplastic transformation occur in tissue stem cell, and are passed on to progeny.
C – Initial and subsequent mutations, including the capacity for unlimited self-renewal, arise in more differentiated cell types - tissue stem cells are not involved.

(Adapted from Polyak and Hahn, 2006 Nature Medicine, 12, 296-300).

For example, both primitive HSC and committed myeloid progenitors produce a transplantable murine model of AML when transduced with a Mixed Lineage Leukaemia (*MLL*) fusion gene. Moreover, the phenotypic characteristics were identical in leukaemias derived from transplanted HSCs, common myeloid progenitors (CMP) or granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMP), suggesting that transformation could occur in both primitive or more committed cells (Cozzio *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, whilst development of malignant gliomas *in vivo* occurred more readily upon induction of autocrine PDGF signalling in neural progenitors, induction in differentiated astrocytes also induced tumour formation in mice, enhanced by loss of function of the *Ink-4a* tumour suppressor locus (Dai *et al.*, 2001).

By contrast, mutation of the CEBPA transcription factor (seen in 7-10% of human AML) in a murine model appears to have the HSC as the target for transformation. This produces a "pre-leukaemic" state whereby cells show slight increases in proliferative capacity. However, in this leukaemia subtype, the leukaemia stem cell

(LSC) arises downstream in the myeloid compartment, although it has a specific expression profile (CD117<sup>+</sup>, Sca1<sup>-</sup>, Mac1<sup>+</sup>) which is distinct from either HSC or myeloid progenitors (Kirstetter *et al.*, 2008; Bereshchenko *et al.*, 2009).

A preleukaemic cell was also reported in elegant studies of childhood B-cell ALL in a pair of monochorionic twins, one of whom had developed leukaemia as the result of a chromosomal translocation generating an abnormal fusion protein (TEL-AML1). Low numbers of TEL-AML1-positive cells were also detected in the peripheral blood of the normal twin. The disease is associated with production of an aberrant CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-/low</sup>CD19<sup>+</sup> cancer-propagating clone – again, low numbers of cells with this phenotype could be detected in the normal twin, although analysis of V-D-J recombination status indicated that the cell was at an earlier stage of differentiation than the LSC observed for the leukaemic twin. Collectively, the results of this study suggested that the initial fusion mutation had arisen at HSC or pro-B cell stage, leading to a preleukaemic cell, with progression to disease in the leukaemic twin after additional loss of the normal TEL allele (Hong *et al.*, 2008).

Although the "dedifferentiation" of a committed cell into one with more primitive, stem-like properties might seem an unlikely event, it has been shown in the fruit fly *Drosophila melanogaster* that cells during early development can be induced to revert to germinal stem cells (Kai and Spradling, 2004). Moreover, rather than full reversion to a TSC, the cardinal property to be acquired by a more committed cell, if it is to function as a CSC, is self renewal – as will be discussed further, *de novo* alterations affecting self renewal capacity are frequently observed in cancer. For example,  $\beta$ -catenin is the downstream effector protein of Wnt signalling, associated with self-renewal and proliferation. In CML, increased nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin was reported in myeloid progenitors as the disease advanced to blast crisis, whilst levels in HSCs remained stable. *In vitro* self-renewal capacity was demonstrated both by GMPs from leukaemic patients, and by normal GMPs with forced  $\beta$ -catenin expression, suggesting that disease might originate in a more committed cell if it acquired stem cell-like attributes (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004).

It has also been proposed that, rather than unlimited self-renewal capacity being conferred by gain-of-function mutations, it may in fact be a "default" pathway (seen, for example, in most single-celled organisms). Thus, if tissue specialisation relies on a balance between self-renewal, differentiation and cell death, any cell in which apoptosis is prevented or differentiation is blocked (the effects of many of the mutations seen in cancer) could act as a self-renewing CSC (Passegue *et al.*, 2003).

Observations made in cancer may contribute to understanding of normal stem cell hierarchies. For example, one hallmark feature of CML is the Philadelphia chromosome – this truncated chromosome 22 results from a reciprocal translocation with chromosome 9, and produces the BCR-ABL fusion protein. The protein occurs in multiple haematopoietic lineages in CML, suggesting that the translocation event arises in a HSC (Daley, 2004; Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). Studies of normal haematopoiesis have recently suggested that there exists an even more primitive population of precursors within the bone marrow, the putative "haemangioblast", which gives rise to both haematopoietic and endothelial lineages (Schatteman and Awad, 2004). Consistent with this, demonstration of BCR-ABL expression in *endothelial* cells from a CML patient may point to the mutational event having occurred in a cell preceding the HSC in the haematological hierarchy, with greater differentiation potential (Gunsilius *et al.*, 2000).

#### Potential role of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in cancer

Adult mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) are widespread in normal bone marrow (hence the alternative terminology "bone marrow-derived stromal cells", BMSC); they have also been isolated from other tissues, including adipose tissue. These cells show remarkable plasticity, with multilineage potential including adipogenic, chondrogenic and osteogenic differentiation capacity (Pittenger *et al.*, 1999). They also have the ability to mobilise and migrate in the circulation to distant sites, in response to tissue stress including chronic inflammation and injury, where they may promote repair processes including angiogenesis (Lapidot *et al.*, 2005). These cells do not express telomerase and show limited self-renewal *in vitro* (Zimmermann *et*  *al.*, 2003), undergoing replicative senescence after multiple passage (Baxter *et al.*, 2004), although some evidence suggests that they may be susceptible to transformation in long-term culture, resulting in immortalisation (Rubio *et al.*, 2005; Izadpanah *et al.*, 2008).

MSC show a number of similarities with tumour cells, including an "undifferentiated" phenotype, proangiogenic influence and a propensity for migration. The complex, co-ordinating mechanisms involved in the recruitment of MSC to distant sites are also reported to influence the migration and metastasis of cancer cells. For example, interactions between the CXCR4 cell surface receptor and site-specific secretion of its ligand SDF-1 are thought to influence MSC trafficking (Chamberlain *et al.*, 2007). As CXCR4 may be expressed on the surface of cancer cells, and SDF-1 is highly expressed in tissues including lymph node, lung, liver and bone, this could explain the propensity for metastatic spread to these organs (Ceradini and Gurtner, 2005; Kucia *et al.*, 2005).

In a murine breast cancer xenograft model, the motility, invasion and metastatic ability of human MDA-MB-231 cells was enhanced by MSC, through interaction of the CCR5 receptor on the tumour cells with its chemokine ligand CCL5, secreted by the MSC (Karnoub *et al.*, 2007). Data published by Galie *et al* showed that the mesenchymal tumour cell component of some carcinomas had a common molecular signature with MSC, and co-implantation of cancer cells with MSC favoured tumour growth in syngeneic rodents - it was postulated that this was the result of proangiogenic effects (Galie *et al.*, 2008).

Moreover, studies have suggested that MSC recruited to tumours may actively participate in the neoplastic process. In a murine model of *Helicobacter pylori*-induced gastric carcinoma, it was found that MSC migrating to the tumour site from bone marrow could contribute towards the abnormal mucosa. It was demonstrated that, rather than a cell fusion event occurring between MSC and gastric tumour cells, the MSC acquired a gastric mucosal phenotype with upregulation of epithelial

markers (Houghton *et al.*, 2004). Thus, it appears that for some tumours, recruitment of these multipotent stem cells may play a role in progression.

#### Signalling mechanisms regulating CSC function

Many of the signalling pathways and genetic mechanisms dysregulated in cancer are involved with the regulation of normal stem cell function. *HOX* transcription factors, the Wnt-βcatenin, Notch and Sonic Hedgehog (SHh) pathways, and the Polycomb gene *Bmi-1* are important in fate determination, self-renewal and other stem cell properties. Consistent with this, alterations in expression have been reported in putative CSC populations of tumours of both the haematopoietic system and solid tissues (Taipale and Beachy, 2001; Lessard and Sauvageau, 2003; Pardal *et al.*, 2003; Behbod and Rosen, 2005; Huntly and Gilliland, 2005; Zhao *et al.*, 2009).

#### Bmi-1

Bmi-1 is a member of the Polycomb group of transcriptional repressor proteins, which acts through the *ink-4a* locus to downregulate the tumour suppressors encoded there – p16<sup>INK4a</sup> and p19<sup>ARF</sup>. Bmi-1 overexpression in mouse embryonic fibroblasts leads to their immortalisation, and in co-operation with *ras* can cause neoplastic transformation (Jacobs *et al.*, 1999). Correspondingly, loss of expression is associated with reduced proliferative capacity, in both normal haematopoietic precursors derived from foetal liver cells, and leukaemic stem cells in a mouse model of acute myeloid leukaemia (Lessard and Sauvageau, 2003). Bmi-1<sup>-/-</sup> leukaemias were not transplantable into secondary recipients, although this capacity could be rescued by introduction of a retroviral *Bmi-1* provirus. Interestingly, this Bmi-1mediated rescue was also seen in Bmi-1<sup>-/-</sup> clones with defects in the expression of p16<sup>INK4a</sup> and p19<sup>ARF</sup>, indicating additional pathways through which the molecule exerts its effects (Lessard and Sauvageau, 2003).

Glinsky *et al* investigated the role of Bmi-1 in human prostate cancer using microarray analysis; elevation in expression was reported for all tested cancer cell lines, with more metastatic tumour types showing greater increases. An 11-gene

signature, associated with Bmi-1 function in normal stem cells, was expressed in 11 different types of cancer, and consistently predicted metastasis and poor prognosis (Glinsky *et al.*, 2005).

#### Notch

The four Notch transmembrane receptors found in mammals are activated by their ligands Delta and Jagged, as well as other members of the DSL (Delta, Serrate and Lag-3) family. Activation of the pathway results in transcription of target genes, associated with processes such as cell fate determination during development, and self-renewal in adult tissues (Weng and Aster, 2004).

Notch signalling has been demonstrated as oncogenic in mouse models of T-cell Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia (T-ALL) (Hoemann *et al.*, 2000), and can collaborate with the c-neu/erbB2 oncogene in the development of mammary tumours (Dievart *et al.*, 1999). Dontu *et al* showed that activation of Notch signalling promoted self-renewal and proliferation of normal mammary stem/progenitor cells cultured in mammospheres, but had no effect on fully committed mammary epithelial cells, suggesting that it exerts its oncogenic potential at the progenitor level (Dontu *et al.*, 2004).

Microarray analysis of CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup>LSC from AML has indicated overexpression of *Jagged-2*, with inhibition of *Jagged* and *Notch* signalling reducing LSC growth in colony forming assays (Gal *et al.*, 2006). Interestingly, loss-of-function Notch pathway mutations are also reported to contribute to neoplastic transformation, demonstrating that the role of Notch-activated gene expression is context dependent (Nicolas *et al.*, 2003). For example, in one study of cortical glial tumours, *Jagged-2* was expressed by neurospheres derived from normal, but not malignant, tissue (Ignatova *et al.*, 2002).

#### Wnt and $\beta$ -catenin

One of the signalling transduction processes most frequently associated with putative CSC populations is Wnt- $\beta$ -catenin. Wnt signalling influences cell migration and

developmental patterning, proliferation and survival, through the binding of  $\beta$ catenin to the LEF/Tcf transcription factors and activation of downstream genes (Wodarz and Nusse, 1998; Taipale and Beachy, 2001).

 $\beta$ -catenin, which has a very short half-life, is normally sequestered in the cytoplasm by a "destruction complex" which phosphorylates the protein, targetting it for ubiquitin-mediated degradation by the proteasome. The destruction complex comprises four proteins including the APC tumour suppressor, mutation of which is a critical factor in human colon cancer. The binding of Wnt proteins to their Frizzled cell surface receptors inhibits this multiprotein complex, permitting cytoplasmic accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin and translocation to the nucleus to activate gene expression (Taipale and Beachy, 2001; Reya *et al.*, 2003; Reya and Clevers, 2005). Overactivation of the pathway with increased nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin has been reported in haematological and solid malignancies, including those of intestine, prostate, ovary, brain and skin (Pardal *et al.*, 2003).

Overexpression of  $\beta$ -catenin in transgenic murine HSCs is reported to increase their self-renewal capacity (Reya *et al.*, 2003). Similarly, the pathway has been implicated in the self-renewal of LSC – for example, the progenitor population of CML shows increased  $\beta$ -catenin levels, and self renewal of these cells is inhibited *in vitro* by enforced expression of the Wnt signalling antagonist Axin (Jamieson *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, inhibition of  $\beta$ -catenin in CML progenitors *in vivo* prevented transplantation of the disease to secondary murine recipients (Hu *et al.*, 2009). The authors postulated that the survival and self renewal capabilities conferred by Wnt signalling might contribute to resistance of some CML LSC to the tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib mesylate.

For a number of solid tissues including breast and intestinal epithelia, aberrant Wnt signalling has been demonstrated preferentially to induce tumourigenesis in progenitor populations. For example, in conditional knockout experiments in a murine model of colon cancer, targetted deletion of APC in LGR5<sup>+</sup> intestinal crypt stem cells resulted initially in  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation within these cells, and was

associated with increased proliferation. Within days, foci of  $\beta$ -catenin<sup>High</sup> cells were observed within the transit-amplifying compartment, leading to the formation of  $\beta$ catenin<sup>High</sup> microadenomas, although LGR5-positive cells remained confined to the crypt base suggesting maintenance of a developmental hierarchy (Barker *et al.*, 2009). Interactions between Wnt- $\beta$ -catenin signalling and the Notch pathway (Fre *et al.*, 2009), and also the CSC-associated cell surface receptor CD44 (Zeilstra *et al.*, 2008), have also been implicated in early intestinal tumourigenesis.

Wnt signalling has also been reported to mediate drug resistance in cancer and putative CSC populations. Activation of Wnt signalling in human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) was reported to induce resistance to 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) *in vitro*. Moreover, a subpopulation of cells, which express the cell surface marker OV6, can be isolated from primary human HCC and cell lines, and shows enhanced Wnt signalling as well as increased tumourigenicity and reduced sensitivity to chemotherapy. Inhibition of  $\beta$ -catenin decreases the proportion of these putative progenitors and increases their drug sensitivity, suggesting that Wnt plays a role in the self-renewal and survival of OV6<sup>+</sup> putative HCC progenitor cells (Yang *et al.*, 2008).

#### Markers / regulators of pluripotency – Oct4 and Nanog

Upregulation of tissue-specific "stemness" indicators is reported for many CSC populations. For example, nestin is an intermediate filament protein and a marker for neuroepithelial precursors (Lendahl *et al.*, 1990); increased expression has been reported in undifferentiated normal and brain tumour-derived neurospheres (Reynolds *et al.*, 1992; Hemmati *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2003), as well as putative melanoma CSC (Na *et al.*, 2009) – the latter is consistent with the origin of melanocytes in the embryonic neural crest.

More controversial has been the identification of CSC based on expression of the embryonic stem cell-associated transcription factors Nanog and Oct4 (also Oct 3/4 or POU5F1). Critical to self-renewal and pluripotency of ESC (Chambers and Smith, 2004; Loh *et al.*, 2006; Liang *et al.*, 2008; Torres and Watt, 2008), they are also

expressed in germ cells, but this is strongly suppressed in more differentiated cell types by promoter hypermethylation (Lengner *et al.*, 2007; Cantz *et al.*, 2008).

The expression of Oct4 by a putative CSC population was first reported by Ponti *et al.*, in their study of breast cancer-derived mammosphere cells (Ponti *et al.*, 2005). Gibbs *et al* derived "sarcospheres" from osteosarcomas and chondrosarcomas, which showed upregulation of both Oct4 and Nanog, which reduced if tumourspheres were allowed to differentiate in standard serum-contaning, adherent culture (Gibbs *et al.*, 2005). Demonstration of Oct4 and Nanog expression has since been used to substantiate reports of putative CSC isolation in numerous studies.

Expression of both was associated with outcome and survival time in oral cancer, with Nanog proving the worse prognostic indicator of the two (Chiou *et al.*, 2008). Bourguignon *et al* use immunoprecipitation to demonstrate interactions between Nanog and the stem cell-associated marker CD44 and its ligand hyaluronan (Bourguignon *et al.*, 2008). Webster *et al* found nuclear Oct4 expression in all examined canine tumours (29 tumours, 11 tumour types) using immunohistochemistry (Webster *et al.*, 2007), and Wilson *et al* reported upregulation of both Nanog and Oct4 on tumoursphere populations derived from canine osteosarcoma (Wilson *et al.*, 2008).

More recently, considerable debate has arisen over the expression of these proteins, particularly Oct4, in adult stem or CSC populations. A cell with preexisting pluripotency / self-renewal capability is an attractive candidate for transformation to a CSC. However, their role in normal adult TSC remains controversial (Berg and Goodell, 2007). A recent comprehensive study involving both conditional knockout and eGFP reporter models demonstrated that Oct4 is not required for somatic stem cell pluripotency (Lengner *et al.*, 2007).

Oct4 was previously detected in mixed teratomas and embryonal carcinomas formed in murine models upon implantation of ESC, and in certain types of germ cell tumour (Gidekel *et al.*, 2003; Looijenga *et al.*, 2003). Notably, however, in both of these studies (published prior to the rush of interest in Oct4 as a potential CSC marker) almost every non-germ cell tumour evaluated was Oct4-negative (in a tissue microarray performed by Looijenga *et al*, examining over 3600 tumours of over 100 types, only two lung tumours and one kidney tumour tested positive for Oct4 (Looijenga *et al.*, 2003)). It is possible that, in considering entire tumour cell populations rather than those enriched for putative CSC, expression by a minority subset was not detected.

However, a number of factors suggest a high likelihood of false positives when interrogating samples for these "stemness markers". These include the transcription of non-functional pseudogenes (Looijenga *et al.*, 2003; Suo *et al.*, 2005; Liedtke *et al.*, 2007; Liedtke *et al.*, 2008), and splice variants with cytoplasmic localisation which are therefore unlikely to have relevant transcription factor activity (Takeda *et al.*, 1992; Liedtke *et al.*, 2008). Immunological detection may also pick up other members of the POU gene family due to protein sequence homology, particularly where polyclonal antibodies are employed (Lengner *et al.*, 2007). Cantz *et al.* demonstrated elegantly that overzealous processing of immunofluorescence images can create apparent staining from non-specific and background signal (Cantz *et al.*, 2008). Moreover, at mRNA level, it is likely that there is a background level of RT-PCR signal which does not represent true transcription factor function (Lengner *et al.*, 2007; Cantz *et al.*, 2008).

Evaluation of some of the evidence for Oct4 or Nanog expression as markers of CSC reveals inconsistencies, which may reflect the confounding factors outlined above. For example, in the study by Gibbs *et al.*, protein is detected by both Western blot and immunohistochemistry in cell lines that show no mRNA signal at RT-PCR. Moreover, Oct4 localisation in some tumourspheres shown cannot be identified, but appears to be pancellular rather than nuclear (Gibbs *et al.*, 2005).

Despite "irrational exuberance" (Berg and Goodell, 2007) in some of the reporting with regards these proteins, Hochedlinger *et al* demonstrated in an adult mouse model that ectopic Oct4 expression in somatic tissues could induce dysplasia, with

progenitor cell expansion and increased  $\beta$ -catenin expression (Hochedlinger *et al.*, 2005). The significance of expression has been further emphasised recently by groundbreaking reports that introduction of Oct4 and Nanog expression in terminally differentiated cell types, in combination with other mediators such as Sox2, can generate "induced pluripotent stem cells" (iPS cells) (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006; Takahashi *et al.*, 2007; Yu *et al.*, 2007). Thus, the potential role for Oct4 and Nanog in cellular transformation warrants investigation. However, it has become clear that apparent expression must be analysed critically, preferably using a multimodal approach including confirmation of nuclear localisation, and using appropriate controls.

#### Telomeres, telomerase and cancer stem cells

When grown in culture, the phenomenon of *senescence* limits the replicative potential of cells, in that eventually the cells will stop dividing (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). This is partly governed by the gradual loss of the protective telomeres, tandem repeats of a 6 bp sequence which are present at the ends of chromosomes. DNA polymerases cannot fully replicate the 3' end of the DNA strand, such that upon each cell division there is a loss of 50-100 bp at each end of every chromosome. The telomeres buffer this loss but, as they are of finite length, they gradually become shorter through the life of a dividing cell – this protective mechanism means that the cell will be directed to senescence or apoptosis after a certain number of divisions (Argyle and Nasir, 2003; Ju and Rudolph, 2006).

This "end replication problem" is mitigated by the expression of of *Telomerase*, an enzyme which catalyses the addition of telomeric repeat sequences on to the ends of chromosomes. High levels of telomerase are characteristic of embryonic stem cells (Thomson *et al.*, 1998); low levels have been reported in adult stem cells from a variety of tissues, although telomerase activity in these populations is more controversial and cannot be considered a stem cell marker *per se* (as upregulation may occur in tissues where cells undergo rapid expansion) (Hiyama and Hiyama, 2007).

Telomerase is also expressed in over 80% of human cancers, and is presumed to confer unlimited cell cycling ability. Paradoxically, many tumours show foreshortened telomeres. A two-step process has been proposed, whereby early telomere shortening promotes chromosomal instability and mutation, and then telomerase activity stabilises the telomeres to allow uncontrolled replication. In most haematological malignancies, short telomeres and telomerase activity are detected; telomerase activity between twice and 50 times that of normal haematopoietic precursors has been reported (Ju and Rudolph, 2006).

Although increased telomerase activity has been reported in some putative CSC populations in comparison to non-CSC (for example, in the SP cells of some oesophageal carcinoma cell lines, or glioblastoma multiforme-derived neurospheres – (Lee *et al.*, 2006; Zhang *et al.*, 2008b), a definitive association is not well established. It has been suggested that if CSC are more quiescent cells, the activity of mechanisms to preserve telomere length is less critical than in more rapidly dividing cells.

However, the novel inhibitor of telomerase activity GRN136L (Imetelstat) is reported to show activity against putative CSC of pancreatic and prostatic cancer *in vitro*, and breast cancer and glioblastoma both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. This is significant, as it suggests that telomerase inhibition may prove a useful strategy for targetting resistant tumourigenic subpopulations (Hochreiter *et al.*, 2006; Bhagwandin and Shay, 2009; Marian *et al.*, 2010a; Marian *et al.*, 2010b).

#### CSC, Metastasis and the Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition

The most lethal effects of neoplastic disorders frequently relate to the capacity of cancer cells to migrate to distant sites and form secondary tumours. The cellular heterogeneity of these metastases often reflects that seen in the primary tumour. However, disseminated cells may remain detectable in remote tissues without showing further development (Reya *et al.*, 2001). According to the CSC hypothesis, only CSC have the capacity to propagate malignancy, manifesting as local invasion

over short distances, and metastatic spread for longer migrations. Non-CSC may disseminate and become lodged in tissues, but will not form active metastases (Brabletz *et al.*, 2005).

Although one study of CSC in breast cancer found that the prevalence of the putative CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup> tumour stem cell phenotype in breast tumours did not correlate with tumour progression or prognosis, it *was* associated with a tendency for distant metastasis upon recurrence (Abraham *et al.*, 2005). The presence of disseminated tumour cells in breast cancer can be detected with immunohistochemistry for cytokeratins (CK). Balic *et al* assessed CK+ bone marrow samples from 50 early breast cancer patients and found that all specimens had detectable CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup> cells, with prevalence (33-100%) much greater than that seen in primary tumour masses, again associating the putative breast CSC population with a tendency toward metastasis (Balic *et al.*, 2006).

The "Epithelial-Mesenchymal Transition" (EMT) has attracted recent interest as a mechanism by which CSC may be associated with metastasis. This is a normal process during embryonic development, whereby epithelial cells lose polarity and adopt a motile phenotype (accompanied by characteristic changes, particularly downregulation of the cell adhesion molecule e-cadherin), allowing migration in the extracellular environment (Shook and Keller, 2003). There appear to be multiple parallels between this conversion between cellular states as it occurs in embryogenesis, and that observed during progression of carcinomas (Thiery, 2002).

It is proposed that EMT enables carcinoma cells to escape the confines of the normally structured epithelial environment, facilitating local invasion and also breach of the basement membrane, leading to intravasation and distant dissemination. At distant sites, extravasation may be followed by the reverse process of mesenchymal-epithelial transision (MET), leading to the formation of secondary carcinomas (Figure 6). Many signalling pathways which influence EMT, including Wnt- $\beta$ catenin, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) and those initiated by receptor tyrosine kinases EGFR and FGFR, are dysregulated in cancer (Thiery, 2002).



**Figure 6** – Proposed role of epithelial-mesenchymal transition in carcinoma metastasis

A – Normal epithelial organisation with intact basement membrane

B – Dysplasia with local proliferation leads to adenoma formation and thence carcinoma *in situ*, but basement membrane remains intact.

C - EMT facilitates breaching of the basement membrane – local invasion – and subsequent intravasation into blood vessels or lymphatics.

D – At distant sites, extravasation followed by mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET) results in formation of secondary carcinoma.

(Adapted from Thiery, 2002 Nature Reviews - Cancer, 2, 442-454).

Some recent evidence has suggested that EMT may generate CSC (Mani *et al.*, 2008; Hennessy *et al.*, 2009; Santisteban *et al.*, 2009). Mani *et al* demonstrated upregulation of mesenchymal markers in normal and neoplastic mammary cells with the putative CSC phenotype CD44<sup>High</sup>CD24<sup>Low/-</sup>. Immortalised normal (HMLE) or transformed (HMLER) mammary epithelial cells were exposed to TGF $\beta$ , or the EMT-inducing transcription factors Snail or Twist overexpressed. This resulted in a predominantly CD44<sup>High</sup>CD24<sup>Low/-</sup> phenotype, the ability to form mammospheres, and (for HMLER) increased tumourigenicity. The acquisition of these properties is proposed as a mechanism by which CSC arise in epithelial tumours, and may explain their greater propensity to give rise to metastasis (Mani *et al.*, 2008).

It is significant, however, that this is a highly manipulated model. The neoplastic HMLER cells investigated had been artificially transformed by insertion of the vRas oncogene into HMLE cells; interestingly, "HMLEN" cells, transformed using the Her2/Neu oncogene, showed similar phenotypic changes and the ability to form mammospheres when induced to EMT, but were no more tumourigenic than the control cells. Moreover, HMLER control cells also induced tumours, albeit with less efficiency than HMLER-EMT cells. Lesions produced by both were similar squamous metaplasias, suggesting that induction of EMT was not necessarily associated with an invasive breast tumour phenotype. Whilst suggesting a mechanism which may result in the generation of cells with enhanced metastatic capability, it is less clear why or if EMT should confer the cardinal CSC properties of self renewal or multilineage potential *per se* (Mani *et al.*, 2008). Further work may shed more light on a role for EMT in the origin of CSC.

#### **CSC** Controversies and Alternative Hypotheses

Although there is now considerable evidence to support the concept of CSC, there has been a great deal of debate about both their existence and their clinical relevance. Not unexpectedly, some of this has arisen from the rather overzealous interpretation of data evident in some reports of putative CSC. However, there are also more fundamental difficulties in reconciling the idea of a cancer cell hierarchy with experimental evidence, particularly for solid tumours.

As discussed above, a number of different features may suggest that a cancer cell is a CSC (Figure 7). However, the working definition of CSC is, "those cells within a tumour exhibiting unlimited self-renewal capacity, and which can give rise to all of the various cell types making up the parental tumour upon serial transplantation in immunocompromised recipients". Importantly, this is a *functional* definition (self renewal and multilineage differentiation capacity), and not one based on any other anticipated stem cell feature such as surface phenotype. As previously discussed, although it may be the case for some tumours, the CSC is not necessarily a transformed stem cell.

The generally accepted "gold standard" method of defining CSC is serial transplantation in laboratory animals, in order to demonstrate self-renewal (passage) and the recapitulation of the tumour. This relies heavily upon the assumption that the formation of a tumour xenograft is influenced only by the nature of the implanted cells. However, the potent effects imparted by the environment or "niche" in which a cell exists cannot be disregarded when considering the evolution of a tumour (Mueller and Fusenig, 2004; Bjerkvig *et al.*, 2005; Polyak and Hahn, 2006). In normal tissues, the stem cell niche provides important extracellular controls and cues additional to the stem cells' own intrinsic program.

Similarly, tumour cells interact with surrounding stroma in a reciprocal manner, and can influence the stroma such that it is more conducive to tumour growth (Mueller and Fusenig, 2004; Perry and Li, 2007). Significantly, the inability of a cell to



**Figure 7** – Summary of biological features which may be associated with CSC and used in their identification or isolation.

survive or proliferate when inoculated as a xenograft (particularly where this is not orthotopic, i.e. at the natural tumour site) may not accurately reflect its potential in the original tumour, where it is surrounded by a network of supportive cells, and subject to local cell-cell interactions (Hill, 2006; Adams and Strasser, 2008). Several authors raised the possibility that "CSC" markers may merely enrich for a population of cells with these functional capabilities – i.e. the ability to survive in a foreign host (Hill, 2006; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2007; Adams and Strasser, 2008).

A short report by Kelly *et al* demonstrated that unsorted inoculums of as few as 10 cells could reliably reproduce murine lymphoma in histocompatible, non-irradiated mice; indeed, in 3 of 8 recipients injected with a just single cell, lymphoma also developed (Kelly *et al.*, 2007). Overall, results suggested that, far from the idea of a "rare cancer stem cell", a large proportion of cells in some tumours could act as CSC. The authors postulated that the small proportion of leukaemia-initiating cells found in, for example, AML, may reflect the ability of human cells to survive in a murine environment. Proponents of the CSC hypothesis were eager to point out that, despite the fact that it had frequently been emphasised in reports, rarity is not a defining feature of CSC (Kennedy *et al.*, 2007). Nonetheless, the report establishes that the particular transplantation model used in a set of experiments is likely to have profound effects on apparent tumourigenicity of cancer cells (Kelly *et al.*, 2007).

This was further emphasised by a seminal study on human melanoma from the laboratory of Sean Morrison. It was reported that, in NOD/SCID murine recipients, tumour formation was inefficient and required the inoculation of hundreds of thousands of cells. In stark contrast to this, in more immunosuppressed hosts (NOD/SCID/Il2Rg<sup>-/-</sup> or "NOG" mice, which also lack the Interleukin-2 gamma receptor), efficiency was several orders of magnitude greater – indeed, single unsorted melanoma cells could form tumours (Quintana *et al.*, 2008).

This also had particular significance as the first report of solid tumour formation by a single cell (Quintana *et al.*, 2008). All published putative CSC markers, whilst enriching for tumourigenicity, still required the inoculation of hundreds to thousands

of cells to produce a tumour. Furthermore, close inspection of much tumourigenicity data suggests the influence of undefined variables or inhibitory effects (Kern and Shibata, 2007). For example, in reports of colon cancer stem cells, sorted CD133<sup>+</sup> cells produced tumours more efficiently than unfractionated cells, even when the actual number of CD133<sup>+</sup> cells within the unsorted inoculum was greater (O'Brien *et al.*, 2007). Similar numerical discrepancies are found in many reports of putative CSC, and draw attention to the need to question carefully why a cell may appear "tumourigenic" or "non-tumourigenic" (Hill, 2006; Kern and Shibata, 2007).

One good example of this was the demonstration by Taussig *et al* that the CD38 antibody used in flow cytometric fractionation of AML samples had a profound inhibitory effect on engraftment in immunosuppressed mice. Inhibition was Fc receptor-mediated and could be overcome using specific immunosuppressive antibodies. This not only permitted engraftment, but also demonstrated LSC activity in the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup> fraction, which would otherwise have been considered "non tumourigenic" (Taussig *et al.*, 2008). If treatment strategies are to be based upon the premise that certain cells within a tumour have distinct characteristics or are more significant to disease progression, it is critical that these distinctions do not arise artefactually.

Thus, there are limitations when using xenograft tumour models to infer that only a specific subset of tumour cells may propagate disease, and that all of the other cells are incapable of doing so. The major alternative hypothesis of clonal evolution proposes that tumourigenic cells may continually evolve, based on selective pressures, leading to genetically and epigenetically distinct subsets which are not necessarily hierarchically organised. Described initially in 1979 by Nowell, the model thus ascribes the heterogeneity and progression of tumours to the inherent instability of cancer cells, rather than the influence of a stable dominant subpopulation (Nowell, 1976) (Figure 3B).

As well as being a foundation of the CSC hypothesis, the observation that some cancer cells are more tumourigenic than others is also consistent with the clonal evolution model (Nowell, 1976). Notably, differences between subpopulations do not always appear to arise as a result of a stable, intrinsic parent-progeny relationship between CSC and the rest of the tumour (Shackleton *et al.*, 2009). For example, studies of heterogeneous cellular subpopulations breast cancer cells demonstrated that, whilst  $CD44^+CD24^{low/-}$  cells did show more "stemness"-associated characteristics and correlated with indicators of prognosis,  $CD24^+$  cells were not only prevalent in distant metastases in drug-refractory patients but also showed a distinct genetic signature. This suggested that they represented a divergent subpopulation, rather than simply the terminally differentiated progeny of the CD44<sup>+</sup> cells (Shipitsin *et al.*, 2007).

Whilst the CSC paradigm does seem to apply to some malignancies, in others clonal evolution or a combination of processes may more closely account for tumour behaviour. Importantly, evidence from both haematological and solid tumours has indicated the potential for clonal evolution of tumourigenic CSC subsets (Barabe *et al.*, 2007; Hermann *et al.*, 2007). Thus, it is becoming apparent that it may be overly simplistic to consider a single cancer stem cell phenotype, without accounting for the continued evolutionary changes that are likely to occur within the life history of any individual tumour (Shackleton *et al.*, 2009) (Figure 8).



**Figure 8** – Tumour progression may involve features of both the CSC and clonal evolution paradigms. The original tumourigenic CSC (CSC1) which gives rise to restricted, nontumourigenic progeny (Progeny1) may undergo further mutation under the influence of intrinsic or extrinsic influences (such as drug therapy), leading to the generation of a distinct, self-renewing tumourigenic CSC (CSC2). This in turn gives rise to distinct progeny (Progeny2). If these mutated CSC have a growth advantage they may become dominant within the tumour.

Therapy based on targetting prospectively identified CSC1 may be evaded by CSC2.

#### **Clinical Relevance of the CSC Hypothesis**

If a population of CSC is responsible for the propagation of a tumour, these cells must be eliminated to effect a cure. Conventional cancer chemotherapy has focussed on eradication of the tumour mass, based on the principle that rapidly dividing cells are preferentially eliminated – this targets cancer cells, but unfortunately also other tissues with a high cell turnover (such as hair, gut epithelium and blood), resulting in some of the unpleasant side effects associated with treatment. However, it is not only this dose-limiting morbidity which results in treatment failure, as some cancer cells are inherently resistant to the effects of anticancer agents.

The CSC hypothesis can account for the occurrence of relapse after therapy, sometimes years after apparent eradication of disease. Cancer cells with stem cell characteristics might be expected to be more resistant than other tissue cells – putative CSC may be more quiescent cells (Holyoake *et al.*, 1999), and often display characteristics conferring a survival advantage, such as the activation of pro-survival signalling pathways or expression of multidrug transporter proteins. The hypothesis also suggests that for successful cancer treatment, if the mutated clone is to be eradicated within an individual, the priority target cell population must be the CSC. This is likely to require changes to strategies currently used in the clinical setting (Reya *et al.*, 2001; Sell, 2004; Behbod and Rosen, 2005; Misaghian *et al.*, 2009) (Figure 4B).

Isolated populations of putative CSC have shown increased resistance to the effects of conventional anticancer strategies such as chemotherapy and ionising radiation (Baumann *et al.*, 2008; Chua *et al.*, 2008; Diehn *et al.*, 2009; Hirsch *et al.*, 2009; Tanei *et al.*, 2009). However, investigations have also revealed agents which may selectively inhibit the CSC fraction. The development of assays for prospectively isolating and propagating CSC has facilitated large-scale drug screening; in some cases, substances not previously considered as anticancer agents have shown a remarkable activity against these specific subpopulations (Guzman *et al.*, 2005; Diamandis *et al.*, 2007; Gupta *et al.*, 2009b; Zhou *et al.*, 2009b).

Promising strategies for directed targetting include inhibition of stem cell-specific mechanisms such as self-renewal pathways, and immunological techniques using monoclonal antibodies to specific cell surface markers. Interference with the support imparted by the niche may also render CSC more susceptible to eradication (Hideshima *et al.*, 2002; Studebaker *et al.*, 2008). Differentiation therapy using agents such as retinoic acid, whereby CSC might be forced down a symmetrical division pathway to produce two daughter cells, thus depriving a tumour of self-renewal potential, has been suggested as a logical CSC-directed strategy. However, whilst this is effective in a majority of cases of human acute promyelocytic leukaemia, responses in other malignancies have been variable (Sell, 2004; Lotem and Sachs, 2006).

The simplest interpretation of the CSC hypothesis suggests a "dandelion root" analogy, such that a tumour will be successfully eradicated if the CSC fraction is destroyed. However, mathematical models and experimental data suggest that targetting only CSC may not be sufficient to eliminate disease, particularly if these show any evolutionary plasticity in the face of challenge (Kern and Shibata, 2007). A successful strategy will probably require simultaneous eradication of both CSC and bulk tumour components (Dingli and Michor, 2006). Indeed, marked synergistic effects between conventional and CSC-selective agents have been demonstrated, often permitting considerable reductions in dose of individual cytotoxic drugs (Guzman *et al.*, 2002; Zhou *et al.*, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2009b).

Thus, the CSC hypothesis introduces the possibility that it may be possible to overcome the two major obstacles to successful cancer therapy – patient morbidity, and relapse after treatment. This will require precise identification and complete elimination of cells with potential to form new tumours – simply reducing the number of residual cancer-propagating cells is unlikely to prove clinically beneficial if these may then repopulate the tumour. However, evidence suggests that a greater understanding of the role of CSC in neoplasia, facilitated by refinements in detection techniques and assays, will enable the development of improved therapeutic strategies and increase the likelihood of achieving complete and enduring clinical remissions.

#### **Comparative Oncology – Spontaneous Cancer in the Dog as a Disease Model**

Spontaneous cancer is the major cause of non-age-related death in the domestic dog, with one in three pet dogs developing cancer during their lifetime. Dogs develop a wide range of spontaneous neoplasms, many of which mirror those seen in humans in terms of disease course, histology, biological behaviour, and response to treatment. Notably, some canine tumours, such as complex mammary carcinomas, show more similarity to human disease than those occurring in other species (Hellmen *et al.*, 2000; Munson and Moresco, 2007).

The publication of the canine genome in 2005 demonstrated considerable homology between canine and human sequences – approximately the same number of genes have been identified in both species, and most are 1:1 orthologues. Significantly, overall homology is greater than that between human and mouse (Lindblad-Toh et al., 2005; Karlsson and Lindblad-Toh, 2008). Although still less well characterised than the murine system, other aspects of canine cell biology appear to be more representative of the situation in humans. For example, the telomeres of mice are many times longer than those of humans, limiting their utility in models of normal and neoplastic telomere dynamics; by contrast, canine telomeres are of comparable length (Wright and Shay, 2000; Nasir et al., 2001). With improvement in diagnostic modalities, it has become clear that there are also multiple parallels on a molecular and genetic level between canine and human cancers. Similar alterations, disease markers and therapeutic targets are observed in both species (Sagartz et al., 1996; Argyle and Nasir, 2003; Boomkens et al., 2004; Dickerson et al., 2005; Jubala et al., 2005; Wilkerson et al., 2005; Alvarez et al., 2007; Kisseberth et al., 2007; Gelain et al., 2008; Rivera et al., 2009).

The use of laboratory animals in cancer research, whilst seen by most in the field as a necessary and inevitable means of investigation, is a major welfare concern. In many respects, spontaneous cancer in the dog is a more representative model of human disease than experimentally-induced tumours in laboratory rodents or primates (Kimmelman and Nalbantoglu, 2007; Munson and Moresco, 2007; Paoloni and Khanna, 2008). The growth of human tumour xenografts in immunosuppressed animals will give little insight into the influence of the immune system on the pathogenesis of cancer. Artificial introduction of mutations to produce models of disease in a controlled laboratory setting frequently results in rapid development of tumours with a predictable and specific pathogenesis. By contrast, spontaneous canine tumours arise in animals living in the same environment as humans (therefore subject to similar diverse influences), with gradual acquisition of mutations, leading to the development of more comparable, naturally heterogeneous tumours (Rutteman *et al.*, 1988; Augustin-Voss *et al.*, 1990; Hellmen *et al.*, 2000; Kirpensteijn *et al.*, 2002; Zacchetti *et al.*, 2003; Webster *et al.*, 2007; Karlsson and Lindblad-Toh, 2008;

Paoloni and Khanna, 2008). Although some breeds show predisposition to certain cancers (and despite the recently highlighted problems associated with intensive breeding to achieve pedigree standards) the pet dog population overall is outbred, with a far more diverse genetic background than inbred laboratory rodent strains.

The comparative study of disease processes occurring in humans and pet dogs is of mutual benefit. Most of the treatment modalities used in human oncology have been adapted successfully to treat canine patients; similarly, clinical trials in dogs have informed developments in the human field. With the continued adaptation and use of investigative techniques in the canine system, comparative oncology can provide insights into cancer biology, which may improve understanding of disease and aid development of new therapies, in both dogs and humans (Guzman *et al.*, 2007; London *et al.*, 2009).

Data obtained from the study of several tumour types has implicated cells with stemlike characteristics in the progression of some canine malignancies. Analysis of expression patterns in canine haemangiosarcoma (Lamerato-Kozicki *et al.*, 2006), and mammary spindle cell carcinomas and osteosarcomas (Hellmen *et al.*, 2000), suggested that disease had originated from a transformed precursor cell. Using assays adapted from those used in the study of human tumours, such as tumoursphere formation and the demonstration of tumourigenicity in immunosuppressed mice, putative CSC populations have been reported for canine osteosarcoma, mammary carcinoma, glioblastoma and acute myeloid leukaemia (Guzman *et al.*, 2007; Wilson *et al.*, 2008; Cocola *et al.*, 2009; Stoica *et al.*, 2009).

#### Cancer Stem Cells in Canine Cancer - Hypothesis and Research Questions

The following studies sought to interrogate the validity of the cancer stem cell model in the context of canine neoplasia.

**HYPOTHESIS** – Canine neoplasms are organised as cellular hierarchies, maintained by specific subpopulations of self-renewing cancer stem cells, which have the ability to give rise to all of the cell types within the tumour.

Primary research questions were formulated as follows, in order to test this hypothesis.

## 1) Is there evidence cells with stem cell-like properties play a role in the pathogenesis of canine cancer? Can these be prospectively isolated?

The study aimed to evaluate canine cancer cell lines and spontaneous tumours for evidence of putative CSC populations. This was to be accomplished by adapting assays used in seminal studies of CSC in other species, specifically flow cytometry (using assays for both expression pattern and functional capacity) and tumoursphere culture.

## 2) What are the characteristics of the cells within these subpopulations? Do they fulfil CSC criteria?

Candidate subpopulations were to be analysed for phenotypic and functional characteristics, to support their definition as CSC. These include:

- Phenotypic Expression of markers associated with undifferentiated cells
- Functional Existence as a specific, stable subpopulation
   Self-renewal potential
   Multilineage differentiation potential

# 3) Are CSC clinically relevant? Do they show enhanced resistance mechanisms or survival capacity?

Isolated subpopulations were to be assessed for sensitivity to commonly used anticancer agents, to determine whether this might underlie evasion of conventional therapy or relapse.

# 4) What mechanisms underlie resistance of CSC? Are there means by which they can be eliminated along with non-CSC, or preferentially targetted?

Mechanisms by which stem cell-like cancer cells might evade therapy, and the potential for specific inhibition of CSC subpopulations, were to be investigated.

### **CHAPTER 2**

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

Details are given of techniques and experimental procedures used throughout the course of investigations. General laboratory reagents and buffers were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Poole, UK) unless otherwise stated.

#### **Cell Culture - Cell Lines**

Canine cell lines assessed in the course of this work were the adherent cultures CML10 melanoma, D17 osteosarcoma, J3T glioma, REM134 mammary carcinoma and SB haemangiosarcoma, and the suspension culture 3132 B-cell lymphoma. For some experiments, the feline adherent mammary carcinoma cell line Cat-MT, and the human adherent mammary carcinoma cell line MCF-7 were also evaluated. Details of source and culture conditions are given in Table 1.

All cell culture manipulations were performed within a Class 2 Biological Safety Cabinet. Culture media, foetal calf serum (FCS), Trypsin-EDTA and supplements were obtained from Gibco / Invitrogen (Paisley, UK) unless otherwise stated. Penicillin-Streptomycin (10000IU/ml-10mg/ml) was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich. Culture flasks and plates were obtained from Nunc (Rochester, NY, USA) and TPP (Trasadingen, Switzerland). All cell lines were cultured at 37°c in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### Culture media

- DMEM-HG Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium 4.5g/l d-glucose, L-glutamine, sodium pyruvate (Gibco 41966) + 10% FCS + 1% Pen-Strep
- DMEM-LG Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium 1g/l d-glucose, Glutamax-I, sodium pyruvate (Gibco 21885) + 10% FCS + 1% Pen-Strep
- RPMI1640/FCS/PS- Roswell Park Memorial Institute-1640 medium L-glutamine, 25mM HEPES (Gibco 52400) + 10% FCS + 1% Pen-Strep
- EBM-2 / EGM-2 Endothelial Basal Medium-2 with EGM-2 SingleQuots (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland)

Cell Line	Origin	Source	Culture medium
CML10	Canine melanoma	Courtesy of Prof. Lauren Wolfe, Auburn University, AL, USA	DMEM-LG
D17	Canine osteosarcoma	American Type Culture Collection, Manassas VA, USA (#CCL-183)	DMEM-LG
J3T	Canine glioma	Courtesy of Micheal Behrens, Translational Genomics Research Institute (TGen), Phoenix AZ, USA	DMEM-HG
REM134	Canine mammary carcinoma	Courtesy of Prof. Roderick Else, University of Edinburgh (Else, 1982; Norval, 1984 a, b)	DMEM-HG
SB	Canine haemangiosarcoma (cutaneous)	Courtesy of Prof. Stuart Helfand, University of Wisconsin, Madison WI, USA (Akhtar, 2004)	EBM-2 / EGM-2
3132	Canine B-cell lymphoma	Prof. David Argyle, University of Edinburgh (Strandstrom, 1979)	RPMI1640 /FCS/PS
CatMT	Feline mammary carcinoma	Courtesy of Prof. Roderick Else, University of Edinburgh	DMEM-HG
MCF-7	Human mammary carcinoma	European Collection of Cell Cultures (#86012803)	DMEM-HG

**Table 1** – Origin and source of cell lines used in experiments, and growth media used for culture.
#### Thawing cryopreserved cells

Cryopreserved cells were retrieved from storage in liquid nitrogen and held on dry ice until placed into culture. Vials were thawed rapidly until only a single ice crystal remained, and the contents transferred to a 50ml conical centrifuge tube. Complete medium was added dropwise with swirling to double the volume of the suspension, and this process repeated until the total volume within the tube was at least 20ml. Cells were washed twice in complete medium with gentle centrifugation (250*g*), resuspended in 7.5ml complete medium and transferred to a vented-cap T25 flask for culture. Flasks were incubated until subculture (80-90% confluence). After 48 hours in culture, medium was aspirated, the cells washed with PBS and fresh medium added to the flask. In general, for slowly-growing cells, culture medium was changed in this manner every 4-5 days until confluence.

#### Subculture – Adherent cells

Complete medium and PBS were prewarmed to  $37^{\circ}$ C. Medium was aspirated from the monolayer and cells washed twice with PBS. After aspirating PBS, the appropriate volume of 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA (T25 flask – 1ml, T75 flask – 2ml, T150 – 3ml) was added and the flask rocked to coat the monolayer. Excess trypsin was aspirated and the flask placed in the incubator. Tapping of the flask to loosen cells was avoided to reduce clumping. Once cells had become detached, complete medium (T25 – 5ml, T75 – 5-10ml, T150 – 10ml) was used to wash the cells from the base of the flask. Cell counts were performed at this stage as required. Cells were subcultured at 80-90% confluence (generally twice weekly), using a split ratio guided by initial assessment of population growth or seeding absolute cell numbers as required for assays.

# Subculture – Suspension cultures

Cells could be counted directly from suspension cultures allowing the appropriate fraction or number of cells to be subcultured. Cells for subculture were washed once

in complete medium, and seeded as required.

# Cell counting

Cell counts were performed using a haemocytometer (improved Neubauer ruling – central square volume  $1 \times 10^{-4}$  ml; grid volume  $9 \times 10^{-4}$  ml).  $10 \mu l$  cell suspension mixed with  $10 \mu l$  0.4% trypan blue (Sigma-Aldrich) was pipetted into each side of the counting chamber. Cells excluding trypan blue were counted within the central square of each side of the chamber, and the cell count calculated as

Number of cells/ml suspension = (Count 1 + Count 2) x  $10^4$ 

For very low cell numbers, cells were resuspended in a small volume (0.5-1ml) for counting, and/or cells within the large grid were counted, with the calculation amended accordingly. Counts were performed in triplicate for assays where cell count represented the endpoint result.

For counts of primary haematopoietic cells (performed after Ficoll density gradient centrifugation), White Cell Diluting Fluid (crystal violet 1% w/v, glacial acetic acid 2% v/v) rather than trypan blue was used in a 1:1 ratio with the cell suspension, to lyse residual erythrocytes and stain leukocyte nuclei.

# Cryopreservation

Cells were washed and resuspended in complete medium at approximately  $6x10^6$ /ml. Freezing medium (90% FCS, 10% dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO)) was freshly prepared. Both freezing medium and cells were held on ice during preparation to minimise the toxic effects of DMSO. An equal volume of freezing medium was added to the cell suspension dropwise with swirling to achieve a final concentration of 5% DMSO. Aliquots of 1ml (approximately  $3x10^6$  cells) were made in cryovials and placed in a precooled (4°C) cryopreservation canister (Mister Frosty, Nalgene, Nunc), which was immediately transferred to -70°C. After at least several hours (allowing for cooling at -1°C/minute within the cryopreservation canister) vials were transferred to liquid nitrogen for long-term storage).

# **Primary Cells**

## Solid tissue

Solid tissue was harvested into DMEM-LG. Samples were minced finely using scissors and further with a scalpel and forceps, and washed twice with DMEM-LG in 50ml conical tubes. Samples were either resuspended at this stage in DMEM-LG and transferred into T25 culture flasks (4-5 flasks from a 0.5cm<sup>3</sup> block of tissue) or resuspended in 10ml 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA and incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes with occasional agitation to facilitate dissociation, followed by a further wash in 20ml DMEM-LG and transfer into T25 culture flasks. Culture flasks were either untreated or precoated with 1% Fibronectin in distilled water (2ml per T25 culture flask and allowed to dry). Larger tissue pieces were initially plated along with dissociated cells.

After 48 hours, flasks were examined for adherent cells and checked for signs of bacterial contamination. If contamination was heavy, flasks were discarded. Where it was suspected, medium was removed, the base of the flask washed twice with PBS-1% Pen-Strep, and fresh medium added. Solid tissue pieces were generally lost from the flask at this stage.

Medium was changed twice weekly and replaced with 50% fresh:50% conditioned medium (growth medium from flasks centrifuged at 400g to remove debris) after gently washing adherent cells twice with PBS. At 80-90% confluence, cells were transferred to larger (T75) culture flasks after dissociation of the monolayer using 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA, and then subcultured as necessary. 50% conditioned medium was used for medium changes and plating at subculture up to 5-7 passages. Where numbers permitted, cells were cryopreserved at each passage up to 20 passages.

kt-osa1-5 are populations of adherent cells derived by the author from the excised primary osteosarcoma of an eight-year-old female entire Rottweiler (see Chapter 3). Cells were cultured in DMEM / 10% FCS / 1% Pen-Strep. kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 were subcultured repeatedly and maintained as continuous cell lines. kt-osa2 and kt-osa3 populations were expanded in adherent culture for assays but not carried forward to subculture.

## Isolation of bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNC)

Bone marrow was obtained immediately post-mortem from animals euthanased for unrelated reasons. Where aspiration was not possible due to post-mortem circulatory stasis, the proximal humerus was split at the intertubercular groove using an osteotome, and marrow extracted with a sterile spoon. Marrow (2-10ml) was collected into heparinised 50ml conical tubes and diluted 1:1 with PBS at room temperature. Mononuclear cells were isolated by Ficoll-Paque (Amersham Biosciences / GE Healthcare, Little Chalfont, UK) density gradient centrifugation, with cells collected from the interface washed twice in PBS, passed through a 40µm cell strainer and counted in white cell diluting fluid using a haemocytometer. Cells were resuspended in the appropriate medium or buffer for flow cytometric analysis, or in DMEM-LG for culture of bone marrow-derived stromal cells.

# Bone marrow-derived stromal cell culture

BMMNC were isolated from whole canine bone marrow as described. Cells were plated in DMEM-LG in uncoated T25 or T75 culture flasks. Although adherent cells were obtained using the seeding densities of  $1.6-5.4 \times 10^4$ /cm<sup>2</sup> recommended by Kadiyala *et al* (Kadiyala *et al.*, 1997), yields were improved at higher inocula (1.5 x  $10^5$  cells/cm<sup>2</sup> (Kamishina *et al.*, 2006)).

Medium was changed twice weekly and replaced with 50% fresh:50% conditioned medium after gently washing adherent cells twice with PBS. At 80-90% confluence, cells were subcultured after dissociation of the monolayer using 0.05% Trypsin-

EDTA. After two or three passages, cells arrested and showed no further growth.

# Isolation of peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMNC)

Whole blood (2-5ml) was collected into heparinised glass tubes and diluted 1:1 with PBS at room temperature. Mononuclear cells were isolated by Ficoll density gradient centrifugation and resuspended in the appropriate medium or buffer for flow cytometric analysis.

# **Flow Cytometry**

Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies were obtained from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA, USA), Biolegend (San Diego, CA, USA) and eBioscience (San Diego, CA, USA) – Table 2. Staining was performed in conical 15ml polypropylene centrifuge tubes (TPP, Trasadingen, Switzerland) or round-bottomed 5ml polystyrene tubes (BD Falcon, Bedford, MA, USA).

Antibody (Cat #)	Specificity	Clone	Isotype	Fluorophore	Manufacturer
<b>CD24</b> (311103)	Human	ML5	Mouse IgG2aĸ	FITC	BioLegend
<b>Iso-CD24</b> (400209)			Mouse IgG2aĸ	FITC	BioLegend
<b>CD34</b> (559369)	Canine	1H6	Mouse IgG1ĸ	PE	BD Biosciences
<b>Iso-CD34</b> (556650)			Mouse IgG1ĸ	PE	BD Biosciences
<b>CD44</b> (100307)	Mouse / Human	IM7	Rat IgG2bк	PE	BioLegend
<b>Iso-CD44</b> (400607)			Rat IgG2bк	PE	BioLegend
<b>CD117</b> (559879)	Human	YB5.B8	Mouse IgG1ĸ	PeCy5	BD Biosciences
<b>Iso-CD117</b> (550618)			Mouse IgG1ĸ	PeCy5	BD Biosciences
<b>CD133</b> (17-1331)	Mouse	13A4	Rat IgG1ĸ	APC	eBioscience
<b>Iso-CD133</b> (17-4301)			Rat IgG1ĸ	APC	eBioscience

**Table 2** - Fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies used for flow cytometry. FITC – Fluorescein Isothiocyanate; PE – R-Phycoerythrin; APC – Allophycocyanin. PeCy5 is a tandem conjugate combining R-Phycoerythrin and a cyanine dye.

Antibody	Concentration mg/ml	Recommended / 10 <sup>6</sup> cells / 100µl	µl stock/ 10µl staining volume
CD24	Not provided	"Test" †	"Test" †
CD34	0.5	$\leq 1 \mu g$	2
CD44	0.2	$\leq 0.25 \mu g$	1.25
CD117	0.2	n/a	1.25
CD133	0.2	$\leq 0.125 \mu g$	0.625

Table 3- Concentration of fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies

† Staining volume 20μl where "test" concentration predetermined by manufacturer. Optimal staining concentration for antibodies were determined for each cell line by initial titration experiments.

# Protocol for antibody titration

Directly-conjugated antibodies (maintained at  $4^{\circ}$ C / wet ice, protected from light) Facs-DMEM - DMEM (Gibco 41966) + 2% FCS + 0.1% Sodium Azide Facs-PBS - For antibody dilutions : PBS + 1% FCS + 0.1% Sodium Azide Propidium Iodide (PI) – Dead cell discriminator - 200µg/ml in ddH<sub>2</sub>O

Doubling dilutions of test antibody and concentration-matched isotype control antibody were made in Facs-PBS, with manufacturers' recommended concentration as the initial dilution (Tables 3 & 4). Cells were harvested in complete medium, counted by trypan blue exclusion and centrifuged at 300g, 4°c for 5 minutes. Supernatant was decanted and cells resuspended in Facs-DMEM at 1 x  $10^6$ /ml. Aliquots of cell suspension were made, with samples for each test concentration, isotype-matched controls and at least one unstained sample. Samples were centrifuged at 4°c, 250 g for 5 mins and resuspended in 100µl cold Facs-DMEM.

10µl antibody / appropriate isotype control dilution was added (see Table 4). Tubes were flicked gently to mix and placed on ice, in the dark. After 30-45 minutes, copious cold Facs-DMEM was added to each sample and cells washed by centrifugation at 4°c , 250g, for 5 minutes. Samples were resuspended in 300µl cold Facs-DMEM, and held on ice, in the dark, pending flow cytometry. PI was added just prior to flow cytometry at 2µg/ml for dead cell discrimination if required.

Optimal concentration of test antibody was determined for each cell line, such that the fluorescence of the concentration-matched isotype control sample was equivalent to that of the unstained aliquot.

Antibody/10 <sup>6</sup> cells (10µl)	Dilution
0.25µg	$3\mu$ l stock solution + $21\mu$ l PBS <sup>+</sup> (1)
0.125µg	$12.5 \mu l  dilution  1 + 12.5 \mu l  PBS^+  (2)$
0.0625µg	$12.5 \mu l  dilution  2 + 12.5 \mu l  PBS^+  (3)$

plus isotype controls at same dilutions - 4, 5, 6

**Table 4 -** Example of dilution series for antibody titration - PE Anti-CD44 (P44 1-6)

Cytometer	Acquisition Software	Application
FACSCalibur	CellQuestPro	Surface marker analysis Rhodamine efflux Aldefluor fluorescence DNA content analysis Cell cycle analysis (PI)
FACSAria	FACSDiva	FACS (Cell Sorting) Hoechst efflux analysis DCV efflux analysis Aldefluor analysis
LSRII	FACSDiva	Hoechst efflux analysis Simultaneous cell cycle (DAPI) / surface marker analysis

Flow cytometers and software used for acquisition are shown in Table 5.

**Table 5** – Cytometers and acquisition software used for flow cytometric analysis (all BD Biosciences).

Post-acquisition analysis was performed using FlowJo (Treestar, Ashland, OR, USA).

# Antibody staining protocol

Surface staining experiments were performed as for antibody titration protocol, using optimised concentrations for antibody in the test sample. Control samples (cells incubated with equivalent concentration of isotype-matched control antibody / unstained cells) were evaluated for every experiment. At least 100000 events were acquired for analysis.

# Cell sorting

Sort-DMEM : DMEM (Gibco 41966) + 2% FCS + 2% Pen-Strep Collect-DMEM : DMEM (Gibco 41966) + 20% FCS + 2% Pen-Strep

For cell sorting, sodium azide was omitted from the staining medium to reduce

inhibitory effects on cell growth. Pen-Strep was added to medium as a biocidal agent. The concentration of FCS in the collecting medium was increased such that, when diluted with sorted cells+sheath fluid, it would approximate that of the cells' growth medium (10%).

Cells were harvested in complete medium, passed twice through a 40 $\mu$ m cell strainer, counted by trypan blue exclusion and resuspended at  $1x10^{6}$ /ml in Sort-DMEM. The number of cells required for staining/sorting was calculated using the anticipated percentage of total cells. 1.5x this number of cells (to allow for cell losses) was aliquotted into a 15ml conical tube; aliquots of  $1x10^{6}$  cells were made for Unstained and Isotype control samples. Cells were centrifuged and resuspended in ice-cold Sort-DMEM at  $1x10^{6}$  cells/100 $\mu$ l.

Antibody concentrations were determined from previous titrations. Isotype control antibody was diluted in Facs-PBS and added in a 10µl staining volume. Test antibody was added directly to the cell suspension at the appropriate corresponding concentration. Samples were incubated on ice, in the dark, for 30-45 minutes. Cells were washed with copious ice-cold Sort-DMEM and resuspended in ice-cold Sort-DMEM according to cell number:

Isotype / Unstained – Resuspend in  $300\mu$ l Test – Resuspend at up to  $1x10^7$  cells/ml

Samples were held on ice, in the dark, pending FACS. Cells were collected into tubes containing Collect-DMEM (at least 2ml for each  $1 \times 10^6$  cells to be isolated).

### Fixation of antibody-stained cells for flow cytometry

PBS-Fix – PBS + 1% Paraformaldehyde (PFA) (Sigma-Aldrich) + 0.1% Sodium Azide

Cells were prepared and incubated with antibody as for antibody staining protocol.

After washing with copious Facs-DMEM and centrifugation (5 minutes, 4°C, 300*g*) supernatant was decanted and the cell pellet flicked gently to resuspend in residual fluid.

0.5ml ice-cold PBS-Fix was added to each tube and samples were incubated on ice, in the dark, for at least 15 minutes. Cells were centrifuged (5 minutes, 4°C, 300*g*), resuspended in 0.5ml PBS-Fix and stored at 4°C, in the dark, for up to 2 weeks pending flow cytometry. If cells showed a tendency to clump, they were resuspended in PBS for storage and passed through a 40µm cell strainer prior to analysis. Just prior to flow cytometry, cells were washed twice with 2ml ice-cold PBS and resuspended in 300µl PBS for analysis.

N.B. As PFA fixation causes the death of all cells, use of PI as an indicator of viability is not feasible for fixed samples.

## Cell Cycle / DNA content analysis

Ribonuclease A (RNAse A) (Sigma-Aldrich) - 100µg/ml in ddH<sub>2</sub>0 Propidium Iodide (PI)- 50µg/ml in PBS *or* 4',6-Diamidino-2-phenylindole dihydrocloride (DAPI) (Sigma-Aldrich) - 2µg/ml in PBS

Cells were harvested, washed and resuspended in cold PBS and counted using trypan blue exclusion. Aliquots of equal cell number (for comparison between samples) were placed into 15cm conical tubes. Samples were centrifuged (5 minutes, 4°C, 300g) and resuspended in 1ml cold PBS. 3ml ice-cold (-20°C) absolute ethanol (i.e. final concentration 70-75%) was added dropwise while vortexing, to minimise cell clumping. Samples were placed on ice for at least 30 minutes and were stored at this stage for up to two weeks prior to staining and cytometry.

Cells were washed twice with PBS – samples were centrifuged at 800g, with supernatant carefully decanted leaving a greater than normal amount of residual fluid

for the first wash, to reduce cell losses (cells become lighter and more flocculant upon storage in ethanol). For PI staining (binds dsRNA), 50µl of 100µg/ml RNAse A was added; samples were flicked gently to mix, and incubated at 37°C for 15 minutes. 200µl PI was added for a final concentration of 40µg/ml. For DAPI staining, cells were resuspended in 250µl PBS, and 250µl DAPI added to each tube for a final concentration of 1µg/ml. RNAse was not required, as DAPI does not bind RNA. Samples were analysed by flow cytometry. At least 25000 events were acquired for analysis.

# Low-density, Serum-free Culture for Tumourspheres

N2/MC medium: DMEM/Ham's F12 base medium (Sigma-Aldrich) 0.8% Methylcellulose (Sigma-Aldrich) N2 supplement (Invitrogen) - Insulin 5µg/ml (Bottenstein and Sato, 1979) Transferrin 100µg/ml Putrescine 100µg/ml Progesterone 20µg/ml Sodium selenite 30µg/ml Recombinant human epidermal growth factor (Invitrogen) 5ng/ml Recombinant human basic fibroblastic growth factor (Invitrogen) 5ng/ml

Cells were harvested as for subculture, and live cells counted by trypan blue exclusion. For three wells of a six-well plate,  $2.4 \times 10^5$  cells were washed in PBS and resuspended in 4ml N2/MC (60000 cells/ml), to allow for volume losses associated with manipulating the viscous medium.

1ml N2/MC was placed into each of three wells of an UltraLow Attachment 6-well plate (Corning Life Sciences, Corning NY, USA) and 1ml cell suspension added to each well to give a final concentration of 60000 cells in 2ml N2/MC per well. Plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}C / 5\% CO_2 / 100\%$  humidity. 12µl epidermal growth factor (EGF 100µg/ml in ddH<sub>2</sub>O) and 12µl basic fibroblastic growth factor (bFGF 100µg/ml in ddH<sub>2</sub>O) were added every 48 hours. Cells were monitored for sphere formation, and passaged at 7-14 day intervals, depending on the rate of proliferation and sphere growth.

# Tumoursphere passage protocol

2ml PBS was added to each well of tumourspheres and the plate rocked to aid in aspiration of viscous medium. Cells and medium were aspirated from the wells, transferred to 15ml conical centrifuge tubes and the base of the well washed with a further 1ml PBS to collect any residual spheres. Tumourspheres were washed gently (1000rpm, 5 minutes) using at least an equal volume of PBS. Supernatant was aspirated carefully to avoid disturbing the cell pellet. Cells were resuspended in 0.5ml 0.05% Trypsin-EDTA and incubated at 37°c for 10-15 minutes, with occasional agitation. 0.5ml complete adherent culture medium was added and the suspension triturated gently 20 times using a pipette, avoiding the creation of bubbles.

To reduce the persistence of cellular aggregates after tumoursphere dissociation, the cell suspension was passed twice through a  $40\mu$ m cell strainer (BD Falcon). Live cells were counted using trypan blue exclusion. For assays such as flow cytometry and drug sensitivity, cell numbers were adjusted and resuspended appropriately at this stage for further use. For passage, an aliquot was taken, washed in PBS and resuspended at 60000 cells/ml in N2/MC for replating. Tumourspheres between 5<sup>th</sup> and 10<sup>th</sup> passage were used for assays.

# Transferring tumourspheres to adherent culture

2ml PBS was added to each well of tumourspheres and the plate rocked to aid in aspiration of viscous medium. Cells and medium were aspirated from the wells, transferred to 15ml conical centrifuge tubes and the base of the well washed with 1ml PBS to collect any residual spheres. Tumourspheres were washed gently (200*g*, 5 minutes) using at least an equal volume of PBS. Supernatant was aspirated carefully to avoid disturbing the cell pellet. Cells were resuspended in 7.5ml adherent culture medium and transferred to T25 culture flasks.

## **Chemosensitivity Assays**

Drug (Manufacturer)	TPC (µg/ml)	FW	TPC (µM)	Reference
Doxorubicin (Pharmacia / Pfizer)	0.006 - 0.09	543.52	0.011 - 0.160	Regenthal et al, 1999
Mitoxantrone (Baxter Healthcare)	0.63 - 0.95 *	444.481	1.42 - 2.14	Canal <i>et al</i> , 1993
Carboplatin (Bristol-Myers Squibb)	10-25	371.25	26.9 - 67.3	Regenthal et al, 1999
Cyclophosphamide (Baxter Healthcare)	10-25	279.1	35.8 - 89.6	Regenthal et al, 1999
Vincristine (Hospira UK)	0.001-0.02†	824.96	0.001-0.02 0.002-0.01†	Van den Berg <i>et al</i> , 1982; Sethi <i>et al</i> , 1981

Cells were assessed for sensitivities to different chemotherapy drugs over a range of concentrations to include those achieved in plasma within a clinical setting.

**Table 6** – Therapeutic plasma concentrations (TPC) for humans of commonly-used chemotherapy drugs (\*Mitoxantrone at  $15 \text{mg/m}^2$  dose; †Approximate values derived from pharmacokinetic data).

Cells were harvested, counted, resuspended in complete medium and plated in black 96-well culture plates at  $50\mu$ l /  $5x10^3$  cells per well. Plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ c, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. After 24 hours, drug dilutions were made up in complete medium at 2x final concentration, with volume-matched vehicle controls where appropriate, and 50µl of each dilution added to triplicate wells. 50µl of medium only was added to triplicate wells as a control. 50µl of medium only was added to the outer wells of each plate, which were excluded from the assay. Plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for a further 72 hours.

The CellTiterGlo ATP luminescence cell viability assay (Promega, Madison WI, USA) was used according to the manufacturer's protocol. This uses a 96-well plate format and determines ATP content (a measure of cellular metabolic activity) in treated wells as compared to untreated controls, which shows good correlation with cell viability (Bosanquet, 1993; Andreotti *et al.*, 1995; Cree *et al.*, 1995).

Briefly, reagents and plates were equilibrated to room temperature (for 2 hours and 30 minutes respectively), and 100 $\mu$ l of CellTiterGlo reagent added to each test well. After 2 minutes on an orbital plate shaker and 10 minutes incubation/equilibration at room temperature, luminescence was measured using a microplate reader (Victor<sup>3</sup> Wallac 1420 Multilabel Counter – PerkinElmer, Waltham MA USA)

Viability was calculated as a percentage of the control wells and dose-response curves fitted using nonlinear regression with GraphPad Prism 5.0b (GraphPad Software, San Diego CA, USA). Where comparisons were being made between drug sensitivities of different cell populations, best-fit values for IC<sub>50</sub> were compared using an extra-sum-of-squares F test (p < 0.05).

# Western Blotting

# Preparation of cell pellets

To prepare cell pellets for lysis, medium was discarded from 80-90% confluent monolayer and cells washed with ice-cold PBS. Cells were harvested by scraping into 1ml ice-cold PBS, transferred to chilled (4°C) Eppendorf tubes and placed on ice. For suspension cultures, cells were washed twice with ice-cold PBS, resuspended in 1ml ice-cold PBS, transferred to chilled (4°C) Eppendorf tubes and placed on ice. Samples were spun for 5 minutes / 200g in a precooled (4°C) microcentrifuge. Supernatant was carefully aspirated. Samples could be lysed at this stage, or pellets snap frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -70°C pending lysis.

# Cell lysis

Nonidet-P40 (NP40) Lysis Buffer -	0.1% NP40	5mM dithiothrietol (DTT)
	150mM KCl	25mM HEPES pH 7.4
	50mM NaF	

Buffer was dispensed into aliquots (450µl) and stored at -20°C.

10x Protease inhibitor cocktail – cOmplete Mini (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) - one tablet dissolved in 1ml ddH<sub>2</sub>O. Solution was dispensed into aliquots ( $50\mu$ l) and stored at - $20^{\circ}$ C.

At each use, one aliquot of each was thawed, and 1 volume of 10x protease inhibitor cocktail added to 9 volumes NP40 lysis buffer.

All manipulations were performed on ice. Approximately twice the pellet volume of freshly-prepared lysis buffer/protease inhibitor mix was added to each sample, and the suspension mixed by pipetting. For frozen pellets, after adding lysis buffer/protease inhibitor the pellet was allowed to thaw on wet ice prior to mixing. Samples were held on ice for 15 minutes and then centrifuged for 15 minutes at

 $16000g / 4^{\circ}C$ . The supernatant (cell lysate) was aspirated into a fresh, chilled (4°C) Eppendorf tube. Protein concentration was determined using the Bradford assay, and cell lysates snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -70°C.

## Bradford Assay for protein quantification

Bradford Reagent (Quick Start<sup>™</sup>, Bio-Rad) Protein Standards - Bovine gamma globulin 2mg/ml stock (Bio-Rad) and dilutions

Bradford reagent was allowed to equilibrate to room temperature, and protein standards prepared by serial dilution in ddH<sub>2</sub>O. For each cell lysate to be tested, 20µl of a 1:10 dilution was prepared in ddH<sub>2</sub>O.

For each standard and each lysate to be tested,  $250\mu$ l of Bradford reagent was added to triplicate wells of a 96-well plate, and  $5\mu$ l of protein solution added. Samples were gently agitated on an orbital plate shaker to mix and allowed to stand at room temperature for 5-10 minutes. Absorbance at 595nm was determined for each well using a microplate reader. Mean absorbance for standards was calculated and plotted to produce a calibration curve, from which protein concentration of tested lysates was determined.

#### Western Blotting - reagents / materials

1.5M Tris pH 8.8
1M Tris pH 6.8
10% w/v sodium dodecyl sulphate (SDS) (Sigma-Aldrich) in ddH<sub>2</sub>O
10% w/v ammonium persulphate (APS) (Sigma-Aldrich) in ddH<sub>2</sub>O
N,N,N',N'-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED) (Sigma-Aldrich)
30% w/v acrylamide / 0.8% bis-acrylamide mix (ProtoGel, National Diagnostics, Hull, UK)
Washing buffer – PBST-WB (PBS + 0.1% Tween 20)
Blocking solution – PBST-WB + 5% w/v skimmed milk powder

ECL reagent (Amersham ECL, GE Healthcare, Chalfont St Giles, UK) Prestained molecular weight marker [Prestained SDS-PAGE Standards, Broad range (Bio-Rad) / Full Range Rainbow Molecular Weight Marker (GE Healthcare)] Nitrocellulose membrane (Amersham Hybond ECL, GE Healthcare) Radiographic film (Amersham Hyperfilm-ECL, GE Healthcare)

# **Buffers**

Running buffer (pH 8.3)- 25mM Tris 190mM glycine 0.1% SDS Transfer buffer (pH ≥8) - 25mM Tris 190mM glycine 20% v/v methanol

2x Loading buffer (pH 6.8) - 100mM Tris pH 6.8 4% SDS 0.2% bromophenol blue 20% w/v glycerol 200mM DTT (add prior to loading)

# Polyacrylamide gel preparation

10% resolving polyacrylamide gels were prepared (based on anticipated protein product size of 15-100kDa), along with 5% stacking gels, on the day of electrophoresis. All components other than APS and TEMED were mixed for resolving and stacking gels as detailed in Table 7, and plates and casting equipment prepared.

APS and TEMED were added to the resolving gel components to initiate polymerisation immediately before casting. After mixing by inversion, the gel was cast between glass plates; ddH<sub>2</sub>O was overlaid to inhibit the formation of bubbles. Once set (approximately 15 minutes) the water was decanted, and APS and TEMED added to the stacking gel components. This was overlaid on the resolving gel and a comb placed for sample separation. Once set, the comb was removed and wells washed with ddH<sub>2</sub>O in preparation for addition of samples. Apparatus was set up for electrophoresis with the prepared gel and sufficient running buffer.

Component	For 10% Acrylamide Resolving Gel (ml)	For 5% Acrylamide Stacking Gel (ml)
ddH <sub>2</sub> O	1.9	2.1
30% Acrylamide mix	1.7	0.5
1.5M Tris (pH 8.8)	1.3	n/a
1.0M Tris (pH 6.8)	n/a	0.38
10% SDS	0.05	0.03
10% APS	0.05	0.03
TEMED	0.002	0.002

**Table 7** - Preparation of polyacrylamide gels.Volumes shown are to make up 5mland 3ml of resolving and stacking gel, respectively.

# Sample preparation

Cell lysates were allowed to thaw on ice. Based on the predetermined protein concentration, the volume of cell lysate for required protein quantity per well was calculated. This was transferred to a fresh Eppendorf tube and mixed 1:1 with 2x loading buffer. Samples were denatured at 95-98°C in a heat block for 3 minutes before loading. A molecular weight marker (volume as recommended by manufacturer) was loaded into at least one well of each gel.

# Sample separation and transfer

Samples were run at 180V at room temperature for 45 minutes, or until loading buffer had reached the end of the gel. Gels were removed from electrophoresis apparatus and separated from glass plates. Gels were layered with nitrocellulose membrane between sheets of blotting paper and sponges, which had been presoaked in transfer buffer, and a glass rod rolled over the assembly to exclude bubbles. This was placed into a transfer cassette. Samples were transferred overnight at 20mA at room temperature, with stirring.

# Blocking and primary antibody incubation

Unconjugated primary antibodies were obtained from Abcam (Cambridge, UK), Dako (Glostrup, Denmark) and Novus Biologicals (Littleton, CO, USA). All washes were performed at room temperature with gentle agitation.

Membranes (blots) were removed from the transfer assembly and washed for 1 minute in PBST-WB. Blots were incubated with Ponceau S stain (0.1% w/v in 5% v/v acetic acid) at this stage to ensure the presence of protein. After staining, blots were washed 2-3 times in PBST-WB and then blocked in blocking solution for 30 minutes at room temperature.

Primary antibodies were diluted in blocking solution, initially according to the manufacturer's recommendation and thereafter to optimised concentrations (Table 8). Blots were incubated with primary antibody at 4°C overnight in a humidified chamber.

Antibody	Clonality / Isotype	Manufacturer	Species Specificity	Dilution
ABCG2 Clone BXP-21	Mouse Monoclonal	Abcam	Human	1:200
c-Kit	Rabbit Polyclonal	Dako	Human	1:200
Oct4	Rabbit Polyclonal	Abcam	Human	1:200
Nanog	Rabbit Polyclonal	Abcam	Human / Mouse	1:200
β-actin Clone AC-15	Mouse Monoclonal	Abcam	Xenopus; cross-reactivity incl Human / Mouse / Canine	1:5000 – 1:10000
GAPDH	Rabbit Polyclonal	Novus Biologicals	Bovine; cross-reactivity incl Human / Mouse	1:100 – 1:200

Table 8 – Primary antibodies for western blotting / immunofluorescence

## Secondary antibody incubation

Blots were washed for 3 x 5minutes in PBST-WB. Horseradish peroxidase- (HRP-) conjugated secondary antibodies were obtained from Dako (Swine anti-Rabbit-HRP; Rabbit anti-Mouse-HRP). The appropriate secondary antibody was diluted 1:1000 in blocking solution and applied to the membrane. After incubation at room temperature for 1 hour, blots were washed for 3 x 5 minutes in PBST-WB.

### **Chemiluminescent detection**

ECL reagent was prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions and applied to blots. After 1-2 minutes, excess reagent was drained and blots transferred to a Saran wrap folder secured within a film cassette. In a darkroom, radiographic film was loaded into the cassette and allowed to expose for 2-20 minutes depending on signal strength. After developing, the molecular weight marker sizes were labelled on to the radiographic film to allow determination of protein band size. Alternatively, after draining excess reagent, chemiluminescent signal was visualised using a ChemiDoc XRS imaging system equipped with QuantityOne software (Bio-Rad); a corresponding image was captured indicating the position of the molecular weight marker.

## Loading control

Loading controls were performed to check for even protein loading between wells where comparisons were to be made between expression levels in different samples. Blots were washed for 3 x 5minutes in PBST-WB. Anti-human  $\beta$ -actin antibody was diluted in blocking solution and applied to the membrane. After incubating for 2h at room temperature, washing, incubation with secondary swine anti-mouse-HRP and chemiluminescent detection were performed as described.

# Immunofluorescence

Primary antibodies for immunofluorescence analysis are detailed in Table 8. Antibodies were tested initially at the manufacturer's recommended concentration and thereafter at optimised dilutions. For each cell type and marker to be assessed, sufficient coverslips / slides were prepared for controls as well as at least two test samples (Table 9).

Sample	Primary Antibody	Secondary Antibody	
Test	Yes	Yes	
Autofluorescence control	No (Blocking solution only)	No (Blocking solution only)	
Secondary-only control – Non-specific binding	No (Blocking solution only)	Yes	

**Table 9** – Test and control samples prepared to assess expression of each marker, by a given cell type, using immunofluorescent staining

# Coverslip preparation for adherent cell cultures

13mm diameter coverslips (VWR International, West Chester, PA) were prepared by acid-washing prior to use in immunofluorescence experiments. 4ml concentrated hydrochloric acid was added to 25ml distilled water, and coverslips washed in the solution on an orbital shaker. After 1 hour, coverslips were rinsed thoroughly with distilled water (approximately 20 changes), and then washed for a further 30 minutes in sterile distilled water. Water was decanted and replaced with absolute ethanol (molecular biology grade). Coverslips were stored under absolute ethanol at 4°C until required.

# Preparation of adherent cells

Cells were grown in complete medium in 3.5cm or 10cm culture plates into which had been placed the required number of acid-washed coverslips (see protocol for coverslip preparation). Once cells had grown to 70-80% confluence, the medium

was removed and the monolayer and coverslips washed twice with ice-cold PBS. Coverslips were transferred using forceps to glass Petri dishes for fixation, ensuring that they remained "cell side up".

#### Preparation of tumoursphere cells

Passage 5-10 tumourspheres were harvested and washed once in PBS as for passage. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1ml cold PBS and held on ice pending cytospin preparation.

100µl aliquots of tumoursphere suspension were transferred onto charged slides (Snowcoat X-tra Adhesive, Surgipath, Richmond IL) at 300rpm (3 minutes) using a Shandon Cytospin 2 (Fisher Scientific, Loughborough, UK). Slides were transferred immediately to glass Coplin jars for fixation/permeabilisation.

### Fixation and permeabilisation of samples

Washing buffer – PBST-IF (PBS + 0.05% Tween 20) All washes were performed at room temperature with gentle agitation.

# 1) Methanol - Acetone

Slides or coverslips in glass containers were fixed in ice-cold (-20°C) methanol inside a -20°C chest freezer. After 5 minutes, methanol was decanted and replaced with ice-cold (-20°C) acetone for 5-10 minutes to permeabilise cells (permeabilisation times were optimised, with longer incubations used where necessary for nuclear antigens). Slides or coverslips were washed in PBST-IF (3 x 5 minutes) prior to blocking and antibody staining.

#### 2) PFA - TritonX-100

4% PFA was prepared freshly from 12% frozen stocks by thawing and diluting with PBS. Slides or coverslips were fixed in 4% PFA at room temperature for 10

minutes, washed twice in PBS and then permeabilised with 0.1% v/v TritonX-100 (Sigma-Aldrich) in PBS for 5-10 minutes at room temperature (permeabilisation times were optimised, with longer incubations used where necessary for nuclear antigens). Samples were washed with PBST-IF (2 x 5 minutes) prior to blocking and antibody staining.

### Blocking and antibody staining

Blocking buffer - PBST + 2% goat serum

DAPI nuclear counterstain – 0.2µg/ml in PBS (1:50000 dilution of 5µg/µl stock) Mowiol 4-88 mounting medium (Calbiochem/Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany)

Samples were blocked in blocking buffer for 1 hour at room temperature. Primary antibody was diluted in blocking solution (Tables 8 & 9). Samples were incubated overnight with primary antibody (or blocking solution only for secondary only / autofluorescence controls) at 4°C in a humidified chamber, and washed 2x 5min with PBST.

All subsequent manipulations were carried out protected from light. Fluorescein Isothiocyanate- (FITC-) conjugated secondary antibodies were obtained from Abcam, Cambridge, UK (goat anti-mouse-FITC) and Jackson Immunoresearch Laboratories, West Grove, PA (goat anti-mouse-FITC). The appropriate secondary antibody was diluted 1:200 – 1:1000 in blocking solution and applied to samples (or blocking solution only for autofluorescence controls). After incubation in a darkened humidified chamber at room temperature for 1 hour, slides / coverslips were washed for 5 minutes in PBST-IF followed by 5 minutes incubation at room temperature with DAPI nuclear counterstain.

Samples were washed 2 x 5minutes with PBST, mounted using Mowiol (samples on coverslips were inverted onto glass slides; samples on slides were covered with 22mm square coverslips) and allowed to harden at 4°C prior to examination by fluorescence microscopy.

# Microscopy

Photomicrographs were captured with a Leitz Fluovert microscope (Leitz, Wetzlar, Germany) equipped with a Nikon Coolpix 4500 camera, or a Zeiss Axiovert 40 microscope (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany) equipped with a cooled CCD camera and Axiovision software. Fluorescent images were captured using a Zeiss Axiovert 40 microscope and all post-acquisition image processing was performed using Axiovision software (Carl Zeiss, Jena, Germany).

# **CHAPTER 3**

# **USE OF FLOW CYTOMETRIC TECHNIQUES TO IDENTIFY**

# CANCER STEM CELLS IN CANINE TUMOURS

## **INTRODUCTION**

As well as the cardinal properties of self-renewal and multilineage differentiation capacity, cancer stem cells might be expected to share features with normal tissue stem cells, in terms of both phenotype and behaviour. These include:

- Unlimited self-renewal capacity give rise to multiple progeny.
- Multilineage differentiation capacity reconstitute the tissue from which they are derived.
- Persist in tissues within a supportive microenvironment ("niche").
- Enhanced resistance to toxic agents.

It seems logical that some of the markers used to identify these specialised properties in normal stem cells may be applicable to the search for subpopulations in cancer.

Flow cytometry is used in almost every piece of published research describing the identification or isolation of cancer stem cells. Flow cytometry is a fast and quantitative means of analysing and sorting cells at an individual level, and allows separation according to multiple criteria simultaneously. This makes it ideal for defining heterogeneity amongst populations of cells (Baumgarth and Roederer, 2000; Shapiro, 2003). Moreover, using multiple parameters it can identify very small subpopulations precisely, enabling recognition of potentially rare stem cells (Preffer and Dombkowski, 2009; Tarnok *et al.*, 2010). Flow cytometry is an effective technique for immunophenotyping cells derived from both solid and haematological canine malignancies (Greenlee *et al.*, 1987; Vernau and Moore, 1999; McDonough and Moore, 2000; Culmsee *et al.*, 2001; Weiss, 2001; Akhtar *et al.*, 2004; Jubala *et al.*, 2005; Wilkerson *et al.*, 2005).

The use of flow cytometry to identify cancer stem cells can be broadly divided into two categories – definition according to surface marker phenotype, and demonstration of stem cell-associated functions.

## Identification of Cancer Stem Cells using Cell Surface Markers

The list of cell surface antigens used to identify putative cancer stem cells is extensive. In some cases, these are well-established markers of normal stem and progenitor cells (for example, CD34 in the haematopoietic system). For others (e.g. CD133, CD44) the situation is less clear – although they have received considerable attention as cancer stem cell markers for a wide variety of tumour types, they have not been definitively associated with repopulating ability in many of the corresponding non-neoplastic tissues.

The cell surface antigens chosen for this study have been associated with the cancer stem cell fraction of multiple tumour types, by many investigators.

*CD34* is a cell surface sialomucin and is one of the most important markers of primitive haematopoietic cells. Although its function has not been fully elucidated, progressive downregulation occurs during differentiation, and the CD34<sup>+</sup> fraction of bone marrow has been shown to be highly enriched (although not exclusively responsible) for repopulating activity in multiple species including human, mouse and dog (Sutherland *et al.*, 1990; Brown *et al.*, 1991; Baum *et al.*, 1992; McSweeney *et al.*, 1998; Suter *et al.*, 2004). In seminal studies of leukaemic stem cells (LSC) in acute myeloid leukaemia, the CD34<sup>+</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> fraction was shown to be more tumourigenic than the CD34<sup>-</sup>CD38<sup>+</sup> fraction, and the marker has since been used to isolate LSC in other haematological malignancies (Lapidot *et al.*, 1994; Bonnet and Dick, 1997; Cox *et al.*, 2004; Hong *et al.*, 2008). CD34 is also a marker of endothelial progenitor cells (Hristov and Weber, 2004; Rustemeyer *et al.*, 2006). Expression in some canine leukaemias (McSweeney *et al.*, 1998; Vernau and Moore, 1999; Wilkerson *et al.*, 2005; Gelain *et al.*, 2008) and haemangiosarcomas (Lamerato-Kozicki *et al.*, 2006) is reported.

*CD44* is a near-ubiquitously expressed cell surface transmembrane glycoprotein whose major ligand is hyaluronate. It is involved in cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion and so plays roles in organ structure, cell homing and migration. As well

as the standard form, multiple variants exist as a result of alternative exon splicing and post-translational modification, and these are preferentially expressed by haematopoietic cells (Sneath and Mangham, 1998; Goodison *et al.*, 1999). Aberrant expression of CD44, particularly the variant isotypes, occurs in many types of cancer, particularly in association with invasion and metastasis (Goodison and Tarin, 1998; Herrera-Gayol and Jothy, 1999a; Marhaba and Zoller, 2004). CD44 was first associated with cancer stem cells when the CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>low/-</sup> fraction of human breast tumours was shown to harbour most of their tumourigenic potential (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003). It has since been used for prospective CSC isolation in a variety of tumour types (Collins *et al.*, 2005; Jin *et al.*, 2006; Li *et al.*, 2007; Prince *et al.*, 2007; Honeth *et al.*, 2008; Yang and Chang, 2008; Shimada *et al.*, 2009; Takaishi *et al.*, 2009).

*CD24* is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-linked cell surface protein expressed by haematopoietic cells and some neuronal and epithelial tissues (Baumann *et al.*, 2005; Lim and Oh, 2005). Following the demonstration by Al-Hajj *et al* that the tumourigenicity of CD44<sup>+</sup> breast cancer cells lay within the CD24<sup>Low/-</sup> fraction (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003), the markers have been used in combination to isolate putative CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>low/-</sup> cancer stem cells from multiple tumours and cancer cell lines. It has been suggested that higher levels of CD24 expression are associated with more differentiated cell types, such as luminal breast cancers (Sheridan *et al.*, 2006; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2007). In pancreatic cancer, however, CD24<sup>+</sup> fractions were more tumourigenic than CD24<sup>--</sup> cells (Li *et al.*, 2007); similarly, a study of colon cancer stem cells found that CD24 expression correlated more closely with clonogenicity than CD44 (Vermeulen and al., 2008). Moreover, the molecule is associated in its own right with tumour progression, invasive and metastatic properties (Baumann *et al.*, 2005; Kim *et al.*, 2007; Shipitsin *et al.*, 2007).

The tyrosine kinase receptor *CD117 (c-Kit)* (Yarden *et al.*, 1987) is expressed by certain subsets of normal haematopoietic progenitor cells (Ogawa *et al.*, 1991; Okada *et al.*, 1991; Huss *et al.*, 1995; Niemeyer *et al.*, 2001), and also some more committed cells including mast cells, melanocytes, ductal mammary epithelium and

81

some neural subsets (Crosier et al., 1993; Matsuda et al., 1993; London et al., 1996; Morini et al., 2004). Its ligand is stem cell factor (SCF, also known as steel factor, Kit ligand and mast cell growth factor). Ligand binding leads to activation of downstream signalling cascades with roles in cell growth and differentiation (Nocka et al., 1990; Williams et al., 1990; Tsai et al., 1991; Shull et al., 1992; Schuening et al., 1993). Along with other tyrosine kinases such as epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), vascular endothelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR) and plateletderived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), dysregulation of CD117 may occur in cancer through overexpression, mutation, chromosomal translocation or autocrine activation (due to production of ligand by tumour cells or stroma). Alterations of expression are reported for multiple human cancers (Wang et al., 1989; Ikeda et al., 1991; Lerner et al., 1991; Sekido et al., 1991; Strohmeyer et al., 1991; Natali et al., 1992; Turner et al., 1992; Rygaard et al., 1993; Toyota et al., 1993; Satzger et al., 2008; Mansuroglu et al., 2009), as well as mast cell tumours, haemangiosarcomas and gastrointestinal stromal tumours in the dog (London et al., 1996; London et al., 1999; Fosmire et al., 2004; Morini et al., 2004; Lamerato-Kozicki et al., 2006). Putative CD117<sup>+</sup> cancer stem cell populations have been reported for acute myeloid leukaemias, oral squamous cell and ovarian carcinomas (Chiou et al., 2008; Kirstetter et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008a). Tyrosine kinase receptors have become the focus of much attention since the advent of small molecule and monoclonal antibody cancer therapies, which allow more precise targetting of the cells which express them (Gleixner et al., 2007; London et al., 2009; Yan et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2009a).

*CD133 (Prominin-1)* is a pentaspan transmembrane glycoprotein, originally recognised on CD34<sup>+</sup> haematopoietic stem cells; neural stem cells and endothelial progenitors are also CD133<sup>+</sup> (Uchida *et al.*, 2000; Kobari *et al.*, 2001; Handgretinger *et al.*, 2003; Salven *et al.*, 2003; Pfenninger *et al.*, 2007). CD133 has been extensively associated in the literature with putative cancer stem cell populations, in multiple tumour types including brain, lung, prostate, hepatocellular, stomach and colorectal cancers, melanoma and leukaemia (Singh *et al.*, 2004; Collins *et al.*, 2005; Monzani *et al.*, 2007; O'Brien *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2008; Ma *et al.*, 2008; Smith

*et al.*, 2008; Cox *et al.*, 2009). The function of the protein has not been determined, and its status as a cancer stem cell marker remains controversial (Kern and Shibata, 2007; Bidlingmaier *et al.*, 2008; LaBarge and Bissell, 2008). It has been suggested that in some cases, detectable expression may reflect angiogenesis and the presence of endothelial or other supportive cells rather than the tumour cells themselves (Kelly *et al.*, 2007; Adams and Strasser, 2008). In addition, tumourigenic activity exists in both the CD133<sup>+</sup> and CD133<sup>-</sup> fractions of glioblastomas and colon cancers, each showing distinct molecular and behavioural characteristics (Beier *et al.*, 2007; Shmelkov *et al.*, 2008). It appears that the molecule may be more widely expressed on normal epithelia than previously recognised (LaBarge and Bissell, 2008). Definitive identification of expression is confounded by practical issues, such as the orientation of tissues within histological sections, and variable glycosylation status of epitopes. Available monoclonal antibodies detect one of two major epitopes, AC133 and AC141, which may not necessarily produce concordant staining patterns (Bidlingmaier *et al.*, 2008).

#### Alternatives to Flow Cytometry for Surface Marker-based Isolation - MACS

Magnetic cell sorting (MACS), using commercially available beads conjugated to CD133 and CD34 antibodies, has become popular as a means of isolating small populations of putative stem or cancer stem cells, as it permits larger samples to be processed at greater speed than can be achieved with fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS). This leads, however, to cells being "blindly" selected - non-specific binding may occur due to unrelated processes which increase cellular adhesion within the separation column, and cannot be distinguished from specific immunoreactivity (by contrast with flow cytometry, where non-specific binding and dead cells can be readily discriminated). Thus, without subsequent verification of the purity of the separated fraction(s) by flow cytometry, it is an unreliable method of isolation. This is particularly germane when studying cells from a species other than that to which the antibody was raised, or when target cells constitute a rare-event population. The technique was therefore not used in this study.

## Identification of Cancer Stem Cells using Functional Assays

# Efflux of fluorescent substrates

Normal haematopoietic stem cells express membrane transporter proteins, which may play a protective role by enabling these cells to efflux substances which would otherwise prove toxic to the cells (Zhou *et al.*, 2001; Bunting, 2002; Hadnagy *et al.*, 2006). This property may be exploited in order to identify these cells - those capable of pumping out specific fluorescent substrates will appear dull compared to the main population of cells when analysed using flow cytometry or fluorescence microscopy. Fluorescent dyes used for this purpose include Rhodamine123, a substrate of P-Glycoprotein (P-gP) (Spangrude and Johnson, 1990; Chaudhary and Roninson, 1991), and Hoechst 33342, a substrate of ABCG2 (also known as breast cancer resistance protein, BCRP) (Scharenberg *et al.*, 2002).

P-gP and ABCG2 are members of the ATP-Binding Cassette (ABC) superfamily, a large group of proteins with a common ability to bind ATP as an energy source for the transport of molecules across the cell membrane (Bunting, 2002). Expression of ABC transporters by neoplastic cells has long been recognised as a major problem in clinical cancer therapy, affording multidrug resistance (MDR) – that is, the ability for tumour cells to evade not only the cytotoxic effects of a particular drug or class of drugs, but also those of otherwise unrelated chemotherapeutics, through the expression of a single protein (Licht *et al.*, 1994; Wuchter *et al.*, 2000; Gottesman *et al.*, 2002; Doyle and Ross, 2003; Leonard *et al.*, 2003). Thus, it might be expected that assays for dye efflux properties should be appropriate to identify subpopulations of cancer cells with stem cell-like properties, which may persist after therapy.

### Hoechst 33342 exclusion : the Side Population assay

In 1996, Margaret Goodell *et al* described a method for flow cytometric isolation of progenitor-like cells from murine bone marrow, by virtue of their ability to exclude the fluorescent dye Hoechst 33342. The "Side Population" (SP) cells of Hoechst<sup>low</sup>

fluorescence can be seen as a small (0.05% in murine bone marrow) population of cells to the left of the majority  $G_0$ - $G_1$  population on a blue vs. red profile (Goodell *et al.*, 1996). The SP follows a characteristic arc, due to an increase in the ratio of blue:red emission for this subset, rather than tracing directly from the main population to the plot origin. Human and murine bone marrow SP cells are predominantly CD34<sup>-</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup>, *i.e.* showing limited correlation with populations isolated according to expression of the classic HSC marker CD34. However, the enrichment of engraftment / reconstitution potential within isolated SP fractions is comparable with that achieved by fractionation according to surface marker expression (Goodell *et al.*, 1996; Goodell *et al.*, 1997; Challen and Little, 2006). The technique has been adapted to identify cells with repopulating ability in a number of normal tissues.

Whilst ABCG2 has been demonstrated as a molecular determinant of the SP phenotype (Zhou *et al.*, 2001), there is some overlap between the roles of different membrane transporters, and it appears that other characteristics may influence cells' presence in the side population (Naylor *et al.*, 2005). For example, in human umbilical cord blood (Alt *et al.*, 2009) and murine embryonic stem cells (Zhou *et al.*, 2001) ABCG2 expression correlates poorly with the SP phenotype, and ABCG2 knockout mice demonstrate normal haematopoiesis (Zhou *et al.*, 2001). Evidence obtained through gene-knockout experiments in mice also suggests that other mechanisms may lead to the appearance of this characteristic profile (Jonker *et al.*, 2005).

Although originally defined as a means of isolating normal haematopoietic repopulating cells from murine bone marrow, side population analysis has become a commonly used method to identify putative cancer stem cells. The side population of numerous malignancies and cancer cell lines has been shown to possess properties such as colony formation, stem cell-associated gene expression, tumoursphere-forming capacity, chemo-/radioresistance and tumourigenicity, exceeding those of the main population (Hirschmann-Jax *et al.*, 2004; Kondo *et al.*, 2004; Wang *et al.*, 2007; Zhou *et al.*, 2007; Addla *et al.*, 2008; Engelmann *et al.*, 2008; Loebinger *et al.*,

2008; Bleau *et al.*, 2009; Fukuda *et al.*, 2009). The size of the SP fraction identified within many tumours and cell lines is variable, sometimes considerably greater than that in corresponding normal tissues; one study showed a range of 4 - 37% in human neuroblastoma cell lines and 0.8 - 51% in primary neuroblastomas (Hirschmann-Jax *et al.*, 2004). Also, the shape of the profile is less consistent than that of the standard SP profile seen for murine BMMNC.

For this reason, it is important that the side population is defined not only by its appearance, but by its reduction when ABC transporter function is inhibited using drugs such as verapamil, reserpine, or Fumitremorgin-C (Eaker *et al.*, 2004). C6 rat glioma cells cultured with platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) showed a SP-like appearance on a flow cytometric dot plot, but this was not blocked by verapamil – the experimenters accepted that this was therefore "not a *bona fide* side population" (Kondo *et al.*, 2004). The assay itself is very sensitive and requires careful titration with regards cell type and species, in order to ascertain optimal staining concentrations and times (Goodell *et al.*, 1997) – for example, a larger than expected SP may actually represent *under*staining of the majority population. A review of the literature revealed only two published reports describing use of the Hoechst 33342 exclusion assay with canine cells, in the analysis of dental pulp and of normal liver (Iohara *et al.*, 2006; Arends *et al.*, 2009).

As with every CSC assay, the underlying biology of the phenomenon is not fully understood, leading to some uncertainties in interpretation of results. Proliferation status may affect dye efflux capacity, such that it can identify quiescent cells (such as HSC in bone marrow) but may less readily discriminate between actively cycling cells (Spangrude and Johnson, 1990; Uchida *et al.*, 2004; Stingl *et al.*, 2006). In studies of prostatic cancer cell lines and a xenograft tumour, Patrawala *et al* found that whilst the SP showed enhanced tumourigenicity, this did not correlate with ABCG2 expression - ABCG2<sup>-</sup> cells had tumourigenic capacity equivalent to ABCG2<sup>+</sup> cells, and also expressed certain stem cell-associated genes not seen in the ABCG2<sup>+</sup> subset. The incomplete overlap between ABCG2-expressing cells and SP was attributed in this report to differences in cell cycling time (Patrawala *et al.*, 2005).

Studies of normal murine mammary epithelial cells found poor correlation between SP and stem cell identity / repopulating ability as defined by cell surface markers (Shackleton *et al.*, 2006; Stingl *et al.*, 2006). Similarly, overlap between Hoechst-effluxing and surface marker-defined CSC populations in cancer may be limited (Fan *et al.*, 2006), and in some cancers there is no association between side population and CSC properties (Lichtenauer *et al.*, 2008).

It has been pointed out that, since Hoechst 33342 can be toxic to some cells (Fried *et al.*, 1982; Durand and Olive, 2001), enhanced replicative capacity in a Ho<sup>low</sup> subpopulation is perhaps not surprising, and may be secondary to the nature of the assay itself rather than a feature of the cells isolated *per se* (Hadnagy *et al.*, 2006; Hill, 2006). Zheng *et al* demonstrated that growth and clone formation of C6 glioma cells incubated in the presence of Hoechst was reduced and that this in itself could account for differential behaviour of side *vs* main population cells in tumourigenicity assays (Zheng *et al.*, 2007). Conversely, other investigators have shown equivalent growth or viability in cells which retain and those which efflux Hoechst (Murase *et al.*, 2009; Zhang *et al.*, 2009b)

Thus, the appearance of a SP is a useful guideline for stem-like properties, but is not reliable when considered alone. As not all SP cells are stem cells (Triel *et al.*, 2004; Addla *et al.*, 2008) (and as with any assay purporting to identify stem or cancer stem cells), it is important to validate any isolated SP cells using phenotypic markers and/or functional analysis for stem cell-like properties. This relies on an appreciation of the expected phenotype of a stem or progenitor cell in the tissue under scrutiny. It is also important to recognise that the growth kinetics and characteristics of cell lines are likely to be different from primary tissues in terms of expected SP (Zheng *et al.*, 2007).

For optimal excitation, analysis of Hoechst 33342 (*ex* 350nm, *em* 461nm) requires an ultraviolet laser. In addition to these being available only on high-end flow cytometers, high power UV radiation has greater potential to cause DNA damage, and thus be deleterious to cell viability. Simpson *et al* showed that the presence of a side population, albeit with a less defined profile, may be determined using a violet laser (Simpson *et al.*, 2006). In addition, Vybrant<sup>®</sup>DyeCycle<sup>™</sup>Violet, a fluorescent substrate used for cell cycle analysis of viable cells, can also identify the SP in haematopoietic cells and may prove more suitable for live cell isolation (Telford *et al.*, 2007).

## Rhodamine 123 efflux

Rhodamine 123 is another fluorescent substrate used to identify subsets of bone marrow cells enriched for haematopoietic stem cell activity (Visser and de Vries, 1988; Spangrude and Johnson, 1990; Baum *et al.*, 1992; Phillips *et al.*, 1992; Zijlmans *et al.*, 1995; Bertoncello and Williams, 2004). Rhodamine 123 efflux has been demonstrated in canine haematopoietic progenitors (Niemeyer *et al.*, 2001; Suter *et al.*, 2004; Wijewardana *et al.*, 2007). This capability is afforded by P-glycoprotein (P-gp), an ABC membrane transporter pump encoded by the MDR1 gene (Steingold *et al.*, 1998; Zhou *et al.*, 2001). In addition, point mutations in ABCG2 [specifically, substitution of threonine for arginine at amino acid 482 – ABCG2<sup>482T</sup>] alters substrate specificity to permit Rhodamine 123 efflux (Honjo *et al.*, 2001; Robey *et al.*, 2003; Alqawi *et al.*, 2004).

Rhodamine efflux analysis has been used less widely than side population analysis in the identification of putative CSC populations (Monzani *et al.*, 2007; Wu *et al.*, 2007). Nonetheless, it seems logical that it might similarly demonstrate the existence of subpopulations of stem-like cells with enhanced drug efflux / resistance capacity. Moreover, its suitability for the analysis of canine cells has been demonstrated, and logistically it has a major advantage over Hoechst 33342 in that its fluorescence characteristics (*ex* 488nm *em* 520nm) permit analysis using standard benchtop flow cytometers.
#### Activity of intracellular enzymes – Aldehyde Dehydrogenase

Identification of haematopoietic cells expressing high levels of aldehyde dehydrogenase, ALDH, is now a recognised flow cytometric method of identifying human HSC (Kastan *et al.*, 1990; Storms *et al.*, 1999; Armstrong *et al.*, 2004; Hess *et al.*, 2004; Christ *et al.*, 2007); in fact, ALDH expression correlates better with repopulating ability than side population in the human system (the converse is true for murine HSC) (Pearce and Bonnet, 2007)(K. Samuel, University of Edinburgh - *pers. comm.*). This enzyme imparts the resistance shown by hHSC to alkylating agents such as cyclophosphamide (Gordon *et al.*, 1985; Sahovic *et al.*, 1988).

The Aldefluor (Stem Cell Technologies, Grenoble, France) assay is available as a commercial kit, and detects high levels of the isoenzyme ALDH-1A1. Optimised to identify human HSC, the assay has been reported to discriminate candidate stem cell populations within other tissues including breast, brain and colon, and to identify endothelial and mesenchymal progenitors (Gentry *et al.*, 2007; Ginestier *et al.*, 2007; Huang *et al.*, 2009b). Cells from other species, including dog, have also been investigated with results suggesting that the assay may be applicable in diverse model systems (Fiordalisi *et al.*, 2005). The fluorescent assay substrate, Bodipy-Aminoacetaldehyde (BAAA), can diffuse freely across plasma membranes - in the presence of ALDH-1A1 it is converted to Bodipy-Aminoacetate (BAA), a polar molecule which is retained within the cell. ALDH-positive cells can be identified as a bright population which is diminished in the presence of a specific inhibitor, diethylamino-benzaldehyde (DEAB). Normal human haematopoietic progenitors appear as an ALDH<sup>bright</sup> Side-Scatter<sup>low</sup> subset (Storms *et al.*, 1999).

As with membrane transporter-mediated efflux, intracellular detoxification mechanisms allowing evasion of the effects of chemotherapy drugs might be expected to identify persistent cancer stem cells. Aldehyde dehydrogenase expression has been used to identify putative CSC in malignancies including colon, prostate, breast and lung tumours, acute myeloid leukaemia and multiple myeloma (Pearce *et al.*, 2005; Ginestier *et al.*, 2007; Matsui *et al.*, 2008; Carpentino *et al.*,

2009; Huang *et al.*, 2009b; Jiang *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2010; Morimoto *et al.*, 2009; Tanei *et al.*, 2009), and in some cases has been demonstrated as a negative prognostic indicator (Ginestier *et al.*, 2007; Jiang *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2010; Morimoto *et al.*, 2009).

This study sought to apply these flow cytometric techniques to the canine model system, to identify candidate canine CSC subpopulations.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

# **Cell Surface Phenotyping**

Immunophenotyping was performed using fluorophore-conjugated test antibodies using a direct (one-stage, no secondary antibody) technique, as described in Materials and Methods chapter. For each cell line and marker, optimal antibody concentration was determined by titration. Antibody specificity, fluorophore and source are detailed in Materials and Methods chapter (Table 2).

### Hoechst 33342 Efflux / Side Population Analysis

Hoechst 33342 (Sigma) –  $1mg/ml (1\mu g/\mu l)$  in ddH<sub>2</sub>0 Hoechst-DMEM – DMEM + 2% FCS + 10mM HEPES Hoechst-HBSS – HBSS + 2% FCS + 10mM HEPES Verapamil (Sigma) – 5mM (100x) in absolute ethanol

Cells were harvested in complete medium, counted, centrifuged and resuspended in prewarmed (37°C) Hoechst-DMEM at  $1 \times 10^6$  cells/ml. Aliquots of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were placed in 15ml conical centrifuge tubes, with at least 2 aliquots (test + control) per sample. 50µM Verapamil (5µl of 100x stock) was added to control samples and all tubes preincubated at 37°C waterbath for 10-15 minutes. Hoechst 33342 was added at 5µg/ml\* (5µl of 1mg/ml stock) to all samples. Samples were incubated at 37°C, with regular mixing, for 90 minutes\*.

All tubes were placed on ice immediately after incubation; cells were centrifuged at  $300g / 4^{\circ}C / 5$  minutes, resuspended in 1ml ice-cold Hoechst-HBSS and held on ice pending flow cytometry. PI was added just prior to flow cytometry at 2µg/ml for dead cell discrimination. At least 50000 - 100000 events were aquired for analysis except where, as stated, this was precluded by low cell numbers

\* Standard conditions from Goodell et al. (Goodell et al., 1996)

Conditions were optimised for each cell line by varying Hoechst concentration and incubation time..

# DyeCycle Violet staining protocol

(Modified from Telford *et al* (Telford *et al.*, 2007)) Vybrant DyeCycle Violet 5mM solution in ddH<sub>2</sub>O (Molecular Probes / Invitrogen)

As for Hoechst 33342 analysis with some modifications:

Cells were suspended in Hoechst-HBSS at 1 x  $10^6$ /ml and prewarmed at  $37^{\circ}C$  +/verapamil (10-15 minutes). DyeCycle Violet (DCV) was added to  $10\mu$ M from 5mM stock – i.e.  $2\mu$ l added to 1ml cell suspension. (Resolution is possible at  $5\mu$ M - but Telford *et al* report more reproducible at this higher concentration). After 90minutes incubation at  $37^{\circ}C$ , samples were centrifuged at 300g,  $4^{\circ}C$  for 5 minutes and resuspended at  $1x10^6$  cells/ml in cold Hoechst-HBSS. PI ( $2\mu g$ /ml) was added just prior to flow cytometry for dead cell discrimination.

<sup>†</sup> Telford *et al* stained aliquots of  $5x10^6$  cells/ml. Due to limited available cell numbers and to allow comparison with Hoechst 33342 we used  $1x10^6$ /ml.

# **Rhodamine Efflux Analysis**

Rhodamine 123 (Sigma) - 1mg/ml in absolute ethanol PBS-Rho – PBS + 2% FCS

Cells were harvested in complete medium, counted by trypan blue exclusion and resuspended at  $1 \times 10^6$ /ml in PBS-Rho. Two aliquots of  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were labelled "Test" and "Control" and placed on ice. Rhodamine 123 was diluted 1:50 in PBS to 20µg/ml (200x) and added to cells at a final concentration of 0.1µg/ml (5µl per ml of cell suspension). Cells were placed in a waterbath at 37°C, in the dark, for 30 minutes (loading) and then washed twice with 2ml of ice-cold PBS-Rho.

Control samples were resuspended in 1ml ice-cold PBS-Rho and placed on ice, in the dark, for 40-60 minutes. Test samples were resuspended in 2ml PBS-Rho and placed in a waterbath at 37°C, in the dark, for 40-60 minutes (efflux).

All samples were centrifuged at 4°C, 300g for 5 minutes, resuspended in 300 $\mu$ l icecold PBS-Rho, and held on ice, in the dark, pending analysis by flow cytometry. PI was added just prior to flow cytometry at 2 $\mu$ g/ml for dead cell discrimination if required. At least 100000 events were acquired for analysis.

# **Aldefluor Staining Protocol for ALDH Expression**

Aldefluor Test Kit (Aldagen, Stem Cell Technologies, Grenoble, France) Comprises Aldefluor substrate, diethylamino-benzaldehyde (DEAB) inhibitor, Aldefluor buffer

Cells were harvested in complete medium, counted, centrifuged and resuspended in Aldefluor buffer<sup>‡</sup> at  $1x10^6$  cells/ml. Two tubes were labelled "Test" and "Control". 1ml cell suspension was placed in "test" tube. 5µl DEAB inhibitor was placed in "Control" tube and the lid replaced tightly.

5μl (1.5μM)<sup>‡</sup> Aldefluor substrate was added to cell suspension in "Test" tube and mixed. Immediately, 0.5ml of the mixture was withdrawn and placed in the "Control" tube. Tubes were incubated at 37°C, in the dark, for 30-60 minutes (not exceeding 60 minutes). After incubation, samples were placed on ice and centrifuged at 4°C, 300*g* for 5 minutes. The supernatant was discarded and cells resuspended in 500μl fresh ice-cold Aldefluor buffer, and held on ice pending flow cytometry. PI was added just prior to flow cytometry at 2μg/ml for dead cell discrimination. At least 100000 events were acquired.

‡ Fiordalisi Modification (Fiordalisi et al., 2005)

0.1% Sodium Azide / 50μM Verapamil added to Aldefluor buffer. Concentration of Aldefluor substrate increased to 4.8μM Western blots, derivation of kt-osa1-5 from a spontaneous canine osteosarcoma and isolation of normal canine BMMNC and leukaemic canine BMMNC / PBMNC were performed as described in Materials and Methods chapter.

# RESULTS

# Analysis of Surface Marker Expression on Canine Cancer Cell Lines

Each of the canine cancer cell lines was assessed for expression of the stem cellassociated surface markers CD34, CD44, CD117 and CD133 and CD24. Of the antibodies used, CD34 (anti-canine, clone 1H6) is species-specific (McSweeney *et al.*, 1998) and CD44 (anti-mouse/human, clone IM7) has confirmed canine crossreactivity (Neame and Isacke, 1993; Sandmaier *et al.*, 1998). The use of the antibodies to CD133 (anti-mouse, clone 13A4) and CD117 (anti-human, clone YB5.B8) has been reported in the immunophenotyping of canine cancer cells (London *et al.*, 1999; Lamerato-Kozicki *et al.*, 2006).

Binding of the CD34, CD117 and CD133 antibodies to canine cells was confirmed using normal canine bone marrow mononuclear cells (BMMNC). Staining pattern and relative position of stained cells on light scatter (Forward Scatter FSC *vs* Side Scatter SSC) are shown in Figures 1 and 2. Positive cells represented 0.8-1%, 0.1% and 0.2% of BMMNC, respectively. Unstained and isotype-matched controls supported specificity of antibody binding. The majority of CD34<sup>+</sup> and CD133<sup>+</sup> cells were SSC<sup>Low</sup>, indicating relatively low cellular complexity, and of these the majority were also FSC<sup>Low</sup> (FSC is an indicator of relative cell size) - haematopoietic stem/progenitor cells are predominantly recognised as FSC<sup>Low</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup> cells. CD117<sup>+</sup> cells were distributed more evenly across the scatter profile, which may reflect expression of the antigen on more differentiated cellular subsets.

For all of the canine cancer cell lines, and for the feline mammary carcinoma cell line CatMT, staining for CD34, CD117 and CD133 was negative. Figure 3 gives an example of how antibody binding was assessed. Live cells were selected for analysis using the scatter profile, followed by assessment of fluorescence for test sample, unstained cells (to define the baseline for intrinsic cellular fluorescence, i.e. autofluorescence) and isotype-matched control antibody (to assess levels of non-



CD117

**CD34** 

CD133

specific binding). None of the cell lines showed binding of test antibody beyond isotype control levels.

erythrocytes. Autofluorescence (unstained) and non-specific binding (isotype) controls are illustrated for Figure 1 - Staining of normal canine BMMNC with CD34-PE (top), CD117-PECy5 (middle) and CD133-APC (bottom). Far left plots show gating strategy to select only intact ("live") cells for analysis and exclude comparison. At least 1x10e6 events acquired for each sample.



**Figure 2** - Plots to show relative position of normal canine BMMNC stained for CD34 (top), CD117 (middle) and CD133 (bottom) on light scatter profile. Cells positive for each marker are shown in black, overlaid on to total acquired cells. Figures indicate percentage of stained cells in each quadrant of plot. For CD34 and CD133, the majority of cells are SSC-low, and most of these are also FSC-low. CD117<sup>+</sup> cells are distributed more evenly across the scatter profile.



**Figure 3** - Example of standard gating strategy used to determine surface expression by canine cancer cell lines.

Figure shows assessment of CD117 expression for 3132 canine lymphoma cell line.

*Top left* - Dead cells and debris are excluded from analysis using light scatter characteristics (FSC vs SSC profile). Staining on test sample (*top right*) is negative, as assessed by comparison of percentage positive cells with unstained (*bottom left*) and isotype control (*bottom right*) samples.

Staining for CD24 was also negative, or equivalent to that seen with isotype-matched controls, in all tested cell lines. The antibody to CD24 showed a tendency towards non-specific binding, with an affinity to dead cells for some cell lines - apparent weak positive staining on a small population of cells was lost when dead cells and debris were excluded from the analysis (using the FSC-SSC profile +/- addition of propidium iodide as a dead cell discriminator) (Figure 4). Although the 3132 B-cell lymphoma cell line showed strong CD24 staining, this was matched by the isotype control despite serial titration / increased levels of blocking protein; this suggests that these cells have an affinity for this class of antibody (Figure 5). It is likely that an alternative antibody will be required for investigation of this marker with canine cells.

All canine cancer cell lines tested were CD44<sup>+</sup>. For all of the cell lines, positivity was manifest as a shift in the entire population along the fluorescence axis rather than segregation of a specific subpopulation of stained cells. As shown in Figure 6, whilst the level of expression (CD44 staining brightness) varied between cell types, for all of the cell lines the frequency of positive cells was >97%, indicating expression on almost all cells. The human MCF-7 mammary carcinoma cell line demonstrated a lower frequency of positive staining for CD44 (48.9%), with a greater proportion of cells staining positive for CD24 (73.7%), in agreement with published findings (Sheridan *et al.*, 2006; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008) (Figure 7).

Thus, for the canine cancer cell lines examined, specific subpopulations of cells expressing CSC-associated markers were not identified. Where antibody staining was positive (e.g. CD44), it led to an increase in the fluorescence of the whole population, rather than on a specific subset of positive cells.



Figure 4 - Small population of REM134 canine mammary carcinoma cells showing apparent positive staining for CD24 compared to isotype control (upper panels). However, this is lost when dead cells are excluded from the analysis using propidium iodide (lower panels).



7.8.8 3132 CD24
7.8.8 3132 FITC-Iso
<b>—</b> 7.8.8 3132 Unst

Figure 5 - Equivalent binding of CD24-FITC and isotype matched control antibodies by 3132 lymphoma cells. These cells secrete surface immunoglobulin, which may underlie a particular affinity to this class of antibody (mouse IgG2a-kappa light chain).



Scatter Live

Figure 6 - (Above) Overlay of histograms illustrating CD44 surface expression by canine (and feline CatMT) cell lines. Representative unstained and isotype control samples (REM134) are also shown.

(Below) - Table to show percentage of CD44-positive cells for each cell line, as compared to the relevant isotype control sample. All lines are >97% CD44+ve.

Cell Line	CD44 Positive (%)
3132 CD44	99.177
SB CD44	99.58
CML10 CD44	99.764
D17 CD44	98.334
REM134 CD44	97.372
CatMT CD44	99.276



MCF-7 Unst+PI

Figure 7 - Surface expression of CD44 and CD24 for human MCF-7 mammary carcinoma cells.

Left - Live gate strategy as determined using light scatter and confirmed with PI dead cell discriminator.

Below - Histograms representing level of CD44 (upper) and CD24 (lower) staining in comparison with unstained and relevant isotype control samples.

MCF-7 cell line show an increased frequency of CD24+, and fewer CD44+, cells as compared to tested canine cancer cell lines.



MCF-7 CD44	Live Scatter
MCF-7 PE-Iso	Live Scatter
MCF-7 Unst	Live Scatter

Sample	%Positive CD44	
MCF-7 CD44	48.992	



MCF-7 Unst Live Scatter

MCF-7 CD24

\_\_\_\_

Sample	%Positive CD24		
MCF-7 CD24	73.713		

MCF-7 FITC-Iso Live Scatter

Live Scatter

Live Scatter

# Demonstration of a Hoechst-effluxing Side Population within Canine Cancer Cell Lines

Normal canine BMMNC were tested for the presence of a side population profile, according to the protocol of Goodell et al (Goodell et al., 1996). Although the expected profile could be demonstrated, with a SP of 0.084 - 0.1% of live cells (Figure 8), this was inconsistent. In particular, the response to the addition of verapamil was unpredictable, and did not reproducibly lead to reduction or loss of the SP – on one occasion, the frequency of cells in the SP gate was greater, and the profile more defined, in the presence of verapamil than in the test sample. The human MCF-7 breast carcinoma cell line was examined for the presence of a SP this was seen reproducibly, representing 0.3 - 0.8% of live cells (Figure 9). Canine cancer cell lines were analysed for Hoechst 33342 efflux, with titration of both substrate concentration and incubation time to optimise assay conditions (Table 1). All of the cell lines showed a candidate SP, diminished or lost in the presence of verapamil, on at least one occasion. In the protocol as developed by Goodell et al to define repopulating cells in murine BMMNC, and in most subsequent reports of SP analysis, cells are incubated for 90 minutes at 5µg/ml Hoechst ("standard conditions"). 3132 lymphoma cells showed best definition of SP under these conditions, having 3.2% of cells within the gate compared to 0.3% for the verapamil control - a candidate SP (0.9%) was also visualised after 60 minutes' incubation at this concentration of Hoechst (Table 2).

REM134 canine mammary carcinoma cells showed best definition of SP (2.41% of live single cells) at  $2.5\mu g/\mu l$  Hoechst, with a slightly longer incubation (120 minutes) (Table 3, Figure 10). Indeed, incubation under standard conditions gave a greater percentage of cells in the SP gate of the verapamil control (0.87%) than in the test sample (0.51%). Increased incubation times were associated with increased cell death (as determined by uptake of propidium iodide by intact cells) – at 120 minutes, cell death was greater than 20% for both 2.5 and 5 $\mu g/m l$  Hoechst, increasing to 50.9% at 180 minutes / 5 $\mu g/m l$  Hoechst.





**Figure 9** – Hoechst 33342 efflux analysis of human MCF-7 mammary carcinoma cell line demonstrates a side population.

*Upper Left* – Test sample – SP of 0.8%. The appearance of an SP for this cell line was reproducible, representing between 0.3% and 0.8% of live single cells.

*Lower Left* – SP is reduced in the presence of verapamil inhibitor.



Cell Line	Origin	Hoechst (µg/ml)	Time (min)
3132	Haematopoietic	5	90
REM134	Epithelial	2.5	120
CML10	Neurectodermal	5	120
SB	Endothelial	5	120
D17	Mesenchymal	5	90
CatMT	Epithelial	5	60

**Table 1** – Optimal conditions for SP discrimination for canine, and feline CatMT, cancer cell lines

Hoechst (µg/ml)	Time (min)	TEST SP (%)	TEST Dead (%)	VERAP SP (%)	VERAP Dead (%)	Comments
5	60	0.9	9.2	0.0	9.7	SP present, reduced with verapamil
5	90	3.2	14.5	0.3	12.8	SP present, reduced with verapamil
5	120	0.0	20.1	0.0	38.9	No SP. Increased cell death
2.5	90	22.0	17.6	9.6	10.5	Many cells in SP region
2.5	120	8.4	17.9	5.7	16.7	Many cells in SP region

**Table 2** – Summary of titration of assay conditions for SP analysis of 3132 canine lymphoma cells. This was one of the cell lines chosen for further investigation (see text and figure 15). Subsequent assays were performed at  $5\mu g/\mu l$  Hoechst / 90 minutes incubation, for optimal differentiation between test sample and verapamil control.

Hoechst	Time	TEST	TEST	VERAP	VERAP	Commente							
(µg/ml)	(min)	SP (%)	Dead (%)	SP (%)	Dead (%)	Comments							
5	(0)	1.00	11.4	0.42	0.40	10.0	Poorly-defined						
5	60	1.90	11.4	0.42	10.8	profile							
5	00	0.51	18.5	0.87	15 7	SP increases with							
5	90	0.51	10.5	0.87	13.7	verapamil							
5	120	0.55	26.7	0.27	24.0	Poorly-defined							
5	120	0.33	20.7	0.27	24.0	profile							
5	190	2 59	50.0	1 17	22.0	Streak to origin.							
5	180	3.30	50.9	1.17	32.0	Cell death ++							
2.5	00	0.66	14.4	0.34	16.6	Poorly-defined							
2.5	90	0.00	14.4	<b>U.34</b>	0.34 10.0	profile							
2.5	120	2 41	23.2	0.2	18.6	Best definition of							
2.3	120			23.2	23.2		23.2		U.2	0.2	0.2	10.0	SP profile
10	00	0.12	17.2	0.24	23.5	SP increases with							
10	90	0.12	17.2	0.24	23.3	verapamil							

**Table 3** – Summary of titration of Hoechst efflux by REM134 canine mammary carcinoma cells. The size of the SP, where seen, is variable (0.55 - 2.41%) of live cells). Cell death increases with incubation time.



**Figure 10** – SP profile of REM134 cells at  $2.5\mu$ g/ml Hoechst / 120 minutes incubation (*left*), reduced by verapamil (*right*). Similar profiles were seen at  $5\mu$ g/ml / 60 minutes and  $5\mu$ g/ml / 180 minutes. These results were replicated on only one subsequent occasion despite repeated attempts, and never when the assay was scaled up for cell sorting.

The CML10 melanoma and SB haemangiosarcoma cell lines showed optimum resolution of SP, compared to corresponding verapamil controls, at  $5\mu$ g/ml Hoechst / 120 minutes incubation. For both of these cell lines, the Hoechst staining profile was unusual, with two distinct populations each giving rise to a candidate SP arm (Figure 11). On a standard Hoechst efflux profile for normal bone marrow, the SP originates from the G<sub>0</sub>G<sub>1</sub> population; the G<sub>2</sub>/M population appears twice as far from the plot origin on the linear scale, as its cells contain twice the amount of DNA. The profiles seen for CML10 and SB may therefore indicate a Hoechst-effluxing SP within both G<sub>0</sub>G<sub>1</sub> and G<sub>2</sub>/M populations. Alternatively, the unusual profiles may be indicative of aneuploidy within these cell lines, whereby the upper population includes G<sub>0</sub>/G<sub>1</sub> cells with increased DNA content. CML10 showed a similar, but less defined, SP profile after 90 minutes' incubation with 5 or 10µg/ml Hoechst, but at 2.5µg/ml, the verapamil control had a greater proportion of cells in the SP region (1.66%) than the test sample (0.018%). SB showed this "reversal" of profiles at all other tested timepoints / Hoechst concentrations.

D17 osteosarcoma cells showed a SP only under standard conditions, representing 9.2% of live single cells; although substantial compared to the SP of normal bone marrow, this was reduced by verapamil (5.6%), and greater frequencies of SP have been reported for other cancer cell lines. However, this was not replicated when the cells were retested using the same assay conditions – cells were present in the SP gate for the control but not the test sample (Figure 12). This inconsistency between experiments was a frequent and frustrating finding when testing canine cells using this assay.

As well as reversal of expected profiles, verapamil in some cases caused the entire population to shift from its location in the test sample, complicating interpretation. Gates to define the SP for each test sample are set according to its loss in the corresponding verapamil sample, and so should be similarly located in relation to the main (non SP) population for accurate quantification. This may indicate that other ABCG2 inhibitory drugs may be more suitable for use in this assay for analysis of Figure 11 – Hoechst Efflux analysis of CML10 canine melanoma (*upper*) and SB canine haemangiosarcoma (*lower*) cell lines. Incubation time is 120 minutes. Although both lines showed best definition of SP compared to verapamil control under these assay conditions, an unusual double profile gave rise to two candidate SP arms.





**Figure 12** – Inconsistent Hoechst staining profile for D17 canine osteosarcoma cells tested on separate occasions.

Hoechst 5µg/ml, 90 minutes incubation.

*Upper panels* – Numerous cells in SP region; population reduced by verapamil.

*Lower panels* – No defined SP in test sample, but verapamil control has many cells in SP region.









canine cells. However, the appearance of the SP itself in the test sample, despite optimisation of the protocol for each cell line, was also erratic.

Intriguingly, the assay appeared to identify SP cells in the feline mammary carcinoma cell line CatMT reasonably consistently, showing more systematic changes in the SP size with varying substrate concentration and incubation time. These feline cells appeared sensitive to the toxicity of Hoechst, particularly in combination with verapamil. At 10 $\mu$ g/ml Hoechst and 90 minutes' incubation, the proportion of non-viable (propidium iodide-positive) cells in the test and verapamil control samples was 35.8% and 84.0%, respectively, as compared to 5.6% and 5.8% at 2.5 $\mu$ g/ml, and 10.4% and 14.3% at 5 $\mu$ g/ml (Figure 13, Table 4).



**Figure 13** – Side population of CatMT feline mammary carcinoma cell at  $2.5\mu$ g/ml Hoechst / 60 minutes incubation. Although SP varied between samples, profile and population size were much more consistent than those seen with canine cells.

Hoechst	Time	TEST	TEST	VERAP	VERAP	Comments
(µg/ml)	(min)	SP (%)	Dead (%)	SP (%)	Dead (%)	
5	60	1 21	A 7	0.086	8.0	Best definition of
5	00	1.21	7.7	0.000	0.0	SP profile
5	90	0.85	10.4	0.083	1/1 3	Good
5	70	0.05	10.4	0.005	14.5	profile
5	120	0.3/	13.6	0.096	19.5	Less defined
5	120	0.54	15.0	0.070	17.5	profile
5	180	0.0	25.2	0.03	65.7	Less defined,
5	100	0.7	23.2	0.05	03.7	increased cell death
2.5	90	0.82	5.6	0.30	5.8	Good
2.3	90	0.02	5.0	0.39	5.0	profile
2.5	120	0.01	9.0	0.018	9.2	Good
2.5	120	0.71	2.0	0.010	).2	profile
10	90	0.013	35.8	0.015	84.0	Cell death++ esp.
10	90	0.015	55.0	0.015	04.0	with verapamil

**Table 4** - Summary of titration of Hoechst efflux by CatMT feline mammary carcinoma cells. Most samples show a side population which is reduced in the presence of verapamil. SP represents 0.82 - 1.21% of live cells depending on assay conditions. Higher concentrations of Hoechst, especially when combined with longer incubations, lead to increased cell death.

#### DyeCycle Violet identifies an SP-like profile within canine BMMNC

DyeCycleViolet (DCV) was tested as an alternative substrate for canine bone marrow, 3132 lymphoma and MCF-7. The bone marrow showed a SP of 0.12%, reduced by verapamil (Figure 14). Although this was less well defined than the 0.08 - 0.1% population detected with Hoechst (Figure 8), this suggests that DCV may have potential as an alternative substrate for SP analysis in canine cells. The test was performed using cryopreserved BMMNC, and live cells represented 46.9% of total events; in the sample stained in parallel with Hoechst 33342, viability was 27.9% of total cells. DCV may prove a less toxic alternative to Hoechst for side population

analysis – further work is required to evaluate this. However, 3132 cells showed no SP profile, although this had been detected with Hoechst. Moreover, whilst MCF-7 showed an apparent SP of 1.3% (more frequent than the Hoechst SP of 0.3-0.8%, Figure 9), this was present in the verapamil sample also (1.26%) (data not shown).



**Figure 14** - Vybrant DyeCycle Violet (DCV) identifies an SP-like population in normal canine BMMNC (*top*), which is reduced in the presence of verapamil (*bottom*).

62000 events acquired for test sample (46.9% intact PI-ve).

Gates have been placed conservatively due to the low cell numbers - the SP may in fact be larger than that shown (dotted line). The 3132 lymphoma and REM134 mammary carcinoma cell lines were selected for further investigation of the side population. The former was chosen as the assay was originally developed to identify progenitors within populations of haematopoietic cells, the latter as its use has been described in the study of both normal breast and breast cancer stem cells in other species (Alvi *et al.*, 2003; Dontu *et al.*, 2003; Hirschmann-Jax *et al.*, 2004; Kondo *et al.*, 2004; Patrawala *et al.*, 2005; Zhou *et al.*, 2007; Engelmann *et al.*, 2008; Tanaka *et al.*, 2009).

Hoechst staining of 3132 cells could be visualised using not only ultraviolet (355nm, BD LSRII) but also violet (407nm, BD FACSAria) excitation. The latter profile was less defined, requiring comparison with the verapamil control to accurately define the SP cells – however, when collected and reanalysed using the 355nm laser, the sorted SP cells occupied the correct position on a standard UV excitation plot (Figure 15). This is significant, as it shows that SP analysis of canine cells may be performed using cytometers equipped with violet lasers, more generally available on both analytic and sorting cytometers.

Sorted side population and main population / unfractionated cells were to be compared for characteristics such as surface phenotype, growth characteristics and drug sensitivity. The assay was scaled up accordingly, increasing the number of cells incubated to yield sufficient SP cells for further analysis. However, despite multiple attempts for both cell lines, defined and reproducible SP profiles were not obtained, even when key experimental conditions such as passage number and cellular confluence were comparable. Thus, whilst a SP may be identified within canine bone marrow and cancer cell lines, the assay produces inconsistent results these are difficult to replicate, particularly with large scale incubations.



Figure 15 – Side population analysis of 3132 lymphoma cells – Hoechst  $5\mu g/ml / 90$  minutes

*Above, Upper Panels* – Ultraviolet (355nm) excitation – SP-like profile *Above, Lower Panels* – Violet (407nm) excitation – SP profile defined using verapamil control. SP and representative non-SP populations gated as shown and isolated.

*Below* – Re-analysis of sorted fractions. *Left* – SP; *Right* – non-SP. SP (sorted using violet excitation profile) enriched in appropriate gate on ultraviolet plot (44.8%) as compared to non-SP population (2.7%).



# ABCG2 expression by canine cancer cell lines

In light of the SP profiles seen intermittently for each canine cancer cell line, cell lysates were analysed for expression of the ABCG2 drug transporter shown to be responsible for the phenomenon in many cell types. D17, REM134, 3132 and SB, as well as J3T canine glioma and the feline CatMT and human MCF-7 mammary cancer cell lines showed a band of the predicted size (73kDa) on Western blot analysis (Figure 16).

**Figure 16** – Western blot demonstrating ABCG2 expression by cancer cell lines. Band of predicted size (73kDa) seen for canine cell lines, as well as human MCF-7 mammary carcinoma and feline CatMT mammary carcinoma. 20µg protein per lane.



# Rhodamine 123 Identifies an Effluxing Population Within Canine BMMNC, but not 3132 Lymphoma Cells

Normal canine bone marrow was analysed for the efflux of Rhodamine 123. 13.2 – 14.7% of live cells showed a fluorescence shift in test as compared to control samples (which are placed on ice after Rho123 loading to inhibit ABC transporter activity), suggesting efflux capacity (Figure 17a). This is a substantial population; other investigators have found that analysis of Rho123 efflux may detect committed progenitor cells. Backgating analysis of these cells showed them to originate predominantly from a FSC<sup>low</sup>SSC<sup>low</sup> position on the total bone marrow scatter plot (Figure 17b).





Figure 17a - Histograms representing Rho123 fluorescence of canine BMMNC. Control cells (blue) are placed on ice after loading with Rho123 stain, preventing efflux. Test cells (red) - incubation at 37oC after loading permits efflux.

Arrow indicates loss of stain by test sample.



Figure 17b - Dotplots showing gating strategy (upper) and Rhodamine fluorescence (lower) for canine BMMNC. Lower left - test; lower right - control.

When backgated onto light scatter plot, Rho-effluxing cells are predominantly low-FSC, low-SSC (overlay in red).

As Rhodamine123 efflux is an established technique for examination of haematopoietic cells, 3132 lymphoma cells were selected for investigation using this assay. Analysis of ungated (total) cells defined a Rho<sup>low</sup> subpopulation - when test samples were compared with controls, the peak fluorescence of this subset was seen to shift, suggesting efflux (Figure 18a). However, upon gating to exclude dead cells, using the scatter profile and/or the dead cell discriminator propidium iodide, this population was lost from the analysis (Figure 18b). This indicates that for 3132 canine lymphoma cells, apparent Rhodamine123 exclusion occurs due to reduced uptake of stain amongst non-viable cells rather than *bona fide* efflux by a population of stem-like cells. The further loss of stain shown by this subset in test samples may be a result of diffusion kinetics; leakage of stain due to loss of membrane integrity is likely to occur more slowly in controls, as they are held on ice after the initial loading phase.

Figure 18a - Histogram of rhodamine fluorescence for 3132 canine lymphoma cells. With ungated cells, an apparent Rho-Low subpopulation shows loss of fluorescence (arrow) by test sample (red) compared with control (blue), suggesting efflux.







Scatter - Live

# Assessment of Aldehyde Dehydrogenase Activity in Canine Cancer Cell Lines

The commercial Aldefluor kit is optimised for the detection of human haematopoietic stem and progenitor cells, which appear on a plot of side scatter *vs* ALDH (Aldefluor) fluorescence as a discrete ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup> population. Fiordalisi *et al* reported that a subpopulation of ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup> cells was detectable in canine bone marrow using a slightly modified protocol - 0.1% sodium azide and 50 $\mu$ M verapamil were added to all buffers and the Aldefluor substrate concentration was increased to 4.8 $\mu$ M (hereafter referred to as "Fiordalisi modification") (Fiordalisi *et al.*, 2005). Normal canine BMMNC were analysed using both the modified and the manufacturer's standard protocol. The assay was performed on several different occasions, with BMMNC from different normal individuals.

A candidate ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup> HSC population was not identified under either set of assay conditions (Figure 19). Using the standard protocol, a slightly wider variation in the ALDH fluorescence of granulocytic myeloid cells was noted in the test sample compared to the control sample, although maximal brightness was comparable. A similar shift in the fluorescence of committed cells has been noted for murine bone marrow (Pearce and Bonnet, 2007). There were few distinctions between test and control sample profiles using the Fiordalisi modification, which did not enhance detection of putative HSC, nor did exclusion of myeloid cells from the analysis. This suggests that Aldefluor may not prove to be a reliable technique for identification of normal canine HSC.



Figure 19 - Analysis of normal canine BMMNC using Aldefluor. Top/Middle row - Standard protocol; Bottom row - Fiordalisi modification.

Top row - Cells gated as "live" according to scatter profile; standard protocol. No candidate HSC population is seen in the stem cell gate. Middle row - Addition of propidium iodide as a dead cell discriminator does not enhance the appearance of a candidate HSC population. Bottom row - Fiordalisi modification does not enhance the appearance of a candidate HSC population, although produces less variability in ALDH fluorescence of myeloid cell population. Where used in the cancer stem cell literature, the assay seeks to identify ALDH<sup>Bright</sup> cells lost in the presence of DEAB, with less emphasis placed on light scatter properties (as these may be less characteristic than those of HSC). Nonetheless, none of the canine cancer cell lines investigated for this study demonstrated ALDH<sup>Bright</sup> populations when examined using either the standard protocol or the Fiordalisi modification (Figure 20).



Test

Control

Figure 20 - Representative Aldefluor Test (left) and DEAB Control (right) plots for established canine cancer cell lines. No ALDH-Bright subpopulations detected. Upper - 3132 Lymphoma; Lower - D17 osteosarcoma

# **Evaluation of CSC-Associated Phenotypes in Spontaneous Canine Neoplasia**

# i) Primary Osteosarcoma

An eight year old female entire Rottweiler was presented to the Hospital for Small Animals, Royal (Dick) School of Veterinary Studies, for investigation of a right hindlimb lameness of 2 weeks' duration, refractory to analgesia with the nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug meloxicam. Radiography and computed tomography were suggestive of osteosarcoma, which was confirmed histologically by bone biopsy. The tumour was excised by hindquarter amputation – no chemotherapy was given prior to surgery. Although preoperative clinical staging was not suggestive of metastatic disease, the dog developed neurological signs within a few weeks of surgery and was euthanased on the grounds of suspected brain metastasis and poor quality of life.

Cells obtained from this tumour were expanded in culture, yielding five flasks of adherent cells (kt-osa 1-5), three of which were subcultured and maintained as cell lines by repeated passage (kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5). The cells displayed marked morphological heterogeneity, not only between but also within populations (Figure 21 (i)-(iii)). Cells migrating directly from tumour tissue, and also following subculture, displayed a mixture of morphologies including epithelioid, fusiform, palisading fibroblastic and multinucleate. Large, atypical cells were seen occasionally amongst all isolates (Figure 21 (ii)). A tetraploid population observed at DNA analysis – Figure 22 – could reflect these multinucleate cells, but may indicate chromosomal aneuploidy; karyotypic analysis has not been performed. Each population was derived from the total proliferating cells in each flask, without selection or cloning, to try and preserve the heterogeneity observed at initial derivation. However, upon repeated subculture each line displayed a reduction in heterogeneity, with one morphology predominating (Figure 21 (iii)). When kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 cells were cultured in low-density, serum-free conditions with epidermal growth factor (EGF) and basic fibroblastic growth factor (bFGF), tumoursphere formation was seen for all three populations (Chapter 4).



**Figure 21(ii)** – Variation in cellular morphology in kt-osa populations at derivation. A – kt-osa4 – slender fusiform / spindle cells. B – kt-osa4 – large multinucleate cell. C – kt-osa1 – large round cells with prominent nucleoli and perinuclear granules D – kt-osa5 – large atypical cell. Bar =  $20 \mu m$ 



Figure 21(iii) – Reduced morphological heterogeneity and more orderly arrangement of kt-osa monolayers with repeated A – kt-osal (passage 5); B – kt-osa4 (passage 5); C – kt-osa5 (passage 3). D – kt-osal (passage 12); E – kt-osa4 (passage 13); F – kt-osa5 (passage 10). subculture in vitro.

Bar =  $100 \ \mu m$


**Figure 22** - DAPI-stained DNA content of canine osteosarcoma cell lines. D17 are predominantly diploid, consistent with the reported karyotype (2n=78). A significant proportion of kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 cells show increased DNA content suggestive of DNA tetraploidy.

# Cell surface markers

All tested populations derived from the primary canine osteosarcoma were predominantly (>97%) positive for CD44, both at initial expansion in adherent culture and after subculture for 26 passages. The pattern of expression – an overall fluorescence shift of the bell-shaped histogram – mirrored that seen in the established canine cancer cell lines (Figure 23).





Representative unstained / isotype control samples (kt-osa1) shown for comparison.

When examined at early passage (subculture 1-2) for expression of CD133, a small subpopulation (0.034%) of kt-osa1 cells demonstrated positive staining compared to the isotype-matched control (0.007%) (Figure 24). Cell numbers in both cases were low (35 positive cells vs 7 for isotype;  $\geq$ 100000 cells analysed per sample). Nonetheless, four passages later this positive staining had reduced to less than the non-specific binding seen in the isotype control sample (0.005% vs 0.011% respectively). kt-osa4 (tested at passage 6) and kt-osa3 cells (which were never subcultured) were negative for this marker.

A subpopulation of the three cell lines kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 stained positive for CD117 (c-kit) (Figure 25) as compared to unstained or isotype control samples. When analysed against a blank fluorescence channel (FL-1) to increase the sensitivity of detection (by revealing staining otherwise masked in a histogram by cellular autofluorescence), the proportions of positive cells were 1.25% (kt-osa1), 0.31% (kt-osa4) and 0.035% (kt-osa5). Intriguingly, it was found that when cells were retested for expression of this marker only 4-5 passages later, the level of staining had reduced markedly such that kt-osa1 showed only 0.2% positive cells, and kt-osa4 was now CD117-negative.

Thus, CD44 was expressed throughout each of the populations derived from this tumour - the staining pattern did not appear to be affected by repeated subculture *in vitro* - but, as for cell lines, the marker did not identify heterogeneous cellular subpopulations. Conversely, staining for CD117 and CD133 was restricted to a small fraction of cells amongst some, but not all, of the populations. The identification of small, positive-staining populations in these cells contrasted with the observations for the established cancer cell lines, where staining of discrete cellular subsets was never seen. However, these small populations diminished over time in culture, in parallel with a conspicuous loss of morphological heterogeneity.



Figure 24 - Loss of small CD133+ subpopulation within kt-osa1 canine osteosarcoma cells.

Above - Positive staining at initial subculture (left) exceeds non-specific binding by isotype control antibody (right). Below - at passage 6, nonspecific binding in isotype control sample (right) exceeds test antibody binding (left).



Upper plots - CD117 expression at passage 5; Lower plots - CD117 expression at passage 10

### Functional assays

kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 were tested for Hoechst efflux capacity. A side population was seen for kt-osa1 - as with the established cancer cell lines tested previously, the profile was highly variable – when tested on a single occasion, the SP of one sample represented 0.38% of live single cells, and that of another 1.95%, despite cells being obtained from the same culture. However, cells in the SP region for both samples were considerably more frequent than in the corresponding verapamil control (0.014%) (Figure 26). The latter two cell lines did not demonstrate a SP.



**Figure 26** - Hoechst efflux analysis of kt-osa1 canine osteosarcoma cells. Upper plot - Test sample; Lower plot - Control sample (+50µM verapamil)

When the three populations were tested for the ability to efflux Rhodamine, all showed a minority population with reduced fluorescence in both test and control samples after gating for live cells based on light scatter characteristics (Figure 27). Histogram analysis suggested efflux for kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 – for the former, the Rho<sup>low</sup> population was considerably larger for the test sample as compared to the control; for the latter, the Rho<sup>low</sup> test sample showed reduced fluorescence. However, upon addition of propidium iodide and analysis of PI<sup>--</sup> cells only, the Rho<sup>low</sup> subpopulation was lost in all cases, indicating that, as with the 3132 cell line, these were non-viable cells. The Rho<sup>low</sup> cells were distributed throughout the FSC*vs*SSC plot – this further emphasises the importance of stringent dead cell

discrimination when using this assay in canine cells to avoid artefacts, particularly when looking for rare-event populations.

Nonetheless, both kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 showed an overall fluorescence shift by all cells in the test sample as compared to the control (Figure 27). This may indicate the expression of multidrug transporters such as P-glycoprotein or ABCG2. This assay was performed when all cell lines had been subcultured at least ten times (kt-osa1 – passage 12-13; kt-osa4 – passage 13-14; kt-osa5 – passage 10-11).



**Figure 27** - kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 tested for efflux of Rhodamine 123. Histograms representing level of fluorescence. C=Control, T=Test sample. *Left plots* - Analysis of cells within "Live" gate based on light scatter profile. All three populations show a subset of cells with reduced fluorescence ("Rho-low") compared to main population.

*Right plots* - Exclusion of dead cells by gating out PI+ve cells results in loss of Rho-low subset. kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 test samples show loss of fluorescence, suggesting efflux of Rho123.

When examined using Aldefluor, kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 also showed a small subpopulation of ALDH<sup>Bright</sup> cells, absent from the DEAB control, at early passage. For kt-osa1, this represented 0.06% of live cells at subculture 2; at subculture 3 this had reduced to 0.01% (Figure 28a). For kt-osa4, the 0.08% of ALDH<sup>bright</sup> cells seen at subculture 3 had been all but lost four passages later (Figure 28b). It is acknowledged that, for both populations, the fluorescence of cells identified as "ALDH positive" was weak in comparison to that shown by HSC when the assay is used to evaluate human haematopoietic cells, and may not represent genuine expression. Nonetheless, no differential between control and test samples had been seen for any of the established cancer cell lines, and so the visualisation of these slightly brighter cells in the test sample for kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 was notable.

A summary of the cancer stem cell-associated properties shown by kt-osa populations is shown in Table 5.



Figure 28a - kt-osa1 canine osteosarcoma cells - Aldefluor assay. (Upper) - Early passage - test sample suggests a small proportion of weakly ALDH-positive cells compared with DEAB control. (Lower) - Subsequent passage - reduced ALDH-positive population.

Sample	ALDH-Bright
kt-osa1 test p1-2	0.06
kt-osa1 control p1-2	0.009
kt-osa1 test p2-3	0.01
kt-osa1 control p2-3	0.001





(Lower) - Later passage - reduced ALDH-positive population.

Sample	ALDH-Bright
kt-osa4 test p2-3	0.07
kt-osa4 control p2-3	0.01
kt-osa4 test p6-7	0.02
kt-osa4 control p6-7	0.01

ells	CD44⁺	$CD133^+$	CD117 <sup>+</sup>	Hoechst SP	Rho 123 Efflux	ALDH- Bright	Sphere Formation
	98.0% (p1) 99.6% (p26)	0.034% (p1) -ve (p5)	1.25% (p5) 0.21% (p10)	Present (p16)	All cells (p12)	0.06%? (p1) 0.01%? (p2)	Yes
5	99.5% (p0)	p/u	-ve (p0)	p/u	p/u	p/u	p/u
3	p/u	-ve (p0)	p/u	p/u	p/u	p/u	p/u
4	97.2% (p6) 99.1% (p26)	-ve (p6)	0.3% (p6) -ve (p10)	Absent (p17)	All cells (p13)	0.08%? (p2) -ve (p6)	Yes
S	99.0% (p26)	p/u	0.04% (p8)	Absent (p14)	Absent (p10)	p/u	Yes

**Table 5** – Summary of cancer stem cell-associated properties shown by kt-osapopulations.n/d – assay not performed with this population; p=passage number.

### ii) Acute Lymphoblastic Leukaemia

A four month old male entire Hovawart was presented to the HFSA, R(D)SVS as systemically unwell with polyuria/polydipsia, hypercalcaemia, thrombocytopenia and leukocytosis ( $22x10^{9}/l$ ), largely composed of large, fragile lymphoblasts. A diagnosis of acute lymphoblastic leukaemia was made based on cytological examination of peripheral blood and bone marrow smears . Within 48h of presentation the total white cell count had fallen to  $2x10^{9}/l$ . Mononuclear cells were isolated from a bone marrow aspirate (BMMNC) and peripheral blood (PBMNC) obtained as part of the clinical staging process at initial examination, and analysed using flow cytometry.

A CHOP chemotherapy protocol (cyclophosphamide / doxorubicin / vincristine / prednisolone) was instituted; the puppy's owners requested a minimally invasive clinical approach and no further bone marrow aspirates were taken. PBMNC were isolated for re-evaluation at eight and nine weeks after treatment began. Unfortunately, after an initial good response to therapy, the puppy suffered a clinical relapse and was euthanased at the owners' request on grounds of poor prognosis and quality of life.

# Cell surface markers

In common with many other studies of leukaemia and leukaemic stem cells (LSC), CD34 was positive on a subpopulation of both PBMNC (0.14%) and BMMNC (0.37-0.44%). Interestingly, and contrasting with the findings in normal bone marrow where CD34<sup>+</sup> cells tended to be FSC<sup>Low</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup>, these cells showed much more varied light scatter properties, which may indicate increased cell size and cellular complexity associated with abnormal blast cells and/or aberrant surface marker expression associated with the disease process (Figure 29). By contrast with some reports of human paediatric ALL, CD133 was negative (Cox *et al.*, 2009), as was CD117 (data not shown).



Figure 29 - Canine ALL BMMNC (above left) and PBMNC (above right) - CD34 staining. Below - Overlay of plots showing relative position on light scatter profile (grey) of CD34+ BMMNC (black). ALL CD34+ cells are more widely distributed across scatter profile than CD34+ population of normal bone marrow (shown in Figure 2).



Functional assays - ALDH activity

BMMNC were analysed for ALDH activity, using the standard protocol and the Fiordalisi modification. An ALDH<sup>Bright</sup> population, representing 1.83% of live BMMNC, was identified under standard assay conditions (Figure 30a). By contrast with the ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup> cells expected in normal bone marrow, these cells were SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> – possibly reflecting, as with the unexpected distribution of CD34<sup>+</sup> cells, increased nuclear complexity associated with large, abnormal blasts.



SSC vs Aldefluor plots obtained with standard protocol (B, C) and Fiordalisi modification (D, E). ALDH-bright population, diminished in DEAB control sample, visualised using both protocols.



SSC vs Aldefluor plots obtained with standard protocol (B, C) and Fiordalisi modification (D, E). ALDH-bright population, diminished in DEAB control sample, visualised using both protocols.

Gates were set conservatively when quantifying this  $ALDH^{Bright}$  population, to reduce the likelihood of including normal myeloid cells (in light of their slightly wider distribution in normal bone marrow test samples). As such, the contribution of normal cells to the observed  $ALDH^{Bright}$  population cannot be ruled out in the absence of more detailed cell surface phenotyping. However, the cells identified were at least a log decade brighter than the brightest cells in the control sample, a greater differential than was seen for normal bone marrow. Moreover, the  $ALDH^{Bright}$  population (2.38%) was also detected using the Fiordalisi modification (for which normal myeloid cells showed no variation in fluorescence between test and control samples). Although smaller than that seen within BMMNC, this  $ALDH^{Bright}$  population was also visualised upon examination of PBMNC (standard = 0.4%, Fiordalisi = 0.54%) (Figure 30b).

Gating of specific populations within the intact cell gate suggested that non-myeloid / lymphocytic cells also expressed ALDH. Upon exclusion of granulocytic myeloid cells from the analysis, 0.6% of cells in the test sample showed increased ALDH fluorescence compared to the corresponding control (Figure 31). Again, simultaneous analysis of cell surface phenotype would be required to substantiate these observations, as cells cannot be reliably identified on the basis of light scatter properties alone. However, these results suggest that cellular subpopulations expressing ALDH may be identified within BMMNC and PBMNC in canine ALL.



Figure 31 - Canine ALL BMMNC - ALDH analysis excluding granulocyte / myeloid region.

Eight weeks after therapy began, PBMNC were re-examined using the standard protocol. Having shown an initial good response to therapy, the puppy had begun to show signs of relapse, including an increased serum ionised calcium level. Once again, an ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> population was clearly defined, and was larger than at previous evaluation (3.54% of live cells). A subset of cells in the lymphoid region of the light scatter profile also demonstrated One week later, the animal was showing further clinical signs of deterioration, with a dramatic reduction in total white blood cell count. Notably, the proportion of live intact PBMNC on the scatter profile had reduced considerably (10-20% as compared to 50-70% at initial evaluation), most likely the result of increasing cellular fragility.



On this occasion, the ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> PBMNC population (2.09%) was isolated by FACS (Figure 32); the cells were assessed for *in vitro* chemosensitivity to the alkylating agent cyclophosphamide, compared to the main population of cells (Figure 33). Overall viability was poor, as evidenced by the low luminescence

values obtained. The ALDH<sup>Br</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> cells showed greater viability; however, when survival of each population was assessed as a proportion of the corresponding untreated control cells, ALDH<sup>Br</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> cells and main population cells showed similar responses to the drug. Although therapeutic plasma levels of cyclophosphamide in dogs are not well documented, the drug was tested over a range of concentrations to incorporate levels achieved in humans at therapeutic doses (35.8 - 89.6µM) (Regenthal *et al.*, 1999). However, there was very little response by either population to cyclophosphamide at concentrations below 100µM.

# Functional assays - Hoechst 33342 efflux

PBMNC were also analysed for Hoechst efflux capacity. However, staining was poor in the vast majority (97%) of intact cells, which appeared towards the origin of the Hoechst blue *vs* red plot, and no defined side population could be visualised (Figure 34). It is unclear why these cells did not successfully stain with Hoechst. This may have arisen as a consequence of substrate toxicity and cell fragility, or interference with Hoechst interaction by the drugs being administered as chemotherapy. It is also possible that Hoechst efflux capacity was a feature of most cells in this aggressive haematopoietic malignancy.



**Figure 33** – Canine ALL PBMNC sorted for ALDH fluorescence and treated with cyclophosphamide.

*Above* – Absolute cell viability as measured by ATP luminescence. *Below* – Relative cell viability as a proportion of corresponding untreated control cells.





**Figure 34** – Hoechst efflux analysis of canine ALL PBMNC. A, B – Hoechst staining profile for intact cells : uptake by only 3% of cells C, D – Selection of only live PI-ve cells – loss of Hoechst-stained  $G_0/G_1$  population. E, F – Intact, live single cells selected for analysis. Only 0.58% have taken up dye and appear in expected position on standard Hoechst blue-red plot.

### DISCUSSION

The aim of this study was to identify candidate cancer stem cell populations in canine tumours. A rapidly evolving field of interest, the CSC hypothesis could have significant implications for the clinical approach to canine neoplasia. It was hoped that optimisation of published techniques using canine cancer cell lines would allow evaluation of markers for their utility in CSC identification, and their functional significance in differentially-expressing populations.

# Cellular subpopulations within canine cancer cell lines

None of the canine cancer cell lines demonstrated stable subpopulations of cells expressing CD24, CD34, CD117 or CD133. Conversely, in each line CD44 was expressed by almost all cells. These cell surface markers selected for this study are among those cited most commonly when using flow cytometry to isolate CSC in other model systems, such as human and murine. However, others such as CD20, CD123, ESA (epCAM) and integrins are also used (Guzman *et al.*, 2001; Collins *et al.*, 2005; Fang *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2007; Matsui *et al.*, 2008; Moshaver *et al.*, 2008; Jin *et al.*, 2009; Munz *et al.*, 2009), and it is possible that investigation of alternative antigens would identify positive subpopulations within these cell lines. For example, it has been proposed that lymphoma may arise from malignant transformation of germinal centre B-cells (Kuppers, 2005; Klein and Dalla-Favera, 2008), whose expression pattern is CD19+ CD20+ CD38+ CD77+, and so these markers could be investigated for 3132.

Nevertheless, the finding that cell lines tended to display an "all or none" staining pattern, with an overall shift by all cells for positive staining, is not unexpected. Cell lines are ostensibly clonal populations, which may originate from single cancer cells depending on the experimental procedures used in their derivation. There is an inevitable loss of the parental tumour's heterogeneity with repeated passage in culture, as dominant populations outgrow others that proliferate less rapidly. Stable heterogeneity within cell cultures may exist as the result of an equilibrium between individual clones, whereby the relative proportions are stable with respect to each other (Poste *et al.*, 1981; Ye *et al.*, 2005). However, not only might this equilibrium be altered by interventions which preferentially select for the survival and growth of certain clones (Poste *et al.*, 1981), cellular expression patterns may be affected by both cell-intrinsic and extrinsic factors, including basic determinants such as culture medium and growth substrate (Luo *et al.*, 2006; Stockholm *et al.*, 2007). It has been suggested, and seems logical, that in a continuous cell line maintained using normal culture techniques, a small subpopulation of *bona fide* cancer stem cells would be rapidly overwhelmed by the growth of the majority population within a few passages (Zheng *et al.*, 2007). Thus it would be expected that, within a cell line, a CSC population must represent a substantial fraction (or show a higher growth rate than non-CSC) to avoid being lost.

In many cases within the CSC literature, cellular subpopulations in cell lines have been "derived" through flow cytometric gating, separating cells according to expression level even where there is no clear demarcation between positive *vs* negative or low *vs* high expression (Sheridan *et al.*, 2006; Atsumi *et al.*, 2008; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008). This technique was used in a later study to investigate the significance of CD44 expression in canine cancer cell lines (Chapter 5). Where cells express more than one candidate marker, multicolour analysis enables simultaneous examination such that cells with different combinations of surface marker may be isolated and assessed for CSC properties. Although this was intended for this study, it was not feasible as only one of the cell surface markers (CD44) was stably expressed on any of the cell lines.

It is recognised that cellular proliferation status may influence functional assays such as Hoechst 33342 and Rhodamine 123 efflux. These have been described most extensively as methods to mark out haematopoietic stem cells from bone marrow, in which environment these cells are more likely to be slow-cycling or quiescent (Spangrude and Johnson, 1990; Bertoncello and Williams, 2004; Uchida *et al.*, 2004; Stingl *et al.*, 2006). The preservation of stable quiescence is less likely within the *in*  *vitro* environment, and this may explain why these assays did not produce consistent results.

Hoechst 33342 may itself be used as a DNA-binding dye for cell cycle analysis, but in the context of efflux analysis, the SP cells definitively do not appear as part of any stage of the classic cell cycle profile (as they lie between the plot origin and the  $G_0G_1$ population). Simultaneous staining with Hoechst and another indicator of cell cycle status may demonstrate whether there is an association between side population and particular stages of the cell cycle (Benchaouir *et al.*, 2004; Stingl *et al.*, 2006; Kamohara *et al.*, 2008; Oates *et al.*, 2009). Substrates such as Pyronin-Y (which gives a measure of RNA content, and can thus be used to identify quiescent cells) may be suitable for analysis of live cells. Alternatively, the SP cells could be collected, fixed immediately, and analysed using standard cell cycle reagents with non-overlapping fluorescence spectra, such as propidium iodide.

The expression of ABCG2 in itself did not seem sufficient to ensure the consistent presence of a SP profile, as protein was detected in all of the canine cell lines tested. As the relative proportions of proliferating cells will change in a cell culture during exponential growth, this might influence the presence or magnitude of a SP (Masters and Stacey, 2007). It is an acknowledged limitation of the presented Hoechst efflux data that, when experiments with a given line were repeated, cells were tested at different (if comparable) levels of passage. This variation may have contributed to the failure to observe SP on some occasions. Stringent passage protocol - with cells tested at the same passage and the same level of confluence on every occasion - may give more consistent results, and should be investigated.

Nevertheless, that the feline Cat-MT and human MCF-7 mammary carcinoma cell lines reproducibly demonstrated a SP, whilst this was only intermittently seen for each of the canine cell lines, suggests that this may not be a reliable assay for the evaluation of canine cells. The preliminary results obtained from feline cells using the Hoechst efflux protocol are encouraging and warrant further investigation. Inconsistency in results obtained through Hoechst efflux analysis of cells other than murine bone marrow is not unique to this study (G. McLachlan, M. Waterfall, University of Edinburgh; J. Mountford; University of Glasgow – *pers. comm.*), and this is reflected in published data. For example, although many studies describe the existence of a side population within MCF-7 cells, its size varies enormously (0.2 – 7.5%) between reports (Kondo *et al.*, 2004; Patrawala *et al.*, 2005; Zhou *et al.*, 2007; Engelmann *et al.*, 2008; Liu *et al.*, 2008; Steiniger *et al.*, 2008; Yin *et al.*, 2008; Tanaka *et al.*, 2009).

Although analysis of the canine cell lines did not identify any stable CSC subpopulations, experiments did help to highlight important aspects of protocol when looking for potentially rare cellular subsets, particularly when adapting assays to the canine system:

- <u>Controls</u> must be adequate, particularly when using antibodies raised to epitopes of other species. Of those used in this study, only CD34 was raised to canine protein, and CD44 had documented canine crossreactivity. Testing against normal bone marrow allowed confirmation of reactivity. Negative controls (isotype / unstained) are important particularly to rule out nonspecific interactions, which might easily be interpreted as true positive binding (e.g. with magnetic bead sorting), and autofluorescence.
- <u>Dead cell discrimination</u> was similarly important. For example, CD24<sup>low/-</sup> cells are frequently associated with CSC-like attributes such as enhanced tumourigenicity. In this study, had cells been fractionated on this basis, the "CD24<sup>+</sup>" cells would have performed poorly in assays when compared to negative cells, as a result of non-specific binding by the antibody to non-viable cells. Propidium iodide allows identification of dead/necrotic cells, but not those in earlier stages of apoptosis the latter may be achieved through addition of other agents such as Annexin V (Vermes *et al.*, 1995).
- <u>Sufficient events</u> must be collected to rule out the influence of biological noise, particularly where positive cells are only weakly fluorescent, do not appear as a "population" with regards light scatter, or where positive cell numbers are very small.

• <u>Protocol</u> (e.g. antibody concentrations, gating and instrument settings) should be consistent between experiments. Flow cytometry is a powerful technique but, as with all fluorescence-based modalities, the absolute brightness shown by an individual cell is affected by multiple factors – comparisons should be consistent to prevent misinterpretation. Results should be reproducible.

Unlike more "precious" primary tumour cells, cell lines provide a readily available and relatively consistent (and, for some cell types/species, well characterised) system, and are thus invaluable for the adaptation and optimisation of assays. They provide a reproducible biological model with which to determine the cellular behaviour associated with a given phenotype. Experiments to investigate the implications of CD44 expression on canine cancer cells are described in Chapter 5.

### Cellular subpopulations identified within primary canine tumour cells

By contrast with the cell lines, cells from both of the spontaneous tumours examined in this study demonstrated small subpopulations of cells with CSC-associated phenotypes. In the case of the primary osteosarcoma, cells were obtained on a single occasion and expanded in culture for assessment. Whilst small subpopulations of cells expressing markers such as CD117 and CD133 were identified soon after derivation, these were gradually lost upon successive passage. It was striking that these changes took place within a relatively short time – for example, CD117 expression by kt-osa1 reduced by over 80% between passages 5 and 10, and expression by kt-osa4 was lost completely. That this occurred in parallel with a marked reduction in morphological variation suggests that one cell type within each population had become dominant at the expense of other minority subsets, or that the conditions of *in vitro* culture directly inhibited these expression patterns. Thus, over time in culture, each cell line seems to have become less representative of the heterogeneous composition of the primary tumour.

The Rhodamine 123 efflux demonstrated by kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 warrants further evaluation of expression of drug resistance proteins, such as P-glycoprotein or

ABCG2<sup>482T</sup>, by these cells (Steingold *et al.*, 1998; Doyle and Ross, 2003; Robey *et al.*, 2003). It is possible that, had this been evaluated at derivation, a smaller proportion of cells would have shown Rho efflux capacity, and that these had become dominant within the culture at the time of testing (kt-osa5 cells did not efflux Rho, so this was not a feature of all cells within the tumour). If the overall Rho efflux shown by these populations was due to outgrowth of a membrane transporter-expressing clone, this was not a cell concurrently expressing the other CSC-associated markers CD117, CD133 or ALDH.

Notably, a variety of CSC-associated phenotypes were identified amongst these cells using flow cytometry, by contrast with the established canine cancer cell lines; in addition, a proportion of kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 cells were capable of forming tumourspheres when plated in low-density, serum-free culture (described in Chapter 4). Subpopulations identified by different methods represented different proportions of the parental population, indicating incomplete overlap between phenotypes. This could be assessed using simultaneous analysis of cell surface and functional markers.

The results obtained through investigation of the kt-osa populations raise some interesting points. It is clear that such investigations are best performed soon after derivation of primary cells to ensure that small subpopulations do not become overwhelmed, or stem cell-associated expression patterns suppressed, in culture. Cells were not cloned, in an attempt to preserve as much heterogeneity as possible for analysis. The derivation and characterisation of clones originating from single cells might allow longer term maintenance in culture of individual phenotypes. Equally, however, this introduces an element of selection (in terms of which cells survive the cloning process), again resulting in a skewed representation of tumour composition. Additionally, cloning prevents the interactions between heterogeneous cell types that will occur in the parental tumour tissue and may support CSC survival. Thus, whilst both techniques have a role in evaluation of CSC phenotypes in solid tumours, overall it is likely that the most representative picture of phenotypic composition, and so greatest likelihood of identifying CSC subsets, will be obtained by analysing cells at derivation.

If cancer cell lines are maintained by cancer stem cells, it is also clear that those maintaining kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 were *not* those expressing the CSC-associated markers CD117 or CD133 soon after derivation. Given the significance ascribed to these markers in the CSC literature, this may not accurately reflect the situation within the primary tumour. It is also interesting that the five populations of cells derived from this canine osteosarcoma each demonstrated distinct stem cell-associated expression patterns and cellular functions, despite having originated from a small (1cm<sup>3</sup>) piece of tumour tissue.

Unlike solid tumours, where cells are generally only available at the time of surgical resection or biopsy unless expanded *in vitro*, it is possible to evaluate primary cells from bloodborne malignancies *ex vivo* throughout the course of disease. This has the obvious advantages of permitting more frequent examination and reducing the likelihood of culture-induced artefact. Also, cells isolated from blood or bone marrow are more likely to represent the neoplasm as a whole than those derived from a piece of tissue taken from one region of a heterogeneous solid tumour. If subjects are undergoing treatment, clearly this may result in changes to cellular characteristics or to the relative proportions of heterogeneous subsets over time. In the context of the CSC hypothesis, this information could be valuable for defining resistant cellular phenotypes, and modifying therapeutic interventions accordingly.

The Aldefluor assay has been shown to identify tumourigenic subpopulations in a variety of malignancies, both solid and haematopoietic (Pearce *et al.*, 2005; Ginestier *et al.*, 2007; Matsui *et al.*, 2008; Carpentino *et al.*, 2009; Huang *et al.*, 2009b; Jiang *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2010; Tanei *et al.*, 2009); rationale for use of the assay is stronger in the latter, as the expression of ALDH1A1 by a subset of normal human haematopoietic repopulating cells has been more fully characterised (Kastan *et al.*, 1990; Storms *et al.*, 1999; Armstrong *et al.*, 2004; Hess *et al.*, 2004; Christ *et al.*, 2007). The appearance of an ALDH<sup>Bright</sup> population in the BMMNC of a dog with acute lymphoblastic leukaemia could represent a candidate leukaemic stem cell population, and changes in the proportion of this population during treatment with a

chemotherapy protocol incorporating the alkylating agent cyclophosphamide may reflect this.

There is only one report available of this assay being used in the canine system, to identify normal canine HSC (Fiordalisi *et al.*, 2005). The study was presented as an abstract and ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>low</sup> cells were not fully characterised. Conversely, in the work presented here, Aldefluor did not identify a candidate ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup> HSC population within normal canine BMMNC, when used according to either the manufacturer's protocol or that detailed by Fiordalisi *et al.* 

The principle behind the Aldefluor assay is oxidation by intracellular ALDH of the BAAA substrate, and specifically the ALDH1-A1 isoform expressed by normal human HSC (for which the system is optimised). ALDH1 and ALDH3 have been detected using this assay in human tumour cell lines. However, not all members of the ALDH superfamily are capable of oxidising the substrate, and indeed some cell lines which express ALDH1-A1 do not convert BAAA (Foster et al., 2003 / manufacturers' data). Thus, the failure to detect an ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Low</sup> population within normal canine BMMNC using this commercial assay does not necessarily rule out the presence of ALDH activity within normal canine HSC, although it does appear that Aldefluor may not provide a reliable means by which to isolate these cells. Further investigation of this could include assessment of ALDH expression at mRNA (RT-PCR) or protein (immunoblot) level, or spectrophotometric measurement of enzyme activity, in canine haematopoietic progenitors isolated on the basis of other features such as CD34 expression (Niemeyer et al., 2001) or rhodamine efflux (Wijewardana et al., 2007). Similarly, although the ALDH fluorescence of the "positive" cells for kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 was weak, it remains possible that these cells expressed a canine isoform with poor enzymatic activity towards BAAA.

By contrast, the ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> cells identified within the BMMNC and PBMNC of a dog with ALL were readily visualised as considerably brighter than the main population of cells. Although induction of ALDH expression in cancer cell

populations by exposure to alkylating agents *in vitro* is reported (Sreerama and Sladek, 1994), at the point where these cells were first evaluated, this dog was chemotherapy-naïve. It is reported that, in comparison to that shown by normal haematopoietic cells, ALDH activity in tumour cells is high (Sreerama and Sladek, 1997). Upregulation of ALDH - from levels undetectable in normal BMMNC to those producing the bright fluorescence seen at Aldefluor analysis of ALL mononuclear cells - may have been a part of the disease process.

Although the viability of sorted ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> cells from this case of leukaemia was greater than that of the main population, these cells did not demonstrate enhanced resistance to cyclophosphamide *in vitro*. However, the active metabolite of cyclophosphamide, 4-hydroxycyclophosphamide, is produced through hepatic metabolism of the prodrug *in vivo*. It is therefore unlikely that the use of cyclophosphamide in this assay was representative.

4-hydroxyperoxycyclophosphamide (4-HC) may be used as an alternative in cell culture assays, as it is converted to 4-hydroxycyclophosphamide *in vitro* (Teicher *et al.*, 1996), and would have more accurately demonstrated whether these cells showed resistance to alkylating agents. An alternative possibility is that exposure of all cells *in vivo* to cyclophosphamide had selected for non-resistant cells prior to testing *in vitro*.

Unfortunately, the dog succumbed to disease before these ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> cells could be fully characterised, limiting the conclusions which may be drawn from the data. Clone-forming capacity of the ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> population was not demonstrated. Also, the leukaemic animal examined was juvenile (4-6 months old) - no normal bone marrow from animals of a comparable age was examined, and so the possibility that the profile seen is age-related rather than a feature of disease cannot be excluded.

Nonetheless, it is tempting to speculate that, as the leukaemic CD34<sup>+</sup> subset showed increased FSC / SSC in comparison with those of normal bone marrow, these cells could have been part of the ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> population, which was similarly

distributed across the scatter profile. Ideally, CD34 and Aldefluor would have been evaluated simultaneously, to see whether positive populations correlated, and might represent a leukaemic stem cell subset. Combined surface marker staining / ALDH detection would also have allowed more accurate segregation of populations, to further characterise both the ALDH<sup>Bright</sup>SSC<sup>Med-High</sup> cells and also the SSC<sup>Low</sup> subset with increased Aldefluor fluorescence (identified when the myeloid region was excluded from analysis).

Although for normal haematopoietic cells there is incomplete overlap between subsets identified using ALDH, Hoechst efflux and CD34 (Goodell *et al.*, 1996; Goodell *et al.*, 1997; Pearce and Bonnet, 2007; Addla *et al.*, 2008), both ALDH and side population analyses can be used to enrich drug resistant CD138<sup>-</sup> multiple myeloma stem cells (Matsui *et al.*, 2008). To this author's knowledge, there are no reports describing ALDH activity in subsets of canine neoplastic cells. If this proves to be a valid assay for detecting subsets of cancer cells with drug detoxifying properties, there could be important clinical ramifications in terms of selected treatment protocol. Moreover, the assay is reasonably straightforward (compared, for example, to the Hoechst 33342 efflux protocol) and requires only a standard 488nm laser, available on most cytometers. Significantly, the population was seen not only in bone marrow but also peripheral blood, and so testing or ongoing assessment need involve procedures no more invasive to the patient than blood sampling involved in the standard monitoring of cancer chemotherapy.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates that published protocols to investigate the CSC hypothesis may be adapted for use in the canine model system. Cancer cell lines provide a stable background for adaptation and optimisation of these assays for canine cells, allowing investigation of the implications of specific markers or expression patterns. However, stable, discrete cellular subpopulations are less readily identified. Conversely, analysis of primary tumour cells presents practical challenges, but these are more likely to demonstrate stable heterogeneous subpopulations, some of which may represent CSC.

154

Whether the result of a specific CSC population, heterogeneous clonal evolution, or a combination of processes, resistance to anticancer agents and persistence of cancer cells after therapy are major clinical problems. The ultimate aim in cancer stem cell investigations is to identify, and find ways of specifically targetting, cells which may be responsible for driving disease progression or causing relapse after treatment. Flow cytometry may provide a rapid and readily accessible means of characterising and monitoring clinical disease. If subpopulations can be isolated from spontaneous tumours, *in vitro* susceptibility testing may inform more individualised treatment regimes (Twentyman *et al.*, 1989; Bosanquet, 1993), to increase the likelihood of clinical efficacy and reduce the more generalised adverse effects of antiproliferative agents. The assays described in this study thus warrant further investigation within the clinical setting.

# **CHAPTER 4**

# TUMOURSPHERE CULTURE TO ISOLATE

# **CANINE CANCER STEM CELLS**

### **INTRODUCTION**

# Identifying Cancer Stem Cells in Solid Tumours

Normal stem cells exist at the apex of a hierarchy within tissues. This progresses, through a variable number of transit-amplifying steps, to the terminally differentiated cells making up the majority of the tissue (Weissman *et al.*, 2001). This results in phenotypic and functional heterogeneity such that, in order to characterise them specifically, stem cells must be separated from the bulk population. The scarcity of normal tissue stem cells thus imposes a challenge – that is, how to obtain sufficient numbers of cells from a tissue with which to perform assays.

If phenotypic and/or functional markers have been characterised, these may be used for isolation – however, there is likely to be overlap between surface marker profiles of cells at successive stages of differentiation, as this represents a continuum (as manifest by the haematopoietic system). Ideally, stem cells could be isolated and propagated in culture, allowing the generation of stable populations to compare with the progenitor and terminally differentiated components of a tissue. However, this relies upon the ability to maintain the cells in an undifferentiated state rather than permitting their development along any of their programmed lineages.

As well as permitting further investigation of the biology and regenerative potential of normal stem cells, techniques to isolate self-renewing, multipotent cells should provide a platform for investigating the role of CSC in tumours. The differentiation pathways of the haematopoietic system, and the progression from haematopoietic stem cells (HSC) through divergent lineages to produce fully differentiated effector cells, are reasonably well characterised (Weissman *et al.*, 2001). This has been central to the investigation of putative CSC in haematological malignancies. Assays widely used to identify normal HSC, such as expression of CD34 and efflux of Hoechst 33342, have been extended to identify subsets of stem-like cells responsible for tumour maintenance. Equally, appreciation of the normal haematopoietic hierarchies, and associated surface phenotypes, has provided compelling evidence

for CSC originating in more committed lineages (Bonnet and Dick, 1997; Cozzio *et al.*, 2003; Jamieson *et al.*, 2004; Matsui *et al.*, 2004; Bonnet, 2005; Taussig *et al.*, 2005; Gal *et al.*, 2006; Nishida *et al.*, 2009).

The extension of the cancer stem cell hypothesis to solid tumours has been more challenging experimentally, not least because for many, the identity of the corresponding normal tissue stem cell and its progression through to terminally differentiated cells has yet to be fully understood. Reliable methods to isolate normal, and consequently malignant, tissue stem cells are less well developed. Another problem is the physical nature of the tissues. Cells from solid tissues and tumours are often larger and more fragile than blood cells (and less accessible for sampling), and creation of viable single-cell suspensions is challenging.

Moreover, the biology of solid tumours is less well understood than the haematological malignancies, which more often follow a well-recognised, lineage-specific course. Solid tumours are often markedly heterogeneous, displaying multiple phenotypes within a single mass. As well as intrinsic interactions between malignant cells, the stroma and microenvironment are critical in the development of this heterogeneity - this is complicated further by involvement of cells from other tissues through angiogenesis, inflammation and, more recently recognised, the recruitment of mesenchymal stem cells or endothelial progenitors to sites of neoplastic growth (Hiscox and Jiang, 1997; Houghton *et al.*, 2004; Mueller and Fusenig, 2004; Nolan *et al.*, 2007).

### **Propagating Solid Tissue Stem Cells – the Neurosphere Assay**

The ability to isolate and propagate normal neural stem cells *in vitro* using the "neurosphere" technique represented a breakthrough in cell culture. Reynolds *et al* demonstrated that in the absence of serum and the presence of a mitogenic growth factor (epidermal growth factor, EGF), single cells with self-renewal and multilineage differentiation capacity proliferated as clusters in which the progeny showed similar stem cell-like properties. The "unique observation" of spheroidal

growth was not seen in serum-containing cultures, in which cells grew in a flat monolayer (Reynolds *et al.*, 1992; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992).

Reynolds and Weiss derived neurospheres from Embryonic Day 14 mouse striata, and performed clonal and population analyses in order to define more accurately the proportion of cells capable of self-renewal and multilineage differentiation. In initial cultures, approximately 1% of cells were capable of sphere formation. However, when these were dissociated, up to 49% of cells could form secondary spheres, demonstrating a considerable enrichment of growth factor-responsive precursors (putative neural stem or progenitor cells) (Reynolds and Weiss, 1996).

Secondary spheres were examined at each stage to assess their ability to differentiate into neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes, confirming multipotency and further supporting the concept that the sphere-forming, EGF-responsive precursors were indeed stem cells. The authors showed that the growth pattern was maintained over multiple passages and, therefore, that these cells were capable of generating large numbers of progeny (Reynolds and Weiss, 1996).

The authors have been careful to encourage a degree of parsimony in the interpretation of their findings – not least in their recognition that spheres may arise from and comprise not only stem but also more differentiated progenitor cells, particularly at early passages (Reynolds and Rietze, 2005). Nonetheless, the assay has been adopted in the search for stem cell populations in a wide variety of normal solid tissues, including breast, prostate and retinal epithelium (Tropepe *et al.*, 2000; Dontu *et al.*, 2003; Xin *et al.*, 2007).

# Tumoursphere Culture to Identify Cancer Stem Cells in Solid Tumours

CSC are postulated to be capable of self-renewal and differentiation along diverse lineage pathways, and (more speculatively) to have improved capacity for survival in less permissive environments. As such, the neurosphere assay has been widely adapted by cancer cell biologists in the hope that it might allow isolation of primitive stem-like cancer cells from solid tumours (Figure 1). Candidate CSC populations have now been described for many tumour types on this basis. "Tumourspheres" have been derived from both primary tumours and tumour cell lines, and sphere-forming cells analysed for properties including expression of surface markers, transcription factor activity, resistance to drugs, and enhanced tumourigenicity (Ignatova *et al.*, 2002; Hemmati *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2003; Fang *et al.*, 2005; Gibbs *et al.*, 2005; Fujii *et al.*, 2007; Harper *et al.*, 2007; Ricci-Vitiani *et al.*, 2007; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Wilson *et al.*, 2008; Bisson and Prowse, 2009; Stoica *et al.*, 2009).

Tumoursphere populations have been shown to express many stem cell-associated markers at levels exceeding those shown by corresponding non-sphere-forming cells. These include cell surface molecules such as CD133, CD117, CD44 and integrins (Singh *et al.*, 2003; Collins *et al.*, 2005; Chiou *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2008a), transcription factors such as Oct4 and Nanog (Gibbs *et al.*, 2005; Ponti *et al.*, 2005), and membrane transporter proteins such as ABCG2 (Bisson and Prowse, 2009; Bleau *et al.*, 2009). For example, upregulation of the normal neural stem cell marker Nestin is widely used to demonstrate expansion of a stem cell compartment in normal neurosphere culture, and this is also seen in brain malignancies (Hemmati *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2003; Galli *et al.*, 2004; Dell'Albani, 2008).


**Figure 1** – Principle of the tumoursphere assay for CSC identification and propagation

(a) Dissociated cells cultured in serum-free conditions supplemented with growth factors.

(b) Putative CSC, but not differentiated cells, proliferate as clonal spheroid colonies.(c) Tumoursphere-forming cells show capacity to differentiate into all cell types seen within parental tumour or cell line.

(d) Tumoursphere-forming cells may be dissociated and placed back into culture, and self-renew to form further tumoursphere colonies.

### Potential advantages of tumoursphere culture techniques

Work published by Lee *et al* in 2006 suggested that cells from primary glioblastomas cultured in serum-free neurosphere conditions were, in fact, *more* representative of the tumour than were those propagated using conventional methods. They also found that they remained more stable over time in terms of growth pattern, telomerase activity, genomic and karyotypic stability, colony formation and tumourigenicity. The sphere-derived tumours were histologically more infiltrative (hence more similar to primary glioblastomas) than those from standard glioma cell lines such as U87MG. The results suggested that the expression of "glioblastoma-defining genes" is lost upon serial passage in serum-containing conditions, and that serum-free spheroid cultures reflect the original tumour more faithfully (Lee *et al.*, 2006). Similarly, De Witt Hamer *et al* examined gene expression profiles in primary and cultured human glioblastoma, and reported that the correlation between sphere cultures and their parental tumours was greater than that for corresponding adherent cultures (De Witt Hamer *et al.*, 2008).

A major benefit in using the sphere technique to isolate putative CSC is the ability to propagate them continuously in culture, allowing not only detailed analysis of their properties but also enabling large-scale drug screening. Enhanced activity against the tumoursphere cells, as compared to the corresponding adherent (putatively more differentiated) counterparts, may allow identification of compounds which selectively target CSC populations (Diamandis *et al.*, 2007).

#### Potential problems associated with the tumoursphere technique

Several features of neurosphere, and by extension tumoursphere, culture systems complicate the interpretation of the data acquired. Transit-amplifying progenitor populations, as well as *bona fide* stem cells, may survive and proliferate - Reynolds and Rietze advise that spheres between passages 5-10 should be used in assays, to allow the senescence of these more limited progenitors and reduce their influence on results (Reynolds and Rietze, 2005). Nonetheless it is recognised that some degree

of differentiation, and also spontaneous apoptosis, does occur within spheres, so they cannot be viewed as a totally "pure population" of stem cell-like cells.

Additionally, spheres show a tendency to clump and coalesce in culture, even when components such as methylcellulose are added to the medium to increase its viscosity. This makes precise analysis of clonality difficult, as it cannot be inferred that every sphere originated from a single cell. An elegant study by Singec and colleages in 2006 used timelapse microscopy to show the fusion of neurospheres, and also cocultures of cells labelled with either EGFP or  $\beta$ -galactosidase to demonstrate that most spheres plated at "clonal density" (5 cells/µl) comprised the progeny of more than one cell. Indeed, even at densities as low as 0.5 cells/µl, much lower than those used in most published tumoursphere experiments, over 40% of spheres were polyclonal (Singec *et al.*, 2006).

### Staying round or going flat? Adherent cultures of brain tumour stem cells

A recent report by Pollard and colleagues described the culture of putative glioma CSC using adherent, rather than suspension, culture conditions. Cells from primary tumours were grown in neural stem cell medium on laminin-coated tissue culture plastic, and proliferated as a monolayer, expressing markers associated with neural stem cells. Additionally, they showed fewer signs of differentiation and apoptosis than parallel neurosphere cultures, and more readily established cell lines. The authors postulated that improved access to growth factors was responsible for many of these apparent improvements to the neurosphere culture method, and that increased uniformity and easier manipulation of cells represent a significant advance with regards not only propagation but also utility for screening drugs which may target CSC (Pollard *et al.*, 2009b). However, there remain several questions as to the validity of this technique, not least that of the identity of the homogeneous population of cells selected and propagated – as pointed out in a not-unexpected response from Reynolds and Vescovi,

"Lack of differentiation markers in a given cell is in no way equated to being a stem

cell. Without evidence demonstrating that each cell cultured under these conditions (or the progeny of these cells) is able to exhibit cancer stem cell characteristics (i.e., extensive self-renewal, generation large number of progeny, multilineage differentiation capability, and tumor formation), the assessment that the culture contains a homogeneous cancer stem cell population is unfounded." (Reynolds and Vescovi, 2009)

Pollard and colleagues, whilst defending their findings on the most part, do concede in their reply to this critique that, "additional clonal data would be valuable" (Pollard *et al.*, 2009a).

#### Interpretation of Data Gathered from Tumoursphere Culture

Within the published literature, there is a great degree of variability in the culture conditions used to derive spheres (Chaichana et al., 2006). Whilst DMEM:F12 is commonly employed as a base medium (Reynolds and Weiss, 1992; Singh et al., 2003), commercial serum-free formulations or conditioned media are also used by some investigators (Dontu et al., 2003; Collins et al., 2005; Sansone et al., 2007), with or without the addition of methylcellulose or agar to increase viscosity (Kukekov et al., 1999; Ignatova et al., 2002; Gibbs et al., 2005). Serum-replacement supplements such as Bottenstein's N2 (Bottenstein and Sato, 1979; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992; Gibbs et al., 2005) or B27 (Hemmati et al., 2003; Sansone et al., 2007) are also variously used, as are additional growth factors (such as epidermal growth factor (Reynolds et al., 1992; Dontu et al., 2004), basic fibroblastic growth factor (Hemmati et al., 2003; Galli et al., 2004), leukaemia inhibitory factor (Hemmati et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2003), stem cell factor [KIT] (Collins et al., 2005), neuronal survival factor (Singh et al., 2003)) at a range of concentrations and in an assortment of combinations. Indeed, in some instances serum itself is used in the culture medium (Kukekov et al., 1999; Fang et al., 2005). Different substrates are described, with some experiments employing standard culture vessels, and others those coated with substances such as poly-l-ornithine (Reynolds and Weiss, 1992), or commercial low-attachment plates (Gibbs et al., 2005). As addressed by Singec et

*al*, the cell density used to afford "clonal" conditions also varies between reports (Singec *et al.*, 2006).

The result of this diversity is that it is often rather difficult to pinpoint the criteria being used by investigators to define "tumourspheres", or what then indicates that they represent a stem cell population (Chaichana *et al.*, 2006). A good example of this is the recent report by Stoica and colleagues of a canine glioblastoma whose cells grow as nonattached "neurospheres" in both serum-free and serum-containing cultures (Stoica *et al.*, 2009). When compared to adherent cells, both populations of canine glioblastoma neurospheres show increased expression of CD133 (although the experimenters use an anti-mouse antibody with no isotype control, such that nonspecific binding cannot be ruled out). However, clonogenicity of both sphere-forming and adherent cells was found to be 100%, and all cell types produced tumours in nude mice, with no evidence of enhanced tumourigenicity amongst either neurosphere population. The decisive factors by which the neurospheres are designated the "cancer stem cells" are therefore unclear (Stoica *et al.*, 2009).

The percentage of cells with clone-forming (sphere-forming) capacity is interpreted as an indicator of self-renewal. Zheng *et al* concluded from clonal and population analysis of the C6 rat glioma cell line that it is "mainly composed of cancer stem cells", owing to the fact that almost 100% of cells formed spheres, and that primary and secondary spheres were equally tumourigenic. They reported reduced cloneforming ability in serum-free medium, with cells becoming quiescent until serumsupplemented, at which point further expansion occurred. Thus, culture conditions appeared to exert a significant effect on the apparent self-renewal capacity and "stem cell" behaviour (Zheng *et al.*, 2007). Conversely, whilst Kondo *et al* also showed the effects of different culture conditions / growth factors on sphere-forming capability of C6 cells, they estimated the CSC population as only 0.4%, based on Hoechst efflux (Kondo *et al.*, 2004).

The surface glycoprotein CD133 is often referred to as a "stem cell marker", and has been shown to be expressed more heavily in sphere cultures than corresponding

adherent cells for a variety of normal tissues and tumours, including those of brain, colon, lung, prostate, and malignant melanoma (Singh *et al.*, 2003; Collins *et al.*, 2005; Monzani *et al.*, 2007; Ricci-Vitiani *et al.*, 2007; Tirino *et al.*, 2009). By contrast, however, Shmelkov *et al* found that CD133<sup>+</sup> and CD133<sup>-</sup> metastatic colon cancer cells formed spheres in culture, and that CD133<sup>-</sup> cells expressed higher levels of CD44, another stem cell-associated marker (Shmelkov *et al.*, 2008). In another report examining primary and secondary glioblastomas, both sphere-forming CD133<sup>+</sup> and adherently-growing CD133<sup>-</sup> cells were similarly tumourigenic (Beier *et al.*, 2007). These are just a few examples of some of the conflicting data within the tumoursphere literature.

Thus, formation of spheres by cells *in vitro* must be critically assessed in each instance, and backed up with further evidence for (cancer) stem cell identity, such as multipotentiality, self-renewal and expression of appropriate markers.

The growth of tumour cells as multicellular spheroids is not a new concept, although investigations previously had concentrated on how such three-dimensional cultures might more closely mimic the behaviour of cells *in vivo* rather than on any propensity to enrich for stem or progenitor cell populations (Freyer and Sutherland, 1980; Durand, 1981; Toburen, 1981; Olive and Durand, 1985; Desoize and Jardillier, 2000; Alajati *et al.*, 2008). Nonetheless, Durand and Olive point out that, depending on the growth conditions, "virtually any proliferating cell can be induced to grow as multicell spheroids." (Durand and Olive, 2001) This is particularly relevant when, as has been seen so frequently in recent CSC literature, the "ability to form spheres" is reported as a direct indicator of a CSC population. Moreover, there is evidence that some degree of resistance to apoptosis and hence certain chemotherapeutic drugs, combined with impaired penetration of drugs into spheres, contributes to drug resistance in three-dimensional cultures regardless of any intrinsic CSC-like properties (Durand, 1981; Toburen, 1981; Olive *atl.*, 1997; Weaver *et al.*, 2002).

It has been shown previously that, like human osteosarcoma, the canine osteosarcoma cell line D17 produces spheroidal colonies in serum-free, low-adherence, growth factor-supplemented conditions (Wilson *et al.*, 2008). The proportion of cells which could form these "sarcospheres" was estimated as 0.2 – 0.5%. Spheres showed increased immunostaining for the embryonic stem cell-associated markers Oct4, Nanog and STAT3, and adherent cultures greater expression of Stro-1, a cell surface marker which might represent more differentiated cells (although it may be associated also with mesenchymal stem cells, and with preosteoblasts) (Simmons and Torok-Storb, 1991; Gronthos *et al.*, 1999; Gibbs *et al.*, 2005; Chamberlain *et al.*, 2007; Wilson *et al.*, 2008).

If the propagation of canine cancer cells in low-density, serum-free culture selects for the growth of CSC, this would not only allow propagation and detailed characterisation of tumourigenic cells, but could also provide a platform for drug screening, to identify CSC-selective agents. Following on from the work of Wilson *et al*, this study aimed to determine whether canine cancer cell lines derived from diverse solid tumours are capable of forming tumourspheres, and whether these represent the expansion of a specific subpopulation of CSC. Clonal and population analyses were performed to determine the frequency of sphere-forming cells within the parental population, and tumourspheres were assessed for the expression of CSC-associated markers and resistance to commonly-used chemotherapy drugs.

### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## **Tumoursphere Culture**

Growth medium and standard conditions for low-density, serum-free tumoursphere culture are described in Materials and Methods chapter.

For some cell lines, the effects of additional or alternative growth factor supplementation were assessed: -B27 supplement (Invitrogen) – Substituted for N2 supplement (B27/MC) or 1:1 with B27 (N2-B27/MC) in growth medium. -Recombinant canine vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (R&D Systems,

Minneapolis MN, USA); 10µg/ml in PBS. Added with EGF and bFGF at 5-15ng/ml (1-3µl/well) every 48h.

### Tumoursphere passage protocol

Wilson *et al* describe passage of D17 tumourspheres as follows: formed spheres were transferred to adherent conditions, the cells grown as a monolayer and then dissociated, and seeded once again into sphere culture (Wilson *et al.*, 2008). However, it was considered that this methodology might not be expected to *enrich* for a putative stem cell-like population with repeated passage - the normal differentiated cell population might once again expand upon transfer to permissive culture conditions, re-establishing the cellular identity of the parental line. An alternative passage protocol, described in Materials and Methods chapter, was devised whereby formed spheres at 7-14 days in vitro (d.i.v.) were dissociated to single cells, counted and plated directly back into tumoursphere culture conditions.

### Limiting Dilution Assay for Population Analysis of Tumourspheres

For analysis of the relationship between cell density and tumoursphere formation in bulk culture, D17 and SB cells were resuspended in N2/MC medium at  $6x10^4$  cells/ml as for standard tumoursphere culture. Serial doubling or tripling dilutions of this suspension were made in N2/MC. 1ml of each suspension was added to 1ml of N2/MC medium in triplicate wells of UltraLow Attachment 6-well plates and cells incubated as for tumoursphere culture (37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>).

 $12\mu$ l EGF,  $12\mu$ l bFGF ±  $2\mu$ l VEGF (SB only) were added every 48 hours. After 7 days in culture, tumourspheres were harvested and the number of cells in each well counted by trypan blue exclusion. Where low cell numbers precluded counting of individual wells, contents were pooled and the mean cell number/well calculated.

### Limiting Dilution Assay for Clonal Analysis of Tumourspheres

Single cell suspensions were created of confluent adherent monolayers and/or tumourspheres. Viable cells were quantified using trypan blue, and cells resuspended at  $1 \ge 10^6$  cells/ml in N2 medium, with or without methylcellulose depending on the assay.

Dilutions of the cell suspension were made to achieve the required final cell number for 200µl per well. Cell suspensions were dispensed into the innermost 32 wells of UltraLow Attachment 96-well plates (Corning), with PBS only in the outer wells, to reduce possible plate-edge effects.

Plates were incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ c, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 100% humidity. After 72h, growth factors were added (1.2ng EGF, 1.2ng bFGF, ±VEGF). Wells were scored for the presence and number of spheres after approximately 7 and 14 days in vitro.

Flow cytometric assessment of surface expression, Western blotting, immunofluorescence and chemosensitivity assays were performed as described in Materials and Methods chapter.

### RESULTS

# Canine Cancer Cells can Proliferate as Spheres in Serum-Free, Low-Adherence, Growth Factor-Supplemented Conditions

Canine cancer cell lines D17 osteosarcoma, SB haemangiosarcoma, REM134 mammary carcinoma and CML10 melanoma were cultured on a low-adherence substrate in N2/MC medium, in the presence of EGF and bFGF ("standard conditions"). Clusters of cells began to form within 24-48 hours of plating, and expanded over time as compact tumourspheres (Figure 2). With continued expansion, tumourspheres began to coalesce, forming larger spheres and often extensive, irregular aggregates (Figure 3). When tumourspheres were transferred to standard (uncoated) tissue culture plates in serum-containing medium, they attached to the substrate, the resultant adherent cells once again forming a monolayer with morphology similar to that of the original cell line (Figure 4).

Cell numbers yielded under standard conditions permitted repeated subculture of D17 and REM134 tumourspheres beyond 5 passsages, and these lines were therefore used in most assays. Rather than expansion in adherent conditions at each passage using the method of Wilson *et al* (Wilson *et al.*, 2008), tumourspheres were subcultured using the adapted sphere passage protocol to maximise enrichment of any putative CSC population without expansion of adherent (putatively more differentiated) cells. Proliferation of CML10 and SB cells was more limited, and often poor after subculture. All cell lines other than REM134 sporadically failed to proliferate under tumoursphere conditions, either at first plating or at subculture. Cells would remain apparently quiescent, gradually becoming dense and granular and failing to proliferate.



Figure 2 – Tumoursphere formation by canine cancer cell lines.

- A D17 osteosarcoma (8 days in vitro)
- B SB haemangiosarcoma (14 d.i.v.)
- C REM134 mammary carcinoma (8 d.i.v.)
- D CML10 melanoma (11 d.i.v.).
- $[A D: Bar = 100 \mu m]$
- E D17 (8 d.i.v.)
- F REM134 (4 d.i.v.)
- [E, F: Bar =  $20\mu m$ ]



**Figure 3** – (*Left*) D17 tumourspheres at 8 d.i.v. showing tendency towards fusion and coalescence (Bar 100 $\mu$ m). (*Right*) Cellular connections between D17 spheres, noted as an incidental finding at immunofluorescence microscopy. The positive fluorescence signal is a DAPI nuclear counterstain (Bar 20 $\mu$ m).

These images emphasise that counting tumourspheres in bulk culture is likely to be an unsatisfactory means to quantify the proportion of tumoursphere-forming cells.



**Figure 4** – D17 sphere after transfer to standard serum-containing culture conditions, demonstrating outgrowth of adherent cells. Left – Bar =  $100\mu m$ ; Right – Bar =  $50\mu m$ .

### **Determinants of Tumoursphere Formation**

Some investigators have suggested that, rather than selection of a pre-existing stem cell population, addition of mitogenic growth factors or use of specialized media may directly alter expression pattern, and thus be responsible for some of the phenotypic changes associated with sphere formation (Cicero *et al.*, 2009). Equally, although the addition of serum within classical neurosphere cultures leads to multilineage differentiation, and its absence promotes stem and progenitor cell self-renewal, it is unclear whether or not the differentiation of CSC similarly relies on the presence of serum.

Although these questions were not extensively addressed as part of this study, it was observed that one of the significant factors in producing the canine tumoursphere phenotype was the low-adherence substrate. D17 cells, plated under standard tumoursphere conditions but without additional growth factor supplementation, formed expanding tumourspheres (Figure 5). Moreover, when D17 or SB cells were plated in N2 medium on conventional (uncoated) tissue culture vessels, the cells attached to the substrate and proliferated as a monolayer despite the absence of serum.



**Figure 5** – D17 tumourspheres forming with no EGF or bFGF supplementation. Cells were still growing well as tumourspheres at 11 d.i.v. – i.e. D17 can form tumourspheres in the absence of supplementary growth factors. Left - 3 d.i.v.; Right - 11 d.i.v.Bar = 100µm

Conversely, attachment of D17 tumourspheres to the substrate, with outgrowth of adherent cells, was observed even under low-adherence conditions when the spheroids became large and settled to the bases of the wells (Figure 6). Thus, the absence of serum from culture medium does not necessarily preclude the adherent growth of canine cancer cells, and absence of growth factor supplementation does not preclude the formation or expansion of tumourspheres.

The addition of the mitogenic growth factors bFGF and EGF did appear to have direct effects on cellular phenotype. D17 cells were cultured in conventional, serumcontaining adherent conditions and supplemented with growth factors at concentrations equivalent to those employed in sphere culture ("D17 AdherentGF"). Cell morphology was markedly altered, with cells developing along "cords" rather than as a smooth monolayer, often with pronounced spindle-like processes, and showing a tendency to clump into tumoursphere-like aggregates (Figure 7). With increasing confluence, these spheres tended to detach from the substrate and became suspended in the medium, suggesting a predominance of intercellular adhesion over that to the culture substrate.



**Figure 6** – D17 cells in tumoursphere culture demonstrating attachment and proliferation despite low-adherence substrate. Bar =  $100\mu m$ 



**Figure 7** – (A) Standard adherent and (B-D) D17 AdhGF cells. B, C – 8 d.i.v.; D – 11 d.i.v. Note altered morphology and tendency for intercellular adhesion, overcoming that for attachment to substrate such that cells gradually become suspended as floating spheroids – i.e. D17 cells can form tumourspheres in the presence of serum. Bar =  $100\mu m$ .

Preliminary studies were conducted to assess the growth of SB haemangiosarcoma and CML10 melanoma cells in alternative serum-free media, or with additional growth factor supplementation. Tumoursphere formation in N2/MC medium was compared with that containing an alternative serum-replacement supplement, B27, and also medium containing both supplements (N2-B27/MC). Although B27 contains slightly lower levels of some N2 constituents - the precise concentrations are not disclosed by the manufacturers - it also contains additional factors not present in N2, and has been used by a number of experimenters in sphere culture (Dontu *et*  *al.*, 2003; Hemmati *et al.*, 2003; Chaichana *et al.*, 2006; Pellegatta *et al.*, 2006; Sansone *et al.*, 2007). Growth of both SB and CML10 was poor in medium supplemented only with B27; spheres formed were fewer, smaller and less compact than in other media, and the cells within these loose clusters appeared granular and poorly viable. Tumourspheres produced by CML10 cells were largest and most numerous in the growth medium containing both supplements (N2-B27/MC). For SB cells, proliferation as tumourspheres in N2-B27/MC was equivalent to that in N2/MC (Figure 8 A-F).

Expression of receptors for vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is reported for both haemangiosarcoma (and specifically SB cells (Akhtar *et al.*, 2004)) and malignant melanoma (Liu *et al.*, 1995). The addition of VEGF at increasing concentrations (5nM, 10nM, 15nM) enhanced growth of SB cells leading to the formation of larger and more numerous tumourspheres, particularly when combined with N2-B27 supplementation. There was a less marked enhancement in the formation of tumourspheres by CML10 cells (Figure 8 G-L). These results suggest that the observation of "tumoursphere formation" by a given cell line is influenced by the selected combination of culture medium, substrate and supplemental growth factors.



+ 15nM VEGF:





(*Upper*) – Proliferation in medium containing N2, B27 or a combination of both serum-replacement supplements.

(Lower) – Proliferation in alternative media with additional growth factor supplementation (15nM VEGF).

Bar =  $100 \mu m$ 

# Microscopic Observations and Clonal and Population Analyses suggest that Growth of Canine Cancer Cells as Spheroids results from Cellular Aggregation and not Autonomous Self-Renewal

According to the principle of the neurosphere assay, enrichment of cancer stem and progenitor cells occurs through selection of cells capable of first surviving in serum-free conditions, and their subsequent self-renewal to create clonal spheres of similar cells. If the formation of tumourspheres by cancer cells in low-density conditions represents cell-autonomous self-renewal of individual cells, it should be possible to quantify the proportion of replication-competent cells on a single cell level.

### Isolated D17 cells do not form tumourspheres

Clonal analysis was performed in order to assess the ability of individual tumour cells to form tumourspheres. D17 tumourspheres at fifth passage were dissociated and plated into 96-well plates at 30, 3, 1 and 0.3 cells per well. Although small clusters of cells formed in some wells, no tumourspheres developed in any well even at 30 cells/well, and by 9 d.i.v. most cells were shrunken and showed no signs of replication. This was in sharp contrast to the cluster formation seen at 24-48 hours after plating, and the development of large tumourspheres by 7 d.i.v., under standard conditions.

The limiting dilution assay was repeated at densities of 200, 100 and 50 cells per well. Both D17 adherent cells and dissociated tumourspheres (passage 8) were assessed for sphere-forming capacity, in case tumoursphere passage had enriched a population of clonogenic cells. However, for both sphere and adherent cells, sphere formation at low densities was very poor - even at 200 cells per well, any spheroids were small (no more than 2-3 cells in diameter) and not comparable with those seen under bulk culture conditions (Figure 9).

For adherent cells, 13/32 wells showed evidence of proliferation at 200 cells/well (40% positive wells). Tumoursphere cells performed better at this density, with

25/32 wells (78%) showing a cell cluster – this may support the concept of enrichment of a putative tumoursphere-forming CSC population by successive passage, although the effect might also be influenced by incomplete tumoursphere dissociation and the persistence of cellular aggregates, or adaptation of cells to tumoursphere culture conditions during successive passage. However, cluster formation was reduced to 3/32 (9%) at 100 cells/well and 2/32 (6%) at 50 cells/well (Figure 10). This is strongly suggestive of a density-dependent effect, as otherwise it would be expected that there would be a linear relationship between number of cells per well and wells containing spheres, from which could be calculated the minimum number of cells required per well to yield at least one sphere (Singh *et al.*, 2003).

In fact, there appears to be an initial plateau at low cell densities, where very few cells will replicate, followed by an increasing tendency to form spheres as cell density increases (Figure 10). SB cells produced no spheres in any well at either 50, 100 or 200 cells per well upon limiting dilution, even with additional growth factor supplementation (VEGF 10ng/ml).

Most limiting dilution assays were carried out using N2 medium *without* methylcellulose, to permit more accurate manipulation of small fluid volumes. Notably, when D17 cells were plated in methylcellulose-containing medium at 50, 100 and 200 cells per well, no cell replication was seen and no tumourspheres formed, at even the highest density. This observation supports the concept that tumoursphere formation and expansion by D17 cells is promoted by initial cell-cell contact – within the small wells of a 96-well plate, the viscous methylcellulose has more of an immobilising effect than in a 6-well plate, where cells tend to gravitate towards the edges of wells.

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100 6 

Figure 9 – D17 limiting dilution assay. 200 cells/well in 96 well plate at 7 d.i.v. No tumourspheres comparable to those in bulk culture were seen in any well. Bar =  $100\mu m$ 



**Figure 10** – Non-linear relationship between number of cells plated per well of a 96-well plate and tumoursphere formation, for D17 adherent and tumoursphere cells. y axis represents the proportion of wells in which no spheres form, for a given number of cells *per* well (x axis). For cell-autonomous and density-independent tumoursphere formation, a linear relationship is expected. This allows linear regression lines to be plotted, with the x axis intercept indicating the number of cells/well required to ensure at least one sphere in each well. Wells were scored after 14 days *in vitro;* any tumourspheres formed were much smaller than those seen in bulk culture after a similar incubation period.

# Single REM134 cells do not form spheres comparable to those in bulk cultures, and serial tumoursphere passage does not enrich for sphere formation

REM134 cells, which like D17 readily formed and expanded as tumourspheres under standard conditions, also failed to show comparable proliferative ability in a single cell assay. In order to test the hypothesis that successive passage of spheres would enrich for a cancer stem cell population, dissociated adherent and tumoursphere (passage 6) cells were plated in low-adherence 96-well plates at 1 cell per well. Wells were scored after 24 hours for the presence of single cells, and sphere formation assessed at days 8 and 16 of incubation.

Of 44 single adherent cells, only 4 (9.09%) showed any sign of replication. Of 52 single sphere cells, fewer proliferated, with only 3 spheres (5.77%) at 8 d.i.v. and 2 (3.85%) at 16 d.i.v., one of the spheres scored at the earlier assessment having broken down (Figure 11). Thus, REM134 adherent cells form tumourspheres at the single-cell level, at a frequency which might be expected for a putative CSC

population, but serial passage as tumourspheres does not enrich for sphere-forming capacity. Again, the tumourspheres formed were smaller than the large compact bodies formed in the standard 6-well assay (proposed to originate from single tumour cells) (Figure 12). These results indicate discrepancies between tumoursphere-forming efficiency at the level of single cells *versus* bulk culture, suggesting that cell density exerts a profound effect.



**Figure 11** – Tumoursphere formation at the single-cell level by REM134 adherent and tumoursphere cells. Wells confirmed as containing a single cell after 1 day *in vitro*, and scored for tumoursphere formation at 8 and 16 d.i.v..



**Figure 12 -** REM134 tumoursphere formation in single cell assay at 16 d.i.v. Left – Derived from single adherent cell; Right – Derived from single sphere cell Bar = 100µm

### Sphere formation in bulk tumoursphere cultures is density dependent

The influence of cell density on tumoursphere-forming efficiency was further investigated at the population level. D17 and SB haemangiosarcoma cells were plated in the 6-well format, at standard density ( $6 \times 10^4$  cells /well / 2ml) and serially diluted cell concentrations. If replication as spheres is a cell-autonomous process, the *proportion* of cells proliferating as spheres is hypothetically the same, and so overall population doubling should show a constant relationship to initial inoculums.

(Population Doubling =  $3.32 \times [\log(\text{cells yielded}) - \log(\text{cells seeded})])$ 

As seen in Figure 13, this was not the case, this non-linear relationship again indicating a density-dependent effect on cell proliferation. For D17, fewer than 3250-5000 cells per well in tumoursphere culture led to a negative population doubling – that is, overall cell numbers declined – whereas above this density, an overall expansion was seen. For SB, the cutoff was higher at approximately 19000 cells per well.

Population analysis over serial tumoursphere passage at standard density (60000 cells per well) suggested an exponential population expansion, with equivalent proliferation capacity at each subculture. Population doublings were calculated for each passage, and the theoretical total cell yield over time (if all cells had been placed back into culture) determined (Figure 14). Whilst it might be expected that gradual enrichment of a (putatively more slowly-dividing) stem cell-like subpopulation might lead to alterations in growth kinetics, the results suggested that the cells within tumourspheres not only underwent exponential growth over time producing a large number of progeny, but also that the rate of proliferation was reasonably constant.





In addition, the degree of expansion suggested that most plated cells were capable of replicating to contribute towards total cell number, at both early and later passages. This was supported by the microscopic observation that for both D17 and REM134, most cells appeared to participate in cluster formation soon after seeding (Figure 15).

Together, these results suggest that sphere formation in canine cancer cell lines, rather than representing the autonomous self-renewal of individual stem-like cells, is the result of cellular aggregation and proliferation at permissive cell densities.



Figure 15 – Cells proliferating as tumourspheres are not rare in bulk culture.

- A D17 cells at 2 d.i.v (phase contrast).
- B REM134 cells at 4 d.i.v. (brightfield).
- C D17 cells at 2 d.i.v. (brightfield).
- D REM134 cells at 4 d.i.v. (brightfield).

All cells seeded at 60000/well. A, B - Bar =  $200\mu m$ . C, D - Bar =  $100\mu m$ .

# Expression Patterns do not suggest that Spheres formed by Canine Cancer Cell Lines Represent a Specific Stem Cell-Like Population

### Flow cytometry

D17 and REM134 tumourspheres were dissociated and analysed by flow cytometry. The FSC *vs* SSC profile of sphere cells was less defined than that of the adherent cells (Figure 16). There was a greater range of cell size (large cells containing pronounced vacuoles were often visible at light microscopy in sphere cultures) and complexity, in part due to the persistence of cellular aggregates despite the suspension having been passed through a  $40\mu$ m cell strainer prior to analysis. There was more debris and non-viable material present in the sphere cell suspension, probably reflecting not only apoptosis in the cultures, but also the longer period of enzymatic exposure and mechanical trituration required to dissociate the spheres as compared with adherent cultures. Sphere cells showed a greater tendency towards autofluorescence than did adherent cells, necessitating stringent analysis to distinguish antibody binding from artefact.

D17 spheres did not demonstrate significant upregulation of the stem cell-associated markers CD34, CD133 or CD117. Both sphere and adherent cultures were CD34-ve. Whilst the frequency of CD133<sup>+</sup> tumoursphere cells (0.59%) was greater than that of adherent cells (0.065%), this was equivalent to the level of binding for the isotype control antibody (0.58%) (Figure 17). Similarly, although 0.2% of tumoursphere cells were positive for CD117, compared to 0.14% of adherent cells, the isotype control antibody stained 0.24% of cells. This demonstrates a tendency of tumoursphere cells to non-specific binding, most likely exaggerated in the presence of cellular aggregates, debris and early apoptosis.

REM134 tumoursphere cells were assessed for expression of the putative mammary CSC marker CD44. The proportion of CD44<sup>+</sup> tumoursphere cells (71%) was lower than that of the adherent cells (98%), i.e. *reduced* expression of a stem cell-associated marker on tumoursphere-forming cells for this cell line (Figure 18).



**Figure 17** – Representative plots showing assessment of surface staining on tumoursphere cells. D17 tumourspheres (*lower plots*) do not contain an increased frequency of cells positive for the CSC-associated marker CD133, as determined by comparison with isotype-matched control antibody, than D17 adherent cells (*upper plots*).



**Figure 18** – REM134 tumoursphere cells (*lower plots*) show a reduced frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells, as determined by comparison with isotype-matched controls, than REM134 adherent cells (*upper plots*). Acquisition performed using same instrument settings for both cell types.

### Western Blot

Lysates of D17 adherent, and adherent-GF and tumoursphere cells were examined using Western blotting for expression of Oct4, Nanog and c-Kit. The expected product size for each protein was 43kDa, 39kDa and 120-155kD respectively. Nonspecific bands occurred frequently and were generally larger than the expected product size. No candidate protein products for Nanog or c-Kit were seen for any of the populations despite multiple attempts to optimise antibody concentrations (data not shown). When probed for Oct4, a protein product of approximately the predicted size could be detected for all three cell types, although this was not the major band. In comparison to the  $\beta$ -actin loading control, D17 Adh-GF cells or tumourspheres did not appear to show significant upregulation of this product in comparison with adherent cells (Figure 19). A single band for Oct4, of the predicted size, was detected for adherent bone marrow-derived stromal cells at initial derivation, although not when lysates of passaged cells were tested (Figure 19).



Figure 19 – Western blot analysis for expression of Oct4.

A - Bone marrow-derived stromal cells prior to subculture demonstrate expression; no candidate band seen for D17 adherent, AdhGF or tumoursphere cells at this concentration of primary antibody.

B – Where bands of appropriate size are detected, these are not the major protein band. There is no evidence of increased expression of Oct4 by D17 AdhGF or tumoursphere cells, in comparison to D17 adherent cells.

This data suggests that D17 osteosarcoma cells cultured as tumourspheres do not show increased expression of the stem cell-associated markers Oct4, Nanog or c-Kit at a protein level, nor do the growth factors EGF and bFGF lead to their direct upregulation.

### Immunofluorescence

Cytospin preparations of REM134 and D17 tumourspheres were examined using immunofluorescence microscopy for the expression of c-Kit, Oct4 and Nanog. GAPDH and  $\beta$ -actin were employed as positive controls and DAPI as a nuclear counterstain. A methanol/acetone protocol for fixation-permeabilisation was found to be superior to paraformaldehyde/Triton X-100 – penetration of spheroids by antibodies was more homogenous, and background fluorescence reduced. As with flow cytometry, tumourspheres showed increased autofluorescence, particularly if fixation was not followed immediately by antibody staining (Figure 20). Multiple titrations were performed to optimise fixation / permeabilisation and staining protocols.

Bone marrow-derived stromal cells were cultured as mesenchymal stem cells to act as positive control populations expressing Oct4, Nanog and cKit. However, whilst occasional strongly positive-staining cells were detected, corresponding phase contrast images suggested that these were in fact dead or apoptotic cells becoming detached from the monolayer (Figure 21).

Both D17 and REM134 tumourspheres showed positive immunofluorescence with Oct4, comparable to that demonstrated by Wilson *et al.* for D17 spheres (Figure 22). However, examination at higher magnifications showed that staining was confined to the cytoplasm, a defined unstained area in each cell corresponding with the position of the nucleus (Figure 23). Oct4 acts as a nuclear transcription factor, and the cytoplasmic localisation of the protein in the D17 and REM134 tumourspheres therefore does not support its role in maintaining pluripotency and self-renewal capacity within this culture system.



**Figure 20** – D17 sphere demonstrating autofluorescence, having been neither fixed nor stained. Fluorescent signal was also detectable through DAPI and rhodamine channels.



**Figure 21** – Immunofluorescent staining of Bone Marrow-derived Stromal Cells demonstrating that apparent positivity (FITC fluorescence, centre panels) for Nanog and Oct4 is the result of non-specific antibody binding to dead or dying cells. From top -  $\beta$ -actin, Nanog, Oct4.

Note that cells with increased FITC fluorescence in each of the central panels correspond with cells showing nuclear condensation (left panels, DAPI) which are detaching from the monolayer (right panels, phase contrast). Bar =  $20\mu m$ .



Figure 22 – D17 spheres show positive staining for Oct4. c-Kit and Nanog do not bind above background levels.

(a), (b) – GAPDH (c), (d) – Oct4 (e), (f) – c-Kit (g). (h) – Nanog

Left panels show DAPI nuclear counterstain.

 (i) – Secondary antibody only negative control
(j) – No antibody autofluorescence negative control

Images have been captured using equal exposures for each fluorochrome. There has been minimal to no postacquisition processing of the raw linear data.

 $Bar = 20 \mu m$ 



**Figure 23** – Immunofluorescent staining proposed to represent expression of pluripotency-associated transcription factors is inappropriately localised in D17 and REM134 tumourspheres.

*Upper Panels* – DAPI nuclear counterstain (left) and Oct4-FITC staining (right) of D17 tumoursphere. Positive signal is distinctly localised to the cytoplasm, with no nuclear staining.

*Lower Panels* – DAPI nuclear counterstain (left) and Nanog-FITC staining of REM134 tumoursphere. Positive signal is cytoplasmic, with a peri- but not intranuclear pattern. The FITC image was taken with a long (6 second) exposure, and processed to reduce background and enhance the weak fluorescence for the purposes of this figure.

 $Bar = 20 \mu m$ 

Although weak staining for Nanog and c-Kit could be visualised in both REM134 and D17 tumourspheres, this was similar to that seen in negative control samples. It was possible, using long exposures and post-acquisition image manipulation, to enhance the fluorescent signal, but this was accompanied by increased background staining, and could be achieved to a similar degree with negative control samples. This indicates nonspecific binding and autofluorescence, rather than specific positive staining (Figure 24, 25). Notably, where Nanog staining was exaggerated in this manner, fluorescence was cytoplasmic/perinuclear, so once again inappropriately localised for a transcription factor (Figure 23).

These results suggest that D17 and REM134 canine tumourspheres do not express the embryonic stem cell-associated nuclear transcription factors Oct4 or Nanog, or the cell surface marker c-Kit (CD117).



**Figure 24** – Autofluorescence and non-specific background signal may contribute to apparent immunofluorescent positivity of D17 spheres if exposure factors are not consistent.

(a) GAPDH [positive control] (b) Oct4 (c) c-Kit and (d) secondary-only [negative control] were exposed for 2 seconds.

(e) and (f) are long (8 seconds) exposures of c-Kit and negative control samples, respectively, leading to the appearance of weak positive staining in both samples. Bar =  $100\mu m$ 



**Figure 25** - Immunofluorescence of REM134 tumourspheres (passage 9). Methanol-Acetone fixation / permeabilisation. (a) - DAPI. (b) - FITC, with minimal or no manipulation of raw image. (c) - FITC, image processed using "MinMax" function to enhance weak fluorescence. Note consequent apparent positivity of c-Kit, Nanog and negative secondary-only controls. Bar =  $20\mu m$ 

1 - Secondary only control; 2 - GAPDH positive control; 3 - c-Kit (CD117); 4 - Nanog; 5 - Oct4
# Tumourspheres Formed by Canine Cancer Cell Lines Display No Significant Alterations in Sensitivity to Commonly Used Anticancer Drugs

Sensitivity of D17 sphere and adherent cells to conventional chemotherapy drugs was evaluated by an ATP luminescence assay. A cancer stem cell population might be expected to show increased resistance to conventional chemotherapeutic drugs (Diamandis *et al.*, 2007; Todaro *et al.*, 2007; Wright *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2008a; Zhou *et al.*, 2009a). However, as shown in Figure 26, the drug sensitivity profiles of both cell types were very similar, with no significant differences between the IC<sub>50</sub> values of D17 sphere and adherent cells for either doxorubicin (adherent 8.66nM, tumoursphere 9.44nM; p = 0.69) or mitoxantrone (adherent 63.7nM, tumoursphere 42.2nM; p = 0.27). REM134 sphere and adherent cells also showed almost equivalent sensitivity to doxorubicin (adherent 12.6nM, tumoursphere 12.2nM; p = 0.96) (Figure 26 C).

Thus, for REM134 and D17 cell lines, culture as tumourspheres in serum-free, growth factor-supplemented conditions does not select for cells with increased resistance to the conventional chemotherapeutic drugs doxorubicin and mitoxantrone.



**Figure 26** – Viability of D17 adherent and tumoursphere cells in response to increasing concentrations of the conventional cytotoxic drugs doxorubicin (A) and mitoxantrone (B), and REM134 adherent and tumoursphere cells in response to doxorubicin (C).

## Distinct Tumoursphere Populations may be Cultured from an Individual Spontaneous Canine Tumour

Cells of kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5, three populations derived from a single spontaneous primary canine osteosarcoma, were cultured in standard tumoursphere conditions after initial expansion in adherent culture. Cells of all three populations formed tumourspheres, although the size and frequency of these varied between the cultures, consistent with the morphological heterogeneity observed both within and between the three cell populations under adherent conditions (Figure 27).

Microscopic observation suggested that a smaller proportion of kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 cells participated in tumoursphere formation, compared to the more frequent cellular clusters seen when D17 and REM134 were cultured under standard conditions. However, as shown in Figure 28A, fusion of clusters also contributed to the growth of some spheroids. As tumourspheres of kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 populations expanded, a defined pellucid region was observed surrounding the spheroid – the significance of this was not determined, but may indicate secretion by constituent cells, for example of proteinaceous or lipid factors (Figure 28B). Cell numbers yielded at subculture were greatest for kt-osa1 and least for kt-osa4. Tumourspheres could be dissociated and cells seeded back into serum-free conditions for further growth as tumourspheres (Figure 28C).

When tumourspheres were harvested and replated back into conventional, serumcontaining conditions, they attached to the substrate with subsequent outgrowth of adherent cells (Figure 29). These showed morphological heterogeneity, with a mixture of elongated fusiform / fibroblastic and more epithelioid cell types, as well as occasional multinucleate and atypical cells, reminiscent of that seen in the parental population. This data suggests that cells derived from primary tumours may be cultured as tumourspheres in low-density, serum-free conditions, and that the cells comprising them may reproduce the morphological heterogeneity of the parental population when placed back into conventional adherent culture.



**Figure 27 -**Tumoursphere formation by kt-osa cells.

 $\begin{array}{l} A-kt\text{-}osa1\\ B-kt\text{-}osa5\\ Bar=200\mu m \end{array}$ 

C - kt-osa4 Bar = 50 $\mu$ m



Figure 28 – Tumourspheres formed by kt-osa populations.

- A kt-osa1 tumourspheres showing clustering and coalescence as noted also for continuous cell lines.
- B Pellucid area surrounding a kt-osa1 tumoursphere. This was observed around larger tumourspheres in initial kt-osa1 and kt-osa4 cultures.
- C kt-osa5 tumourspheres at passage 2. kt-osa4 tumoursphere cells failed to proliferate after subculture; kt-osa1 and kt-osa5 tumourspheres were passaged twice prior to growth arrest.

Bar =  $100\mu m$ .



Figure 29 – Transfer of kt-osa4 tumourspheres to conventional serum-containing culture. Outgrowth of adherent cells to form a monolayer with morphological heterogeneity similar to that seen in original adherent culture. Bar =  $100\mu m$ 

Population expansion as tumourspheres, however, was limited for all three populations. Overall cell numbers declined and growth stalled at second (kt-osa4) or third (kt-osa1, kt osa5) passage, precluding further assays or subculture. Further tumoursphere cultures were initiated from each population, at which point kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 had undergone 11, 12 and 9 subcultures in adherent conditions, respectively. As described in Chapter 3, increased morphological homogeneity and diminution of small cellular subsets within the adherent populations was becoming evident upon repeated passage *in vitro*.

Interestingly, there were some distinctions between these and the tumourspheres cultured sooner after initial derivation of the primary cells. kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 tumourspheres showed greater proliferative capacity, the former producing larger spheroids and the latter more numerous, than kt-osa1 (Figure 30). By contrast with

the tumourspheres cultured soon after derivation of the three populations, at subculture kt-osa5 yielded the greatest cell numbers and kt-osa1 the lowest. No pellucid region was seen surrounding kt-osa1 or kt-osa4 tumourspheres.

Population expansion was again low - overall cell numbers diminished to preclude culture beyond second passage, and no further characterisation of these tumoursphere populations was undertaken. However, these results suggest repeated passage *in vitro* may produce alterations in the nature of derived tumoursphere populations. Thus, information regarding putative CSC subsets within a given tumour may be more representative if obtained through direct tumoursphere culture of primary cells.



**Figure 30** – Tumourspheres derived from kt-osa cells passaged 9-12 times in adherent culture conditions.

A – kt-osa1 (4 days in vitro); B – kt-osa4 (5 d.i.v.); C – kt-osa5 (4 d.i.v.). kt-osa1 tumourspheres derived from later passage adherent cells failed to proliferate after subculture; kt-osa4 and kt-osa5 grew for a further passage prior to growth arrest.

Bar =  $100 \mu m$ .

#### DISCUSSION

The neurosphere assay has become a standard protocol in the isolation and expansion of normal neural stem cells. The principle that low-adherence, serum-free culture in the presence of mitogenic growth factors promotes the expansion of progenitor populations and inhibits their differentiation has been extended to other tissue types, such as normal breast and prostate, in order to try and isolate normal tissue stem cells. It is now also widely used by those investigating the stem cell theory of cancer in solid tumours.

Evidence to support the assertion that tumourspheres are composed of stem cells includes surface marker expression as demonstrated by flow cytometry or magnetic cell sorting, mRNA expression by RT-PCR, protein expression by Western blotting or immunoprecipitation, and microscopic techniques such as immunofluorescence or immunocytochemistry. Many studies have shown that sphere cells have altered resistance to cytotoxic agents such as chemotherapy drugs and radiation – where enhanced, this would explain the persistence of CSC after treatment, and where reduced, could identify potential CSC-targeting therapies (Todaro *et al.*, 2007; Baumann *et al.*, 2008; Chen *et al.*, 2008; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2008a).

In order for a selected population to satisfy the CSC hypothesis, cells must demonstrate two fundamental traits – the capacity for unlimited self-renewal, and the potential to recapitulate all lineages seen within the tumour. Whilst serial transplantation assays to demonstrate tumourigenicity in immunocompromised laboratory animals remain the accepted "gold standard" for both of these conditions (although there are numerous reservations regarding this assertion (Hill, 2006; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2007; Kelly *et al.*, 2007; Quintana *et al.*, 2008; Shackleton *et al.*, 2009)), *in vitro* data should at least strongly support the existence of these attributes in any putative cancer stem cell population. The results in this study suggest that tumoursphere formation by the investigated canine cancer cell lines is dependent (at least partially) on cell-cell interaction, rather than autonomous self-renewal capability of individual cells. Supporting this are the observations that a) any proliferation occurring at low densities resulted in fewer and much smaller clusters of cells than at high densities, and b) at high densities, most cells appear to participate in cluster formation, whereas at low densities, few cells proliferate.

A linear relationship between number of cells seeded *vs* number of spheres formed, which should allow assessment of the frequency of sphere-forming cells by limiting dilution assay (Singh *et al.*, 2003), was not apparent for the canine cancer cell lines examined. This contrasts with reports of tumoursphere formation by cells derived from primary brain and colon tumours, where the proportion of sphere-forming cells remains constant when cell density is altered (Singh *et al.*, 2003; Vermeulen and al., 2008; Xu, 2009).

The large tumourspheres seen for all of the canine cancer cell lines in bulk culture were never observed in the 96-well format. According to the principle of the neurosphere technique, tumoursphere size should also be independent of cell density, as each sphere is supposed to arise from a single cell. Secondary spheres, formed after dissociation and replating of a single sphere, are expected to be identical to those of the initial culture (Reynolds and Weiss, 1996; Dontu *et al.*, 2003; Singh *et al.*, 2007), allowing assessment of how many clonal cells are present in a "typical" sphere.

The great disparity between proliferation of D17 and REM134 cells in bulk culture and at the single cell level not only precluded this single sphere analysis, but also suggested that mechanisms of cluster formation and growth in the two situations may not be comparable. The formation of small tumourspheres by a minority of REM134 cells in the single cell assay does suggest that individual cells are capable of proliferation in serum-free conditions. This may indicate a stochastic event due to unrelated processes, such as cell cycle status at the time of plating. It could also be argued that this may represent self-renewal of a defined CSC population, and that the tumourspheres were many times smaller than those in bulk culture because no fusion could occur with other cells.

However, if each sphere cell represents a stem-like cell as a result of self-renewal of a selected population, spheres should arise more frequently from dissociated spheres than from the parental adherent cells (Reynolds and Weiss, 1996; Singh *et al.*, 2003). This was not the case with any of the cell lines examined here – in particular, fewer REM134 tumoursphere cells showed signs of proliferation in the single cell assay than did adherent cells. Thus, successive passage of REM134 cells as tumourspheres does not appear to lead to enrichment of clonal self-renewing cells.

Clonal and population analyses therefore suggest that derivation of tumourspheres from canine cancer cell lines may not be an appropriate model with which to investigate the CSC hypothesis. Similar inconsistencies are seen in reported data for tumourspheres derived from cell lines. Using single cell analysis of "prostaspheres" derived from LNCaP and C4-2B prostate carcinoma cell lines, Bisson *et al* found that only a small minority of sphere cells generated daughter spheres (Bisson and Prowse, 2009). Of the 1000 cells in a typical C4-2B sphere, only 2 gave rise to spheres upon dissociation. Moreover, the number of LNCaP spheres generated reduced with serial passage. The immunofluorescence data in the study shows an LNCaP sphere with one cell positive for ABCG2, and a C4-2B sphere with two or three CD133<sup>+</sup> cells. Although the corresponding images of adherent cells are negative for these markers, it is difficult to see how this is consistent with the concept of tumourspheres as an enriched population of self-renewing stem cells (Bisson and Prowse, 2009).

In many ways, it is difficult to reconcile the notion of a population of immortalised, genetically identical cells with the concept that sphere culture should enrich for a pre-existing cancer stem cell subset. This is particularly germane when considering commercial cell lines passaged over many generations or those which have been

clonally derived, less likely to represent the heterogeneity seen within the cells of the parental tumour.

However, distinct cellular phenotypes do seem to be maintained within some continuously cultured cancer cell lines. The phenotype of some clonal cells has been reported to "switch" according to environmental factors and stochastic cell-cell interactions, creating distinct subpopulations with contrasting characteristics (Stockholm *et al.*, 2007). For example, the ARPE-19 cell line (a spontaneously transformed model of human retinal pigment epithelium) shows variability in cellular morphology and differentiation, influenced by aspects of culture protocol including plating density and feeding schedule. Whilst all cells grew in either serum-containing or serum-free media, the medium composition significantly altered expression patterns (Luo *et al.*, 2006).

Similarly, some cells of the rat C6 glioma cell line showed inability to form clones in serum-free conditions (Zheng *et al.*, 2007). Whilst this may suggest enhanced cancer stem cell-like properties in the clone-forming cells, in an immortalised line of genetically identical cells this differential may also be due to epigenetic variation, which can represent fluctuating rather than stable change (Chang *et al.*, 2008; Brock *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, tumourigenicity could be demonstrated in *all* of the C6 cells under serum-containing conditions. Thus, whilst the serum-free medium did not support clone formation in some cells at the time of plating, it did not identify a subpopulation of inherently more tumourigenic cells (Zheng *et al.*, 2007).

The principle of culturing tumorspheres from both primary tumours and cell lines is that cells capable of growing as spheres have increased tumourigenic potential. However, as noted by Singec *et al*, "Any dividing cell from virtually any tissue in serum-free medium on a nonadherent substrate will form floating cell clusters, with intercellular adhesiveness predominating." (Singec *et al.*, 2006) In fact, this has been exploited extensively in cancer cell lines in the creation of 3-d cultures, using manipulations including agitation or low-adherence substrates to induce spheroid

formation (Freyer and Sutherland, 1980; Durand, 1981; Olive *et al.*, 1993; Olive *et al.*, 1997).

As the ready proliferation of cancer cell lines as clusters is a well-recognised phenomenon, it seems vital to ensure that "sphere formation", proposed to represent the properties of an individual specialised cell, is not the result of cellular aggregation. As well as the limiting dilution assays used in this study, timelapse microscopy of cells in culture, or use of expressed cell markers such as green fluorescent protein, can be used to indicate that a sphere represents symmetrical self-renewal of a specific CSC, rather than proliferation facilitated by cell-cell interaction (Singec *et al.*, 2006). The results of the limiting dilution assays for REM134, D17 and SB cells support the latter of these possibilities.

Inference of "stemness" from the tendency of cells to form suspended spheres *per se* appeared to be questionable. For the D17 cell line, this phenotypic variation was strongly influenced by specific culture conditions – on a low adherence substrate, most cells grew as spheres, whereas in equivalent medium but on normal plates, cells attached and proliferated. Moreover, sphere-like aggregates were seen in overconfluent adherent cultures, and towards late passage. Addition of EGF and bFGF to serum-containing D17 cultures seemed to increase the tendency towards intercellular adhesion, and reduce attachment of cells to the culture plate. It is possible that this combination of mitogenic growth factors directly alters the cell-cell and cell-matrix adhesion characteristics of these cells. Indeed, Cicero *et al* showed that sphere-forming cells from murine retinal pigment epithelium were not, as previously suggested, a selected population of *bona fide* retinal stem cells. Rather, dissociation of the tissue and exposure to growth factor-supplemented medium led directly to changes in gene expression, including the upregulation of the neural stem cell marker nestin (Tropepe *et al.*, 2000; Cicero *et al.*, 2009).

The potential for specific culture conditions to affect the sphere-forming behaviour of cancer cell lines was also apparent in the responses of CML10 and SB cell lines to different combinations of serum replacement and concentrations of VEGF. Similar

207

variation has been noted by other experimenters in response to changes in supplementation (Na *et al.*, 2009). A multiplicity of culture conditions and supplements has been used to derive putative progenitors using the sphere assay (Chaichana *et al.*, 2006). If tumourspheres are to be considered a candidate CSC population, it will therefore be important to determine whether these diverse culture conditions are enhancing tumoursphere formation by the same cells, or whether they are permissive for the growth of distinct cellular subsets.

Neither REM134 nor D17 tumourspheres showed increased expression of the stem cell-associated surface markers CD34, CD133 or CD117 at flow cytometry. Lack of expression of the HSC-associated antigen CD34 is predictable for these solid tumour-derived cell lines. Inasmuch as expression of CD117 and CD133 has been reported for the putative CSC populations of diverse tumours (Singh *et al.*, 2003; Monzani *et al.*, 2007; Ricci-Vitiani *et al.*, 2007; Chen *et al.*, 2008; Smith *et al.*, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2008a), increased expression by tumoursphere populations in this study might have further supported the notion that they represented stem-like cells. However, as the markers were not expressed on any of the parental cell lines, it is again perhaps not surprising that they were not demonstrated on the spheres – the assay theoretically enriches for a pre-existing subpopulation – and so in itself this does not preclude the concept that sphere cells might be stem-like.

The changes in the expression of CD44, present almost ubiquitously on REM134 adherent cells and downregulated on tumourspheres, were unexpected. Candidate cancer stem cells exist within the CD44<sup>+</sup> compartment in a variety of tumours, including breast, prostate, colon, pancreas, stomach, ovary and HNSCC (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003; Collins *et al.*, 2005; Li *et al.*, 2007; O'Brien *et al.*, 2007; Zhang *et al.*, 2008a; Takaishi *et al.*, 2009). Therefore, the reduced frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells within REM134 tumourspheres was intriguing, as it was one of the few observations which distinguished tumoursphere from adherent cell populations. The role of CD44 as a potential CSC marker was further investigated in separate experiments (Chapter 5).

The weak 43kDa band detected for the transcription factor Oct4 at western blot of D17 adherent, Adh-GF and tumoursphere lysates did not indicate upregulation in tumoursphere populations or in response to growth factor exposure. Moreover, at immunofluorescence analysis of tumoursphere populations, detected protein was inappropriately localised to the cytoplasm. Expression of Nanog was not demonstrated for adherent, AdhGF or tumoursphere populations by Western blot, or for tumoursphere cells by immunofluorescence. The results of the Oct4 and Nanog Western blot and immunofluorescence analyses seem to contradict those of Wilson *et al.*, where both RNA and protein were reported as being detected in D17 tumoursphere cells.

However, close examination of the RT-PCR results in that study suggest that transcription levels were greater for adherent cell than tumoursphere populations - in particular, D17 tumourspheres show no band for Oct4. Whilst the immunofluorescence images of Wilson *et al.* do seem to show increased staining for both Oct4 and Nanog for tumourspheres, image resolution does not allow any analysis of the subcellular localisation of the proteins (Wilson *et al.*, 2008). It is possible, therefore, that the spheres are demonstrating the cytoplasmic fluorescence observed in this study. High levels of transcription and translation of non-functional pseudogene products is characteristic of both Oct4 and Nanog, which may contribute towards this localisation of fluorescent signal.

It may be significant that the previous report of D17 tumoursphere culture shows a population of cells which has been expanded at each passage in adherent culture, rather than enriched through repeated subculture as spheres – it is possible that changes in gene expression led to upregulation of these markers. Also, as shown by Cantz *et al.*, careful interpretation of immunofluorescence images of tumourspheres is required to avoid falsely enhancing background signal, particularly considering their high levels of autofluorescence and non-specific antibody binding (Cantz *et al.*, 2008).

Canine bone marrow-derived stromal cells were cultured as part of this study to act

as positive control populations, as expression of both Oct4 and Nanog has been reported in MSC of other species (Tondreau *et al.*, 2005; Greco *et al.*, 2007), but the cells were negative by immunofluorescence for both markers, and lysates showed a band for Oct4 only at an early stage after derivation. In fact, this is consistent with reports by other investigators (Lengner *et al.*, 2007; Liu *et al.*, 2009). Liu *et al.* describe expression of Oct4 as being initially low and further reduced upon culture *ex vivo* of human MSC, and Nanog as, "almost undetected even at early passage" (Liu *et al.*, 2009). Indeed, expression of embryonic stem cell-associated proteins such as Oct4 and Nanog in adult stem cell and CSC populations has been called into question by a number of investigators (Berg and Goodell, 2007; Lengner *et al.*, 2007; Zangrossi *et al.*, 2007; Cantz *et al.*, 2008; Liedtke *et al.*, 2008).

Nonetheless, whilst polyclonal antibodies were used to maximise the chances of cross-species detection, and the  $\beta$ -actin and GAPDH controls indicated successful protocol, failure of the Oct4 and Nanog antibodies to bind to canine epitopes cannot be ruled out. Ideally canine embryonic stem cells would be used as a positive control, and also allow comparison of expression level (several studies have shown that a basal level of signal in ostensibly negative samples can confound results (Lengner *et al.*, 2007; Zangrossi *et al.*, 2007; Cantz *et al.*, 2008)). These were not available at the time of the study.

There were no significant differences between the responses of adherent and tumoursphere populations to doxorubicin or mitoxantrone, consistent with the concept that tumourspheres may represent an alternative, culture-induced phenotypic manifestation of the same cell type, rather than a specific CSC population. However, it seems likely that a number of factors may confound assays attempting to compare the drug sensitivities of sphere and adherent cells.

For example, in this study, chemosensitivity assays compared resistance of dissociated sphere and adherent cells. The ATP luminescence system necessitated the use of opaque-walled black plates, which are not available with a low-adherence coating. Although D17 and REM134 spheres had been through multiple passages (8

and 6, respectively) prior to plating, it is likely that once the cells were dissociated and plated on an uncoated substrate they adopted an adherent, rather than tumoursphere, morphology. Once attached, a population of sphere-forming putative stem cells would be expected to begin differentiating to recapitulate the parental cell line. Although other investigators have reported differential sensitivities using this assay, and some enrichment may remain prior to the addition of drug, such methods are unlikely to compare a pure population of sphere cells with a pure population of adherent cells (Todaro *et al.*, 2007; Zhou *et al.*, 2007; Zhou *et al.*, 2009b).

Drug sensitivity testing by MTT assay, which measures cell viability through colourimetric detection on transparent plates, would permit the use of commercial low-adherence 96-well plates for the tumoursphere cells. In this format, however, the assay is confounded by the distinct morphologies of the two cell types being tested. Cells grown as three-dimensional spheroids show changes in sensitivity to multiple anticancer agents including ionising radiation, chemotherapeutic drugs and photodynamic therapy (Freyer and Sutherland, 1980; Durand, 1981; Olive and Durand, 1985; Olive *et al.*, 1993; Olive *et al.*, 1997).

Position within the sphere has some influence on this – external, more rapidly cycling cells are likely to be more sensitive to antiproliferatives, and drugs must diffuse into the spheroid to access the innermost cells (Kansal *et al.*, 2000). Cells at the centre of a sphere are also likely to be relatively hypoxic compared to those at the periphery, and this reduced oxygen tension is well established as a factor in resistance to radiotherapy, (Teicher, 1994; Brown and Wilson, 2004; Vaupel and Mayer, 2005). There is also a "Contact Effect", which leads to profound changes in cell sensitivity even after 3-d cultures have been disaggregated. Alterations to cell shape and polarisation, nuclear shape and chromatin structure are reported to occur in three-dimensional culture systems, influencing signalling and apoptosis resistance mechanisms (Olive and Durand, 1985; Olive and Durand, 1994; Durand and Olive, 2001; Weaver *et al.*, 2002).

Elegant experiments have demonstrated that large 3-d spheroids are more resistant to doxorubicin than smaller spheres or cells in a monolayer, and that disaggregated spheroids retain this enhanced drug resistance. Similarly, even small 3-d spheroids and cells cultured in close contact show increased resistance to ionising radiation for many cell types (Freyer and Sutherland, 1980; Sutherland, 1988).

In the context of the tumoursphere assay, these reports of dramatic changes in cellular resistance due to the architecture of a culture must be acknowledged. It is possible that they could influence some of the apparent changes in sensitivity reported between monolayer cultures and their corresponding tumourspheres in the cancer stem cell literature, particularly for cell lines.

Moreover, one premise of the cancer stem cell hypothesis is that CSC are resistant to cytotoxic treatments as a result of relative quiescence, and the serum-free conditions of tumoursphere culture are likely to encourage slower cell growth. Cells in the centre of 3-d spheroids created by the aggregation of whole cell lines in suspension culture are inherently less proliferative than those at the periphery (Durand and Olive, 2001). This is likely to be the case also in tumoursphere culture.

This variation in cell cycle status is implied by the wider distribution of light scatter (FSC *vs* SSC) noted at flow cytometry for dissociated tumourspheres (growth phase will influence both cell size and nuclear complexity). Less synchronous growth of cells within tumourspheres may also influence results in assays such as serial transplantation. If cells cultured as spheroids are distributed differently through the phases of the cycle, this could have an effect on apparent engraftment potential. Whilst asynchronous proliferation may more closely resemble the situation within a tumour, it must be considered when comparing the behaviour of the cells to other populations (Kansal *et al.*, 2000).

Thus, if a tumoursphere system is to be used to characterise putative cancer stem cells, cellular heterogeneity cannot be disregarded. If, as with neurospheres, they comprise a population of nonidentical cells in terms of viability, stage of

differentiation and growth phase, many variables could account for differential behaviour in assays.

Therefore, whilst tumoursphere culture may be useful for propagating CSC from some populations, further selection and enrichment is probably required in order to gather meaningful data. If comparisons are to be made between CSC and a bulk population, the assay conditions for the two should be comparable – this again advocates either further selection of cells from spheres prior to testing, or direct isolation from bulk cultures after characterisation using the tumoursphere assay, to eliminate the effects of contrasting culture conditions and architecture.

It may be valuable to investigate further methods of maintaining candidate tumour stem cell populations in adherent cultures, as in some respects this could represent a more satisfactory platform to evaluate CSC against their differentiated progeny in drug screens. The cells are exposed more uniformly to insult when arranged as a monolayer, and may be more consistent in terms of their stage of differentiation (Pollard *et al* reported less heterogeneity in adherent glioma stem cells than in corresponding suspension/sphere cultures) (Pollard *et al.*, 2009b). Moreover, cells are more likely to be in a similar phase of growth to their neighbours, avoiding the influence on sensitivity of position in the cell cycle.

The use of three-dimensional spheroids is valuable in demonstrating that cells *in vivo* do not behave as a monolayer. However, as Durand notes, in order to gain the most useful information from this phenomenon, it,

"makes little sense to acknowledge that 3-d systems contain a multitude of different microenvironments but then simply to look at the net response without knowing which cells respond or why." (Durand and Olive, 2001)

Fluorescent dyes such as Hoechst 33342 differentially diffuse into 3-d cultured spheroids, allowing the location of the cell within the sphere to be identified after disaggregation. Subsequent labelling with fluorescent antibodies to markers of

interest, and simultaneous detection by flow cytometry, could enable the architecture of a heterogeneous sphere to be more accurately determined in terms of the range of cellular phenotypes it comprises, and their distribution within it.

Given the wealth of data already gathered using 3-d culture systems, this could be combined with analysis of tumoursphere-forming putative cancer stem cells. Cells fractionated according to localisation, phenotype, growth phase, or a combination of factors, could be assessed for properties such as drug sensitivity or clonogenicity. Greater understanding of the interactions of heterogeneous cells within a tumoursphere may also provide insight into the arrangement of putative cancer stem cells within the tumour niche.

Tumourspheres derived from heterogeneous primary tumours may be a more appropriate model of cancer stem cells than those derived from cell lines. For all of the tumourspheres derived from the primary canine osteosarcoma in this study, cells had undergone some expansion in serum-containing culture conditions. However, the populations were not derived from cloned cells, and as such demonstrated considerable heterogeneity at early passage, as evidenced by microscopic observation and flow cytometric analyses (Chapter 3). Notably, for the population proliferating most readily in initial tumoursphere culture, kt-osa1, adherent cells had demonstrated a greater frequency of CD117<sup>+</sup>, side population and CD133<sup>+</sup> cells at flow cytometry than the other two populations.

As morphological heterogeneity and surface marker-defined subpopulations of the three adherent populations declined with duration *in vitro*, it is tempting to speculate that this was related to the altered tumoursphere characteristics noted at later passage – for example, kt-osa1 cells losing expression of both CD117 and CD133, and also becoming less proliferative in tumoursphere culture.

Unfortunately, both early- and late-derived spheres failed to proliferate after two or three passages and were not characterised. This could be interpreted as lack of the self-renewal ability which is required to define a CSC in this assay. However, some investigators have reported that the natural heterogeneity and gene expression patterns of the primary tumour are better preserved using tumoursphere culture, and that irreversible changes occur upon adherent culture in serum-containing conditions. Thus a detrimental effect of the initial expansion of kt-osa populations in serumcontaining culture cannot be ruled out. Further studies of tumourspheres derived directly from canine tumours are indicated.

In conclusion, the data presented here emphasise that any model based on the hypothesis that tumourspheres derived from cancer cell lines comprise self-renewing, stem-like cells must be carefully interrogated to ensure that this is indeed the case, rather than a culture artefact. The basic biology of 3-d cultures must be considered, when interpreting apparent differences between these and adherent cells. As elegantly stated by Singec,

"One must recognize the utility of the neurosphere assay while not going beyond the limits of its sensitivity and specificity; that is, not conferring upon this common tissue culture phenomenon a significance beyond that entitled by its biology... Sphere formation is a useful culturing tool, not a metric." (Singec *et al.*, 2006)

Nonetheless, where genuinely permissive for the growth of specific cellular subsets, tumoursphere culture may be valuable for identifying putative CSC within populations of canine cancer cells, allowing their propagation and further characterisation.

Although cancer cell lines are invaluable investigative tools, it appears less likely that tumoursphere formation will signify proliferation by a stable subpopulation of cells. Direct culture of tumourspheres from primary tissue may be a more representative model for identifying CSC within heterogeneous populations, and warrants further investigation.

## **CHAPTER 5**

## **INVESTIGATING CD44 AS A POTENTIAL**

## CANCER STEM CELL MARKER IN CANINE TUMOURS

#### **INTRODUCTION**

## **CD44**

CD44 is a cell surface transmembrane glycoprotein, highly conserved in mammalian species (Goodison *et al.*, 1999). The gene is located on human chromosome 11, and on chromosome 18 in the dog; homology between the canine and human sequence is reported as 85-90% (greater than that between canine and rodent) (Milde *et al.*, 1994; Sandmaier *et al.*, 1998). Ten constant exons code for the standard form of the protein – alternative splicing of a further ten variant extracellular domain exons, as well as post-translational modification such as glycosylation, produces a number of variant forms (Screaton *et al.*, 1992) – the size of the molecule therefore varies (80-200kDa) (Figure 1). CD44 expression is almost ubiquitous, with tissue-specific factors regulating alternative splicing - the standard form (CD44s) predominates except in haematopoietic cells such as lymphocytes, which express variant forms (CD44v) (Marhaba and Zoller, 2004).

The major ligand of CD44 is hyaluronate (HA) (Aruffo *et al.*, 1990), a polysaccharide molecule ubiquitously expressed on extracellular matrix. CD44 also



**Figure 1** – Schematic diagram showing structure of CD44 gene. Ten constant exons (grey) are transcribed to produce the standard form (CD44s). An additional ten extracellular domain exons may be incorporated by alternative splicing, producing multiple variant isoforms of the protein (CD44v).

binds a number of other extracellular ligands including collagen, fibronectin, osteopontin and selectin. The molecule is thus associated with cell-matrix and cell-cell interactions, with a role in organ structure, cell homing and migration (Sneath and Mangham, 1998; Goodison *et al.*, 1999; Marhaba and Zoller, 2004). As well as its cell adhesion functions, CD44 (and its variant isoforms in particular) has been shown to interact with a range of signal transduction processes. CD44 itself has no catalytic activity, but the extracellular domain has consensus sequences for a wide range of signalling molecules including receptor tyrosine kinases such as EGFR, growth factors such as bFGF and VEGF, and matrix metalloproteases (Marhaba and Zoller, 2004).

### CD44 in Cancer

Gunthert *et al* showed in 1991 that transfection of CD44 isoforms with variant exons 6 or 7 could confer metastatic potential to otherwise non-metastatic rat pancreatic carcinoma cells (Gunthert *et al.*, 1991). Altered expression of CD44 has since been reported for many types of malignancy, particularly in association with invasion and metastasis (Sneath and Mangham, 1998; Herrera-Gayol and Jothy, 1999b). Dysregulation of CD44 expression has been reported in canine neoplastic disorders including benign and malignant mammary tumours, malignant melanoma and malignant histiocytosis (Alldinger *et al.*, 1999; Serra *et al.*, 2004; Madrazo *et al.*, 2009; Paltian *et al.*, 2009).

Several studies suggest that cancer progression is more strongly associated with aberrant expression of variant isoforms than with the standard form. It is notable that CD44v isoforms are expressed on normal haematopoietic cells, given the many similarities between the metastatic process and that of lymphocyte migration and homing. Monoclonal antibodies to CD44 have been shown to inhibit infiltration by malignant lymphoma cells in mouse models in a tissue- and isoform-specific manner (Naor *et al.*, 2008). However, expression of CD44v is not the sole form of dysregulation seen in cancer, with some tumours showing altered expression of the standard form (Sneath and Mangham, 1998).

Given its role in cell-cell and cell-matrix interaction, altered CD44 expression may disturb the normal structural organisation within solid tissues. Aberrant expression may also lead to disruption of epithelial-mesenchymal interactions within tissues to facilitate invasion (Goodison *et al.*, 1999), and promote aggregation of cells and subsequent entrapment within capillary networks as part of the metastatic process. CD44-HA binding may lead to morphological changes in the cytoskeleton, mediating processes such as migration and extravasation (Marhaba and Zoller, 2004).

Interaction between CD44 (particularly variant isoforms) and its ligands may lead to suppression of apoptosis, through mechanisms such as the PI3K/Akt survival pathway or activation of anti-apoptotic Bcl family members such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-XI (Marhaba and Zoller, 2004). Stable transfection of the human colon cancer cell line SW620 with the CD44v3-10 isoform conferred increased resistance to apoptosis induced by etoposide (Lakshman *et al.*, 2004). Another study of CD44-mediated apoptosis resistance investigated the murine colon cancer model C57BL/6J(*APC*<sup>*min/+*</sup>), which is tumour-prone due to a heterozygous point mutation in the APC tumour suppressor gene. Knockout of the CD44 gene resulted in increased apoptosis at the crypt base, and reduced formation of aberrant crypts. This suggests that the expression of CD44 might enhance cellular survival where apoptosis would otherwise occur in response to altered growth signals (Zeilstra *et al.*, 2008).

### CD44 as a Cancer Stem Cell Marker

In seminal experiments published in 2003, cells from human breast tumours (either directly dissociated or passaged in NOD/SCID mice) were depleted of lineage-positive cells, and sorted according to expression of CD44 and CD24 using flow cytometry. It was found that tumourigenicity lay within the the CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup> subset, and could be further enriched by isolating cells within this fraction expressing ESA (EpCAM) (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003). However, it is noteworthy that for both

passaged and unpassaged cells, CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> cells efficiently formed tumours whereas CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup> cells did not, indicating that CD44 in isolation in this model did not significantly enrich for tumourigenicity. For example, where 10<sup>4</sup> passaged cells were injected orthotopically, CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup> cells produced tumours in 10/10 mice, compared to 0/10 for CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup> (and 3/12 for unsorted cells). Similarly, 11/13 mice injected with primary CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup> cells developed tumours, compared to only 1/13 for CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup> cells (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003).

CD44 expression, either as a single marker or in conjunction with others such as CD24, ESA, CD133 and  $\alpha 2\beta$ 1-integrin, has since been reported to identify cancer stem cells in a wide variety of primary tumours and cancer cell lines, including those of stomach (Takaishi et al., 2009), colon (Dalerba et al., 2007), pancreas (Li et al., 2007), breast (Ponti et al., 2005; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008), ovary (Zhang et al., 2008a), prostate (Collins et al., 2005) and bladder (Chan et al., 2009), and in acute myeloid leukaemia (Jin et al., 2006), melanoma (Dou et al., 2007) and squamous cell carcinoma (Prince et al., 2007). In a number of studies, an association has been demonstrated between CD44 expression and growth as "tumourspheres" in serum-free culture, with increased expression on tumourspheres or enrichment of tumoursphere-forming capability amongst CD44<sup>+</sup> cells (Collins et al., 2005; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Hurt et al., 2008; Wright et al., 2008; Zhang et al., 2008a; Takaishi et al., 2009). CD44-HA interaction may promote resistance to chemotherapeutic agents through induction of the P-glycoprotein membrane pump transporter (Bourguignon et al., 2008). Direct targeting of cd44-expressing putative cancer stem cells, with gene knockout strategies or CD44-specific monoclonal antibodies, reduces tumour formation in some murine models of cancer (Jin et al., 2006; Zeilstra et al., 2008).

The aim of this study was to investigate the biological significance of CD44 expression in canine cancer cell lines, to establish whether it might represent a relevant cancer stem cell marker and thus a potential target for therapy.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### **Antibody Staining**

Antibody staining was performed as described in Materials and Methods chapter. Phycoerythrin-conjugated CD44 rat anti-mouse/human antibody (clone IM7, BioLegend) or isotype-matched control antibody was added at an optimised concentration, as determined by titration for each cell line. Clone IM7 has welldocumented canine crossreactivity, and recognises the standard form of CD44 and its variants (Neame and Isacke, 1993; Sandmaier *et al.*, 1998).

For cell sorting, penicillin-streptomycin was substituted for sodium azide to reduce inhibitory effects on cell growth (Sort-DMEM : DMEM / 2% F.C.S. / 2% penicillin-streptomycin). Sorting gates were set at the highest (CD44<sup>high</sup>) and lowest (CD44<sup>low</sup>) extremes of the staining distribution, each collecting 10% of cells within the FSC-SSC live gate.

### Simultaneous Surface Marker and Cell Cycle Analysis

Cells were harvested at 65-80% confluence as assessed visually by microscopy, except Cat-MT cells, which had achieved almost 100% confluence at the time of harvest. Cells were prepared and incubated with antibody as described previously. After washing with copious FACS-DMEM, cells were fixed in PBS / 0.5% paraformaldehyde / 0.1% sodium azide for 15 minutes on ice, and resuspended in 1ml ice-cold PBS. 3ml ice-cold (- $20^{\circ}$ c) absolute ethanol was added dropwise while vortexing, to minimise cell clumping. Samples were held on ice for at least 30 minutes. Cells at this stage could be stored at 4°c, in the dark, for up to 48h pending DNA staining.

DAPI [ex-max 350nm; em-max 461nm] (Sigma) was used for DNA staining to afford minimal spectral overlap with phycoerythrin [ex-max 496nm, 546nm; em-max 578nm]. Cells were washed twice with PBS, resuspended in 250µl PBS, and 250µl

DAPI (2µg/ml in PBS) added to each tube for a final concentration of 1µg/ml. Samples were analysed by flow cytometry, with 10% of cells at each extreme of the CD44 staining distribution gated and analysed for DAPI fluorescence. At least 25000 events were acquired for analysis.

Surface staining, cell sorting and simultaneous CD44-cell cycle analysis were performed, respectively, on FACSCalibur [CellQuestPro software], FACSAria and LSRII [FACSDiva software] cytometers (all BD Biosciences). Post-acquisition analysis was performed using FlowJo (Treestar).

To determine levels of surface antigen expression, relative Mean Fluorescence Intensity ( $\Delta$ MFI) was calculated by subtracting the MFI of the unstained aliquot from that of the antibody-stained aliquot. For CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> populations this was expressed as a percentage of the  $\Delta$ MFI of unfractionated cells. For tumourspheres this was expressed as a percentage of the  $\Delta$ MFI of the corresponding adherent cell population.

#### **Colony Formation Assay**

 $5 \times 10^3$  cells were collected of each of CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> fractions, and of the unstained sample. Cells were washed twice in complete medium and resuspended at 500 cells/ml. For each fraction, 500 cells were plated in each of five 10cm-diameter culture plates, in 7ml of complete medium. Plates were incubated until macroscopic colonies were visible (9 days). Plates were washed twice with PBS, and fixed for 1 hour at room temperature in 4ml absolute methanol. Colonies were stained for 1 hour at room temperature with 70% methanol / 2% crystal violet and rinsed thoroughly with water. Colonies were counted using a ChemiDoc XRS imaging system and Quantity One software (Bio-Rad). Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software). Statistical significance for colony formation assays was calculated using a One-Way ANOVA (Kruskal-Wallace) for all groups and Mann-Whitney U-test for 2 groups (*p* = 0.05).

### **Tumoursphere Formation Assay**

Sorted CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells were resuspended in N2/MC medium and plated in UltraLow Attachment 6-well plates (Corning) at 60000 cells / 2ml N2/MC per well. Plates were incubated at 37°c in a humidified atmosphere with 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. 12µl EGF (100µg/ml) and 12µl bFGF (100µg/ml) were added every 48 hours.

### **Drug Sensitivity Testing**

Sorted CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells were resuspended in complete medium at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells/ml and plated in black 96-well culture plates (Corning) at  $5 \times 10^3$  cells per well. A chemosensitivity assay to evaluate the viability of each population in response to increasing concentrations of doxorubicin was performed as described in Materials and Methods chapter. Briefly, after 24 hours' incubation, doxorubicin dilutions were added to triplicate wells.  $50 \mu$ l of medium only was added to triplicate wells as a control. Plates were incubated for a further 72 hours before assessment of viability by ATP luminescence assay. Viability was calculated as a percentage of untreated controls, and dose-response curves fitted using four-parameter nonlinear regression with GraphPad Prism software. Best-fit values for IC<sub>50</sub> were compared using an extra-sum-of-squares F test (p < 0.05).

#### RESULTS

## CD44 Expression in Canine Cancer Cell Lines Does Not Identify Positive Subpopulations

Established canine cancer cell lines representing tumours of diverse origin (REM134 mammary carcinoma, D17 osteosarcoma, J3T glioma, SB haemangiosarcoma, 3132 B-cell Non-Hodgkins lymphoma) were assessed for surface expression of CD44. Feline (CatMT) and human (MCF7) mammary carcinoma cell lines were also evaluated. All tested cell lines showed CD44 expression; in all cases, positive staining was manifest as a shift in the entire population along the CD44-PE fluorescence axis, rather than the separation of a defined subpopulation of cells (Figure 2).

Although expression level (as determined by titration of test/control antibodies) varied between the canine and feline cell lines, almost all cells were positive. As shown in Figure 2, the frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells, as compared to isotype-matched control antibody, ranged from 97.4% (REM134) to 99.8% (CML10). By contrast, the frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells was lower for the human MCF-7 breast cancer cell line, at 49% (Figure 3).

All populations derived from the primary canine osteosarcoma showed a similarly high frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells, both at initial expansion prior to subculture (kt-osa2, 99.5% CD44<sup>+</sup>) and throughout early and later passage (see Figure 4). These populations were not cloned and showed considerable morphological heterogeneity in culture, although this was reduced upon repeated subculture (as discussed in Chapter 3). kt-osa4, tested at passage 6, showed the lowest frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells (97.2%); at passage 26, these cells were >99% CD44<sup>+</sup>.

Thus, CD44 was expressed robustly and near-ubiquitously in all the canine cancer cell populations tested, including those recently derived from a spontaneous tumour, with no discrimination of specific CD44<sup>+</sup> subpopulations .



**Figure 2** – Overlay of histograms illustrating CD44 surface expression by canine (and feline CatMT) cell lines. Representative unstained and isotype control samples (REM134) are also shown. Table shows frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells as compared to corresponding controls for each cell line.



**Figure 3** – Histogram of CD44 expression for MCF-7 human mammary carcinoma cell line, demonstrating lower frequency of  $CD44^+$  cells than seen for canine cancer cell lines. Relevant isotype and unstained control samples shown for comparison.



**Figure 4** – Histograms showing CD44 expression for kt-osa canine osteosarcoma cell populations and representative control samples, at early (A) and late (B) passage. Tables show frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells as compared to corresponding controls for each population.

It had been intended to define subsets within the CD44<sup>+</sup> population using concurrent CD24 staining (mouse anti-human clone ML5). However, the antibody showed a high degree of non-specific binding, with a particular affinity for non-viable cells, risking the artefactual appearance of enhanced proliferative capacity amongst the CD24<sup>low</sup> population (discussed in Chapter 3). Therefore, in order to determine the possible implications of CD44 expression, cells were isolated from the extremes of the staining distribution using FACS, and subjected to further assays.

## Flow Cytometric Sorting of REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> Fractions

The REM134 canine mammary carcinoma cell line was chosen for investigation because of the significance ascribed to this marker in other studies of breast/mammary cancer and cancer stem cells (Herrera-Gayol and Jothy, 1999a; Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003; Abraham *et al.*, 2005; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Honeth *et al.*, 2008; Wright *et al.*, 2008; Buess *et al.*, 2009; Madrazo *et al.*, 2009; Marangoni *et al.*, 2009; Paltian *et al.*, 2009). This cell line was established from the primary mass of a metastatic canine mammary carcinoma and has been shown to be serially tumourigenic in nude mice, producing poorly differentiated, locally invasive tumours. The cells have an epithelioid morphology, abnormal karyotype (average 130 chromosomes/cell) and are negative for oestrogen and progesterone receptors (Else *et al.*, 1982; Norval *et al.*, 1984b; Norval *et al.*, 1984a).

Cells showing the lowest and highest levels of CD44 expression (each representing 10% of live cells) were collected using FACS (Figure 5A). 90% of CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells and 100% of CD44<sup>High</sup> cells were positive by comparison with the unstained fraction. The relative Mean Fluorescence Intensity ( $\Delta$ MFI), an indicator of cell surface antigen expression, was calculated by subtracting the MFI of the unstained aliquot from that of each stained fraction. The magnitude of the  $\Delta$ MFI of CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells was 14%, and CD44<sup>High</sup> cells 263%, of that of unfractionated cells (Figure 5B).

Sorted cells were re-analysed to assess purity (Figure 5C). Sorting efficiency was maintained at 94-99% during the procedure – nonetheless, when fractions were

reassessed, a small proportion of cells fell outwith the gates used for collection, despite this being performed immediately after sorting. More marked for CD44<sup>High</sup> cells, bleaching of the PE fluorophore during FACS is likely to have contributed to this observation. However, the effect was less apparent for the CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells, and some ungated cells of this fraction showed increased (rather than reduced) fluorescence. This suggested that CD44 expression may be transient or temporally fluctuating.



**Figure 5** – FACS of REM134 canine mammary carcinoma based on CD44 expression.

- A Histogram of CD44 expression by REM134 cells. Shaded histograms show representative unstained (pale) and isotype control (dark, just seen) samples. Markers indicate placement of gates for FACS of CD44-stained cells.
- B Relative median fluorescence intensities ( $\Delta$ MFI) for CD44<sup>High</sup> (H) and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> (L/-) fractions, as compared to unfractionated (U) cells.
- C Assessment of purity of CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> (left) and CD44<sup>High</sup> (right) fractions. A small proportion of sorted cells consistently fell outwith the gate used for collection, despite high sorting efficiency.



# REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> Cells Proliferate More Rapidly in Culture than CD44<sup>low/-</sup> Cells

Equal numbers of sorted CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells were seeded in culture plates at standard densities (3.5 x 10<sup>4</sup> cells/cm<sup>2</sup>). As shown in Figure 6, CD44<sup>high</sup> cells after 24h in culture had attached to the substrate, were adopting an elongated morphology and showing signs of early proliferation. By contrast, many CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells remained small, rounded and unattached at this stage. Although by 96h in vitro, both CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>high</sup> cells were proliferating to form a monolayer, this was sparse for the CD44<sup>low/-</sup> as compared to the CD44<sup>High</sup> fraction. Cell counts at 48h suggested that a proportion of CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells had died, with a calculated population doubling (3.32 x [log(cells yielded)-log(cells seeded)] ) of -1.27, compared to 1.21 for CD44<sup>High</sup> cells. Population doublings calculated at 96h were 1.95 for CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> and 3.68 for CD44<sup>High</sup> cells, giving a cumulative doubling time of 49h and 26h, respectively (compared with 3.22 doublings / 30h doubling time for the corresponding unfractionated cells).

# **REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> Cells Show Enhanced Colony Formation as Compared to** CD44<sup>low/-</sup> or Unfractionated Cells

Sorted CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low</sup> cells were assessed for colony forming ability. An equal number of cells from the unstained sample were collected to control for deleterious effects of the sorting procedure on cell viability. Representative culture plates are shown in Figure 7 and results summarised in Figure 8. Of the three cell types, mean colony formation / 500 cells was greatest for CD44<sup>High</sup> cells, at 175 ± 16 (p = 0.0091). There was no significant difference between the number of colonies formed by unfractionated cells (74 ± 12) and CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells (70 ± 15), although subjectively CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells produced smaller colonies (Figure 7B). Together, these results suggest that REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> cells show an increased proliferative capacity when compared to both CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> and unfractionated cells.



CD44<sup>High</sup>



**Figure 6** – Adherent growth of REM134 cells sorted for CD44 expression level *Left*– CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells; *Right*– CD44<sup>high</sup> cells. Bar = 100 $\mu$ m Populations plated at equivalent densities to compare growth after sorting. Representative images showing growth after 24h (*upper*) and 96h (*lower*).



**Figure 7** - Representative 10cm-diameter culture dishes showing colony formation by (A) unfractionated, (B) CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and (C) CD44<sup>high</sup> REM134 cells. Mean colony formation / 500 cells was  $74 \pm 12.5$  (unfractionated), $70 \pm 14.5$  (CD44<sup>Low/-</sup>), and  $175 \pm 16.3$  (CD44<sup>High</sup>).



Population

	CD44 <sup>High</sup>	CD44 <sup>Low/-</sup>	Unfractionated
Mean	175	70	74
Std. Deviation	16	15	12

**Figure 8** – Graph to illustrate increased colony formation by REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> cells, as compared to CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> and unfractionated cells (p = 0.0091). There was no significant difference between the colony forming abilities of the latter populations.

# REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> cells Proliferate as Tumourspheres in Serum-Free Culture, Whereas CD44<sup>low/-</sup> Cells Do Not

Sorted CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells were cultured in low-density, serum-free conditions and supplemented with the mitogenic growth factors EGF and bFGF. This "tumoursphere" assay is widely used in the investigation of cancer stem cells, and is proposed to enrich for self-renewing CSC and progenitors within some tumour cell populations and cancer cell lines. The REM134 canine mammary carcinoma cell line shows robust proliferation as spheroidal colonies under these culture conditions; when dissociated and analysed by flow cytometry, the cells comprising these spheroid colonies show reduced expression of CD44 (82.4% CD44<sup>+</sup>) when compared to the corresponding adherent cell population (97.8% CD44<sup>+</sup>) (Figure 9). ΔMFI for tumoursphere cells, representing levels of surface antigen expression, was

82.3% that of adherent cells, suggesting downregulation of CD44 on REM134 cells cultured as tumourspheres as well as reduced frequency of positive cells. However, this is partially attributed to an increase in the relative autofluorescence of the cells from the tumourspheres.



**Figure 9** – Frequency of CD44 expression by REM134 canine mammary carcinoma tumourspheres (A) is reduced in comparison with adherent cells (B). Intact "live" gate strategy is shown for each population. Analysis of both populations performed using the same instrument settings.  $\Delta$ MFI for tumoursphere cells is 82.3% that of corresponding adherent cells.
There was a marked contrast between the growth characteristics of sorted REM134 CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>High</sup> in serum-free culture (Figure 10). CD44<sup>High</sup> cells readily expanded as spherical colonies, similar to those seen when total REM134 cells are cultured under these conditions. By contrast, CD44<sup>low</sup> cells showed no proliferation at all and remained as single cells up to 10 days *in vitro*. When assessed at this stage by trypan blue exclusion, all of the cells within the CD44<sup>Low</sup> wells stained with the dye, indicating that they were no longer viable.

CD44<sup>Low/-</sup>

CD44<sup>High</sup>



**Figure 10** – Tumoursphere formation by sorted REM134 CD44<sup>low/-</sup> (*left*) and CD44<sup>high</sup> (*right*) cells.

Representative images showing growth after eight (*upper*) and ten (*lower*) days' culture.

(Upper: 50x objective,  $Bar = 200 \mu m$ ; Lower: 100x objective,  $Bar = 100 \mu m$ )

# CD44 Expression by Progeny of REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> Cells Returns Towards the Pattern Shown by Unfractionated Cells

To assess the potential of CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>high</sup> populations, equal numbers of sorted cells were allowed to proliferate under standard adherent culture conditions, and reanalysed by CD44 surface staining after 48h and 96h *in vitro*. At 48h incubation, both CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> populations / progeny retained some of the red fluorescent signal from the initial antibody staining, having a higher baseline fluorescence than cells which had never been treated with antibody (Figure 11). The CD44 molecule has a surface half-life of 15-17h (Neame and Isacke, 1993); signal could also originate from internalised antibody-antigen complexes.

The frequency (% positive cells) (Figure 11A) and surface antigen level ( $\Delta$ MFI) (Figure 11B) of CD44 expression was compared to that of a corresponding unstained control aliquot, from each population. At 48h, the  $\Delta$ MFI for progeny of CD44<sup>High</sup> cells was 154.8% of that of unfractionated cells, whereas that for CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells was 69.7%, demonstrating that surface expression level was maintained by the CD44<sup>High</sup> cells, but to a lesser extent than at the time of sorting. However, frequency of expression for cells derived from both CD44<sup>High</sup> (95.0%) and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> (97.9%) was similar to that of the unfractionated population (98.7%) The frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells as compared to the unstained sample was actually slightly lower amongst the progeny of CD44<sup>High</sup> cells (95.0%) than for the CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> (97.9%) and unfractionated (98.7%) populations (Figure 11A) despite the fact that at the time of sorting CD44<sup>High</sup> cells had been 100% CD44<sup>+</sup> and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells ≤90% CD44<sup>+</sup> (Figure 5A).

After 96h *in vitro*, the baseline fluorescence of CD44<sup>low</sup> cells' progeny was almost equivalent to that of unstained cells, whilst CD44<sup>high</sup> cells remained slightly brighter. At this stage, the  $\Delta$ MFI of CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells had increased to 89.9% of that of unfractionated cells; for CD44<sup>High</sup> cells this remained greater at 159.9%, suggesting that CD44<sup>High</sup> cells maintained an increased level of surface antigen expression at this timepoint. However, once again, the frequency of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells within progeny



**Figure 11** – A - Progeny of REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells show a similar frequency of CD44 to unfractionated cells, when compared with a corresponding unstained aliquot. Black – CD44 stained aliquot; grey – unstained aliquot. B –  $\Delta$ MFI (surface expression level) for CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> (L/-) and CD44<sup>High</sup> (H) progeny (relative to corresponding unstained aliquot), in comparison to progeny of unfractionated cells (U), after 48h and 96h in culture.

of both sorted CD44<sup>High</sup> (95.3%) and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> (96.3%) cells approximated that for unfractionated cells (98.4%), with less difference between the two sorted populations than at 48h (Figure 11).

Thus, whilst the progeny of cells expressing high levels of CD44 show an increased level of surface antigen after 96h in culture, both CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells recapitulate the frequency of expression seen within the parental line. Moreover, changes between the time of sorting and after culture suggest a return by both fractions towards the pattern of expression shown by the parental line.

# REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> Cells Show Equivalent Sensitivity to Doxorubicin

Sorted CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>high</sup> cells were assessed for sensitivity to the chemotherapy drug doxorubicin. Enhanced resistance to conventional chemotherapeutics has been demonstrated in putative CSC populations (Kruger *et al.*, 2006; Ma *et al.*, 2007; Gupta *et al.*, 2009b; Tanei *et al.*, 2009), including those identified according to CD44 expression (Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Takaishi *et al.*, 2009). Doxorubicin is an anthracycline antibiotic, which binds to DNA by intercalation to inhibit DNA synthesis, and also acts upon Topoisomerase II, leading to DNA strand scission (Minotti *et al.*, 2004; Chun *et al.*, 2007). However, the drug sensitivity curves for REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells were similar, with no significant differences between the IC<sub>50</sub> values (CD44<sup>low/-</sup> = 1.60nM, CD44<sup>high</sup> 1.32nM; *p* = 0.6105) (Figure 12).



**Figure 12** – Sensitivity curves for REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells treated with increasing concentrations of doxorubicin.

## CD44 Expression and Cell Cycle Distribution in Canine Cancer Cell Lines

Simultaneous analysis of CD44 and DNA staining was undertaken for REM134 cells, and cell cycle profiles for unfractionated, CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>high</sup> cells compared. There was a marked difference between the cell cycle distributions of CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>high</sup> cells (Figure 13). The majority (70.6%) of CD44<sup>low/-</sup> cells were in  $G_0/G_1$ , with a much smaller proportion (13.0%) in the  $G_2/M$  phase of the cycle. The unfractionated sample also showed a preponderance of  $G_0/G_1$  (53.2%) cells, with 28.2% in  $G_2/M$  phase. Conversely, 57.6% of CD44<sup>high</sup> cells were in  $G_2/M$  (cell division) phase of the cell cycle, as compared to only 22.2% in the resting/growth  $G_0/G_1$  phase.



**Figure 13** – Cell cycle distribution of unfractionated (A), B-  $CD44^{Low/-}$  (B) and  $CD44^{High}$  (C) REM134 cells, as assessed by DAPI dsDNA staining. D – Table showing percentage of cells in each stage of the cell cycle. E – Graph to illustrate proportion in each phase of the cell cycle for unfractionated (U),  $CD44^{Low/-}$  (L/-) and  $CD44^{High}$  (H) cells.

Analysis of CD44 expression level and cell cycle distribution was performed for the canine cancer cell lines D17 osteosarcoma and J3T glioma, the canine osteosarcomaderived populations kt-osa1, kt-osa4 and kt-osa5, and for the feline mammary carcinoma cell line Cat-MT. As shown in figure 14, for all cell types there was a clear contrast between cell cycle profiles of CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>high</sup> populations, with the former consistently demonstrating a greater proportion of cells in  $G_0/G_1$ , and the latter the  $G_2/M$  phase of the cycle. Data is summarised in Tables 1 and 2 and Figure 15.



**Figure 14** – Cell cycle profiles of CD44<sup>Low</sup> and CD44<sup>High</sup> cells for canine, and feline Cat-MT, cancer cell lines. Prevalence of  $G_2$ /M-phase cells greater in CD44<sup>High</sup> (red histogram) than CD44<sup>Low</sup> (blue histogram) fraction for all cell lines.

Cell Line	CD44 <sup>Low</sup>			CD44 <sup>High</sup>		
	G <sub>0</sub> /G <sub>1</sub> (%)	S (%)	G <sub>2</sub> /M (%)	G <sub>0</sub> /G <sub>1</sub> (%)	S (%)	G <sub>2</sub> /M (%)
REM134	70.6	15.9	13.0	22.2	20.1	57.6
D17	71.2	16.2	10.9	56.6	19.0	23.0
J3T	92.6	2.8	4.3	60.9	6.7	32.2
kt-osa1	64.8	19.1	15.8	28.4	19.6	51.6
kt-osa4	68.9	16.4	14.2	28.9	13.8	57.0
kt-osa5	60.2	19.2	20.0	24.2	17.6	57.7
CatMT	84.7	8.4	5.8	34.2	17.4	48.3

**Table 1** – Frequency of cells in each phase of the cell cycle for  $CD44^{Low}$  and  $CD44^{High}$  fractions of canine cancer cell lines, and feline Cat-MT cells. All cell lines show increased proportion of  $G_0/G_1$  cells in  $CD44^{Low}$  fraction, and  $G_2/M$  cells in  $CD44^{High}$  fraction.

Cell Line	G₀/G₁ CD44 <sup>Low</sup> :CD44 <sup>High</sup>	G₂/M CD44 <sup>High</sup> :CD44 <sup>Low</sup>	
REM134	3.2	4.4	
D17	1.3	2.1	
J3T	1.5	7.5	
kt-osa1	2.3	3.3	
kt-osa4	2.4	4.0	
kt-osa5	2.5	2.9	
CatMT	2.5	8.3	

**Table 2** – Ratios demonstrating proportion of cells in  $G_0/G_1$  and  $G_2/M$  phases of the cell cycle for CD44<sup>Low</sup> and CD44<sup>High</sup> fractions. CD44<sup>Low</sup> subset contains greater proportion of cells in resting/growth phase; CD44<sup>High</sup> subset shows increased proportion of dividing cells.





For D17, although the CD44<sup>High</sup> fraction still showed a greater proportion of cells in  $G_0/G_1$  than in  $G_2/M$ , it contained more than twice as many cells in the actively dividing phase than the CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> fraction (ratio  $G_2/M$  for CD44<sup>High</sup>:CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> = 2.1:1). CD44<sup>High</sup> cells of J3T glioma and CatMT cell lines showed approximately eight times as many cells in this part of the cell cycle than CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells.

In the CD44<sup>High</sup> fraction of all cell lines other than D17 and J3T, the proportion of cells in  $G_2/M$  exceeded that in  $G_0/G_1$ . Distortion of the cell cycle profile due to the large  $G_2/M$  peak in these fractions precluded accurate determination of the cut-off between S- and  $G_2/M$  phase. However, the combined proportion of  $G_2/M$  and S-phase cells was always greater in the CD44<sup>High</sup> fraction. By contrast, in the CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> fraction of all populations, a majority of cells were in resting/growth phase (Table 2, Figure 15).

These results suggest that in cultured canine cancer cells, CD44 expression is associated with position in the cell cycle, with increased expression levels shown by proliferating cells, and lower levels by those in  $G_0/G_1$  phase.

#### DISCUSSION

According to the cancer stem cell hypothesis, the elimination of specific cancer stem cell subpopulations with enhanced tumourigenic capacity is critical in preventing disease relapse. In dogs, as in humans, cancer therapy is confounded by the two major problems of relapse and metastatic spread; spontaneous cancer in the dog represents a valuable comparative model of human disease. Notwithstanding the debate surrounding the hypothesis, it is rational to try and identify and characterise markers identifying CSC, or clonally evolved subpopulations, which might possess enhanced malignant capabilities or persist after therapy. CD44 is a candidate for such investigation, as it has documented associations with processes involved in cancer progression, such as invasion, metastasis and drug resistance (East and Hart, 1993; Herrera-Gayol and Jothy, 1999b; Tzankov *et al.*, 2003; Zhang *et al.*, 2003; Marhaba and Zoller, 2004; Abraham *et al.*, 2005; Krause *et al.*, 2006; Sheridan *et al.*, 2007; Buess *et al.*, 2009).

All of the canine cancer cell populations examined in this study showed CD44 expression on >97% of cells, including those recently derived from a primary tumour. A similar staining pattern was seen in non-neoplastic canine bone marrow-derived stromal cells (data not shown). As the staining pattern did not distinguish a specific subpopulation of CD44<sup>+</sup> cells, the biological significance of CD44 expression was examined using flow cytometry to separate those cells with the highest surface levels from those with the lowest. It was considered that collecting cells from the extremes of the staining distribution, rather than using gates to bisect it, might reveal more clearly any contrasting characteristics associated with different expression levels.

Our investigations indicated that CD44 expression in cultured canine cells is associated with proliferative status and position in the cell cycle. The proportion of  $G_2/M$  cells in the CD44<sup>High</sup> fraction was consistently greater than that in the CD44<sup>Low</sup> fraction, which in turn showed a consistently larger proportion of cells in  $G_0/G_1$ phase. Moreover, in five out of seven cell types examined, more of the cells in the CD44<sup>High</sup> fraction were in  $G_2/M$  phase than in  $G_0/G_1$ . For two cell lines (D17, J3T) the proportion of cells in  $G_0/G_1$  was greater than that in  $G_2/M$  for both fractions. Although aspects of culture technique, such as the level of confluence at which cells are harvested, may affect the balance between different phases of the cell cycle, the canine cells in this study were analysed at similar stages of exponential growth. It is likely that the growth characteristics of individual cell types influence the relationship between CD44 expression and proliferation.

Nonetheless, for all cell types, there were at least twice (and up to eight times) as many  $G_2/M$  cells in the CD44<sup>high</sup> than in the CD44<sup>low/-</sup> fraction. Accordingly, REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> cells proliferated more readily in culture soon after plating than CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> cells, and showed superior colony forming ability and tumoursphere formation. In the absence of cell cycle data to account for these differences in biological behaviour, the latter observations in particular could be interpreted as suggestive of CSC identity.

This association of CD44 with proliferative status is consistent with the observed downregulation CD44 observed when REM134 mammary carcinoma cells are cultured as tumourspheres, where proliferation is likely to be less synchronous, and the proportion of quiescent and apoptotic cells is greater than in corresponding monolayer cultures (Kansal *et al.*, 2000). A similar observation was made by Chiou *et al*, who described downregulation of CD44 on tumourspheres derived from high grade human oral squamous cell carcinomas (Chiou *et al.*, 2008).

In the literature, other markers for candidate CSC populations, such as CD133, have been associated with proliferation status in cell lines (Chen *et al.*, 2008; Tirino *et al.*, 2008). Whilst some investigators have reported an association between CD44 expression and cellular proliferation (Alho and Underhill, 1989; Abbasi *et al.*, 1993), others have found only partial (Fukuse *et al.*, 1999) or no concordance (Furuta *et al.*, 1996) between CD44 and the proliferation marker PCNA. Al-Hajj *et al* showed no difference in cell cycle status between the tumourigenic and non-tumourigenic subpopulations isolated from one of the specimens described in their report on breast cancer stem cells (Al-Hajj *et al.*, 2003). Moreover, Buess *et al* found that expression of M-phase cell cycle genes was actually decreased in the CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> fraction of ex-vivo breast tumour cultures as compared to the CD44<sup>-</sup>CD24<sup>+</sup> fraction (Buess *et al.*, 2009). Slower cell cycle kinetics were demonstrated in the CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-</sup> fraction of human breast and prostatic tumour cell lines (Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Hurt *et al.*, 2008).

According to the cancer stem cell hypothesis, the CSC can give rise to cells with the phenotypic heterogeneity seen in the parental population, whereas non-CSC do not have this capacity. Thus, cells within a tumourigenic subpopulation expressing a CSC-specific marker should be capable of differentiating into non-cancer stem cells negative for that marker, but not vice versa.

 $x^+ \Rightarrow x^+$  and  $x^-$  whereas  $x^- \Rightarrow x^-$ 

Although REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> cells (a greater proportion of which are in the process of active proliferation) demonstrate enhanced colony forming ability when seeded at very low densities, both CD44<sup>low/-</sup> and CD44<sup>high</sup> cells return to the frequency distribution seen for unfractionated cells after a short period at standard culture densities. Zheng *et al* demonstrated a similar effect when C6 rat glioma cells were sorted for the putative CSC marker CD133 (Zheng *et al.*, 2007). Although the relative MFI, representative of the level of antigen expression, remained greater for rapidly proliferating CD44<sup>High</sup> cells, the CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> fraction gave rise to progeny whose surface expression level increased towards that of the bulk population with time in culture. This was accompanied by increased proliferative potential after initial poor growth. This suggests that the level of antigen expression on the CD44<sup>Low/-</sup> subpopulation was related to their proliferative status at the time of isolation, rather than to a putatively "more differentiated" non-CSC status. This is further supported by the results from the drug sensitivity assay, where no resistance advantage was associated with high CD44 expression levels.

Unless expression of a given cancer stem cell marker is stable, its relevance in the context of the CSC hypothesis is questionable (Visvader and Lindeman, 2008; Gupta *et al.*, 2009a). If an individual cell may oscillate rapidly between "CSC" and "non-CSC" phenotypes, it is difficult to see how the marker used will reliably identify a specific subpopulation of tumourigenic cells, as opposed to those which are more likely to survive or proliferate at the time of a particular assay.

This applies particularly for cell lines, ostensibly clonal entities, if certain subpopulations are to be defined as the "cancer stem cells" within a putative hierarchy (Kondo *et al.*, 2004; Setoguchi *et al.*, 2004; Patrawala *et al.*, 2005; Hadnagy *et al.*, 2006; Atsumi *et al.*, 2008; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Huang *et al.*, 2009a). In a clonal population, non-genetic heterogeneity for a given antigen may arise through fluctuation of surface expression levels around the mean (Chang *et al.*, 2008; Brock *et al.*, 2009). Whilst this may alter the context-dependent fate of a cell, it may not equate to that cell being biologically distinct, in terms of the definitive CSC properties of self-renewal and tissue-specific differentiation potential. It is significant that, as CD44<sup>high</sup> cells demonstrate such enhanced growth capabilities in *in vitro* assays, these might have translated to produce apparently enhanced tumourigenicity in "gold standard" *in vivo* transplantation assays in immunocompromised rodents, through the effective selection of a population of more actively proliferating cells at a given moment in time.

The results of the assay in which sorted CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low</sup> cells were cultured and restained suggest that neither population is necessarily destined to give rise to progeny with a particular proliferative tendency or surface expression pattern, but rather that CD44 may be more heavily expressed by any cell when it is proliferating. Similarly for tumoursphere formation, it seems rational that actively dividing cells might more successfully survive when plated in low-density conditions, whilst those plated during a resting phase might senesce, particularly if cell-cell contact is important for successful proliferation. Put simplistically, a cell undergoing division, which finds itself in low-density culture, is likely to have at least one other cell to support it soon after plating. As discussed in a balanced review by Shackleton *et al*, it is important to distinguish cellular potential from context-dependent fate when inferring cancer stem cell identity (Shackleton *et al.*, 2009).

As discussed in Chapter 4, the tumoursphere assay was developed for primary neural stem cell culture (Reynolds *et al.*, 1992; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992), and there exist some fundamental reservations regarding its interpretation and validity when applied to other systems, including cancer cell lines (Singec *et al.*, 2006; Zheng *et al.*, 2007; Shipitsin and Polyak, 2008). A marked density-dependence of proliferation is seen for several canine cancer cell lines when grown under these conditions, including REM134, in limiting dilution assays. It has also been observed that many canine cell lines form tumourspheres more readily from subconfluent cultures, still in rapid exponential expansion, than from those closer to confluence.

This suggests that, for some canine cancer cell lines, tumoursphere formation is not truly reflecting cell-autonomous growth by a specific CSC population. As a cell adhesion molecule, it is possible that increased surface expression levels of CD44 contribute to the superior performance of CD44<sup>High</sup> REM134 cells in assays such as colony or tumoursphere formation, by promoting intercellular interactions.

The transition of individual cells between phases of the cell cycle is likely to occur more rapidly in an immortal cell line, and at more regular intervals, than within a naturally occurring tumour. Whilst *in vitro* manipulations such as subculture and medium changes will also have a significant influence, this does not preclude the value of cell lines for investigating characteristics associated with even transiently expressed phenotypes, which might be more stable in a tumour *in vivo*.

However, it would seem important to evaluate this data parsimoniously, to prevent the inference of "cancer stem-ness" where more basic biological reasons might account for observed cellular behaviour. For example, whilst there were no significant differences between the sensitivities of REM134 CD44<sup>high</sup> and CD44<sup>low</sup> cells to doxorubicin, it is not considered to be a cell cycle-specific agent. Where

response to chemotherapeutic drugs is used to assess the sensitivity of a putative CSC population, agents such as plant alkaloids or antimetabolites (Todaro *et al.*, 2007; Fillmore and Kuperwasser, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2008; Gupta *et al.*, 2009b) might be expected to show differential cytotoxicity if the CSC marker is associated with a particular phase of the cell cycle.

It is interesting that all cultured canine cells in this study robustly expressed CD44. If CD44-mediated intercellular interactions actively promote proliferation (East and Hart, 1993), the combination of cellular proximity and frequent division within a cell line may sustain overall expression at a level higher than that in the natural situation. A limitation of this study is that all of the cells analysed had undergone at least initial expansion *in vitro*. Further studies are therefore indicated using directly dissociated primary samples, to assess the relevance of CD44 *in vivo*.

Also, whilst studies to evaluate the significance of CD44 expression in canine spontaneous mammary tumours have been inconclusive, these have employed either the IM7 clone used here (which does not discriminate between standard and variant forms) or antibodies which recognise only CD44s (Madrazo *et al.*, 2009; Paltian *et al.*, 2009). In some human tumours including breast carcinomas, CD44 (particularly variant isoforms) has been localised to proliferative areas, such as the colonic crypts or the invasive tumour front (Abbasi *et al.*, 1993; Herrera-Gayol and Jothy, 1999a). Immunohistochemical or transcriptional analysis discriminating CD44s from its variants might provide further insight into the implications of expression in canine cancer.

The results of this study suggest that CD44, if stably expressed by specific cells in spontaneous tumours, might be associated with enhanced proliferative potential, in which case it may yet identify cancer stem or dominant tumour cell populations. If so, it represents a potential therapeutic target. Strategies to disrupt the molecule such as anti-CD44 antibodies could readily be developed and tested *in vitro* on canine cancer cell lines and then primary cells (Jin *et al.*, 2006). Additionally, high levels of CD44 might indicate more rapidly growing tumours and provide valuable prognostic

information. It would be important to distinguish infiltrating leukocytes, likely to express CD44v, from tumour cells, and this could be achieved using flow cytometric gating to exclude CD45<sup>+</sup> cells. Examination of other markers in conjunction with CD44, such as CD24 or integrins, might select for a subset of cells with additional tumourigenic attributes, particularly in primary tumours where there is likely to be a greater diversity of cellular phenotypes.

In summary, expression of CD44 by canine cancer cell lines is associated with proliferative status. Although this results in the enrichment within the CD44<sup>high</sup> fraction of cells showing apparent cancer stem cell properties, transient and fluctuating expression means that CD44 cannot be considered a *bona fide* cancer stem cell marker in the canine cell lines examined here, as it does not distinguish a specific cellular subpopulation. Further studies of CD44 expression, particularly in primary tumours and metastases, should help to define whether CD44 expression identifies CSC or subpopulations of tumour cells with enhanced neoplastic characteristics, and may help to elucidate its role in canine cancer progression and metastasis.

## **CHAPTER 6**

# **CANCER STEM CELLS AND**

# **DRUG RESISTANCE**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Anticancer drug development is a huge industry, with an ever-increasing array of chemotherapy agents available. Within the clinical setting, however, elimination of cancer to produce complete remissions is all too frequently the exception rather than the rule. Conventional cytotoxic agents, still the mainstay of most cancer chemotherapy protocols, target rapidly proliferating cells. Whilst these are highly effective in some cases, drug resistance (both inherent and acquired) frequently leads to eventual treatment failure and relapse. Moreover, off-target effects on susceptible normal tissues such as epithelia, neural and haematopoietic cells result in dose-limiting toxicities, morbidity and mortality.

Recent years have seen the development of an increasing number of targetted therapies, such as small molecule tyrosine kinase inhibitors and monoclonal antibodies, used as single agents or as part of combination chemotherapy regimes. Although these often produce fewer adverse effects, careful patient selection is often required to see clinical benefits, and overall survival times in many cases have shown little improvement (Sandler *et al.*, 2006; Heinemann *et al.*, 2008; Burris, 2009; Yan *et al.*, 2009). Moreover, resistance is seen to these agents also (Stegmeier *et al.*, 2010). For example, the Bcr-Abl tyrosine kinase inhibitor imatinib mesylate (Gleevec, Novartis) produces excellent clinical responses in chronic myeloid leukaemia. However, cells carrying the Bcr-Abl fusion protein persist even in patients showing clinical remission, leading to the prospect of recurrence upon withdrawal of treatment (Holyoake *et al.*, 1999; Bhatia *et al.*, 2003; Misaghian *et al.*, 2009).

Thus the cancer stem cell hypothesis, where applicable, has very important implications for the clinical approach to cancer. The model can account for tumour recurrence despite apparently good initial responses to conventional therapy, but also makes clear that if CSC are responsible for residual disease, they must be eliminated to afford a cure. Moreover, more precise targetting of these cells might help to avoid some of the more generalised adverse effects of antiproliferative agents, reducing

patient morbidity. Even if CSC are more resilient in the face of treatment than the bulk tumour cell population, it may be possible to exploit their inherent resistance mechanisms as a means of selectively eradicating them.

#### NFKB Signalling as a Resistance Mechanism – and Potential Drug Target

The NF $\kappa$ B (Nuclear Factor kappa-light-chain enhancer of activated B cells) family of transcription factors comprises five proteins - RelA (p65), RelB, c-Rel, NF $\kappa$ B1 (p105/p50) and NF $\kappa$ B2 (p100/p52) – each with a common 300-amino acid Rel homology domain (RHD). NF $\kappa$ B1 and NF $\kappa$ B2 are synthesised as large precursors (p105 and p100, respectively) which are post-translationally cleaved to the active p50 and p52 forms by an ATP-dependent process of polyubiquitinylation and proteasomal degradation (Ghosh *et al.*, 1998; Ghosh and Karin, 2002; Packham, 2008).

NF $\kappa$ B was first characterised in B lymphocytes but is expressed ubiquitously in eukaryotic cells. It is largely held in the cytoplasm in latent (inactive) form by proteins of the I $\kappa$ B family, whose n-terminal ankyrin repeat regions mask the nuclear localisation signal of NF $\kappa$ B. Removal of the I $\kappa$ B-mediated repression allows translocation of NF $\kappa$ B to the nucleus, where it activates target genes. This is achieved through phosphorylation of I $\kappa$ B by the upstream kinase I $\kappa$ B-kinase, IKK, leading to ubiquitin-dependent proteasomal degradation of I $\kappa$ B and the release of NF $\kappa$ B (Ghosh and Karin, 2002; Ravi and Bedi, 2004). Induction of NF $\kappa$ B-mediated signalling therefore does not require new protein synthesis, permitting rapid transmission of signals from the cytoplasm to the nucleus.

NF $\kappa$ B proteins function as homo- and heterodimers, functioning on the most part as transcriptional activators, although p50 and p52 homodimers act as transcriptional repressors. Activation occurs through either the "canonical" or the "alternative" ("noncanonical") pathway, the former involving primarily RelA-p50 heterodimers and the latter, RelB-p52 heterodimers. Canonical signalling is mediated through activation of the IKK complex, comprising IKK $\alpha$ , IKK $\beta$  and IKK $\gamma$  subunits, of

which IKK $\beta$  is most significant in this context. The alternative pathway is activated by IKK $\alpha$  (Figure 1). Target genes are involved in a diverse array of cellular processes such as inflammation and immunoregulation (e.g. IL-2, IL-6, TLR-2), cell cycle progression (e.g. cyclins D1 and D2, c-myc), cell survival (e.g. the antiapoptotic mediators Bcl-2 and Bcl-XL), angiogenesis (e.g. VEGF, Cox-2) and drug efflux (MDR-1) (Zhou and Kuo, 1997; Lee *et al.*, 1999; Hideshima *et al.*, 2002; Bentires-Alj *et al.*, 2003; Ravi and Bedi, 2004; Keats *et al.*, 2007; Packham, 2008).

Aberrant activation of NFkB signalling occurs in many haematological and solid malignancies, including B- and T-lymphocytic and myeloid leukaemia, Hodgkins and non-Hodgkins lymphoma, multiple myeloma, melanoma, breast, colon and prostate cancers (Rayet and Gelinas, 1999; Greten and Karin, 2004; Keats et al., 2007; Compagno et al., 2009; Lee et al., 2009; Pratt et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2009). Genetic alterations such as amplification, mutation and chromosomal translocation may promote NFkB or IKK activity, or inhibit the repressive function of IkB proteins, and may affect both canonical and alternative pathways. Additionally, many other signalling pathways dysregulated in cancer, such as those involving Notch, Ras, PTEN/PI3k/Akt, STAT3 and E2F1, interact with NFkB to promote its transcriptional activity (Mayo et al., 1997; Romashkova and Makarov, 1999; Ravi and Bedi, 2004; Barbie et al., 2009; Downward, 2009; Lee et al., 2009; Zheng et al., 2009). Constitutive activation of the pathway may also result from autocrine stimulation of cell surface receptors by growth factors, or the activity of viral oncoproteins such as the Tax protein of Human T-cell Leukaemia virus (HTLV-1) and the EBNA-1 protein of Epstein-Barr virus (Ravi and Bedi, 2004; Packham, 2008).

NFκB signalling in neoplasia promotes uncontrolled cellular growth and proliferation through its activation of antiapoptotic and prosurvival mediators, and its promotion of the cell cycle; proangiogenic effects may also promote invasion and



Figure 1 – Canonical and alternative pathways for activation of NF $\kappa$ B-mediated gene transcription.

The canonical pathway involves phosphorylation, with ubiquitinylation and proteasomal degradation, of the I $\kappa$ B repressor by the IKK complex (primarily IKK $\beta$ ). This releases NF $\kappa$ B (primarily p65/RelA-p50 heterodimers) for translocation to the nucleus and activation of target genes.

The alternative pathway is initiated through IKK $\alpha$ -mediated phosphorylation of p100, with resultant proteasomal degradation to p52. RelB-p52 heterodimers translocate to the nucleus to activate target genes.

metastasis (Rayet and Gelinas, 1999; Darnell, 2002; Greten and Karin, 2004). NF $\kappa$ B also interferes with the activity of the p53 tumour suppressor and upregulates its negative regulator MDM2 (Tergaonkar *et al.*, 2002). Activation of NF $\kappa$ B signalling thus confers increased resistance to the induction of apoptosis by anticancer agents, and may also directly upregulate drug resistance mechanisms such as the MDR1 drug transporter pump (Zhou and Kuo, 1997; Bentires-Alj *et al.*, 2003).

Critically, exposure to chemotherapy drugs including taxanes, vinca alkaloids, anthracyclines and topoisomerase inhibitors may induce NF $\kappa$ B activity. Individual drugs may activate signalling through effects on different points in the pathway – for example, doxorubicin may directly mobilise the IKK complex (Bottero *et al.*, 2003), but can also promote IKK-independent degradation of I $\kappa$ B (Das and White, 1997; Tergaonkar *et al.*, 2003). Thus, induction of NF $\kappa$ B signalling plays a significant role in the development of resistance to chemotherapy (Nakanishi and Toi, 2005).

#### NFkB Inhibition as a Therapeutic Strategy

The NF $\kappa$ B pathway thus represents a rational therapeutic target, as inhibition may not only slow the progression of disease but also increase the sensitivity of neoplastic cells to proapoptotic therapies. Mechanisms of intervention include specific inhibitors targetting IKK or NF $\kappa$ B, proteasome inhibitors (which prevent the degradation of I $\kappa$ B or p105 / p100 processing) and siRNA knockdown strategies, with specific targets dependent on which arm of the pathway (canonical / alternative / both) is active. For example, in a study of Barrett's Oesophagus cell lines, resistance to radiation-induced apoptosis was circumvented using siRNA specific for ReIA, indicating that this resistance was mediated through activation of the canonical pathway (Hormi-Carver *et al.*, 2009). Conversely, the alternative pathway may play a role in some aggressive prostatic cancers, and Xu *et al* reported that siRNA knockdown of ReIB decreased the tumourigenicity of PC-3 prostatic carcinoma cells (Xu *et al.*, 2009). Importantly, however, the complex interactions between different NF $\kappa$ B family members and those between NF $\kappa$ B and other regulatory processes must be considered. For example, canonical NF $\kappa$ B pathway activation is a feature of all multiple myeloma (MM) cell lines - some also show alternative pathway activity. Hideshima *et al* demonstrated that whilst inhibition of either IKK $\beta$  (canonical) or IKK $\alpha$  (alternative) inhibited cellular growth, only IKK $\beta$  blockade was associated with reduced activation of NF $\kappa$ B (Hideshima *et al.*, 2009a). This suggests IKK $\alpha$ may have alternative targets in this context, or that there is crosstalk between the pathways.

Similarly, the proteasome inhibitor Bortezomib is licensed for use in MM, and has shown good clinical efficacy. Through inhibiting degradation of the IkB repressor, and processing of p105 or p100, the drug may inhibit activity of both the canonical pathway and the alternative pathway (Richardson *et al.*, 2006; Keats *et al.*, 2007; Packham, 2008). Notably, however, the drug produces greater growth inhibition than that achieved through specific NFkB blockade in MM cells. Moreover, recent evidence has suggested that bortezomib may in fact induce activation of canonical NFkB signalling in some MM cell lines and tumour cells, indicating that interference with other (NFkB-independent) mechanisms mediated by the proteasome contributes to its antitumour activity (Hideshima *et al.*, 2002; Nakanishi and Toi, 2005; Richardson *et al.*, 2006; Hideshima *et al.*, 2009b).

Proteasome inhibitors and other suppressors of NF $\kappa$ B signalling may also reverse NF $\kappa$ B-mediated chemoresistance, showing co-operative effects with standard therapies (Mabuchi *et al.*, 2004; Nakanishi and Toi, 2005; Packham, 2008). Critically, as chemotherapy drugs may induce NF $\kappa$ B activation, inhibition of the pathway may offset this to restore sensitivity to their cytotoxic effects (Cusack *et al.*, 2001; Avellino *et al.*, 2005; Nakanishi and Toi, 2005). For example, Cusack *et al* reported that pre-treatment of human colorectal cancer cells with bortezomib inhibited the induction of NF $\kappa$ B by SN-38 (a metabolite of the topoisomerase-1 inhibitor irinotecan), significantly enhancing its growth inhibitory effects *in vitro*. Accordingly, in a xenograft model *in vivo*, irinotecan alone led to 48% reduction in growth of human colon tumours whereas when combined with bortezomib, the reduction was 94% (Cusack *et al.*, 2001). Inhibition of the pathway may also reduce protective effects of the tumour niche, by blocking NF $\kappa$ B-mediated cytokine release (Hideshima *et al.*, 2002).

It is important to note that, because of the complex interactions between NF $\kappa$ B and other signalling pathways, the consequences of inhibition are context dependent and will not necessarily produce an anticancer effect. For example, in lung cancer cell lines and a murine lung cancer model expressing oncogenic Ras, inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B led to apoptosis, and reduced tumourigenicity (Meylan *et al.*, 2009). By contrast, Dajee *et al* found that in human epidermis (grown as xenografts in murine hosts), blockade of NF $\kappa$ B signalling in combination with oncogenic Ras led to the formation of large tumours (Dajee *et al.*, 2003).

## Can NFkB Activity be Exploited to Eradicate CSC?

Data suggests that NF $\kappa$ B activation may occur as an early event preceding malignant transformation, in diverse cell types including mammary epithelium and mesenchymal stem cells (Rayet and Gelinas, 1999; Izadpanah *et al.*, 2008). Certainly, the pre-existence of an anti-apoptotic mechanism within a cell makes it hypothetically an attractive target for transformation, and could also facilitate the persistence of a resistant population of tumourigenic cells.

There is growing interest in the NF $\kappa$ B pathway as a means of selectively targetting cancer stem cells. NF $\kappa$ B interacts with a number of stem cell-associated signalling processes, including Nanog, STAT3 and Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin (Torres and Watt, 2008; Hideshima *et al.*, 2009a). The CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitors of human acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) show constitutively active NF $\kappa$ B signalling – by contrast, unstimulated normal CD34<sup>+</sup> haematopoietic progenitors do not express NF $\kappa$ B (Guzman *et al.*, 2001; Majeti *et al.*, 2009).

#### NFKB inhibition to target LSC in acute myeloid leukaemia

A series of reports from Guzman *et al* provided compelling evidence that NF $\kappa$ B inhibition in AML may selectively target leukaemia stem cells (LSC) whilst sparing normal haematopoietic progenitors. The proteasome inhibitor MG132 induced apoptosis in CD34<sup>+</sup> LSC but showed little inhibition of normal CD34<sup>+</sup> cells (Guzman *et al.*, 2001). Moreover, a complementary effect was seen with the anthracycline idarubicin – at levels where the individual toxicity of each drug was relatively low, the combination resulted in almost 90% cell kill. Induction of apoptosis was also mediated by upregulation of p53-regulated genes such as Bax and p21 (Guzman *et al.*, 2002). A similar selectivity towards LSC was reported for the IKK inhibitor parthenolide (Guzman *et al.*, 2005), and its orally bioavailable dimethylamino analogue DMAPT (Guzman *et al.*, 2007).

As part of the DMAPT study, the authors assessed the *in vitro* and *in vivo* activity of the drug in spontaneous canine leukaemias (Guzman et al., 2007). Isolated mononuclear cells of seven of eight canine leukaemia samples tested positive for NFkB activation, and exposure to DMAPT in vitro reduced both NFkB activity and cell survival. Three dogs with  $CD34^+$  ( $\geq 40\%$  of PBMNC) spontaneous leukaemia were treated with intravenous and/or oral DMAPT. Results showed reduced numbers of CD34<sup>+</sup> progenitors and an increase in circulating neutrophils, suggesting an increase in the proportion of more differentiated cells (although circulating WBC numbers showed no clear reduction). Significantly, immunofluorescent staining of blast cells for NFkB suggested a reduction in expression levels. Although overall clinical outcomes in this study were poor, the dogs were in advanced disease or had extremely high circulating WBC at the point where treatment began ( $\leq 96.5 \times 10^9$ /l). The reported reduction in the  $CD34^+$  progenitor population and expression of NF $\kappa$ B by circulating blasts suggests that concomitant treatment with conventional agents (with activity against the main population of blasts) might prove more successful when treating this extremely aggressive canine disease (Guzman et al., 2007).

#### NFKB inhibition to target CSC in breast cancer

Studies by Zhou *et al* have shown preferential inhibition of putative breast CSC by NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors (Zhou *et al.*, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2009b). Tumoursphere and side population cells derived from the human MCF-7 breast carcinoma cell line showed greater reduction in viability than the bulk (unselected) populations upon treatment *in vitro* with NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors; by contrast, sphere and SP cells were more resistant to the conventional chemotherapy drug paclitaxel than the majority population. Treatment of mice inoculated with MCF-7 cells using a combination of the NF $\kappa$ B inhibitor PDTC and paclitaxel led to greater inhibition of tumour formation than either drug given alone, although it should be noted that the results suggested additive (rather than synergistic) drug effects (Zhou *et al.*, 2008).

Similarly, the small molecule 8-quinolinol (8-Q) showed preferential inhibitory activity against a highly-selected population of putative MCF-7 CSC (tumourspheres derived from SP). Notably, 8-Q-mediated inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B activity was similar for both bulk and sphere cells in this study, suggesting alternative mechanisms of action contribute to the drug's CSC selectivity. *In vivo*, the combined effect of 8-Q and paclitaxel against tumour formation by bulk MCF-7 cells was again greater than that of either drug alone (Zhou *et al.*, 2009b). Thus, it may be possible to exploit the inherent resistance mechanisms of CSC to produce better clinical outcomes.

# CSC as a Moving Target – are Stem Cell-Associated Resistance Mechanisms Inherent or Acquired?

Consistent with their long lifespan, normal stem cells show several features which render them inherently less sensitive to toxic insults, such as relative quiescence, resistance to apoptosis, enhanced DNA repair capacity and expression of membrane transporters and intracellular mediators which permit elimination or degradation of toxic substances. If a CSC arises through *bona fide* transformation of a normal stem cell, it might be expected to have similar capabilities (arguably, of course, some of these features might equally be expected to reduce the susceptibility to

transformation in the first place). Where a cancer stem cell has arisen through dedifferentiation of a more committed cell, the situation is less clear, although the hypothesis is not inconsistent with the acquisition of traits conveying a growth advantage, through multistage transformation.

Although these properties are cited to explain their persistence, not all are definitively associated with CSC. For example, quiescence has long been appreciated as a factor in resistance (Weisenthal and Lippman, 1985; Secchi, 1990), with resting G<sub>0</sub> cells recognised as surviving drug and radiation treatment. However, whilst the putative CSC populations in some studies are slow-cycling or show an increased G<sub>0</sub> population (Holyoake *et al.*, 1999; Guzman *et al.*, 2002; Hadnagy *et al.*, 2006; Szotek *et al.*, 2006; Addla *et al.*, 2008; Hurt *et al.*, 2008), others show more rapid proliferation (Loebinger *et al.*, 2008; Moserle *et al.*, 2008; Tirino *et al.*, 2008).

Similarly, whilst expression of membrane transporters such as ABCG2 and P-gP is inherent to some stem cell populations, there is not a direct correlation between expression of these drug efflux pumps and CSC identity, or with the presence of an SP profile (Chaudhary and Roninson, 1991; Zhou *et al.*, 2001; Scharenberg *et al.*, 2002; Triel *et al.*, 2004; Patrawala *et al.*, 2005; Stingl *et al.*, 2006; Addla *et al.*, 2008; Lichtenauer *et al.*, 2008). The acquisition of multidrug resistance following cytotoxic chemotherapy is a well-recognised phenomenon in cancer, and a major clinical problem (Licht *et al.*, 1994; Heenan *et al.*, 1997; Doyle *et al.*, 1998; Steingold *et al.*, 1998; Abolhoda *et al.*, 1999; Wuchter *et al.*, 2000). Classically this has been considered to result from the selection of cells which have undergone genetic changes, such as upregulation of membrane transporters, allowing them to survive drug treatment and repopulate the tumour with resistant clones (Figure 2) (Dean *et al.*, 2005).

Alternatively, CSC which already possess such attributes will be inherently resistant and so capable of both self-renewal and recapitulation of progeny populations. There may be combination of processes at work, whereby CSC evolve further evasive mechanisms in the face of toxic challenge, leading to the development of



Figure 2 – Models for drug resistance in tumours.

A - Drug therapy selects for cells which have evolved resistance mechanisms such as membrane transporter pumps, which may then repopulate the tumour.

B – Drug therapy eliminates the bulk of tumour cells, but inherently resistant CSC persist and repopulate the tumour.

C – CSC survive therapy and evolve further resistance mechanisms, repopulating the tumour with drug-resistant variant progeny.

D - All cells are inherently resistant (or inherently sensitive). Drug therapy does not select for any particular population.

(Adapted from Dean, Fojo and Bates, 2005 Nature Reviews Cancer, 5, 275-285).

CSC variants – a "moving target". Finally, in some cancers there is little evidence of differential response to chemotherapy drugs. Germ cell tumours tend to show extreme sensitivity to protocols incorporating platinum compounds with good overall response rates (despite being prime candidates for having arisen from stem cells), suggesting that therapy has eliminated the CSC component (Polyak and Hahn, 2006). Conversely, renal cell cancers tend to express P-gP throughout the tumour such that the bulk and any putative CSC are similarly unaffected by treatment (Dean *et al.*, 2005). Interestingly, when van der Pol *et al* investigated drug transporter expression in minimal residual disease in AML, drug treatment had not changed the actual expression level of drug transporters, nor selected for a specific population of cells with increased expression – most cells expressed the relevant protein (van der Pol *et al.*, 2003). This suggests that resistance may be associated with the degree of functional activity of transporters expressed throughout the population, rather than their expression by specific cells.

Drug resistance may be induced *in vitro* through incubation of continuous cell lines in the presence of increasing concentrations of cytotoxic agents (Coley, 2004). The ABCG2 drug transporter, most frequently associated with SP, was first characterised *in vitro* in MCF-7 breast carcinoma cells chronically exposed to doxorubicin (Doyle *et al.*, 1998). Uozurmi *et al* developed three drug resistant variants of the canine GL-1 B-cell lymphoma cell line, through long-term doxorubicin challenge (Uozurmi *et al.*, 2005). Western blot analysis suggested progressive upregulation of a ~180kDa protein, suggested to be canine PgP - the cells showed resistance to both doxorubicin and vincristine. Interestingly, vincristine is generally recognised as being transported by ABCG2 (73kDa) rather than P-gP, and on the Western blots presented with the report, a protein product of between 66 and 97kDa is also apparent (Uozurmi *et al.*, 2005).

It follows, then, that Hoechst SP may be an inducible phenomenon both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. In the literature, there are reports of SP in primary tumour cells isolated at the time of excision (Addla *et al.*, 2008; Wu and Alman, 2008; Zhang *et al.*, 2009b) and at relapse (Hirschmann-Jax *et al.*, 2004), but much less data which examines

whether SP changes through the duration of treatment. Notably, in the study of relapsed tumours, the SP constituted a large proportion ( $\leq$ 51%) of total cells. The side population of neurospheres derived from a PTEN-deficient mouse glioma model was increased by temozolomide treatment *in vitro* (Bleau *et al.*, 2009). The drug produced a similar effect on human glioma cell lines, accompanied by increased numbers of progenitor-like cells. However, this was not affected by ABCG2 knockdown - co-expression of other ABC transporters may therefore have contributed to the response (Chua *et al.*, 2008).

If the goal of therapy based on the CSC hypothesis is to identify and target defined cellular subpopulations, it is important to know whether these will remain constant during the tumour's lifetime, or whether and how they might change – that is, whether or not treatment might induce or modulate the CSC phenotype.

In the following experiments, CSC-associated mechanisms of drug resistance were investigated in canine cancer cells. We sought to establish whether NF $\kappa$ B signalling is active in canine cancer cells, and the effects on cell viability of blocking this with selective inhibitors. As NF $\kappa$ B may promote resistance to apoptosis induced by conventional cytotoxic drugs, which may themselves upregulate NF $\kappa$ B signalling, combinations of NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors and doxorubicin were evaluated for complementary or synergistic anticancer effects (Nakanishi and Toi, 2005). Additionally, cells chronically exposed to doxorubicin were evaluated for altered sensitivity to NF $\kappa$ B inhibition. As interference with the pathway allows selective eradication of putative CSC in some cancers, cellular subpopulations isolated according to CD44 surface expression or tumoursphere formation were tested for differential susceptibility to NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors.

The effect of cytotoxic chemotherapy on CSC phenotype was also explored. Rather than representing a consistent and predictable therapeutic target, CSC may evolve additional survival mechanisms in the face of cytotoxic challenge (Dean *et al.*, 2005; Adams and Strasser, 2008). The SP phenotype has been reported in the context of the CSC hypothesis as a phenomenon associated with a specific pre-existing

subpopulation of stem-like cells. The effects on SP of chronic exposure to chemotherapy were evaluated.

#### **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

### **Cell Viability Assays**

Assessment of chemosensitivity / sensitivity to NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors was performed using the standard ATP luminescence protocol previously described (Materials and Methods chapter). Cells were seeded at a density of  $5\times10^3$  cells/well except where specified (see Results). As well as standard untreated controls, additional vehicle controls were analysed for NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors to identify any inhibitory effects of the DMSO carrier. For each dilution of drug in medium, a volume-equivalent dilution was made of DMSO only. Once inhibitory effects were confirmed as DMSOindependent, a single vehicle control (volume-equivalent to the highest drug concentration) was included on each plate. Results were analysed using Microsoft Excel and GraphPad Prism.

NFκB inhibitors tested were IKK Inhibitor II Wedelolactone (WDL), IKK Inhibitor VII, and InSolution<sup>™</sup> NFκB inhibitor (ISNI) (all from Calbiochem / Merck).

#### **Extraction of Nuclear Protein for EMSA Assays**

#### Buffers for nuclear protein extraction

Buffers were prepared and stored at 4°C. At each use, 1 volume of 10x protease inhibitor cocktail [cOmplete Mini (Roche) - one tablet dissolved in 1ml ddH<sub>2</sub>O] was added to 9 volumes nuclear extraction buffer.

Buffer 1 - 25mM HEPES 5mM KCl 0.5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1x protease inhibitor cocktail Buffer 2 - 25mM HEPES 5mM KCl 0.5mM MgCl<sub>2</sub> 1% (v/v) NP-40 1x protease inhibitor cocktail Buffer 3 – 1:1 mixture of Buffer 1 and Buffer 2 Buffer 5 - 25mM HEPES 10% (w/v) Sucrose 350mM NaCl 0.01% (v/v) NP-40 1x protease inhibitor cocktail

Cells were harvested and pelleted as for preparation of cell lysates. After discarding the supernatant, the pellet was resuspended in 200µl of Buffer 1. 200µl of Buffer 2 was added, the suspension mixed gently by pipetting and rotated at 4°C for 15 minutes, followed by centrifugation in a prechilled (4°C) microcentrifuge at 600*g* for 1 minute.

The resultant supernatant (cytoplasmic protein) was transferred to a fresh chilled eppendorf tube. 200 $\mu$ l of Buffer 3 was added to the pellet, followed by gentle mixing and centrifugation at 4°C / 600g for 1 minute. Supernatant was discarded and the pellet resuspended in in 250 $\mu$ l of Buffer 5 (including protease inhibitor mix); the suspension was rotated at 4°C for 1 hour followed by centrifugation at 4°C / 16000g for 10 minutes. The resultant supernatant (nuclear protein) was transferred to a fresh chilled eppendorf tube. Protein was quantified for cytoplasmic and nuclear protein extracts using the Bradford assay.

## Electrophoretic Mobility Shift Assay (EMSA) for NFk B Activity

Double stranded NFκB consensus oligonucleotide was obtained from Promega. EMSA assays were performed using the DIG Gel-Shift Kit 2<sup>nd</sup> Generation (Roche, Mannheim, Germany) according to the manufacturer's protocol:

#### End-labelling of oligonucleotide sequences with digoxigenin (DIG)

100ng dsNF $\kappa$ B or control oligonucleotide was incubated at 37°C in labelling buffer, with 0.05mM digoxigenin-11-ddUTP (DIG-ddUTP), 5mM CoCl<sub>2</sub> and 20 U/µl terminal transferase, for 15 minutes before placing on ice. 2µl 0.2M EDTA (pH 8.0) was added to stop the reaction. ddH<sub>2</sub>O was added to a final concentration of 4ng/µl of labelled oligonucleotide. Labelled oligonucleotides were stored at -20°C.

#### Gel-shift binding reaction

Samples for the gel shift binding reaction were set up and mixed on ice according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, for each cell line being tested, 5-10µg nuclear extract was mixed in binding buffer with 0.4ng/µl DIG-labelled NF $\kappa$ B oligonucleotide, 1µg/µl poly [d(I-C)] and 0.1µg/µl poly-L-lysine. In addition, for each line, competition control with specific unlabelled probe (addition of 0.1µg/µl unlabelled NF $\kappa$ B oligonucleotide) and supershift (addition of 1µg/µl specific NF $\kappa$ B RelA/p65 antibody – added prior to labelled probe) reactions were performed. Negative control contained no nuclear extract, and for at least one cell line in each experiment, additional specificity control reactions (competition control with nonspecific Oct2A oligonucleotide; supershift reaction with non-specific p53 antibody) were performed. Samples were incubated at 15-20°C for 15 minutes and held on ice prior to gel electrophoresis.

#### Gel electrophoresis and electroblotting

Samples were mixed with 5X Hi-Density TBE sample buffer (TBE running buffer (Invitrogen) with 0.1% bromophenol blue and 15% w/v Ficoll 400), and run on a pre-electrophoresed non-denaturing polyacrylamide gel (Novex Precast 6% DNA Retardation Gel, Invitrogen) in 0.5x TBE running buffer. Samples were transferred to a positively charged nylon membrane (Roche), followed by ultraviolet crosslinking of oligonucleotides at 120mJ/cm<sup>2</sup>. The membrane could be dried at this stage, and stored at 2-8°C pending chemiluminescent detection.

## Chemiluminescent detection

Washing buffer, maleic acid buffer and detection buffer (DIG Wash and Block Buffer Set, Roche) were prepared according to the manufacturer's instructions. Blocking solution (blocking reagent 10% w/v in maleic acid buffer), antibody solution (Anti-Digoxigenin-AP, 1:10 000 in blocking solution) and CSPD<sup>®</sup> working solution (1:100 in detection buffer) (DIG Gel-Shift Kit 2<sup>nd</sup> Generation, Roche) were prepared freshly according to the manufacturer's instructions. Incubations were performed at 15-25°C with gentle agitation. The membrane was rinsed briefly in washing buffer and incubated in blocking solution for 30min, followed by 30min incubation in antibody solution. The membrane was washed twice (2x15min) in washing buffer and equilibrated for 5min in detection buffer. CSPD working solution was applied and the membrane incubated at 37°C for 10min to enhance the luminescent reaction between CSPD and the alkaline phosphatase antibody conjugate. The membrane was exposed to radiographic film (Hyperfilm ECL, GE Healthcare) for 15-25min at room temperature to visualise the luminescent signal.

#### Cell Cycle Analysis / Cell Morphology After NFkB Inhibition

D17 and REM134 cells in complete medium were seeded in T25 culture flasks at densities comparable to those used in 96-well plate assays  $(1.56 \times 10^4 \text{ cells/cm}^2)$ . After 24h, 40µM WDL or 3.5nM ISNI were added and cells incubated for a further 72h. Photomicrographs were captured using an Axiovert 40 CFL microscope, with Axiovision software. Cell fixation, propidium iodide staining and cell cycle analysis were performed as previously described (Materials and Methods chapter).

#### **Drug Combination Assays**

The effects of simultaneous treatment with doxorubicin and NFκB pathway inhibitors WDL (REM134) or ISNI (D17) were assessed by cell viability assay. For REM134, the disparity between the range of concentrations over which drug showed activity precluded testing at a constant drug ratio. Responses were tested over a range of doxorubicin concentrations superimposed on a constant concentration of WDL. For D17, the drugs were tested at a constant ratio of 1:10 and 1:100 ISNI:doxorubicin. Relevant medium only, single drug and DMSO vehicle controls were included on each plate.

#### **Development of Drug-Resistant Cell Lines**

3132 lymphoma cells and MCF7 human mammary carcinoma cells were cultured in the presence of gradually increasing concentrations of doxorubicin, as described by Coley (Coley, 2004). Cells were plated to achieve 20% confluence after 24h incubation (37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, 100% humidity), at which point doxorubicin and  $5\mu$ M verapamil were added. At confluence, cells were harvested, washed in complete medium, counted and replated, and drugs added again at 24h / 20% confluence. A population of the parental cells from which the drug-adapted cells were derived was cultured in parallel ("3132Par" / "MCF7Par"), as a control for comparative assays. The doxorubicin concentration was increased once cells had been subcultured at a given concentration for 2-3 passages with no further growth retardation. A population of treated cells was maintained at the previous concentration as a "backup" in case the increased concentration resulted in non-recoverable loss of viability. Stable growth at 5nM doxorubicin was achieved within 4-5 weeks / 8 passages and cells were subcultured at least twice more prior to assays.

Western blot analysis and Hoechst 33342 / Rhodamine123 efflux analysis were performed as previously described (Materials and Methods / Chapter 3).
#### RESULTS

# Sensitivity of Canine Cancer Cell Lines to Chemotherapy Drugs

The *in vitro* sensitivities of 3132, SB, REM134 and D17 canine cells, and human MCF-7 cells, to commonly used chemotherapy drugs were established by cell viability assay. There is little available information detailing expected serum concentrations of these drugs when used in dogs – drug effects were assessed over a range of concentrations based initially on levels achieved at therapeutic doses in humans (TPC=Therapeutic Plasma Concentration) (Materials and Methods chapter, Table 6).

Preliminary studies were conducted with  $5 \times 10^2$  cells per well of a 96-well plate, but these very low cell numbers gave IC<sub>50</sub> values well below expected therapeutic serum concentrations. The existence of an "inoculum effect", whereby cytotoxicity is affected by cell density due to factors such as binding site saturation and acidification of the medium, is well documented for *in vitro* responses of cells to certain drugs (including doxorubicin and vincristine, though not carboplatin) (Ohnuma *et al.*, 1986). It is also likely that seeding at very low cell densities results in more variation in cell number seeded per well (proportional to the target density). Cell viability assays such as MTT and ATP-luminescence show good linearity up to  $1 \times 10^6$  cells per well (Twentyman *et al.*, 1989; Andreotti *et al.*, 1995; Cree *et al.*, 1995 / manufacturers' data). At  $5 \times 10^3$  cells per well, errors were found to be smaller and IC<sub>50</sub> values more representative of plasma concentrations achieved *in vivo*, and so seeding at this density was used for further investigations. Results are summarised in Table 1 and Figures 3 - 4.

Drug	Cells	IC <sub>50</sub>
	3132	5.49nM
	D17	116.6nM
Doxorubicin	REM134	32.18nM
	MCF7	91.87nM
	D17*	8.65nM
Mitoxantrone	3132	0.63nM
	D17	202.2nM
	REM134	18.02nM
	MCF7	19.42nM
	3132	~0.65nM
Vinovistino	D17	3.26nM
vincristine	REM134	5.77nM
	MCF7	8.33nM
Carboplatin	3132*	3.55µM
	SB*	4.33µM
	REM134	168.1µM

**Table 1** – Calculated IC<sub>50</sub> values of chemotherapy drugs for canine (and human MCF-7) cancer cell lines. All cell viability assays were performed at a density of  $5x10^3$  cells per well except where indicated by \* ( $5x10^2$  cells / well).





**Figure 4** – Cell viability of canine (and human MCF7) cancer cell lines in response to increasing concentrations of (A) vincristine and (B) carboplatin.

D17 osteosarcoma cells showed the highest  $IC_{50}$  values for doxorubicin and mitoxantrone. For doxorubicin, D17 had an  $IC_{50}$  of 116.3nM when seeded at  $5 \times 10^3$  cells per well, exceeding that shown by MCF-7 (91.9nM) and more than three times that of REM134 (32.17nM) and twenty times that of 3132 (5.5nM) (Figure 3A). Even at low inoculums ( $5 \times 10^2$  cells per well), the  $IC_{50}$  of doxorubicin for D17 was 8.65nM.

For mitoxantrone, D17 showed an IC<sub>50</sub> of 200.1nM, much higher than that of MCF-7 (19.43nM), REM134 (6.47nM) and 3132 (0.63nM). For this drug, even at the lower inoculum of 500 cells per well D17 was considerably more resistant than the other cell lines (IC<sub>50</sub> = 43.54nM) (Figure 3B). Notably, all tested cells (including MCF-7) showed IC<sub>50</sub> values for mitoxantrone well below initial maximum serum concentrations achieved at clinical doses in humans ( $15mg/m^2 \Rightarrow 0.63-0.95\mu g/ml = 1.42-2.14\mu M$ ) (Canal *et al.*, 1993). This may reflect differences between the pharmacokinetics of the drug *in vitro* (where drug is applied directly to the cells and concentration is sustained) and *in vivo*, where the drug shows high levels of plasma protein binding, accumulation within and slow release from lymphocytes, and decreasing plasma concentrations as the drug is redistributed and excreted in bile and urine.

3132 lymphoma cells showed greatest drug sensitivity overall, with the lowest  $IC_{50}$  values for doxorubicin, mitoxantrone and vincristine. They appeared particularly sensitive to vincristine (Figure 4A) – viability reduced dramatically with small increases in concentration and response to equivalent levels of drug varied between experiments [the latter was noted with other cell lines including D17 and MCF-7 but was most marked for 3132]. REM134 was the least sensitive of the canine cell lines to vincristine ( $IC_{50}$  5.7nM).

# Canine Cancer Cell Lines Show NFKB Transcription Factor Activity

NFκB activation in the canine cancer cell lines D17, J3T, REM134 and SB, and also human MCF-7 and feline Cat-MT cells, was assessed by electrophoretic mobility

shift assay (EMSA). This assay uses digoxigenin-labelled (DIG-labelled) NF $\kappa$ B DNA consensus sequence as a probe, to assess whether the protein is present within nuclear extract (as a result of induced or, for unstimulated cells, constitutive activation). A specific band (DIG-labelled probe bound to nuclear NF $\kappa$ B protein) was present for all cell lines (Figure 5). In addition, specificity of the reaction was confirmed - reduction in the DIG-labelled band was seen in the presence of unlabelled probe (which binds in competition with labelled oligonucleotide), and a supershift observed upon addition of a specific NF $\kappa$ B p65 (RelA) antibody (which binds the protein-DNA complex, retarding its movement through the gel). Thus, canine cancer cell lines demonstrate constitutive activation of the nuclear transcription factor NF $\kappa$ B.

Nuclear extract         Competition control -         Unlabelled specific probe         Unlabelled non-specific         probe         Supershift – Specific p65         (RelA) antibody         Non-specific (p53)         antibody         Supershift Band         Specific Band 2         Specific Band 1         Nonspecific Band         Free Probe		$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	<ul> <li>Figure 5 – Representative EMSA blots demonstrating nuclear NFκB activity in canine (and human and feline mammary) cancer cell lines.</li> <li>A – SB haemangiosarcoma showing test and control gel shift binding reactions. "+" and "-" refer to components added to or omitted from standard reaction. DIG-labelled probe is included in all lanes.</li> <li>1 – Negative Control</li> <li>2 – Test – Specific band</li> <li>3 – Competition control probe</li> <li>4 – Non-specific probe</li> <li>5 – Supershift – specific antibody</li> <li>6 – Non-specific antibody</li> <li>B – Test and specificity reactions for other cell lines.</li> </ul>
В	D17 2 3 5	REM134 2 3 5	J3T MCF-7 Cat-MT 2 3 5 2 3 5 2 3 5
Nuclear extract	- + +	+ + +	+ + + + + + + + +
Competition control - Unlabelled specific probe	- + _	_ + _	- + + - + -
(RelA) antibody	+	+	+ + +
Supershift Band →→ Specific Band 2 →→	•	11	
Specific Band 1 — Nonspecific Band —	148	243	

Reactions:

1 – Negative control – no nuclear extract. No specific band.

 $2 - \text{Test} - \text{DIG-labelled NF}\kappa\text{B}$  consensus oligonucleotide binds nuclear NF $\kappa\text{B}$  protein. Two specific bands representing probe-transcription factor complexes are seen due to the heterodimeric nature of NF $\kappa\text{B}$ . The larger of these ("Specific band 2") is more diffuse in canine/feline than in human cells.

3 - Unlabelled NF $\kappa$ B oligonucleotide competes for binding with labelled probe – loss of specific band.

4 - Non-specific (Oct2A) oligonucleotide does not compete for binding with labelled probe.

5 - Supershift – specific p65 antibody binds probe- NF $\kappa$ B complex and retards progress in the gel. 6 - Nonspecific antibody – does not bind probe-transcription factor complex – no supershift band.

A non-specific band is seen in all samples, including negative control.

# Inhibition of NFkB in Canine Cancer Cell Lines

The effects of inhibition of the NF $\kappa$ B pathway in D17, REM134 and SB canine cells were assessed by cell viability assay. InSolution<sup>\*\*</sup> NF $\kappa$ B Activation Inhibitor (ISNI) is a quinazoline compound that directly inhibits the transcriptional activation NF $\kappa$ B (Tobe *et al.*, 2003). The effects of two indirect inhibitors acting more proximally in the pathway were also tested – these agents inhibit the activity of IKK, hence preventing the phosphorylation and degradation of I $\kappa$ B. IKK Inhibitor II Wedelolactone (WDL) is derived from the herbal medicine *Eclipta Alba*, and inhibits both IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$  (Li *et al.*, 2003; Kobori *et al.*, 2004). Similarly, IKK Inhibitor VII is a benzamido-pyrimidine compound that inhibits activity of IKK $\alpha$ , IKK $\beta$ , and the IKK complex, with slight selectivity for IKK $\beta$  / IKK complex, and as such may block NF $\kappa$ B activation by both canonical and alternative pathways (Waelchli *et al.*, 2006). Results are summarised in Table 2 and Figures 6-7.

Drug	Cells	IC <sub>50</sub>
WK Inhibiton VII	D17	2.82µM
IKK Inhibitor VII	SB	2.50µM
	D17	97.46µM
IKK Inhibitor II Wedelolactone (WDL)	REM134	19.71µM
	SB	3.84µM
InSolution NECP	D17	2.85nM
activation inhibitor (ISNI)	REM134	2.69nM
	SB	0.34nM

**Table 2** – Calculated IC<sub>50</sub> values of NF $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitors for canine cancer cell lines. All cell viability assays were performed at a density of  $5 \times 10^3$  cells/well



**Figure 6** – Cell viability of canine cancer cell lines in response to indirect inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B activation - (A) IKK inhibitor VII and (B) WDL.



**Figure 7** – Cell viability of canine cancer cell lines in response to direct inhibition of  $NF\kappa B$  activation – ISNI.

SB was the most sensitive of the three cell lines to inhibition of the pathway, with D17 showing least sensitivity, although both of these cell lines were relatively resistant to the effects of IKK Inhibitor VII. For this drug, viability was maintained up to high concentrations before a sudden drop-off in the micromolar range (SB IC<sub>50</sub> 2.2 $\mu$ M, D17 IC<sub>50</sub> 2.4 $\mu$ M) (Figure 6A). Published IC<sub>50</sub> values for the (ATP-dependent) activity of this drug, based on responses by human HeLa cervical carcinoma cells, are in the nanomolar range (IKK $\beta$  40nM, IKK complex 70nM, IKK $\alpha$  200nM) (Waelchli *et al.*, 2006). Vehicle control samples indicated that the activity against the canine cancer cell lines was a drug-related toxicity rather than a DMSO carrier effect. Nonetheless, IC<sub>50</sub> values for canine cells were orders of magnitude greater than those for human and rodent cells. It is possible that the drug is more specific for IKK in these species, or that effects on canine cell viability at these high concentrations were not mediated through inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B signalling.

D17 cells were also resistant to WDL – cell viability was almost 50% at 100 $\mu$ M compared to REM134 (IC<sub>50</sub> 19.71 $\mu$ M) and SB (IC<sub>50</sub> 3.8 $\mu$ M) (Figure 6B). Maximal inhibition of REM134 cells by WDL was approximately 60% - at tested concentrations  $\geq$ 100 $\mu$ M, vehicle control samples demonstrated that the DMSO carrier was having an inhibitory effect on the cells, and comparison of total responses with vehicle control responses indicated that the sigmoid drug inhibition curve had reached its lower plateau by this point. Inhibition of IKK by WDL in SB cells resulted in greater loss of viability, which was <5% (4.81%) at 20 $\mu$ M.

ISNI was active against all of the tested canine cell lines at nanomolar concentrations. The IC<sub>50</sub> values for D17, REM134 and SB cells were 2.9nM, 3.5nM and 0.34nM, respectively. Inhibition reached a plateau in all cases, with at least 40% viability remaining as drug levels were increased (Figure 7). These results suggest that viability for each of the cell lines is at least partially dependent on the antiapoptotic and pro-survival influence of NF $\kappa$ B activity. SB showed greater susceptibility to inhibition of IKK than to direct inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B activity. This discrepancy suggests that IKK activity may influence other cell survival processes in this cell line. For D17, the failure of IKK inhibition to produce the same cellinhibitory effects as direct inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B transcriptional activation suggests that constitutive NF $\kappa$ B activity in this cell line is independent of IKK, and that alterations in the pathway may occur more distally (for example through defective I $\kappa$ B activity).

NFκB may transactivate mediators of cell cycle progression, such as Cyclins D1 and D2 (Ghosh and Karin, 2002; Greten and Karin, 2004; Ravi and Bedi, 2004). The cell cycle profiles of ISNI- and WDL-treated D17 and REM134 cells were analysed. Results were similar for both cell lines. Direct inhibition of NFκB transcriptional activation (ISNI) did not produce alterations in cell cycle distribution (Figure 8). Inhibition of IKK (WDL) resulted in an increased proportion of cells in G<sub>2</sub>/M phase, which suggests that this drug may exert NFκB-independent effects on cellular proliferation. The drug also appeared to affect the integration of PI into DNA, leading to reduced definition of the cell cycle distribution profile (Figure 9). As well as reduction in the density of the monolayer, cells treated with both drugs (particularly WDL) demonstrated altered morphology (Figure 10).



Figure 8 – D17 cells treated with 3.5nM ISNI.

Gating strategy to select intact (A), single (B) cells for cell cycle analysis (C). Proportion of cells in each phase of the cell cycle, as well as hypodiploid peak (indicating apoptosis), is similar for control and treated cells



Figure 9 – REM134 cells treated with 40  $\mu$ M WDL.

Gating strategy to select intact (A), single (B) cells for cell cycle analysis (C). Increased proportion of treated cells are in  $G_2/M$ , with fewer in  $G_0/G_1$  or S phase compared to control. D17 cells showed a similar cell cycle distribution in response to WDL treatment.



**Figure 10** – Photomicrographs (100x objective) showing canine cancer cells after 72h treatment with NF $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitors. Bar = 100 $\mu$ m. *Upper panels* – REM134 cells, untreated (A) and treated with 40 $\mu$ M WDL (B). Treated cells lose their normal regular epithelioid morphology and organisation, and are enlarged with prominent processes. Many show two adjacent nuclei, consistent with the increased proportion of cells in G<sub>2</sub>M seen on cell cycle profile. *Lower panels* – D17 cells, untreated (C) and treated with 3.5nM ISNI (D). Overall monolayer density is reduced. Morphologically, treated cells are more spindle-shaped, again with processes, but changes are less marked than with WDL.

# Can Suppression of NFκB Signalling Potentiate the Effects of Conventional Chemotherapy on Canine Cells?

Synergy between the antiproliferative effects of NF $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitors and more conventional cytotoxic drugs has been demonstrated in some cancers and cancer cell lines (Cusack *et al.*, 2001; Mabuchi *et al.*, 2004; Avellino *et al.*, 2005; Nakanishi and Toi, 2005). Upregulation of anti-apoptotic signalling in response to cytotoxic challenge may be offset by concurrent suppression of NF $\kappa$ B activity. Alternatively, complementary activity may represent inhibition of both bulk progeny and CSC components. REM134 and D17 cells were treated with combinations of an NF $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitor and doxorubicin, to assess whether this potentiated the inhibitory effects of either drug given individually.

REM134 cells were tested against combinations of doxorubicin and WDL – results are presented in Figure 11. Concentrations of doxorubicin were varied against a background of 5µM WDL (a relatively non-toxic dose). Not only was there no apparent synergy between the two drugs, but in combination with 5µM WDL, the IC<sub>50</sub> of doxorubicin (19.9nM) was significantly greater than that of doxorubicin alone (6.1nM) (p < 0.0001) (Figure 11A).

At an increased background concentration of  $20\mu$ M WDL, there was a reduction in overall cell viability due to its inhibitory effect. However, the IC<sub>50</sub> for doxorubicin against this background of NF $\kappa$ B inhibition increased to 108.8nM (p < 0.0001), representing a fifty-fold increase – the sigmoid curve for doxorubicin + WDL shifts considerably to the right. Thus, in the presence of WDL, much greater concentrations of doxorubicin were required for the same proportional effect on viability. For example, 1nM doxorubicin alone reduced viability by 44.6 ± 1.6%; in the presence of 20 $\mu$ M WDL, 1nM doxorubicin resulted in only 6.3 ± 2.1% loss of viability in addition to the background inhibition by WDL. This suggests that the effect of combining these drugs is in fact antagonistic (Figure 11B).

D17 were tested against combinations of doxorubicin and ISNI. Predetermined IC<sub>50</sub> values fell within the nanomolar range for both drugs, with those for doxorubicin approximately 40-fold greater than those for ISNI. The drugs were tested in combination at concentration ratios of 1:10 and 1:100 ISNI:doxorubicin. Neither combination resulted in significantly greater cytotoxic effects than those of doxorubicin alone (Figure 12). At a 1:10 ISNI: doxorubicin ratio, the calculated IC<sub>50</sub> value (75.4nM) was slightly lower than that for doxorubicin-only controls (91.8nM) but this difference was not significant (p = 0.11), and the fitted curves are very similar (Figure 12A).



Combination	Doxorubicin only IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	Doxorubicin + WDL IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	Significant Difference?	<i>p</i> -value
Doxorubicin + WDL 5µM	6.14	19.92	Yes	<0.0001
Doxorubicin + WDL 20µM	2.01	108.8	Yes	<0.0001

**Figure 11** – WDL antagonises the cytotoxic effect of doxorubicin on REM134 cells. A – Increasing concentrations of doxorubicin on a background of  $5\mu$ M WDL (a relatively non-toxic dose). Viability of cells exposed to the drug combination is greater than that of cells exposed to doxorubicin only.

B – Background concentration of 20 $\mu$ M WDL. When normalised to account for the inhibitory effect of WDL ("vs WDL only"), the sigmoid curve for the combination lies considerably to the right of the doxorubicin-only curve.



Combination	Doxorubicin only IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	Doxorubicin + ISNI IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	Significant Difference?	<i>p</i> -value
ISNI : Dox 1:10	91.77	75.35	No	0.112
ISNI : Dox 1:100	93.03	98.46	No	0.699

**Figure 12** – ISNI does not enhance the cytotoxic effect of doxorubicin on D17 cells A – Concentration ratio of 1:10 ISNI:doxorubicin

B - Concentration ratio of 1:100 ISNI:doxorubicin

There is no significant reduction in  $IC_{50}$  of doxorubicin when combined with ISNI at either ratio.

Again, rather than apparent synergy or even an additive effect, results suggested that the two agents may antagonise each other's effects. For example, mean inhibition of viability by ISNI only at 10nM was  $27.3\pm1.5\%$ , and by doxorubicin only at 100nM was  $49.2\pm0.6\%$ , yet the combination resulted in only  $48.0\pm1.5\%$  inhibition. Similarly, although 100nM ISNI alone produced  $36.6\pm3.1\%$  inhibition, and 1000nM doxorubicin  $85.3\pm0.5\%$ , the two drugs together led to only  $78.3\pm0.7\%$  loss of viability. At a combination ratio of 1:100 ISNI:doxorubicin, the IC<sub>50</sub> (98.8nM) was in fact slightly greater than for doxorubicin-only controls (92.9nM), again suggesting antagonism, although the difference between the curves was not statistically significant (p = 0.70) (Figure 12B).

These results suggest that for D17 and REM134 cell lines, inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B activity does not augment the cytotoxic effect of doxorubicin.

# Does NFκB Inhibition Preferentially Target Putative CSC Subsets in Canine Cancer?

NFκB pathway inhibitors have shown greater selectivity towards CSC than the bulk population of some tumours (Guzman *et al.*, 2005; Guzman *et al.*, 2007; Zhou *et al.*, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2009b). Two putative canine CSC subpopulations – REM134 tumoursphere cells and REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> cells - were assessed for their responses to inhibition of IKK (WDL) and direct suppression of NFκB (ISNI).

There were no significant differences between the responses of REM134 tumoursphere and adherent cells to ISNI (adherent =3.3nM, tumoursphere = 2.5nM) (Figure 13A). The IC<sub>50</sub> values for WDL were also very similar (IC<sub>50</sub> adherent = 13.53 $\mu$ M, tumoursphere = 12.99 $\mu$ M) (Figure 13B). Thus, NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors WDL and ISNI show similar activity against REM134 tumoursphere and adherent cells, with a considerable proportion of tumoursphere cells unaffected by both drugs at maximal activity.



Drug	REM134 Adherent	REM134 Tumoursphere	Significant Difference?	<i>p</i> - value
ISNI IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	3.30	2.52	No	0.189
WDL IC <sub>50</sub> / µM	13.53	12.99	No	0.603

Drug	REM134 CD44 <sup>Low</sup>	REM134 CD44 <sup>High</sup>	Significant Difference?	<i>p</i> - value
ISNI IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	6.96	16.25	No	0.35
WDL IC <sub>50</sub> / μΜ	26.76	46.89	Yes	<0.0001

Figure  $13 - NF\kappa B$  pathway inhibition does not selectively eliminate putative CSC populations derived from REM134

Upper panels –

Response of REM134 adherent and tumoursphere cells to ISNI (A) or WDL (B). *Lower panels* –

(C) No significant difference between the responses of REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells to ISNI.
(D) CD44<sup>High</sup> cells are less sensitive to WDL than CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells. Viability of both

(D) CD44<sup>High</sup> cells are less sensitive to WDL than CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells. Viability of both populations is almost 50% at maximal inhibitory concentrations.

FACS-sorted REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> and CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells did not show significantly different responses to direct NFκB inhibition by ISNI (Figure 13C). Moreover, CD44<sup>High</sup> cells were significantly more resistant to WDL than CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells, with IC<sub>50</sub> values of 46.9µM and 26.8µM, respectively (p = <0.0001) (Figure 13D). Thus, this putative CSC marker identifies cells with reduced, not greater, sensitivity to NFκB inhibition. However, whilst the CD44<sup>Low</sup> population responded to lower concentrations of drug, viabilities of both populations at maximal inhibition were similar, at almost 50%. Treatment with WDL produces alterations in the cell cycle profile with an increase in G<sub>2</sub>M phase cells, and the CD44<sup>High</sup> phenotype is associated with active proliferation in REM134 cells (Chapter 5). It is therefore possible that this result represents a cell-cycle-specific effect rather than inhibition of a CSC subpopulation (particularly as direct NFκB inhibition did not produce differential effects).

### Can Exposure to Cytotoxic Drugs Modulate the CSC Phenotype?

3132 cells were cultured in the presence of increasing concentrations of doxorubicin. Over a period of several weeks, stable growth at a concentration of 5nM was achieved. This is close to the measured IC<sub>50</sub> for 3132, (5.5nM), and the drug-adapted population ("3132Drug") could be repeatedly subcultured, proliferating at a rate comparable to that of the drug-free parental cells ("3132Par"). Assays were performed at this level of adaptation, as further increases in drug concentration resulted in growth retardation, cell clumping and cell death. Equivalent populations of MCF-7 cells (MCF-7Par and MCF-7Drug) were also cultured in parallel to the 3132 cells.

### Chemoresistance of cells chronically exposed to cytotoxic drugs

3132Drug cells showed increased resistance to doxorubicin, mitoxantrone and vincristine as compared to 3132Par cells. Although the overall shifts in the sigmoid curve for doxorubicin and mitoxantrone were small, IC<sub>50</sub> values for the drug-adapted

population were at least double those of the drug-free cells (Figure 14). For doxorubicin, 3132Drug showed an IC<sub>50</sub> of 22.4nM (95% confidence interval 14.3 – 35.1nM) where that of 3132Par was 10.6nM (95% confidence interval 6.88 – 16.27nM, p = 0.0158). For mitoxantrone, the IC<sub>50</sub> of 3132Drug was 0.824nM (95% confidence interval 0.502 – 1.353nM); that of 3132Par was 0.298nM (95% confidence interval 0.133 - 0.672nM, p = 0.0286). When treated with vincristine both 3132Par and 3132Drug cells showed poor viability even at picomolar concentrations such that IC<sub>50</sub> values were not obtained, but survival of 3132Drug cells was significantly greater at each level of drug (p = 0.0313, Wilcoxon signed rank test).

Under equivalent experimental conditions, there were no significant differences between the responses of MCF-7Par and MCF-7Drug cells (data not shown). Interestingly, when tested at low inoculums (500 cells/well) the IC<sub>50</sub> values of MCF-7Drug were greater for doxorubicin (20.75nM *vs* 5.878nM for 3132Par, p = 0.003) and mitoxantrone (12.59nM *vs* 0.4155nM for 3132Par, p = 0.0049) (Figure 15 A, B). Although viability in the presence of vincristine was poor under these conditions, MCF-7Drug cells showed greater survival than MCF-7Par (p = 0.0078, Wilcoxon signed rank test) (Figure 15C). At this lower cell density, the IC<sub>50</sub> of doxorubicin for parental cells (5.9nM) is close to the level of exposure in culture; at 5000 cells/well, the IC<sub>50</sub> of doxorubicin is considerably greater (>90nM). This further emphasises the influence of cell density on these assays and during the process of drug adaptation. It is likely that chronic exposure of MCF-7 cells to greater concentrations of drug would be required to produce appreciable resistance at higher cell densities.



**Figure 14** – Increased resistance of 3132 cells chronically exposed to doxorubicin (3132Drug) as compared to (3132Par) cells.

- A Doxorubicin
- B Mitoxantrone

Although the level of resistance is modest, IC<sub>50</sub> values of 3132Drug for both doxorubicin and mitoxantrone are at least twofold greater than for 3132Par cells.

Viability of both populations was

upon exposure to vincristine. However, the survival of 3132Drug cells was again greater than that of 3132Par cells.

Drug	3132Par	3132Drug	Significant Difference?	<i>p</i> - value
Doxorubicin IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	10.58	22.44	Yes	0.0158
Mitoxantrone IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	0.298	0.824	Yes	0.0268
Vincristine IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	-	-	Yes*	0.0313*

\* Populations compared using Wilcoxon signed ranks test; 2-tailed p - value



**Figure 15** - Increased resistance of MCF7 cells chronically exposed to doxorubicin (MCF7Drug) as compared to untreated (MCF7Par) cells, assessed at 500 cells/well.

- A Doxorubicin
- B Mitoxantrone
- C Vincristine

Drug	MCF7Par	MCF7Drug	Significant Difference?	<i>p</i> - value
Doxorubicin IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	5.87	20.75	Yes	0.003
Mitoxantrone IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	0.416	12.59	Yes	0.0049
Vincristine IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	-	-	Yes*	0.0078*

\* Populations compared using Wilcoxon signed ranks test; 2-tailed p - value

# Side population and rhodamine efflux analysis of drug-adapted cells

Hoechst 33342 efflux assays were performed to compare drug-free and drug-adapted cells. MCF-7Par cells showed an SP-like population of 0.7-0.8%, which was reduced in the presence of verapamil. The SP frequency within MCF-7Drug cells was greater, representing 1.0-1.6% of cells, and again reduced in the presence of verapamil (Figure 16). Whilst 3132Par cells did not demonstrate any SP profile, 3132Drug cells showed a candidate population of 0.3%, which was reduced in the presence of verapamil (Figure 16). As was frequently found when analysing Hoechst efflux in canine cells, the appearance of this profile was not absolutely consistent, and on one occasion an SP profile was seen in the 3132Drug verapamil control sample. Nonetheless, these results suggest that for both MCF-7 and 3132 cells, chronic adaptation to cytotoxic drugs may induce an SP-like profile.



Below – 3132Par (left) and 3132Drug (right) cells.



Rhodamine123 efflux may be mediated by either P-gP or ABCG2<sup>482T</sup> (Honjo *et al.*, 2001; Robey *et al.*, 2003). 3132Par and 3132Drug cells were tested for Rhodamine 123 efflux. As with previous Rho efflux analyses of these cells, a discrete Rho<sup>low</sup> subpopulation was seen, but this was lost when dead cells were excluded based on light scatter profile or propidium iodide fluorescence. When the analysis included only live 3132Par and 3132Drug cells, Rho123 fluorescence was equivalent for both test and control (no efflux period) samples (Figure 17).





Overlaid histograms showing Rho123 fluorescence of test (red) and control (blue) cells.

A, B - 3132Par; C, D - 3132Drug. Analysis including only intact / live PI-ve cells as indicated.

Thus, chronic treatment of 3132 or MCF-7 cells with 5nM doxorubicin increased the frequency of SP cells, but did not induce appreciable Rho123 efflux capacity.

# Expression of ABCG2 by drug-adapted cells

ABCG2 expression by 3132Par, 3132Drug, MCF-7Par and MCF-7Drug cells was analysed using Western blot analysis. A protein band of the predicted size (73kDa) was seen for each population. Neither 3132Drug or MCF-7-Drug cells demonstrated any appreciable upregulation of protein expression - signal strength was equivalent to that of the  $\beta$ -actin loading control for all samples (Figure 18). Thus, despite the induction/enhancement of an SP-like profile in 3132 and MCF-7 cells by chronic treatment with 5nM doxorubicin, no clear changes in ABCG2 expression are apparent at this level of drug adaptation.



**Figure 18** – ABCG2 detection by Western blot analysis of 3132 and MCF-7 cells chronically exposed to doxorubicin.

# Inhibition of NFKB in drug-adapted cell lines

Resistance to chemotherapy drugs may be mediated by upregulation of antiapoptotic regulators such as NF $\kappa$ B (Das and White, 1997; Tergaonkar *et al.*, 2002; Bottero *et al.*, 2003). 3132Par and 3132Drug cells were assessed for sensitivity to ISNI and WDL to assess whether or not chronic exposure to doxorubicin led to increased

dependence on NFκB signalling. Inhibitory activity of both drugs was similar for 3132Par and 3132Drug, with no significant difference between IC<sub>50</sub> values (Figure 19). Similarly, there were no significant differences between responses of MCF-7Par and MCF-7Drug to ISNI (to which both populations were resistant) or WDL.



Drug	3132Par	3132Drug	Significant Difference?	<i>p</i> - value
ISNI IC <sub>50</sub> / nM	16.30	7.53	No	0.486
WDL IC <sub>50</sub> / µM	8.42	7.75	No	0.181

**Figure 19** – 3132Drug cells do not show increased sensitivity to inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B signalling.

A – ISNI NFκB activation inhibitor; B – WDL IKK inhibitor.

 $IC_{50}$  values of both drugs are slightly lower for 3132Drug cells, but these differences are not significant.

#### DISCUSSION

# NFkB as a Therapeutic Target in Canine Cancer

All of the canine cancer cell lines examined in this study demonstrated nuclear NF $\kappa$ B transcriptional activity. In most cases inhibition of signalling resulted in only partial reduction in cell viability – this is consistent with the findings of other investigators (Hideshima *et al.*, 2002; Zhou *et al.*, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2009b). The supershift seen at EMSA with specific antibody to RelA/p65 demonstrates activation of the canonical pathway; compensatory non-canonical (alternative) signalling cannot be ruled out. The IKK inhibitors used in this study suppress both IKK $\alpha$  and IKK $\beta$  activation, so should inhibit both arms of the pathway. Whilst it is possible that genetic alterations of these proteins or their target (I $\kappa$ B) could reduce susceptibility, direct inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B transcriptional activation also produced a subtotal reduction in cell viability for all of the cell lines. This suggests that, as a population, the cells are not entirely dependent on the anti-apoptotic / pro-survival activity of NF $\kappa$ B for viability and proliferation, but that survival is compromised where the pathway is inhibited.

An alternative possibility for the subtotal response of the cell lines to NF $\kappa$ B inhibition is that only a subset of cells is reliant on signalling, with blockade leaving others relatively unaffected. Suppression of NF $\kappa$ B activity is reported to inhibit putative CSC, with more limited efficacy against the bulk cancer cell population, in some malignancies including canine leukaemia (Guzman *et al.*, 2007; Zhou *et al.*, 2008).

Two cellular subpopulations of REM134 mammary carcinoma cells – tumoursphere and CD44<sup>High</sup> cells – were examined for increased sensitivity to inhibition of IKK and NF $\kappa$ B. NF $\kappa$ B pathway inhibitors did not selectively inhibit REM134 tumoursphere cells, by contrast with the findings of Zhou *et al* (who reported that putative CSC, derived as tumourspheres from the human mammary MCF-7 cell line, were preferentially inhibited by NF $\kappa$ B blockade) (Zhou *et al.*, 2008). The REM134 CD44<sup>High</sup> cells were in fact more resistant to WDL than CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells. It seems likely that this effect is to some extent cell cycle-dependent, and may occur via NF $\kappa$ B-independent mechanisms, as there was no differential response to direct NF $\kappa$ B inhibition with ISNI. Moreover, although there was a shift in the response curve, almost 50% viability remained for both populations. The author acknowledges that neither tumoursphere formation or CD44 expression have been demonstrated to be reliable indicators of CSC identity for this cell line. Nonetheless, it is interesting that cytotoxicity of WDL was evident at lower concentrations for CD44<sup>Low</sup> cells, which are predominantly in G<sub>0</sub>/G<sub>1</sub>, than for actively proliferating cells, by contrast with the *in vivo* activity of many conventional chemotherapy agents. This may indicate potential for selective eradication of slow-cycling subpopulations of canine cancer cells.

Although according to the hierarchical CSC paradigm it should be possible to treat a tumour by eradicating only the stem cell component – the "dandelion root" – it is more likely that therapy must eliminate both the parent and the progeny cells for successful outcome (Kern and Shibata, 2007; Jordan, 2009; Zhou *et al.*, 2009a). Mathematical modelling suggests that elimination of only CSC would produce only slow clinical responses, allowing the opportunity for development of further mutations (Dingli and Michor, 2006) and progression of disease may occur *in vivo* even where the CSC compartment is selectively and markedly reduced (Guzman *et al.*, 2007).

The effect of combining NF $\kappa$ B inhibition and conventional cytotoxic therapy was investigated, to assess whether actions on different cellular subpopulations produced a complementary effect. Synergy between drugs is a topic of considerable debate, as the term is often rather overused – definitively, it refers to the situation where the effect of a drug combination is greater than the *sum* of either alone, i.e. *more than* additive (Chou and Talalay, 1983; Chou, 1998). Complex pharmacological methods such as the isobologram or Chou-Talalay combination index may be used to demonstrate true synergy (Chou and Talalay, 1983). Nonetheless, in the context of this study, even an additive effect resulting from mutually exclusive drug effects

296

could be relevant (i.e. if NF $\kappa$ B inhibition preferentially eliminated a specific CSC subset, or enabled reduction of doxorubicin concentrations for a given cytocidal effect).

However, for both REM134 and D17 cells, inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B signalling not only failed to increase the efficacy of doxorubicin, but appeared to antagonise its cytotoxicity. WDL at 40 $\mu$ M was shown to modulate the cell cycle profile, increasing the proportion of cells in G<sub>2</sub>/M. Where drugs affect cell cycle distribution, marked sequence-dependent effects are seen for some combinations – for example, marked cell cycle-associated resistance is seen when flavopiridol (which arrests cell cycle progression) is given prior to paclitaxel (an M-phase specific taxane) (Shah and Schwartz, 2001). However, the effects of doxorubicin are not cell cycle phase-specific – moreover, even at a WDL concentration with minimal effects on REM134 viability (5 $\mu$ M), the IC<sub>50</sub> of doxorubicin was increased threefold.

Treatment with ISNI did not alter the cell cycle profile, yet antagonism was also seen when this drug was combined with doxorubicin – the inhibitory effect was less than the sum of that caused by either drug alone. Further work would be required to ascertain why inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B resulted in reduced sensitivity to doxorubicin. It remains possible that combinations using alternative inhibitors of the pathway, or different cytotoxic agents, could show synergistic activity.

# Mechanisms of Acquired Drug Resistance and Effects on the CSC Phenotype

Chronic exposure of 3132 cells to 5nM doxorubicin resulted in increased resistance to doxorubicin, mitoxantrone and vincristine. The more consistent appearance of an SP profile for 3132Drug cells implicates upregulation of membrane pump transporter function. The ABCG2 transporter permits doxorubicin and mitoxantrone efflux, and commonly (although not exclusively) mediates the SP phenotype (Bunting *et al.*, 2000; Zhou *et al.*, 2001; Scharenberg *et al.*, 2002; Jonker *et al.*, 2005). Although there was no marked upregulation of ABCG2 protein expression, it is acknowledged

that the resistance levels achieved in this study were modest - continued adaptation to higher concentrations of doxorubicin could result in a greater differential.

Expression of ABCG2 protein by MCF-7Drug cells was also similar to that of parental cells. ABCG2 was originally characterised in MCF-7 through chronic adaptation to doxorubicin, but drug levels achieved were orders of magnitude greater  $(1\mu g/ml=1.8\mu M)$  than those used in this study (5nM) (Doyle *et al.*, 1998). There are, however, no reports in the literature of whether this adaptation results in changes to the SP phenotype – we have shown that even comparatively low levels of drug exposure result in a consistent increase in the proportion of cells in the SP, and that this is reduced by verapamil.

P-gP expression may also confer anthracycline resistance, and in some cells is responsible for an SP phenotype (Bunting *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, no single ABC protein has the capacity to efflux all three drugs to which the cells showed enhanced resistance (neither P-gP nor ABCG2 efflux vincristine, unlike the multidrug resistance protein MRP (ABCC1)) (Dean *et al.*, 2005). It is therefore possible that additional resistance mechanisms were induced during the course of drug induction. Although 3132Drug cells showed no increase in sensitivity to inhibition of NF $\kappa$ B, the contribution of other survival pathways (such as Ras/Akt or mTOR) could be investigated further using protein expression studies and specific inhibitors of signalling.

Nonetheless, alteration of SP profile for both 3132 and MCF-7 cells suggests that for canine cancer cell lines, appearance of a cell in the SP is dependent on more than just the presence or absence of ABCG2 expression. If only the cells expressing the relevant pump appear in the SP, then for the 3132Drug cells this would represent a very small (0.3 - 0.6%) proportion of the population as a whole. It seems unlikely that survival of such a minority subset could produce the differential chemosensitivity seen when 3132Drug cells were treated with cytotoxic agents. Additionally, the increase in SP frequency correlated with an increase in overall resistance despite no apparent upregulation of transporter expression.

The results of the drug induction study are more suggestive that SP in cell lines may be an indicator of the functional activity of membrane transporters, rather than expression by a distinct population of cells. This is supported by the findings of other investigators. Although ABCG2 expression may distinguish the SP cells of normal bone marrow (Zhou *et al.*, 2001), in some human cancer cell lines, cells isolated according to presence in the SP show different properties from those isolated according to ABCG2 expression (Patrawala *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, Hu *et al* found that in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines, ABCG2 was diffusely expressed amongst the population, and that SP cells did not show greater clonogenicity than non-SP cells. However, the SP cells *did* exhibit decreased drug retention and increased pump activity (Hu *et al.*, 2008). The implications of SP in cell lines may therefore be different from those in primary tissues.

If all cells express low levels of ABCG2 yet only certain of these appear in the SP, it questions the concept that the SP itself marks out a specific, resistant CSC population within a cell line. The results presented here suggest that SP frequency may be more representative of the drug efflux capacity within the population as a whole. This could be further investigated using specific surface staining for ABCG2, to determine directly the frequency of cells expressing the protein. Moreover, investigations should be extended to primary neoplastic cells. The implications of SP in cancer remain incompletely understood and may be context dependent. However, if the Hoechst efflux assay can identify altered drug sensitivity occurring due to altered membrane pump function, prior to demonstrably increased protein expression, it could represent a potentially valuable means of assessing the existence or development of drug resistance within tumours.

It is accepted that there are limitations to the interpretation of the results obtained through these studies of chronic doxorubicin exposure, because the degree of drug adaptation was relatively modest, with levels close to the  $IC_{50}$  of the parental cell line. Development of drug-resistant cell lines is a protracted process; many of the lines described in the literature have been adapted to exposure over a period of many months or years (Taylor *et al.*, 1991; Doyle *et al.*, 1998; Coley, 2004; Uozurmi *et al.*,

2005; Yang *et al.*, 2005). In practice, increasing the concentration of doxorubicin for 3132Drug cells beyond low nanomolar concentrations proved challenging, and resulted frequently in cessation of proliferation followed by cell death. The adaptation of canine lymphoma cell lines to drug exposure has been reported (Uozurmi *et al.*, 2005); however, 3132 cells were generally very sensitive to all tested cytotoxic drugs, and it may be more rewarding to attempt drug adaptation of one of the more robust lines (e.g. REM134) to further investigate the effects of chronic exposure.

#### **Implications of CSC-Associated Resistance Mechanisms**

The CSC paradigm opens up the possibility that the cells responsible for tumour progression might be selectively destroyed, improving clinical outcomes and also patient welfare during therapy. In this context, the ability to prospectively identify such cells is paramount. Although initial reports of LSC isolation showed great promise in this regard, it is now clear that there is unlikely to be any single reliable marker of "cancer stemness", particularly for solid tumours.

Elimination of LSC as defined by surface markers such as CD44 and CD123 has shown promise in some models of haematological malignancy (Jin *et al.*, 2006; Jin *et al.*, 2009). The use of surface markers to define tumourigenic cells in the context of targetted treatment is complicated by their lack of specificity or sensitivity, particularly for solid tumours. Some are overly permissive, with expression seen within tumourigenic and non-tumourigenic populations. Other markers or combinations may be too restrictive, such that a significant proportion of tumourigenic cells exists outwith the selected population. Moreover, if continued clonal evolution of tumourigenic cells is accompanied by changes in expression profile (Shipitsin and Polyak, 2008), this could allow escape from treatments which target CSC on the basis of surface phenotype.

As CSC are functionally defined, it may be more rational to target specific functional properties such as unlimited self renewal or enhanced antiapoptotic and survival

mechanisms. Multiple cellular signalling pathways have been implicated as contributing to the self renewal potential of CSC, including Notch, Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin, Bmi-1 and Hedgehog, and much work has focussed on developing means to selectively inhibit these pathways (Lessard and Sauvageau, 2003; Glinsky *et al.*, 2005; Gal *et al.*, 2006; Liu *et al.*, 2006; Peacock *et al.*, 2007; Malanchi *et al.*, 2008; Zeilstra *et al.*, 2008; Majeti *et al.*, 2009; Misaghian *et al.*, 2009; Tanaka *et al.*, 2009; Zhao *et al.*, 2009). Self renewal is an essential capability for normal stem cells, and it is essential that for these cells it is *not* inhibited if they are to repopulate normal tissues after insults incurred during cancer therapy. Finding agents with this kind of selectivity is likely to prove challenging.

Anti-apoptotic and survival mechanisms such as PI3K / Akt / mTOR and NF $\kappa$ B are aberrantly activated in many cancers, and inhibition of these pathways has been demonstrated as a potential means of selectively inhibiting CSC (Guzman *et al.*, 2005; Dancey, 2006; Zhou *et al.*, 2007; Hambardzumyan *et al.*, 2008; Zhou *et al.*, 2008; Bleau *et al.*, 2009; Dubrovska *et al.*, 2009). Hypothetically, as targets they may pose less risk to normal stem cells than the inhibition of self-renewal mechanisms. Cancer cells which have accrued genetic mutations, DNA damage and other abnormalities which would cause self destruction, i.e. apoptosis, in an otherwise normal cell, may be considered as existing under an increased level of cellular stress (Evan and Vousden, 2001). "Unmasking" of these stresses by inhibiting the compensatory survival mechanisms could tip these abnormal cells into apoptosis, but should be less inherently problematic for (normal stem) cells which do not carry additional mutations.

Thus, NF $\kappa$ B inhibition may be a means of targetting CSC without unacceptable side effects on repopulation capacity in normal tissues. Nonetheless, NF $\kappa$ B signalling plays an important role in mediating immune and inflammatory responses (Ghosh *et al.*, 1998), and any strategy for inhibiting the pathway would have to address the potential for immunocompromising the patient.

301

In this study, constitutive NF $\kappa$ B nuclear activity was demonstrated in all of the tested canine cancer cell lines. Moreover, inhibition of this activity resulted in an overall reduction in cell viability. Although the specific combinations of NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors and doxorubicin did not show complementary effects for the REM134 and D17 cell lines, further investigation may reveal alternative combinations of NF $\kappa$ B inhibitor / cytotoxic drug which produce more promising results, through suppression of antiapoptotic survival mechanisms.

Marked selectivity of NF $\kappa$ B inhibitors for putative CSC, shown in some studies, was not demonstrated. However, there are inherent difficulties in isolating stable specific CSC populations from cell lines, as previously addressed. Evaluation of primary tumour cells may prove more valuable in this regard - as these are more likely to demonstrate true heterogeneity, evaluation *in vitro* of the responses of distinct subpopulations might more closely reflect differential sensitivity to NF $\kappa$ B blockade. This may help to identify tumours where this could be included as part of a combined chemotherapy regime.

The appearance of an SP for 3132Drug cells and its increase on MCF-7 is significant, as it suggests that properties used to identify CSC may be acquired or modulated during the life history of a tumour. Again, the inherent lack of heterogeneity within continuous cancer cell lines may not adequately represent the natural situation in spontaneous tumours *in vivo*. It is likely that SP analysis of primary cells, both before and during chemotherapy, might give more insight into how drug resistance is acquired, and by which cells. There is increasing recognition that CSC are unlikely to be a static entity, and that continued clonal evolution is likely, particularly in the face of cytotoxic challenge (Clarke *et al.*, 2006; Adams and Strasser, 2008; Visvader and Lindeman, 2008; Shackleton *et al.*, 2009). If therapies are to be directed specifically to CSC populations, any potential for these to change over time must be addressed.

If a specific subpopulation of cancer cells is identifiable by the expression of drug efflux ABC proteins, this could be exploited to target these cells. Many ABC

inhibitors have been characterised, showing varying levels of selectivity and potency for different members of the superfamily (Doyle and Ross, 2003; Dean *et al.*, 2005). Although showing promise *in vitro*, clinical trials with ABC inhibitors such as verapamil and cyclosporine have been largely disappointing (Fojo and Bates, 2003; Dean *et al.*, 2005). However, work has concentrated on expression in the context of the entire cellular population, rather than expression by specific CSC. Also, most trialled strategies have been aimed at inhibition of P-gP, whereas resistance of many putative CSC subsets is mediated by other transporters such as ABCG2.

It has been proposed that devising ways to target specific subpopulations of cells with specific inhibitors could prove more rewarding, although the means of achieving this remain undetermined (Dean *et al.*, 2005; Jordan, 2009). It may be possible to exploit phenomena such as "collateral sensitivity", whereby cells expressing drug resistance pumps are paradoxically sensitive to certain agents, as part of combination strategies targetting CSC (Turk *et al.*, 2009). Of course, when considering inhibition of membrane transporters such as ABCG2, it is vital to address the effects on normal stem cells, particularly those where tissue turnover is rapid. Their ability to efflux cytotoxic agents helps them to survive chemotherapy and repopulate vulnerable tissues like intestinal epithelium and haematopoietic cells, so blanket inhibition of this capability might render patients unacceptably sensitive to the effects of anticancer agents.

Signalling mechanisms which may be aberrantly upregulated in CSC, such as those controlling differentiation, self-renewal or survival, may also directly modulate the activity of membrane transporter pumps. NF $\kappa$ B may upregulate P-gP, and suppression of signalling may inhibit their expression and enhance uptake of chemotherapy drugs (Zhou and Kuo, 1997; Bentires-Alj *et al.*, 2003). Hedgehog signalling is reported to enhance expression of ABCG2 and P-gP in carcinoma cell lines; inhibition of the pathway with cyclopamine, combined with low dose chemotherapy, inhibits transporter expression and activity to increase overall cell kill (Sims-Mourtada *et al.*, 2007). The serine-threonine kinase Akt, involved in multiple signalling mechanisms including the PI3K / Akt / mTOR pathway, may modulate the

SP of hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines: Akt inhibition was reported to reduce the SP, inhibiting drug efflux capacity of these cells (Hu *et al.*, 2008). Thus, targetting of the proliferation or survival mechanisms of CSC as part of combination chemotherapy regimes may provide additional benefits through inhibiting their drug resistance mechanisms.

Interestingly, it appears that novel tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKI) such as imatinib and the EGFR inhibitors gefitinib (Iressa, AstraZeneca) and erlotinib (Tarceva, Genentech) may also act to inhibit the function of ABCG2 and P-glycoprotein, increasing the sensitivity of drug-resistant cell lines to conventional drugs (Nakamura *et al.*, 2005; Yang *et al.*, 2005; Shi *et al.*, 2007; Chu *et al.*, 2008). These effects are reported in combination with diverse chemotherapeutics, such as the intercalating agents doxorubicin (Chu *et al.*, 2008) and mitoxantrone (Nakamura *et al.*, 2005; Shi *et al.*, 2007), the mitotic spindle poison paclitaxel (Shi *et al.*, 2007), the topoisomerase I inhibitor etoposide (Yang *et al.*, 2005) and the topoisomerase II inhibitors irinotecan and topotecan (Nakamura *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, efficacy is reported even where cells do not overexpress the relevant tyrosine kinase (Nakamura *et al.*, 2005), suggesting a direct inhibitory effect on the transporter.

Two TKIs have been recently licensed for use in veterinary medicine. Toceranib (Palladia, Pfizer) and masitinib (Masivet, ABScience) have been released for treatment of canine mast cell tumours, based on their activity against c-Kit (Pryer *et al.*, 2003; Hahn *et al.*, 2008). Efficacy is reported towards other tumour types, and may also relate to inhibition of other tyrosine kinases – for example, toceranib may suppress PDGFR $\beta$  and VEGFR2 (London *et al.*, 2003; London *et al.*, 2009). Drug resistant canine cancer cell models should provide a platform to assess whether these TKIs modulate the activity of membrane transporter pumps, and might therefore show potential in drug combinations aimed at targetting resistant or CSC populations.

In summary, despite continuing controversy over what identifies a CSC, the goal of treatment must be to eliminate all cells which may drive progression or persist after
therapy. Therefore, it is perhaps more important to focus not on specific phenotypic identifiers, but what makes these cells resistant. Whatever the mechanism underlying heterogeneity within a given tumour, any cell with inherently increased resilience to treatment is more likely to persist, and thus have the opportunity to garner further mechanisms of resistance. Moreover, a reduction in tumour size may result in an increased growth fraction and decreased doubling time, increasing the proportion of cycling cells and the risk of further resistance developing (Dingli and Michor, 2006).

Thus, rapid and simultaneous eradicaton of all tumourigenic subpopulations will reduce the potential for further mutation of surviving cells – conversely, therapies that show only an increased selectivity towards putative CSC, but fail to completely eradicate them, may not ultimately produce better clinical outcomes. The clinical relevance of the CSC hypothesis lies largely in the fact that, whatever their phenotype, certain cells survive treatment. It therefore makes sense that identifying and exploiting their resistance mechanisms may be the most successful means to eliminate them.

## **CHAPTER 7**

## DISCUSSION

According to the cancer stem cell hypothesis, eradication of specific CSC subpopulations is critical to the successful treatment of neoplasia, without risk of recurrence. Notwithstanding the debate surrounding the hypothesis, it is rational to try and identify and characterise CSC, or clonally evolved subpopulations, which might possess enhanced malignant capabilities or persist after therapy. In dogs, as in humans, cancer therapy is confounded by the two major problems of relapse and metastatic spread, and so spontaneous cancer in the dog represents a valuable comparative model of human disease.

In this study, evaluation of the surface expression patterns of cancer cell lines did not reveal discrete candidate CSC populations. In the canine (and human and feline) cell lines tested, the flow cytometry histogram for a given marker appeared as a bell-shaped curve, from the lowest to the highest level of expression, rather than as a positively-stained population separate from the bulk. In a population of clonal cells, this distribution for a given antigen may arise through fluctuation of expression levels around the overall population mean (Brock *et al.*, 2009). A foundation of the CSC hypothesis is that the CSC and non-CSC populations are biologically distinct, with different inherent properties. For the cell lines examined here, expression of stem cell-associated surface markers (CD24, CD34, CD44, CD117, CD133) demonstrated no such distinctions. Cells were either negative for the tested antigen, or where positive (i.e. expression of CD44) showed transient and fluctuating surface expression levels in association with proliferation status.

Similarly, studies of drug efflux or detoxification capacity failed to demonstrate distinct and consistent subpopulations of cells with enhanced resistance mechanisms. Although Hoechst efflux analysis identified a side population within the tested cancer cell lines, the inconsistency of the assay precluded further isolation and evaluation of these cells. Moreover, the relationship between SP and expression of drug efflux pumps remains ambiguous. Evidence presented here from the study of drug resistant cells, as well as by other investigators, suggests that in cell lines appearance of a cell in the SP is multifactorial. Whilst the magnitude of the SP may indicate the overall functional activity of membrane transporters, cells within a

population of inherently similar ABCG2<sup>+</sup> cells may fall within the SP according to transient factors such as proliferation or developmental status. Thus, although presence within the SP may indicate the status of individual cells at a particular timepoint, it may not reflect a biologically distinct cellular subpopulation.

Although heterogeneity may exist within cell lines, the existence of biologically discrete subpopulations within clonal populations, which have been passaged over many generations, is less likely than in primary cells. Whilst the resurgence of the paradigm has been accompanied by numerous reports of putative CSC in wellestablished tumour cell lines, the concept that cell lines are maintained by a specific subpopulation of self-renewing cells remains contentious (Locke et al., 2005; Zheng et al., 2007; Yoo and Hatfield, 2008). For example, the formation of colonies in soft agar by only a limited proportion of cells has been suggested as evidence of this biological distinction (Lou and Dean, 2007). However, the evidence obtained through studies of CD44 expression by canine cancer cell lines strongly suggests that transient factors such as proliferation status can have a profound effect on colony formation. Thus, apparent heterogeneity in cellular behaviour within cell lines is not necessarily the result of a predetermined hierarchy. Modelling of the population dynamics within continuous cell lines suggests that a situation in which the bulk of cells are unable to replicate extensively, but are propagated by a limited subpopulation, may not be sustainable (Figure 1).

Moreover, within continuous cell lines, novel phenotypes may arise as a result of extrinsic influences, which will include culture conditions and technique. This may be one reason behind the conflicting data obtained through investigation by different groups (even for well characterised cell lines such as human MCF-7 mammary carcinoma (Kondo *et al.*, 2004; Patrawala *et al.*, 2005; Zhou *et al.*, 2007; Engelmann *et al.*, 2008; Steiniger *et al.*, 2008; Tanaka *et al.*, 2009) or rat C6 glioma (Kondo *et al.*, 2007)), and further confounds interpretation of the literature. Undoubtedly, cell culture techniques became more refined during the course of conducting the experiments presented here, due to greater operator experience.



**Figure 1** – Modelling the maintenance of a rare and specific CSC population within a cell line. Model assumes that non-stem cells may participate in population expansion, as must be the case in logarithmic growth. Symmetrical division of stem cells maintains overall proportion through exponential expansion (A). If stem cells must divide asymmetrically to produce non-stem cells, then the overall propoportion of stem cells will be reduced even over a limited number of divisions (B), unless proliferation rate of stem cell fraction is significantly greater, or non-stem cells and their descendents die soon after proliferation. (Adapted from Zheng *et al*, 2007 *Cancer Research*, **67** (8), 3691-7).

Investigation of the effects of culture protocol (including cellular confluence at harvest, culture medium and split ratio) may help to elucidate how this may affect the results of assays for CSC, such as Hoechst-effluxing SP or expression of cell surface markers. Nevertheless, it appears that continuous cell lines have limitations when investigating concepts of cellular heterogeneity and hierarchies in neoplasia, as stable and intrinsic biological distinctions between cells are less likely to be evident than in spontaneous tumours.

By contrast, within the kt-osa populations derived from a primary canine osteosarcoma, discrete subpopulations expressing CSC-associated antigens such as CD117 and CD133 could be identified. The comparatively rapid reduction in these subpopulations over time in adherent culture suggests that heterogeneous expression patterns will be best represented in primary cells derived directly from tumours *in vivo*. This is particularly germane when considering rare-event and / or putatively slow-cycling populations. However, this also presents practical challenges, not only in terms of access to samples, but also when considering the cell numbers that will need to be isolated in order to carry out comparative assays.

Tumoursphere culture represents a potential means of expanding putative CSC *ex vivo* for further characterisation. Many studies have reported the use of the assay as successfully isolating candidate CSC populations from cancer cell lines, and all of the canine cell lines examined showed some degree of tumoursphere formation. However, clonal and population analyses for the cell lines tested in this study suggested that this did not represent proliferation of a biologically distinct population of canine tumour cells. Proliferation as tumourspheres by a fixed proportion of CSC should result in a linear relationship between cell density and sphere formation - this was not seen for any of the tested cell lines. The formation of tumourspheres by CD44<sup>High</sup>, but not CD44<sup>Low/-</sup>, REM134 cells also indicated the influence of other factors, such as cell cycle/proliferation status at plating.

It is accepted that these ambiguities may be specific to the cell lines examined in the study, but the findings certainly emphasise how results obtained through

310

tumoursphere culture must be carefully interpreted (Visvader and Lindeman, 2008). For example, claims that sphere formation equates to CSC proliferation should at least be qualified by clonal analysis, to demonstrate self-renewal capacity (as this is one of the principal cellular characteristics for which low-density, serum-free culture hypothetically selects).

In comparison to the continuous cell lines, for which most cells appeared to participate in tumoursphere formation in bulk cultures, observations of tumoursphere formation by kt-osa populations were more suggestive of selective proliferation by certain cells. Morphological distinctions between spheres derived from early and later-passage cells again suggest that tumoursphere culture of cells derived directly from tumours may more accurately reflect their heterogeneous composition. Notably, however, proliferation of kt-osa cells in low-density culture was limited, and did not permit propagation beyond 2-3 passages, despite the fact that the cells were derived from an aggressive metastatic tumour which led rapidly to the death of the patient.

Thus, whilst the fitness of cells to proliferate as tumourspheres in low-density serumfree culture is frequently cited as evidence of a CSC population, it is clear that the tumour-propagating cells of some malignancies may not be isolated using this assay. Additionally, whilst tumoursphere culture may be a useful means of expanding putative CSC populations for characterisation, multiple factors (such as differences in growth phase, drug penetration and oxygenation, and the persistence of contactrelated resistance in 3-D cultures) would suggest that direct comparison of tumoursphere and adherent cultures may not give reliable results when inferring differential sensitivities to anticancer agents.

The demonstration of an ALDH<sup>Bright</sup> population within the BMMNC and PBMNC of a dog with leukaemia (and also weakly positive cells within the kt-osa populations at early passage) also supports the concept that subpopulations may be more readily identified within primary cells than cell lines – none of the tested canine cell lines tested positive using the Aldefluor assay. It is acknowledged that the role of ALDH in normal canine stem and progenitor cells is not well established - whilst it appears to identify stem-like cells of multiple human tissues, its potential as a marker of undifferentiated cells in other species remains to be determined. Nonetheless, these findings suggest heterogeneity within these primary cell populations for drug detoxification capacity, and the ALDH<sup>Bright</sup> population increased during the course of treatment with the alkylating agent cyclophosphamide.

Significantly, the Aldefluor assay did not demonstrate a strong candidate for normal HSC within normal canine BMMNC. Similarly, CD34<sup>+</sup> leukaemic BMMNC showed a scatter profile distribution distinct from that expected for normal HSC. This is consistent with the now widely accepted concept that the CSC is not necessarily equivalent to a transformed tissue stem cell, and as such, the tumour-propagating cell will not necessarily display the same phenotypic characteristics as the stem cell which maintains the corresponding normal tissue. However, the functional capacity of ALDH to detoxify xenobiotic substances suggests that the Aldefluor assay may represent a potential means of identifying drug resistant cells, which may exert a critical influence on the biological behaviour of a tumour.

Thus, the results obtained through the course of these studies suggest that attempts to prospectively isolate subpopulations of putative CSC should concentrate on primary tissues. Of course, whilst the studies examined several canine cancer cell lines of diverse origin, this does not rule out the existence within other lines of stable, biologically distinct CSC fractions - but the lack of demonstrably discrete subpopulations within cell lines is by no means exclusive to this study. However, cell lines remain invaluable for developing techniques and assays, especially when optimising sensitive assays for characterisation of "precious" primary cells, which may be available on a limited basis.

One of the most enticing prospects raised by the CSC hypothesis was the possibility that there might be a consistent and universal marker (for example, CD133 or presence of a side population) enabling identification of the tumour-propagating fraction. It has now become clear that there exists considerable variation both

between and within tumours and tumour types. This will complicate interpretation of results obtained from primary samples – this is particularly relevant to studies of canine neoplasia, where detailed immunophenotyping data from large numbers of similar tumours is less readily available than for comparable human disease. Thus, cell lines also have an important place when assessing the implications of certain phenotypes. For example, in not just one but six canine (and one feline) cancer cell lines, an association between CD44 and cellular proliferation status was demonstrated.

The data gathered through studies of CD44 expression in canine cancer cell lines suggest that, as a transiently-expressed marker of proliferating cells, it may have limited utility as a CSC identifier. Interestingly, other studies where data suggests that the putative CSC marker may be proliferation-associated include the seminal brain tumour stem cell work published by Singh *et al* in 2003. In that study, CD133<sup>+</sup> cells showed increased proliferative capacity and tumoursphere formation compared with CD133<sup>-</sup> cells; moreover, when sorted cells were tested for purity, that of the CD133<sup>-</sup> population was much higher than the CD133<sup>+</sup> subset (CD133<sup>-</sup> 92.6 – 97.3%; CD133<sup>+</sup> 46.9 – 79.8%), which may indicate transient expression. Notably, these were cells derived from primary tumours, rather than cell lines (Singh *et al.*, 2003). The association of CD44 with proliferation does not preclude its potential as a prognostic indicator in cancer. Published observations have been equivocal, but have involved limited characterisation of variant isoforms, and on the basis of the findings presented here, the molecule warrants further investigation in canine tumours.

The demonstration of NFkB activation in multiple canine cancer cell lines similarly merits further investigation of the impact that this pro-survival pathway may have on the progression of canine neoplasia. Although it was unexpected to see antagonistic effects between the tested NFkB inhibitors and doxorubicin, assessment of other compounds may reveal drugs with more promise in this regard (published drug screens generally involve selection of a lead compound for further testing, which may suggest that of those assayed, not all produce the anticipated results!). The tested inhibitors showed little selectivity for populations derived from the REM134 mammary carcinoma cell line on the basis of putative CSC markers (tumoursphere formation / CD44 expression), but it appears that these models may not isolate biologically distinct cellular subsets. It remains possible that *ex vivo* sensitivity testing of specific cellular fractions directly derived from spontaneous tumours will demonstrate a greater differential effect. However, these findings emphasise the complexity of the pathway, and its multiple context-dependent interactions with other signalling mechanisms, such that it may be difficult to predict the outcomes associated with its suppression in diverse cell types (Hideshima *et al.*, 2009).

The key implication of the CSC hypothesis for cancer therapy lies in the concept that the behaviour of cancer cells will be predictable, based on their status as CSC (tumourigenic) or non-CSC (non-tumourigenic). This implies that therapy could effectively "ignore" certain cells within a tumour – as long as treatment eliminates the tumour-propagating CSC population, the rest of the cells should be unable to sustain the malignancy and the tumour will regress. There is now sufficient evidence to support the existence of cellular hierarchies within multiple tumour types, particularly haematopoietic malignancies. However, it is now widely accepted that CSC themselves may mutate, and their phenotypic profile change over time. It could be argued that, as a consequence, it will never be possible definitively to predict which cells represent the CSC fraction such that all other cells may be considered non-tumourigenic. Moreover, an individual tumour may comprise more than one tumourigenic population. This has led some commentators, such as the eminent cancer biologist and clinician Isaiah Fidler, to conclude that even where the hierarchical CSC model applies, specific therapeutic targetting of CSC is unlikely to improve clinical outcomes (Rowan, 2009).

Even staunch proponents of the CSC hypothesis concede that the published literature has become confused, leading not only to difficulty when evaluating its implications, but also increased scepticism. This has arisen not least as a result of overinterpretation of the model. Indeed, in a recent interview John Dick, leader of the group which performed the seminal work on stem cell hierarchies in AML, welcomed some of this controversy:

314

"Controversy sparks better and better science. What it does is it actually eliminates sloppy thinking. There's been a real rush onto the cancer stem cell bandwagon in the last couple of years. People are talking about cancer stem cells here, there and everywhere, and in any old cell line. There was a huge slippage in the kind of criteria and rigor. People were using this terminology without any thought or any rigor based on some cell-surface marker or something like that." (Baker, 2009)

Fundamentally, characterisation of CSC must be based on their functional properties – that is, self-renewal and the capacity to differentiate into all relevant cell lineages. This may be supported by evidence of other CSC-associated properties, such as expression patterns associated with normal tissue or embryonic stem cells, growth in low-density tumoursphere conditions or the appearance of a side population – however, in order to substantiate a claim that a cancer cell is a CSC, these alone are not sufficient. Equally, where some cells show self-renewal capacity and multipotentiality but are no more resistant to standard therapies, or indeed if *all* cells within the population may show these properties (such as with some cancer cell lines), the CSC hypothesis will not be clinically relevant.

Nonetheless, against a background of consistently high rates of recurrence after therapy, the CSC hypothesis draws attention to the concept that eradication of specific cellular subpopulations, with different potencies and vulnerabilities, may be required to eliminate some cancers. This ties in with an increasing recognition that the most successful treatment outcomes in cancer are likely to be obtained through tailoring therapeutic regimes to individual tumours. The acknowledgement of clonal evolution amongst CSC populations complicates the issue of direct targetting – although the "dandelion root" concept of CSC-based therapy suggests that elimination of only these cells should be sufficient to destroy a tumour, this will only be a safe approach where it can be proven definitively that the remaining cells have no tumourigenic potential. It can be argued that, owing to the caveats associated even with "gold standard" methodologies such as serial transplantation in laboratory

animals, there are currently no assays sufficient to provide this level of evidence. Thus, CSC-based therapies are likely to be most successful as part of a combination regime which includes destruction of the bulk population. Moreover, even where the hypothesis is applicable, it is unlikely to replace the need for thorough characterisation and vigilant monitoring of cancer.

If CSC show clonal variation within and between tumours, the assessment of spontaneous, naturally heterogeneous tumours such as those occurring in the pet dog population may provide more relevant information than more homogeneous, artificially-induced neoplasms in laboratory animals. Although human tumour xenografts may be propagated in immunosuppressed murine hosts, the cellular population is likely to have undergone a degree of selection for growth in a foreign environment; moreover, interactions with host factors such as the tumour niche and immune system will be dissimilar to those experienced by the parental tumour.

The assays developed during the course of these studies should enable more detailed assessment of clinical cases, to characterise cellular heterogeneity within spontaneous canine tumours. Using a panel of flow cytometric markers, cells may be characterised according to surface phenotype – not only will this demonstrate the presence of subpopulations expressing CSC-associated markers, but testing over the course of treatment (for example with haematological malignancies) may indicate whether certain cellular subpopulations appear to be more resilient to a given treatment protocol. Isolation by FACS and/or expansion in tumoursphere culture, with *ex vivo* sensitivity testing of specific subsets, may build up a picture of how putative CSC respond to specific interventions, helping to inform therapeutic choices.

Moreover, assessment of tumours throughout the course of treatment using assays for CSC properties may help to determine the progression of disease, or monitor the development of chemoresistance. For example, analysis of Hoechst efflux by drug-exposed cells showed that the frequency of SP cells may increase as resistance develops. SP, rhodamine efflux and Aldefluor analysis of spontaneous tumours may

suggest a likely drug sensitivity profile or identify resistant subsets, allowing selection of agents which will be more likely to eliminate neoplastic cells and avoidance of those which may permit persistence of putative CSC.

The cancer stem cell hypothesis remains a topic of great interest and debate, with considerable scope for further investigation. Through following the literature, and in the course of these investigations, it has become clear that the CSC model is not the straightforward, universal paradigm that many had perhaps hoped it would be - in the words of John Dick,

"There was a lot of hype of CSC being the answer to everything. Now we are in the phase of asking, "How valid is it? How universal is it?"" (Baker, 2009)

However, where CSC hierarchies exist in tumours, they may present novel ways to confront major clinical challenges in cancer, such as metastasis and disease relapse. Not only will naturally heterogeneous spontaneous cancer in the dog provide a suitable model for human disease, advances in understanding will also serve to improve the welfare of canine patients. It is hoped that the work presented here will provide a basis upon which can be built further insight into the CSC hypothesis, and the role of tumour cell hierarchies in cancer.

## **CHAPTER 8**

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

- ABBASI, A. M., CHESTER, K. A., TALBOT, I. C., MACPHERSON, A. S., BOXER, G., FORBES, A., MALCOLM, A. D. & BEGENT, R. H. (1993) CD44 is associated with proliferation in normal and neoplastic human colorectal epithelial cells. Eur J Cancer, 29A, 1995-2002.
- ABOLHODA, A., WILSON, A. E., ROSS, H., DANENBERG, P. V., BURT, M. & SCOTTO, K. W. (1999) Rapid activation of MDR1 gene expression in human metastatic sarcoma after in vivo exposure to doxorubicin. Clin Cancer Res, 5, 3352-6.
- ABRAHAM, B. K., FRITZ, P., MCCLELLAN, M., HAUPTVOGEL, P., ATHELOGOU, M. & BRAUCH, H. (2005) Prevalence of CD44+/CD24-/low cells in breast cancer may not be associated with clinical outcome but may favor distant metastasis. Clin Cancer Res, 11, 1154-9.
- ADAMS, J. M. & STRASSER, A. (2008) Is tumor growth sustained by rare cancer stem cells or dominant clones? Cancer Res, 68, 4018-21.
- ADDLA, S. K., BROWN, M. D., HART, C. A., RAMANI, V. A. & CLARKE, N. W. (2008) Characterization of the Hoechst 33342 side population from normal and malignant human renal epithelial cells. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol, 295, F680-7.
- AKHTAR, N., PADILLA, M. L., DICKERSON, E. B., STEINBERG, H., BREEN, M., AUERBACH, R. & HELFAND, S. C. (2004) Interleukin-12 inhibits tumor growth in a novel angiogenesis canine hemangiosarcoma xenograft model. Neoplasia, 6, 106-16.
- AL-HAJJ, M., WICHA, M. S., BENITO-HERNANDEZ, A., MORRISON, S. J. & CLARKE, M. F. (2003) Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 3983-8.
- ALAJATI, A., LAIB, A. M., WEBER, H., BOOS, A. M., BARTOL, A., IKENBERG, K., KORFF, T., ZENTGRAF, H., OBODOZIE, C., GRAESER, R., CHRISTIAN, S., FINKENZELLER, G., STARK, G. B., HEROULT, M. & AUGUSTIN, H. G. (2008) Spheroid-based engineering of a human vasculature in mice. Nat Methods, 5, 439-45.
- ALHO, A. M. & UNDERHILL, C. B. (1989) The hyaluronate receptor is preferentially expressed on proliferating epithelial cells. J Cell Biol, 108, 1557-65.
- ALLDINGER, S., BAUMGARTNER, W., KREMMER, E. & FONFARA, S. (1999) Characterization of a canine CD44 specific monoclonal antibody. Zentralbl Veterinarmed A, 46, 19-32.
- ALQAWI, O., BATES, S. & GEORGES, E. (2004) Arginine482 to threonine mutation in the breast cancer resistance protein ABCG2 inhibits rhodamine 123 transport while increasing binding. Biochem J, 382, 711-6.
- ALT, R., WILHELM, F., PELZ-ACKERMANN, O., EGGER, D., NIEDERWIESER, D. & CROSS, M. (2009) ABCG2 expression is correlated neither to side population nor to hematopoietic progenitor function in human umbilical cord blood. Exp Hematol, 37, 294-301.
- ALVAREZ, F. J., MURAHARI, S., COUTO, C. G., ROSOL, T. J., KULP, S. K., CHEN, C.-S. & KISSEBERTH, W. C. (2007) 3-Phosphoinositide-dependent protein kinase-1/Akt signalling and inhibition in a canine prostate carcinoma cell line. Veterinary and Comparative Oncology, 5, 47-58.
- ALVI, A. J., CLAYTON, H., JOSHI, C., ENVER, T., ASHWORTH, A., VIVANCO, M. M., DALE, T. C. & SMALLEY, M. J. (2003) Functional and molecular characterisation of mammary side population cells. Breast Cancer Res, 5, R1-8.

- ANDREOTTI, P. K., CREE, I. A., KURBACHER, C. M., HARTMANN, D. M., LINDER, D., HAREL, G., GLEIBERMAN, I., CARUSO, P. A., RICKS, S. H., UNTCH, M., SARTORI, C. & BRUCKNER, H. W. (1995) Chemosensitivity Testing of Human Tumors Using a Microplate Adenosine Triphosphate Luminescence Assay: Clinical Correlation for Cisplatin Resistance of Ovarian Carcinoma. Cancer Res, 55, 5276-5282.
- ARENDS, B., VANKELECOM, H., VANDER BORGHT, S., ROSKAMS, T., PENNING, L. C., ROTHUIZEN, J. & SPEE, B. (2009) The dog liver contains a "side population" of cells with hepatic progenitor-like characteristics. Stem Cells Dev, 18, 343-50.
- ARGYLE, D. J. & NASIR, L. (2003) Telomerase: a potential diagnostic and therapeutic tool in canine oncology. Vet Pathol, 40, 1-7.
- ARMSTRONG, L., STOJKOVIC, M., DIMMICK, I., AHMAD, S., STOJKOVIC, P., HOLE, N. & LAKO, M. (2004) Phenotypic characterization of murine primitive hematopoietic progenitor cells isolated on basis of aldehyde dehydrogenase activity. Stem Cells, 22, 1142-51.
- ARUFFO, A., STAMENKOVIC, I., MELNICK, M., UNDERHILL, C. B. & SEED, B. (1990) CD44 is the principal cell surface receptor for hyaluronate. Cell, 61, 1303-13.
- ASAHARA, T., MUROHARA, T., SULLIVAN, A., SILVER, M., VAN DER ZEE, R., LI, T., WITZENBICHLER, B., SCHATTEMAN, G. & ISNER, J. M. (1997) Isolation of putative progenitor endothelial cells for angiogenesis. Science, 275, 964-7.
- ATSUMI, N., ISHII, G., KOJIMA, M., SANADA, M., FUJII, S. & OCHIAI, A. (2008) Podoplanin, a novel marker of tumor-initiating cells in human squamous cell carcinoma A431. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 373, 36-41.
- AUGUSTIN-VOSS, H. G., SMITH, C. A. & LEWIS, R. M. (1990) Phenotypic characterization of normal and neoplastic canine endothelial cells by lectin histochemistry. Vet Pathol, 27, 103-9.
- AVELLINO, R., ROMANO, S., PARASOLE, R., BISOGNI, R., LAMBERTI, A., POGGI, V., VENUTA, S. & ROMANO, M. F. (2005) Rapamycin stimulates apoptosis of childhood acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Blood, 106, 1400-6.
- BAKER, M. (2009) John Dick: Careful assays for cancer stem cells. Nature Reports Stem Cells, 10.1038/stemcells.2009.47.
- BALIC, M., LIN, H., YOUNG, L., HAWES, D., GIULIANO, A., MCNAMARA, G., DATAR, R. H. & COTE, R. J. (2006) Most early disseminated cancer cells detected in bone marrow of breast cancer patients have a putative breast cancer stem cell phenotype. Clin Cancer Res, 12, 5615-21.
- BAPAT, S. A., MALI, A. M., KOPPIKAR, C. B. & KURREY, N. K. (2005) Stem and progenitor-like cells contribute to the aggressive behavior of human epithelial ovarian cancer. Cancer Res, 65, 3025-9.
- BARABE, F., KENNEDY, J. A., HOPE, K. J. & DICK, J. E. (2007) Modeling the initiation and progression of human acute leukemia in mice. Science, 316, 600-4.
- BARBIE, D. A., TAMAYO, P., BOEHM, J. S., KIM, S. Y., MOODY, S. E., DUNN, I. F., SCHINZEL, A. C., SANDY, P., MEYLAN, E., SCHOLL, C., FROHLING, S., CHAN, E. M., SOS, M. L., MICHEL, K., MERMEL, C., SILVER, S. J., WEIR, B. A., REILING, J. H., SHENG, Q., GUPTA, P. B., WADLOW, R. C., LE, H., HOERSCH, S., WITTNER, B. S., RAMASWAMY, S., LIVINGSTON, D. M., SABATINI, D. M., MEYERSON, M., THOMAS, R. K., LANDER, E. S., MESIROV, J. P., ROOT, D. E., GILLILAND, D. G., JACKS, T. & HAHN, W. C. (2009) Systematic RNA interference reveals that oncogenic KRAS-driven cancers require TBK1. Nature, 462, 108-12.

- BARKER, N., RIDGWAY, R. A., VAN ES, J. H., VAN DE WETERING, M., BEGTHEL, H., VAN DEN BORN, M., DANENBERG, E., CLARKE, A. R., SANSOM, O. J. & CLEVERS, H. (2009) Crypt stem cells as the cells-of-origin of intestinal cancer. Nature, 457, 608-11.
- BAUM, C. M., WEISSMAN, I. L., TSUKAMOTO, A. S., BUCKLE, A. M. & PEAULT, B. (1992) Isolation of a candidate human hematopoietic stem-cell population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89, 2804-8.
- BAUMANN, M., KRAUSE, M. & HILL, R. (2008) Exploring the role of cancer stem cells in radioresistance. Nat Rev Cancer, 8, 545-54.
- BAUMANN, P., CREMERS, N., KROESE, F., OREND, G., CHIQUET-EHRISMANN, R., UEDE, T., YAGITA, H. & SLEEMAN, J. P. (2005) CD24 expression causes the acquisition of multiple cellular properties associated with tumor growth and metastasis. Cancer Res, 65, 10783-93.
- BAUMGARTH, N. & ROEDERER, M. (2000) A practical approach to multicolor flow cytometry for immunophenotyping. J Immunol Methods, 243, 77-97.
- BAXTER, M. A., WYNN, R. F., JOWITT, S. N., WRAITH, J. E., FAIRBAIRN, L. J. & BELLANTUONO, I. (2004) Study of telomere length reveals rapid aging of human marrow stromal cells following in vitro expansion. Stem Cells, 22, 675-82.
- BEHBOD, F. & ROSEN, J. M. (2005) Will cancer stem cells provide new therapeutic targets? Carcinogenesis, 26, 703-11.
- BEIER, D., HAU, P., PROESCHOLDT, M., LOHMEIER, A., WISCHHUSEN, J., OEFNER, P. J., AIGNER, L., BRAWANSKI, A., BOGDAHN, U. & BEIER, C. P. (2007) CD133+ and CD133- Glioblastoma-Derived Cancer Stem Cells Show Differential Growth Characteristics and Molecular Profiles. Cancer Res, 67, 4010-5.
- BENCHAOUIR, R., RAMEAU, P., DECRAENE, C., DREYFUS, P., ISRAELI, D., PIETU, G., DANOS, O. & GARCIA, L. (2004) Evidence for a resident subset of cells with SP phenotype in the C2C12 myogenic line: a tool to explore muscle stem cell biology. Exp Cell Res, 294, 254-68.
- BENTIRES-ALJ, M., BARBU, V., FILLET, M., CHARIOT, A., RELIC, B., JACOBS, N., GIELEN, J., MERVILLE, M. P. & BOURS, V. (2003) NF-kappaB transcription factor induces drug resistance through MDR1 expression in cancer cells. Oncogene, 22, 90-7.
- BERESHCHENKO, O., MANCINI, E., MOORE, S., BILBAO, D., MANSSON, R., LUC, S., GROVER, A., JACOBSEN, S. E., BRYDER, D. & NERLOV, C. (2009) Hematopoietic stem cell expansion precedes the generation of committed myeloid leukemiainitiating cells in C/EBPalpha mutant AML. Cancer Cell, 16, 390-400.
- BERG, J. S. & GOODELL, M. A. (2007) An argument against a role for Oct4 in somatic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell, 1, 359-60.
- BERTONCELLO, I. & WILLIAMS, B. (2004) Hematopoietic stem cell characterization by Hoechst 33342 and rhodamine 123 staining. Methods Mol Biol, 263, 181-200.
- BHAGWANDIN, V. J. & SHAY, J. W. (2009) Pancreatic cancer stem cells: fact or fiction? Biochim Biophys Acta, 1792, 248-59.
- BHATIA, R., HOLTZ, M., NIU, N., GRAY, R., SNYDER, D. S., SAWYERS, C. L., ARBER, D. A., SLOVAK, M. L. & FORMAN, S. J. (2003) Persistence of malignant hematopoietic progenitors in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients in complete cytogenetic remission following imatinib mesylate treatment. Blood, 101, 4701-7.

- BIDLINGMAIER, S., ZHU, X. & LIU, B. (2008) The utility and limitations of glycosylated human CD133 epitopes in defining cancer stem cells. J Mol Med, 86, 1025-32.
- BISSON, I. & PROWSE, D. M. (2009) WNT signaling regulates self-renewal and differentiation of prostate cancer cells with stem cell characteristics. Cell Res, 19, 683-697.
- BJERKVIG, R., TYSNES, B. B., ABOODY, K. S., NAJBAUER, J. & TERZIS, A. J. (2005) Opinion: the origin of the cancer stem cell: current controversies and new insights. Nat Rev Cancer, 5, 899-904.
- BLEAU, A. M., HAMBARDZUMYAN, D., OZAWA, T., FOMCHENKO, E. I., HUSE, J. T., BRENNAN, C. W. & HOLLAND, E. C. (2009) PTEN/PI3K/Akt pathway regulates the side population phenotype and ABCG2 activity in glioma tumor stem-like cells. Cell Stem Cell, 4, 226-35.
- BOEGL, M. & PRINZ, C. (2009) CD133 expression in different stages of gastric adenocarcinoma. Br J Cancer, 100, 1365-6.
- BONNET, D. (2005) Normal and leukaemic stem cells. Br J Haematol, 130, 469-79.
- BONNET, D. & DICK, J. E. (1997) Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med, 3, 730-7.
- BOOMKENS, S. Y., SPEE, B., IJZER, J., KISJES, R., EGBERINK, H. F., VAN DEN INGH, T. S., ROTHUIZEN, J. & PENNING, L. C. (2004) The establishment and characterization of the first canine hepatocellular carcinoma cell line, which resembles human oncogenic expression patterns. Comp Hepatol, 3, 9.
- BOSANQUET, A. G. (1993) In Vitro Drug Sensitivity Testing for the Individual Patient: An Ideal Adjunct to Current Methods of Treatment Choice. Clinical Oncology, 5, 195-197.
- BOTTENSTEIN, J. E. & SATO, G. H. (1979) Growth of a rat neuroblastoma cell line in serum-free supplemented medium. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 76, 514-7.
- BOTTERO, V., IMBERT, V., FRELIN, C., FORMENTO, J. L. & PEYRON, J. F. (2003) Monitoring NF-kappa B transactivation potential via real-time PCR quantification of I kappa B-alpha gene expression. Mol Diagn, 7, 187-94.
- BOURGUIGNON, L. Y. W., PEYROLLIER, K., XIA, W. L. & GILAD, E. (2008) Hyaluronan-CD44 interaction activates stem cell marker nanog, stat3-mediated mdr1 gene expression, and ankyrin-regulated multidrug efflux in breast and ovarian tumour cells. J Biol Chem, 283, 17635 - 17651.
- BRABLETZ, T., JUNG, A., SPADERNA, S., HLUBEK, F. & KIRCHNER, T. (2005) Opinion: migrating cancer stem cells - an integrated concept of malignant tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer, 5, 744-9.
- BROCK, A., CHANG, H. & HUANG, S. (2009) Non-genetic heterogeneity--a mutationindependent driving force for the somatic evolution of tumours. Nat Rev Genet, 10, 336-42.
- BROWN, J., GREAVES, M. F. & MOLGAARD, H. V. (1991) The gene encoding the stem cell antigen, CD34, is conserved in mouse and expressed in haemopoietic progenitor cell lines, brain, and embryonic fibroblasts. Int Immunol, 3, 175-84.
- BROWN, J. M. & WILSON, W. R. (2004) Exploiting tumour hypoxia in cancer treatment. Nat Rev Cancer, 4, 437-47.
- BRUCE, W. R. & VAN DER GAAG, H. (1963) A Quantitative Assay for the Number of Murine Lymphoma Cells Capable of Proliferation in Vivo. Nature, 199, 79-80.

- BUESS, M., RAJSKI, M., VOGEL-DURRER, B. M., HERRMANN, R. & ROCHLITZ, C. (2009) Tumor-endothelial interaction links the CD44(+)/CD24(-) phenotype with poor prognosis in early-stage breast cancer. Neoplasia, 11, 987-1002.
- BUNTING, K. D. (2002) ABC transporters as phenotypic markers and functional regulators of stem cells. Stem Cells, 20, 11-20.
- BUNTING, K. D., ZHOU, S., LU, T. & SORRENTINO, B. P. (2000) Enforced Pglycoprotein pump function in murine bone marrow cells results in expansion of side population stem cells in vitro and repopulating cells in vivo. Blood, 96, 902-9.
- BURRIS, H. A., 3RD (2009) Shortcomings of current therapies for non-small-cell lung cancer: unmet medical needs. Oncogene, 28 Suppl 1, S4-13.
- CALCAGNO, A. M., FOSTEL, J. M., TO, K. K., SALCIDO, C. D., MARTIN, S. E., CHEWNING, K. J., WU, C. P., VARTICOVSKI, L., BATES, S. E., CAPLEN, N. J. & AMBUDKAR, S. V. (2008) Single-step doxorubicin-selected cancer cells overexpress the ABCG2 drug transporter through epigenetic changes. Br J Cancer, 98, 1515-24.
- CANAL, P., ATTAL, M., CHATELUT, E., GUICHARD, S., HUGUET, F., MULLER, C., SCHLAIFER, D., LAURENT, G., HOUIN, G. & BUGAT, R. (1993) Plasma and cellular pharmacokinetics of mitoxantrone in high-dose chemotherapeutic regimen for refractory lymphomas. Cancer Res, 53, 4850-4.
- CANTZ, T., KEY, G. O., BLEIDISSEL, M., GENTILE, L., HAN, D. W., BRENNE, A. & SCHOELER, H. R. (2008) Absence of OCT4 Expression in Somatic Tumor Cell Lines. Stem Cells, 26, 692-697.
- CARPENTINO, J. E., HYNES, M. J., APPELMAN, H. D., ZHENG, T., STEINDLER, D. A., SCOTT, E. W. & HUANG, E. H. (2009) Aldehyde dehydrogenase-expressing colon stem cells contribute to tumorigenesis in the transition from colitis to cancer. Cancer Res, 69, 8208-15.
- CERADINI, D. J. & GURTNER, G. C. (2005) Homing to hypoxia: HIF-1 as a mediator of progenitor cell recruitment to injured tissue. Trends Cardiovasc Med, 15, 57-63.
- CHAICHANA, K., ZAMORA-BERRIDI, G., CAMARA-QUINTANA, J. & QUINONES-HINOJOSA, A. (2006) Neurosphere assays: growth factors and hormone differences in tumor and nontumor studies. Stem Cells, 24, 2851-7.
- CHALLEN, G. A. & LITTLE, M. H. (2006) A side order of stem cells: the SP phenotype. Stem Cells, 24, 3-12.
- CHAMBERLAIN, G., FOX, J., ASHTON, B. & MIDDLETON, J. (2007) Concise review: mesenchymal stem cells: their phenotype, differentiation capacity, immunological features, and potential for homing. Stem Cells, 25, 2739-49.
- CHAMBERS, I. & SMITH, A. (2004) Self-renewal of teratocarcinoma and embryonic stem cells. Oncogene, 23, 7150-60.
- CHAN, K. S., ESPINOSA, I., CHAO, M., WONG, D., AILLES, L., DIEHN, M., GILL, H., PRESTI, J., JR., CHANG, H. Y., VAN DE RIJN, M., SHORTLIFFE, L. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2009) Identification, molecular characterization, clinical prognosis, and therapeutic targeting of human bladder tumor-initiating cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106, 14016-21.
- CHANG, H. H., HEMBERG, M., BARAHONA, M., INGBER, D. E. & HUANG, S. (2008) Transcriptome-wide noise controls lineage choice in mammalian progenitor cells. Nature, 453, 544-7.

- CHAUDHARY, P. M. & RONINSON, I. B. (1991) Expression and activity of Pglycoprotein, a multidrug efflux pump, in human hematopoietic stem cells. Cell, 66, 85-94.
- CHEN, Y. C., HSU, H. S., CHEN, Y. W., TSAI, T. H., HOW, C. K., WANG, C. Y., HUNG, S. C., CHANG, Y. L., TSAI, M. L., LEE, Y. Y., KU, H. H. & CHIOU, S. H. (2008) Oct-4 expression maintained cancer stem-like properties in lung cancerderived CD133-positive cells. PLoS One, 3, e2637.
- CHIOU, S. H., YU, C. C., HUANG, C. Y., LIN, S. C., LIU, C. J., TSAI, T. H., CHOU, S. H., CHIEN, C. S., KU, H. H. & LO, J. F. (2008) Positive correlations of Oct-4 and Nanog in oral cancer stem-like cells and high-grade oral squamous cell carcinoma. Clin Cancer Res, 14, 4085-95.
- CHOU, T.-C. & TALALAY, P. (1983) Analysis of combined drug effects: a new look at a very old problem. Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 4, 450-454.
- CHOU, T. C. (1998) Drug combinations: from laboratory to practice. J Lab Clin Med, 132, 6-8.
- CHRIST, O., LUCKE, K., IMREN, S., LEUNG, K., HAMILTON, M., EAVES, A., SMITH, C. & EAVES, C. (2007) Improved purification of hematopoietic stem cells based on their elevated aldehyde dehydrogenase activity. Haematologica, 92, 1165-72.
- CHU, T. S., CHEN, J. S., LOPEZ, J. P., PARDO, F. S., AGUILERA, J. & ONGKEKO, W. M. (2008) Imatinib-mediated inactivation of Akt regulates ABCG2 function in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Arch Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg, 134, 979-84.
- CHU, Y. W., YANG, P. C., YANG, S. C., SHYU, Y. C., HENDRIX, M. J., WU, R. & WU, C. W. (1997) Selection of invasive and metastatic subpopulations from a human lung adenocarcinoma cell line. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol, 17, 353-60.
- CHUA, C., ZAIDEN, N., CHONG, K. H., SEE, S. J., WONG, M. C., ANG, B. T. & TANG, C. (2008) Characterization of a side population of astrocytoma cells in response to temozolomide. J Neurosurg, 109, 856-66.
- CHUN, R., GARRETT, L. D. & VAIL, D. M. (2007) Cancer Chemotherapy. IN WITHROW, S. J. & VAIL, D. M. (Eds.) Withrow and MacEwen's Small Animal Clinical Oncology. 4th ed. St Louis, Missouri, Saunders Elsevier.
- CICERO, S. A., JOHNSON, D., REYNTJENS, S., FRASE, S., CONNELL, S., CHOW, L. M., BAKER, S. J., SORRENTINO, B. P. & DYER, M. A. (2009) Cells previously identified as retinal stem cells are pigmented ciliary epithelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106, 6685-6690.
- CLARKE, M. F., DICK, J. E., DIRKS, P. B., EAVES, C. J., JAMIESON, C. H., JONES, D. L., VISVADER, J., WEISSMAN, I. L. & WAHL, G. M. (2006) Cancer Stem Cells-Perspectives on Current Status and Future Directions: AACR Workshop on Cancer Stem Cells. Cancer Res, 66, 9339-44.
- COCOLA, C., ANASTASI, P., ASTIGIANO, S., PISCITELLI, E., PELUCCHI, P., VILARDO, L., BERTOLI, G., BECCAGLIA, M., VERONESI, M. C., SANZONE, S., BARBIERI, O., REINBOLD, R. A., LUVONI, G. C. & ZUCCHI, I. (2009) Isolation of canine mammary cells with stem cell properties and tumour-initiating potential. Reprod Domest Anim, 44 Suppl 2, 214-7.
- COLEY, H. M. (2004) Development of drug-resistant models. Methods Mol Med, 88, 267-73.

- COLLINS, A. T., BERRY, P. A., HYDE, C., STOWER, M. J. & MAITLAND, N. J. (2005) Prospective identification of tumorigenic prostate cancer stem cells. Cancer Res, 65, 10946-51.
- COLLINS, A. T., HABIB, F. K., MAITLAND, N. J. & NEAL, D. E. (2001) Identification and isolation of human prostate epithelial stem cells based on alpha(2)beta(1)integrin expression. J Cell Sci, 114, 3865-72.
- COMPAGNO, M., LIM, W. K., GRUNN, A., NANDULA, S. V., BRAHMACHARY, M., SHEN, Q., BERTONI, F., PONZONI, M., SCANDURRA, M., CALIFANO, A., BHAGAT, G., CHADBURN, A., DALLA-FAVERA, R. & PASQUALUCCI, L. (2009) Mutations of multiple genes cause deregulation of NF-kappaB in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. Nature, 459, 717-721.
- COX, C. V., DIAMANTI, P., EVELY, R. S., KEARNS, P. R. & BLAIR, A. (2009) Expression of CD133 on leukemia-initiating cells in childhood ALL. Blood, 113, 3287-96.
- COX, C. V., EVELY, R. S., OAKHILL, A., PAMPHILON, D. H., GOULDEN, N. J. & BLAIR, A. (2004) Characterization of acute lymphoblastic leukemia progenitor cells. Blood, 104, 2919-25.
- COZZIO, A., PASSEGUE, E., AYTON, P. M., KARSUNKY, H., CLEARY, M. L. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2003) Similar MLL-associated leukemias arising from selfrenewing stem cells and short-lived myeloid progenitors. Genes Dev, 17, 3029-35.
- CREE, I. A., PAZZAGLI, M., MINI, E., MAZZEI, T., HUNTER, E. M., SUTHERLAND, L. A., PINZANI, P., GERLI, A. & ANDREOTTI, P. E. (1995) Methotrexate chemosensitivity by ATP luminescence in human leukemia cell lines and in breast cancer primary cultures: comparison of the TCA-100 assay with a clonogenic assay. Anticancer Drugs, 6, 398-404.
- CROSIER, P. S., RICCIARDI, S. T., HALL, L. R., VITAS, M. R., CLARK, S. C. & CROSIER, K. E. (1993) Expression of isoforms of the human receptor tyrosine kinase c-kit in leukemic cell lines and acute myeloid leukemia. Blood, 82, 1151-8.
- CULMSEE, K., SIMON, D., MISCHKE, R. & NOLTE, I. (2001) Possibilities of flow cytometric analysis for immunophenotypic characterization of canine lymphoma. J Vet Med A Physiol Pathol Clin Med, 48, 199-206.
- CUSACK, J. C., JR., LIU, R., HOUSTON, M., ABENDROTH, K., ELLIOTT, P. J., ADAMS, J. & BALDWIN, A. S., JR. (2001) Enhanced chemosensitivity to CPT-11 with proteasome inhibitor PS-341: implications for systemic nuclear factor-kappaB inhibition. Cancer Res, 61, 3535-40.
- DAI, C., CELESTINO, J. C., OKADA, Y., LOUIS, D. N., FULLER, G. N. & HOLLAND, E. C. (2001) PDGF autocrine stimulation dedifferentiates cultured astrocytes and induces oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas from neural progenitors and astrocytes in vivo. Genes Dev, 15, 1913-25.
- DAJEE, M., LAZAROV, M., ZHANG, J. Y., CAI, T., GREEN, C. L., RUSSELL, A. J., MARINKOVICH, M. P., TAO, S., LIN, Q., KUBO, Y. & KHAVARI, P. A. (2003) NFkappaB blockade and oncogenic Ras trigger invasive human epidermal neoplasia. Nature, 421, 639-43.
- DALERBA, P., DYLLA, S. J., PARK, I. K., LIU, R., WANG, X., CHO, R. W., HOEY, T., GURNEY, A., HUANG, E. H., SIMEONE, D. M., SHELTON, A. A., PARMIANI, G.,

CASTELLI, C. & CLARKE, M. F. (2007) Phenotypic characterization of human colorectal cancer stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104, 10158-63.

- DALEY, G. Q. (2004) Chronic myeloid leukemia: proving ground for cancer stem cells. Cell, 119, 314-6.
- DANCEY, J. E. (2006) Therapeutic targets: MTOR and related pathways. Cancer Biol Ther, 5, 1065-73.
- DARNELL, J. E., JR. (2002) Transcription factors as targets for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer, 2, 740-9.
- DAS, K. C. & WHITE, C. W. (1997) Activation of NF-kappaB by antineoplastic agents. Role of protein kinase C. J Biol Chem, 272, 14914-20.
- DE WITT HAMER, P. C., VAN TILBORG, A. A., EIJK, P. P., SMINIA, P., TROOST, D., VAN NOORDEN, C. J., YLSTRA, B. & LEENSTRA, S. (2008) The genomic profile of human malignant glioma is altered early in primary cell culture and preserved in spheroids. Oncogene, 27, 2091-6.
- DEAN, M., FOJO, T. & BATES, S. (2005) Tumour stem cells and drug resistance. Nat Rev Cancer, 5, 275-84.
- DELL'ALBANI, P. (2008) Stem cell markers in gliomas. Neurochem Res, 33, 2407-15.
- DESOIZE, B. & JARDILLIER, J. (2000) Multicellular resistance: a paradigm for clinical resistance? Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 36, 193-207.
- DIAMANDIS, P., WILDENHAIN, J., CLARKE, I. D., SACHER, A. G., GRAHAM, J., BELLOWS, D. S., LING, E. K. M., WARD, R. J., JAMIESON, L. G., TYERS, M. & DIRKS, P. B. (2007) Chemical genetics reveals a complex functional ground state of neural stem cells. Nature Chemical Biology, 3, 268-273.
- DICK, J. E. (2008) Stem cell concepts renew cancer research. Blood, 112, 4793-807.
- DICKERSON, E. B., THOMAS, R., FOSMIRE, S. P., LAMERATO-KOZICKI, A. R.,
  BIANCO, S. R., WOJCIESZYN, J. W., BREEN, M., HELFAND, S. C. & MODIANO, J.
  F. (2005) Mutations of phosphatase and tensin homolog deleted from chromosome 10 in canine hemangiosarcoma. Vet Pathol, 42, 618-32.
- DIEHN, M., CHO, R. W., LOBO, N. A., KALISKY, T., DORIE, M. J., KULP, A. N., QIAN, D., LAM, J. S., AILLES, L. E., WONG, M., JOSHUA, B., KAPLAN, M. J., WAPNIR, I., DIRBAS, F., SOMLO, G., GARBEROGLIO, C., PAZ, B., SHEN, J., LAU, S. K., QUAKE, S. R., BROWN, J. M., WEISSMAN, I. L. & CLARKE, M. F. (2009) Association of reactive oxygen species levels and radioresistance in cancer stem cells. Nature, 458, 780-3.
- DIEVART, A., BEAULIEU, N. & JOLICOEUR, P. (1999) Involvement of Notch1 in the development of mouse mammary tumors. Oncogene, 18, 5973-81.
- DINGLI, D. & MICHOR, F. (2006) Successful therapy must eradicate cancer stem cells. Stem Cells, 24, 2603-10.
- DONTU, G., ABDALLAH, W. M., FOLEY, J. M., JACKSON, K. W., CLARKE, M. F., KAWAMURA, M. J. & WICHA, M. S. (2003) In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Genes Dev, 17, 1253-70.
- DONTU, G., JACKSON, K. W., MCNICHOLAS, E., KAWAMURA, M. J., ABDALLAH, W. M. & WICHA, M. S. (2004) Role of Notch signaling in cell-fate determination of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Breast Cancer Res, 6, R605-15.
- DOU, J., PAN, M., WEN, P., LI, Y., TANG, Q., CHU, L., ZHAO, F., JIANG, C., HU, W., HU, K. & GU, N. (2007) Isolation and identification of cancer stem-like cells from murine melanoma cell lines. Cell Mol Immunol, 4, 467-72.

DOWNWARD, J. (2009) Cancer: A tumour gene's fatal flaws. Nature, 462, 44-45.

- DOYLE, L. A. & ROSS, D. D. (2003) Multidrug resistance mediated by the breast cancer resistance protein BCRP (ABCG2). Oncogene, 22, 7340-58.
- DOYLE, L. A., YANG, W., ABRUZZO, L. V., KROGMANN, T., GAO, Y., RISHI, A. K. & ROSS, D. D. (1998) A multidrug resistance transporter from human MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 95, 15665-70.
- DUBROVSKA, A., KIM, S., SALAMONE, R. J., WALKER, J. R., MAIRA, S. M., GARCIA-ECHEVERRIA, C., SCHULTZ, P. G. & REDDY, V. A. (2009) The role of PTEN/Akt/PI3K signaling in the maintenance and viability of prostate cancer stem-like cell populations. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106, 268-73.
- DURAND, R. E. (1981) Flow cytometry studies of intracellular adriamycin in multicell spheroids in vitro. Cancer Res, 41, 3495-8.
- DURAND, R. E. & OLIVE, P. L. (2001) Resistance of tumor cells to chemo- and radiotherapy modulated by the three-dimensional architecture of solid tumors and spheroids. Methods Cell Biol, 64, 211-33.
- EAKER, S. S., HAWLEY, T. S., RAMEZANI, A. & HAWLEY, R. G. (2004) Detection and enrichment of hematopoietic stem cells by side population phenotype. Methods Mol Biol, 263, 161-80.
- EAST, J. A. & HART, I. R. (1993) CD44 and its role in tumour progression and metastasis. Eur J Cancer, 29A, 1921-2.
- ELSE, R. W., NORVAL, M. & NEILL, W. A. (1982) The characteristics of a canine mammary carcinoma cell line, REM 134. Br J Cancer, 46, 675-81.
- ENGELMANN, K., SHEN, H. & FINN, O. J. (2008) MCF7 side population cells with characteristics of cancer stem/progenitor cells express the tumor antigen MUC1. Cancer Res, 68, 2419-26.
- EVAN, G. I. & VOUSDEN, K. H. (2001) Proliferation, cell cycle and apoptosis in cancer. Nature, 411, 342-8.
- FAN, X., MATSUI, W., KHAKI, L., STEARNS, D., CHUN, J., LI, Y. M. & EBERHART, C. G. (2006) Notch pathway inhibition depletes stem-like cells and blocks engraftment in embryonal brain tumors. Cancer Res, 66, 7445-52.
- FANG, D., NGUYEN, T. K., LEISHEAR, K., FINKO, R., KULP, A. N., HOTZ, S., VAN BELLE, P. A., XU, X., ELDER, D. E. & HERLYN, M. (2005) A tumorigenic subpopulation with stem cell properties in melanomas. Cancer Res, 65, 9328-37.
- FILLMORE, C. & KUPERWASSER, C. (2007) Human breast cancer stem cell markers CD44 and CD24: enriching for cells with functional properties in mice or in man? Breast Cancer Res, 9, 303.
- FILLMORE, C. M. & KUPERWASSER, C. (2008) Human breast cancer cell lines contain stem-like cells that self-renew, give rise to phenotypically diverse progeny and survive chemotherapy. Breast Cancer Res, 10, R25.
- FIORDALISI, M. N., BONIFACINO, A., DE SILVA, R., DONAHUE, R. E., PHILLIPS, H. R., HALEY, N. R. & BALBER, A. E. (2005) Identification of Aldehyde
  Dehydrogenase (ALDH) Bright Cells in Monkey, Dog, and Pig. ISCT 2005.
  Abstracts of the Annual Meeting of the International Society for Cellular Therapy, Vancouver, Canada. Cytotherapy, 7 Suppl 1, 62 pages.
- FOJO, T. & BATES, S. (2003) Strategies for reversing drug resistance. Oncogene, 22, 7512-23.
- Fosmire, S. P., Dickerson, E. B., Scott, A. M., Bianco, S. R., Pettengill, M. J., Meylemans, H., Padilla, M., Frazer-Abel, A. A., Akhtar, N., Getzy, D.

M., WOJCIESZYN, J., BREEN, M., HELFAND, S. C. & MODIANO, J. F. (2004) Canine malignant hemangiosarcoma as a model of primitive angiogenic endothelium. Lab Invest, 84, 562-72.

- FOSTER, S. J., WINSTEAD, L., FISHER, A., BAUCOM, C., PRITCHARD, C. & BALBER, A. E. (2003) Specificity of the Flow Cytometric Aldehyde Dehydrogenase [ALDH] Assay in Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells and Tumor Cell Lines. Abstracts of the Annual Meeting of the American Society for Hematology, 2003. Blood, 102, (abstr).
- FRE, S., PALLAVI, S. K., HUYGHE, M., LAE, M., JANSSEN, K. P., ROBINE, S., ARTAVANIS-TSAKONAS, S. & LOUVARD, D. (2009) Notch and Wnt signals cooperatively control cell proliferation and tumorigenesis in the intestine. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106, 6309-14.
- FREYER, J. P. & SUTHERLAND, R. M. (1980) Selective dissociation and characterization of cells from different regions of multicell tumor spheroids. Cancer Res, 40, 3956-65.
- FRIED, J., DOBLIN, J., TAKAMOTO, S., PEREZ, A., HANSEN, H. & CLARKSON, B. (1982) Effects of Hoechst 33342 on survival and growth of two tumor cell lines and on hematopoietically normal bone marrow cells. Cytometry, 3, 42-7.
- FUJII, H., HONOKI, K., TSUJIUCHI, T., KIDO, A., YOSHITANI, K., MORI, T. & TAKAKURA, Y. (2007) Reduced expression of INK4a/ARF genes in stem-like sphere cells from rat sarcomas. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 362, 773-8.
- FUJII, T., ZEN, Y., HARADA, K., NIWA, H., MASUDA, S., KAIZAKI, Y., WATANABE, K., KAWASHIMA, A. & NAKANUMA, Y. (2008) Participation of liver cancer stem/progenitor cells in tumorigenesis of scirrhous hepatocellular carcinoma-human and cell culture study. Hum Pathol, 39, 1185-96.
- FUKUDA, K., SAIKAWA, Y., OHASHI, M., KUMAGAI, K., KITAJIMA, M., OKANO, H., MATSUZAKI, Y. & KITAGAWA, Y. (2009) Tumor initiating potential of side population cells in human gastric cancer. Int J Oncol, 34, 1201-7.
- FUKUSE, T., HIRATA, T., NAIKI, H., HITOMI, S. & WADA, H. (1999) Expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen and CD44 variant isoforms in the primary and metastatic sites of nonsmall cell lung carcinoma with intrapulmonary metastases. Cancer, 86, 1174-81.
- FULTS, D., PEDONE, C., DAI, C. & HOLLAND, E. C. (2002) MYC expression promotes the proliferation of neural progenitor cells in culture and in vivo. Neoplasia, 4, 32-9.
- FURUTA, K., ZAHURAK, M., YANG, X. L., ROSADA, C., GOODMAN, S. N., AUGUST, J. T. & HAMILTON, S. R. (1996) Relationship between CD44 expression and cell proliferation in epithelium and stroma of colorectal neoplasms. Am J Pathol, 149, 1147-55.
- GAL, H., AMARIGLIO, N., TRAKHTENBROT, L., JACOB-HIRSH, J., MARGALIT, O., AVIGDOR, A., NAGLER, A., TAVOR, S., EIN-DOR, L., LAPIDOT, T., DOMANY, E., RECHAVI, G. & GIVOL, D. (2006) Gene expression profiles of AML derived stem cells; similarity to hematopoietic stem cells. Leukemia, 20, 2147-54.
- GALIE, M., KONSTANTINIDOU, G., PERONI, D., SCAMBI, I., MARCHINI, C., LISI, V.,
  KRAMPERA, M., MAGNANI, P., MERIGO, F., MONTANI, M., BOSCHI, F.,
  MARZOLA, P., ORRU, R., FARACE, P., SBARBATI, A. & AMICI, A. (2008)
  Mesenchymal stem cells share molecular signature with mesenchymal tumor
  cells and favor early tumor growth in syngeneic mice. Oncogene, 27, 2542-51.

- GALLI, R., BINDA, E., ORFANELLI, U., CIPELLETTI, B., GRITTI, A., DE VITIS, S., FIOCCO, R., FORONI, C., DIMECO, F. & VESCOVI, A. (2004) Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stem-like neural precursors from human glioblastoma. Cancer Res, 64, 7011-21.
- GELAIN, M. E., MAZZILLI, M., RIONDATO, F., MARCONATO, L. & COMAZZI, S. (2008) Aberrant phenotypes and quantitative antigen expression in different subtypes of canine lymphoma by flow cytometry. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 121, 179-88.
- GENTRY, T., FOSTER, S., WINSTEAD, L., DEIBERT, E., FIORDALISI, M. & BALBER, A. (2007) Simultaneous isolation of human BM hematopoietic, endothelial and mesenchymal progenitor cells by flow sorting based on aldehyde dehydrogenase activity: implications for cell therapy. Cytotherapy, 9, 259-74.
- GHOSH, S. & KARIN, M. (2002) Missing pieces in the NF-kappaB puzzle. Cell, 109 Suppl, S81-96.
- GHOSH, S., MAY, M. J. & KOPP, E. B. (1998) NF-kappa B and Rel proteins: evolutionarily conserved mediators of immune responses. Annu Rev Immunol, 16, 225-60.
- GIBBS, C. P., KUKEKOV, V. G., REITH, J. D., TCHIGRINOVA, O., SUSLOV, O. N., SCOTT, E. W., GHIVIZZANI, S. C., IGNATOVA, T. N. & STEINDLER, D. A. (2005) Stem-like cells in bone sarcomas: implications for tumorigenesis. Neoplasia, 7, 967-76.
- GIDEKEL, S., PIZOV, G., BERGMAN, Y. & PIKARSKY, E. (2003) Oct-3/4 is a dosedependent oncogenic fate determinant. Cancer Cell, 4, 361-370.
- GINESTIER, C., HUR, M. H., CHARAFE-JAUFFRET, E., MONVILLE, F., DUTCHER, J., BROWN, M., JACQUEMIER, J., VIENS, P., KLEER, C. G., LIU, S., SCHOTT, A., HAYES, D., BIRNBAUM, D., WICHA, M. S. & DONTU, G. (2007) ALDH1 Is a Marker of Normal and Malignant Human Mammary Stem Cells and a Predictor of Poor Clinical Outcome. Cell Stem Cell, 1, 555-567.
- GLEIXNER, K. V., REBUZZI, L., MAYERHOFER, M., GRUZE, A., HADZIJUSUFOVIC, E., SONNECK, K., VALES, A., KNEIDINGER, M., SAMORAPOOMPICHIT, P., THAIWONG, T., PICKL, W. F., YUZBASIYAN-GURKAN, V., SILLABER, C., WILLMANN, M. & VALENT, P. (2007) Synergistic antiproliferative effects of KIT tyrosine kinase inhibitors on neoplastic canine mast cells. Exp Hematol, 35, 1510-21.
- GLINSKY, G. V., BEREZOVSKA, O. & GLINSKII, A. B. (2005) Microarray analysis identifies a death-from-cancer signature predicting therapy failure in patients with multiple types of cancer. J Clin Invest, 115, 1503-21.
- GOODELL, M. A., BROSE, K., PARADIS, G., CONNER, A. S. & MULLIGAN, R. C. (1996) Isolation and functional properties of murine hematopoietic stem cells that are replicating in vivo. J Exp Med, 183, 1797-806.
- GOODELL, M. A., ROSENZWEIG, M., KIM, H., MARKS, D. F., DEMARIA, M., PARADIS, G., GRUPP, S. A., SIEFF, C. A., MULLIGAN, R. C. & JOHNSON, R. P. (1997) Dye efflux studies suggest that hematopoietic stem cells expressing low or undetectable levels of CD34 antigen exist in multiple species. Nat Med, 3, 1337-45.
- GOODISON, S. & TARIN, D. (1998) Current status of CD44 variant isoforms as cancer diagnostic markers. Histopathology, 32, 1-6.
- GOODISON, S., URQUIDI, V. & TARIN, D. (1999) CD44 cell adhesion molecules. Mol Pathol, 52, 189-96.

- GORAI, I., YANAGIBASHI, T., TAKI, A., UDAGAWA, K., MIYAGI, E., NAKAZAWA, T., HIRAHARA, F., NAGASHIMA, Y. & MINAGUCHI, H. (1997) Uterine carcinosarcoma is derived from a single stem cell: an in vitro study. Int J Cancer, 72, 821-7.
- GORDON, M. Y., GOLDMAN, J. M. & GORDON-SMITH, E. C. (1985) 4-Hydroperoxycyclophosphamide inhibits proliferation by human granulocytemacrophage colony-forming cells (GM-CFC) but spares more primitive progenitor cells. Leuk Res, 9, 1017-21.
- GOTTESMAN, M. M., FOJO, T. & BATES, S. E. (2002) Multidrug resistance in cancer: role of ATP-dependent transporters. Nat Rev Cancer, 2, 48-58.
- GRECO, S. J., LIU, K. & RAMESHWAR, P. (2007) Functional similarities among genes regulated by OCT4 in human mesenchymal and embryonic stem cells. Stem Cells, 25, 3143-54.
- GREENLEE, P. G., CALVANO, S. E., QUIMBY, F. W. & HURVITZ, A. I. (1987) Investigation of cross-reactivity between commercially available antibodies directed against human, mouse, and rat lymphocyte surface antigens and surface markers on canine cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 15, 285-96.
- GRETEN, F. R. & KARIN, M. (2004) The IKK/NF-kappaB activation pathway-a target for prevention and treatment of cancer. Cancer Lett, 206, 193-9.
- GRIFFIN, J. D. & LOWENBERG, B. (1986) Clonogenic cells in acute myeloblastic leukemia. Blood, 68, 1185-95.
- GRONTHOS, S., ZANNETTINO, A. C., GRAVES, S. E., OHTA, S., HAY, S. J. & SIMMONS, P. J. (1999) Differential cell surface expression of the STRO-1 and alkaline phosphatase antigens on discrete developmental stages in primary cultures of human bone cells. J Bone Miner Res, 14, 47-56.
- GUNSILIUS, E., DUBA, H. C., PETZER, A. L., KAHLER, C. M., GRUNEWALD, K., STOCKHAMMER, G., GABL, C., DIRNHOFER, S., CLAUSEN, J. & GASTL, G. (2000) Evidence from a leukaemia model for maintenance of vascular endothelium by bone-marrow-derived endothelial cells. Lancet, 355, 1688-91.
- GUNTHERT, U., HOFMANN, M., RUDY, W., REBER, S., ZOLLER, M., HAUSSMANN, I., MATZKU, S., WENZEL, A., PONTA, H. & HERRLICH, P. (1991) A new variant of glycoprotein CD44 confers metastatic potential to rat carcinoma cells. Cell, 65, 13-24.
- GUPTA, P. B., CHAFFER, C. L. & WEINBERG, R. A. (2009a) Cancer stem cells: mirage or reality? Nat Med, 15, 1010-2.
- GUPTA, P. B., ONDER, T. T., JIANG, G., TAO, K., KUPERWASSER, C., WEINBERG, R. A. & LANDER, E. S. (2009b) Identification of selective inhibitors of cancer stem cells by high-throughput screening. Cell, 138, 645-59.
- GUZMAN, M. L., NEERING, S. J., UPCHURCH, D., GRIMES, B., HOWARD, D. S., RIZZIERI, D. A., LUGER, S. M. & JORDAN, C. T. (2001) Nuclear factor-kappaB is constitutively activated in primitive human acute myelogenous leukemia cells. Blood, 98, 2301-7.
- GUZMAN, M. L., ROSSI, R. M., KARNISCHKY, L., LI, X., PETERSON, D. R., HOWARD, D. S. & JORDAN, C. T. (2005) The sesquiterpene lactone parthenolide induces apoptosis of human acute myelogenous leukemia stem and progenitor cells. Blood, 105, 4163-9.
- GUZMAN, M. L., ROSSI, R. M., NEELAKANTAN, S., LI, X., CORBETT, C. A., HASSANE, D. C., BECKER, M. W., BENNETT, J. M., SULLIVAN, E., LACHOWICZ, J.

L., VAUGHAN, A., SWEENEY, C. J., MATTHEWS, W., CARROLL, M., LIESVELD, J. L., CROOKS, P. A. & JORDAN, C. T. (2007) An orally bioavailable parthenolide analog selectively eradicates acute myelogenous leukemia stem and progenitor cells. Blood, 110, 4427-35.

- GUZMAN, M. L., SWIDERSKI, C. F., HOWARD, D. S., GRIMES, B. A., ROSSI, R. M., SZILVASSY, S. J. & JORDAN, C. T. (2002) Preferential induction of apoptosis for primary human leukemic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 99, 16220-5.
- HADNAGY, A., GABOURY, L., BEAULIEU, R. & BALICKI, D. (2006) SP analysis may be used to identify cancer stem cell populations. Exp Cell Res, 312, 3701-10.
- HAHN, K. A., OGILVIE, G., RUSK, T., DEVAUCHELLE, P., LEBLANC, A., LEGENDRE,
  A., POWERS, B., LEVENTHAL, P. S., KINET, J. P., PALMERINI, F., DUBREUIL, P.,
  MOUSSY, A. & HERMINE, O. (2008) Masitinib is safe and effective for the
  treatment of canine mast cell tumors. J Vet Intern Med, 22, 1301-9.
- HAMBARDZUMYAN, D., BECHER, O. J., ROSENBLUM, M. K., PANDOLFI, P. P., MANOVA-TODOROVA, K. & HOLLAND, E. C. (2008) PI3K pathway regulates survival of cancer stem cells residing in the perivascular niche following radiation in medulloblastoma in vivo. Genes Dev, 22, 436-48.
- HAMBURGER, A. W. & SALMON, S. E. (1977) Primary bioassay of human tumor stem cells. Science, 197, 461-3.
- HANAHAN, D. & WEINBERG, R. A. (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell, 100, 57-70.
- HANDGRETINGER, R., GORDON, P. R., LEIMIG, T., CHEN, X., BUHRING, H. J., NIETHAMMER, D. & KUCI, S. (2003) Biology and plasticity of CD133+ hematopoietic stem cells. Ann N Y Acad Sci, 996, 141-51.
- HARPER, L. J., PIPER, K., COMMON, J., FORTUNE, F. & MACKENZIE, I. C. (2007) Stem cell patterns in cell lines derived from head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J Oral Pathol Med, 36, 594-603.
- HEENAN, M., O'DRISCOLL, L., CLEARY, I., CONNOLLY, L. & CLYNES, M. (1997) Isolation from a human MDR lung cell line of multiple clonal subpopulations which exhibit significantly different drug resistance. Int J Cancer, 71, 907-15.
- HEINEMANN, V., BOECK, S., HINKE, A., LABIANCA, R. & LOUVET, C. (2008) Metaanalysis of randomized trials: evaluation of benefit from gemcitabine-based combination chemotherapy applied in advanced pancreatic cancer. BMC Cancer, 8, 82.
- HELLMEN, E., MOLLER, M., BLANKENSTEIN, M. A., ANDERSSON, L. & WESTERMARK, B. (2000) Expression of different phenotypes in cell lines from canine mammary spindle-cell tumours and osteosarcomas indicating a pluripotent mammary stem cell origin. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 61, 197-210.
- HEMMATI, H. D., NAKANO, I., LAZAREFF, J. A., MASTERMAN-SMITH, M., GESCHWIND, D. H., BRONNER-FRASER, M. & KORNBLUM, H. I. (2003) Cancerous stem cells can arise from pediatric brain tumors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100, 15178-83.
- HENNESSY, B. T., GONZALEZ-ANGULO, A. M., STEMKE-HALE, K., GILCREASE, M. Z., KRISHNAMURTHY, S., LEE, J. S., FRIDLYAND, J., SAHIN, A., AGARWAL, R., JOY, C., LIU, W., STIVERS, D., BAGGERLY, K., CAREY, M., LLUCH, A., MONTEAGUDO, C., HE, X., WEIGMAN, V., FAN, C., PALAZZO, J., HORTOBAGYI, G. N., NOLDEN, L. K., WANG, N. J., VALERO, V., GRAY, J. W., PEROU, C. M. & MILLS, G. B. (2009) Characterization of a naturally occurring breast cancer subset enriched in

epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and stem cell characteristics. Cancer Res, 69, 4116-24.

- HERMANN, P. C., HUBER, S. L., HERRLER, T., AICHER, A., ELLWART, J. W., GUBA, M., BRUNS, C. J. & HEESCHEN, C. (2007) Distinct populations of cancer stem cells determine tumor growth and metastatic activity in human pancreatic cancer. Cell Stem Cell, 1, 313-23.
- HERRERA-GAYOL, A. & JOTHY, S. (1999a) Adhesion proteins in the biology of breast cancer: contribution of CD44. Exp Mol Pathol, 66, 149-56.
- HERRERA-GAYOL, A. & JOTHY, S. (1999b) CD44 modulates Hs578T human breast cancer cell adhesion, migration, and invasiveness. Exp Mol Pathol, 66, 99-108.
- HESS, D. A., MEYERROSE, T. E., WIRTHLIN, L., CRAFT, T. P., HERRBRICH, P. E., CREER, M. H. & NOLTA, J. A. (2004) Functional characterization of highly purified human hematopoietic repopulating cells isolated according to aldehyde dehydrogenase activity. Blood, 104, 1648-55.
- HESS, D. A., WIRTHLIN, L., CRAFT, T. P., HERRBRICH, P. E., HOHM, S. A., LAHEY, R., EADES, W. C., CREER, M. H. & NOLTA, J. A. (2006) Selection based on CD133 and high aldehyde dehydrogenase activity isolates long-term reconstituting human hematopoietic stem cells. Blood, 107, 2162-9.
- HIDESHIMA, T., CHAUHAN, D., KIZILTEPE, T., IKEDA, H., OKAWA, Y., PODAR, K., RAJE, N., PROTOPOPOV, A., MUNSHI, N. C., RICHARDSON, P. G., CARRASCO, R. D. & ANDERSON, K. C. (2009a) Biologic sequelae of I{kappa}B kinase (IKK) inhibition in multiple myeloma: therapeutic implications. Blood, 113, 5228-36.
- HIDESHIMA, T., CHAUHAN, D., RICHARDSON, P., MITSIADES, C., MITSIADES, N., HAYASHI, T., MUNSHI, N., DANG, L., CASTRO, A., PALOMBELLA, V., ADAMS, J. & ANDERSON, K. C. (2002) NF-kappa B as a therapeutic target in multiple myeloma. J Biol Chem, 277, 16639-47.
- HIDESHIMA, T., IKEDA, H., CHAUHAN, D., OKAWA, Y., RAJE, N., PODAR, K., MITSIADES, C., MUNSHI, N. C., RICHARDSON, P. G., CARRASCO, R. D. & ANDERSON, K. C. (2009b) Bortezomib induces canonical nuclear factor-kappaB activation in multiple myeloma cells. Blood, 114, 1046-52.
- HILL, R. P. (2006) Identifying cancer stem cells in solid tumors: case not proven. Cancer Res, 66, 1891-5.
- HIRSCH, H. A., ILIOPOULOS, D., TSICHLIS, P. N. & STRUHL, K. (2009) Metformin selectively targets cancer stem cells, and acts together with chemotherapy to block tumor growth and prolong remission. Cancer Res, 69, 7507-11.
- HIRSCHMANN-JAX, C., FOSTER, A. E., WULF, G. G., NUCHTERN, J. G., JAX, T. W., GOBEL, U., GOODELL, M. A. & BRENNER, M. K. (2004) A distinct "side population" of cells with high drug efflux capacity in human tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 101, 14228-33.
- HISCOX, S. & JIANG, W. G. (1997) Regulation of endothelial CD44 expression and endothelium-tumour cell interactions by hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 233, 1-5.
- HIYAMA, E. & HIYAMA, K. (2007) Telomere and telomerase in stem cells. Br J Cancer, 96, 1020-4.
- HOCHEDLINGER, K., YAMADA, Y., BEARD, C. & JAENISCH, R. (2005) Ectopic expression of Oct-4 blocks progenitor-cell differentiation and causes dysplasia in epithelial tissues. Cell, 121, 465-77.

- HOCHREITER, A. E., XIAO, H., GOLDBLATT, E. M., GRYAZNOV, S. M., MILLER, K. D., BADVE, S., SLEDGE, G. W. & HERBERT, B. S. (2006) Telomerase template antagonist GRN163L disrupts telomere maintenance, tumor growth, and metastasis of breast cancer. Clin Cancer Res, 12, 3184-92.
- HOEMANN, C. D., BEAULIEU, N., GIRARD, L., REBAI, N. & JOLICOEUR, P. (2000) Two distinct Notch1 mutant alleles are involved in the induction of T-cell leukemia in c-myc transgenic mice. Mol Cell Biol, 20, 3831-42.
- HOLLAND, E. C., CELESTINO, J., DAI, C., SCHAEFER, L., SAWAYA, R. E. & FULLER, G. N. (2000) Combined activation of Ras and Akt in neural progenitors induces glioblastoma formation in mice. Nat Genet, 25, 55-7.
- HOLYOAKE, T., JIANG, X., EAVES, C. & EAVES, A. (1999) Isolation of a highly quiescent subpopulation of primitive leukemic cells in chronic myeloid leukemia. Blood, 94, 2056-64.
- HONETH, G., BENDAHL, P. O., RINGNER, M., SAAL, L. H., GRUVBERGER-SAAL, S. K., LOVGREN, K., GRABAU, D., FERNO, M., BORG, A. & HEGARDT, C. (2008) The CD44+/CD24- phenotype is enriched in basal-like breast tumors. Breast Cancer Res, 10, R53.
- HONG, D., GUPTA, R., ANCLIFF, P., ATZBERGER, A., BROWN, J., SONEJI, S., GREEN, J., COLMAN, S., PIACIBELLO, W., BUCKLE, V., TSUZUKI, S., GREAVES, M. & ENVER, T. (2008) Initiating and cancer-propagating cells in TEL-AML1associated childhood leukemia. Science, 319, 336-9.
- HONJO, Y., HRYCYNA, C. A., YAN, Q. W., MEDINA-PEREZ, W. Y., ROBEY, R. W., VAN DE LAAR, A., LITMAN, T., DEAN, M. & BATES, S. E. (2001) Acquired mutations in the MXR/BCRP/ABCP gene alter substrate specificity in MXR/BCRP/ABCP-overexpressing cells. Cancer Res, 61, 6635-9.
- HORMI-CARVER, K., ZHANG, X., ZHANG, H. Y., WHITEHEAD, R. H., TERADA, L. S., SPECHLER, S. J. & SOUZA, R. F. (2009) Unlike esophageal squamous cells, Barrett's epithelial cells resist apoptosis by activating the nuclear factor-kappaB pathway. Cancer Res, 69, 672-7.
- HOUGHTON, J., STOICOV, C., NOMURA, S., ROGERS, A. B., CARLSON, J., LI, H., CAI, X., FOX, J. G., GOLDENRING, J. R. & WANG, T. C. (2004) Gastric cancer originating from bone marrow-derived cells. Science, 306, 1568-71.
- HRISTOV, M. & WEBER, C. (2004) Endothelial progenitor cells: characterization, pathophysiology, and possible clinical relevance. J Cell Mol Med, 8, 498-508.
- HU, C., LI, H., LI, J., ZHU, Z., YIN, S., HAO, X., YAO, M., ZHENG, S. & GU, J. (2008) Analysis of ABCG2 expression and side population identifies intrinsic drug efflux in the HCC cell line MHCC-97L and its modulation by Akt signaling. Carcinogenesis, 29, 2289-97.
- HU, Y., CHEN, Y., DOUGLAS, L. & LI, S. (2009) beta-Catenin is essential for survival of leukemic stem cells insensitive to kinase inhibition in mice with BCR-ABL-induced chronic myeloid leukemia. Leukemia, 23, 109-16.
- HUANG, D., GAO, Q., GUO, L., ZHANG, C., JIANG, W., LI, H., WANG, J., HAN, X., SHI, Y. & LU, S. H. (2009a) Isolation and identification of cancer stem-like cells in esophageal carcinoma cell lines. Stem Cells Dev, 18, 465-73.
- HUANG, E. H., HYNES, M. J., ZHANG, T., GINESTIER, C., DONTU, G., APPELMAN, H., FIELDS, J. Z., WICHA, M. S. & BOMAN, B. M. (2009b) Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 is a marker for normal and malignant human colonic stem cells (SC) and tracks SC overpopulation during colon tumorigenesis. Cancer Res, 69, 3382-9.

- HUBBARD, S. A., FRIEL, A. M., KUMAR, B., ZHANG, L., RUEDA, B. R. & GARGETT, C. E. (2009) Evidence for Cancer Stem Cells in Human Endometrial Carcinoma. Cancer Res, 69, 8241-8.
- HUNTLY, B. J. & GILLILAND, D. G. (2005) Leukaemia stem cells and the evolution of cancer-stem-cell research. Nat Rev Cancer, 5, 311-21.
- HURT, E. M., KAWASAKI, B. T., KLARMANN, G. J., THOMAS, S. B. & FARRAR, W. L. (2008) CD44+ CD24(-) prostate cells are early cancer progenitor/stem cells that provide a model for patients with poor prognosis. Br J Cancer, 98, 756-65.
- HUSS, R., HONG, D. S., MCSWEENEY, P. A., HOY, C. A. & DEEG, H. J. (1995) Differentiation of canine bone marrow cells with hemopoietic characteristics from an adherent stromal cell precursor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 92, 748-52.
- IGNATOVA, T. N., KUKEKOV, V. G., LAYWELL, E. D., SUSLOV, O. N., VRIONIS, F. D.
  & STEINDLER, D. A. (2002) Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. Glia, 39, 193-206.
- IKEDA, H., KANAKURA, Y., TAMAKI, T., KURIU, A., KITAYAMA, H., ISHIKAWA, J., KANAYAMA, Y., YONEZAWA, T., TARUI, S. & GRIFFIN, J. D. (1991) Expression and functional role of the proto-oncogene c-kit in acute myeloblastic leukemia cells. Blood, 78, 2962-8.
- IOHARA, K., ZHENG, L., ITO, M., TOMOKIYO, A., MATSUSHITA, K. & NAKASHIMA, M. (2006) Side population cells isolated from porcine dental pulp tissue with self-renewal and multipotency for dentinogenesis, chondrogenesis, adipogenesis, and neurogenesis. Stem Cells, 24, 2493-503.
- IZADPANAH, R., KAUSHAL, D., KRIEDT, C., TSIEN, F., PATEL, B., DUFOUR, J. & BUNNELL, B. A. (2008) Long-term in vitro expansion alters the biology of adult mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res, 68, 4229-38.
- JACOBS, J. J., KIEBOOM, K., MARINO, S., DEPINHO, R. A. & VAN LOHUIZEN, M. (1999) The oncogene and Polycomb-group gene bmi-1 regulates cell proliferation and senescence through the ink4a locus. Nature, 397, 164-8.
- JAMIESON, C. H., AILLES, L. E., DYLLA, S. J., MUIJTJENS, M., JONES, C., ZEHNDER, J. L., GOTLIB, J., LI, K., MANZ, M. G., KEATING, A., SAWYERS, C. L. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2004) Granulocyte-macrophage progenitors as candidate leukemic stem cells in blast-crisis CML. N Engl J Med, 351, 657-67.
- JIANG, F., QIU, Q., KHANNA, A., TODD, N. W., DEEPAK, J., XING, L., WANG, H., LIU, Z., SU, Y., STASS, S. A. & KATZ, R. L. (2009) Aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 is a tumor stem cell-associated marker in lung cancer. Mol Cancer Res, 7, 330-8.
- JIN, L., HOPE, K. J., ZHAI, Q., SMADJA-JOFFE, F. & DICK, J. E. (2006) Targeting of CD44 eradicates human acute myeloid leukemic stem cells. Nat Med, 12, 1167-74.
- JIN, L., LEE, E. M., RAMSHAW, H. S., BUSFIELD, S. J., PEOPPL, A. G., WILKINSON, L., GUTHRIDGE, M. A., THOMAS, D., BARRY, E. F., BOYD, A., GEARING, D. P., VAIRO, G., LOPEZ, A. F., DICK, J. E. & LOCK, R. B. (2009) Monoclonal antibody-mediated targeting of CD123, IL-3 receptor alpha chain, eliminates human acute myeloid leukemic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell, 5, 31-42.
- JONKER, J. W., FREEMAN, J., BOLSCHER, E., MUSTERS, S., ALVI, A. J., TITLEY, I., SCHINKEL, A. H. & DALE, T. C. (2005) Contribution of the ABC transporters Bcrp1 and Mdr1a/1b to the side population phenotype in mammary gland and bone marrow of mice. Stem Cells, 23, 1059-65.

- JORDAN, C. T. (2009) Cancer stem cells: controversial or just misunderstood? Cell Stem Cell, 4, 203-5.
- JU, Z. & RUDOLPH, K. L. (2006) Telomeres and telomerase in cancer stem cells. Eur J Cancer, 42, 1197-203.
- JUBALA, C. M., WOJCIESZYN, J. W., VALLI, V. E., GETZY, D. M., FOSMIRE, S. P., COFFEY, D., BELLGRAU, D. & MODIANO, J. F. (2005) CD20 expression in normal canine B cells and in canine non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Vet Pathol, 42, 468-76.
- KADIYALA, S., YOUNG, R. G., THIEDE, M. A. & BRUDER, S. P. (1997) Culture expanded canine mesenchymal stem cells possess osteochondrogenic potential in vivo and in vitro. Cell Transplant, 6, 125-34.
- KAI, T. & SPRADLING, A. (2004) Differentiating germ cells can revert into functional stem cells in Drosophila melanogaster ovaries. Nature, 428, 564-9.
- KAMEL-REID, S., LETARTE, M., SIRARD, C., DOEDENS, M., GRUNBERGER, T., FULOP, G., FREEDMAN, M. H., PHILLIPS, R. A. & DICK, J. E. (1989) A model of human acute lymphoblastic leukemia in immune-deficient SCID mice. Science, 246, 1597-600.
- KAMISHINA, H., DENG, J., OJI, T., CHEESEMAN, J. A. & CLEMMONS, R. M. (2006) Expression of neural markers on bone marrow-derived canine mesenchymal stem cells. Am J Vet Res, 67, 1921-8.
- KAMOHARA, Y., HARAGUCHI, N., MIMORI, K., TANAKA, F., INOUE, H., MORI, M. & KANEMATSU, T. (2008) The search for cancer stem cells in hepatocellular carcinoma. Surgery, 144, 119-24.
- KANSAL, A. R., TORQUATO, S., CHIOCCA, E. A. & DEISBOECK, T. S. (2000) Emergence of a subpopulation in a computational model of tumor growth. J Theor Biol, 207, 431-41.
- KARLSSON, E. K. & LINDBLAD-TOH, K. (2008) Leader of the pack: gene mapping in dogs and other model organisms. Nat Rev Genet, 9, 713-25.
- KARNOUB, A. E., DASH, A. B., VO, A. P., SULLIVAN, A., BROOKS, M. W., BELL, G. W., RICHARDSON, A. L., POLYAK, K., TUBO, R. & WEINBERG, R. A. (2007) Mesenchymal stem cells within tumour stroma promote breast cancer metastasis. Nature, 449, 557-63.
- KASTAN, M. B., SCHLAFFER, E., RUSSO, J. E., COLVIN, O. M., CIVIN, C. I. & HILTON, J. (1990) Direct demonstration of elevated aldehyde dehydrogenase in human hematopoietic progenitor cells. Blood, 75, 1947-50.
- KEATS, J. J., FONSECA, R., CHESI, M., SCHOP, R., BAKER, A., CHNG, W. J., VAN WIER, S., TIEDEMANN, R., SHI, C. X., SEBAG, M., BRAGGIO, E., HENRY, T., ZHU, Y. X., FOGLE, H., PRICE-TROSKA, T., AHMANN, G., MANCINI, C., BRENTS, L. A., KUMAR, S., GREIPP, P., DISPENZIERI, A., BRYANT, B., MULLIGAN, G., BRUHN, L., BARRETT, M., VALDEZ, R., TRENT, J., STEWART, A. K., CARPTEN, J. & BERGSAGEL, P. L. (2007) Promiscuous mutations activate the noncanonical NFkappaB pathway in multiple myeloma. Cancer Cell, 12, 131-44.
- KELLY, P. N., DAKIC, A., ADAMS, J. M., NUTT, S. L. & STRASSER, A. (2007) Tumor growth need not be driven by rare cancer stem cells. Science, 317, 337.
- KENNEDY, J. A., BARABE, F., POEPPL, A. G., WANG, J. C. Y. & DICK, J. E. (2007) Comment on "Tumor Growth Need Not Be Driven by Rare Cancer Stem Cells" Science, 318, 1722c.

- KERBEL, R. S., RAK, J., KOBAYASHI, H., MAN, M. S., ST CROIX, B. & GRAHAM, C.H. (1994) Multicellular resistance: a new paradigm to explain aspects of acquired drug resistance of solid tumors. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol, 59, 661-72.
- KERN, S. E. & SHIBATA, D. (2007) The fuzzy math of solid tumor stem cells: a perspective. Cancer Res, 67, 8985-8.
- KIM, H. J., KIM, J. B., LEE, K. M., SHIN, I., HAN, W., KO, E., BAE, J. Y. & NOH, D. Y. (2007) Isolation of CD24(high) and CD24(low/-) cells from MCF-7: CD24 expression is positively related with proliferation, adhesion and invasion in MCF-7. Cancer Lett, 258, 98-108.
- KIMMELMAN, J. & NALBANTOGLU, J. (2007) Faithful companions: a proposal for neurooncology trials in pet dogs. Cancer Res, 67, 4541-4.
- KIRPENSTEIJN, J., KIK, M., RUTTEMAN, G. R. & TESKE, E. (2002) Prognostic significance of a new histologic grading system for canine osteosarcoma. Vet Pathol, 39, 240-6.
- KIRSTETTER, P., SCHUSTER, M. B., BERESHCHENKO, O., MOORE, S., DVINGE, H., KURZ, E., THEILGAARD-MONCH, K., MANSSON, R., PEDERSEN, T. A., PABST, T., SCHROCK, E., PORSE, B. T., JACOBSEN, S. E., BERTONE, P., TENEN, D. G. & NERLOV, C. (2008) Modeling of C/EBPalpha mutant acute myeloid leukemia reveals a common expression signature of committed myeloid leukemia-initiating cells. Cancer Cell, 13, 299-310.
- KISSEBERTH, W. C., NADELLA, M. V., BREEN, M., THOMAS, R., DUKE, S. E., MURAHARI, S., KOSAREK, C. E., VERNAU, W., AVERY, A. C., BURKHARD, M. J. & ROSOL, T. J. (2007) A novel canine lymphoma cell line: a translational and comparative model for lymphoma research. Leuk Res, 31, 1709-20.
- KLEIN, U. & DALLA-FAVERA, R. (2008) Germinal centres: role in B-cell physiology and malignancy. Nat Rev Immunol, 8, 22-33.
- KOBARI, L., GIARRATANA, M. C., PFLUMIO, F., IZAC, B., COULOMBEL, L. & DOUAY, L. (2001) CD133+ cell selection is an alternative to CD34+ cell selection for ex vivo expansion of hematopoietic stem cells. J Hematother Stem Cell Res, 10, 273-81.
- KOBORI, M., YANG, Z., GONG, D., HEISSMEYER, V., ZHU, H., JUNG, Y. K., GAKIDIS, M. A., RAO, A., SEKINE, T., IKEGAMI, F., YUAN, C. & YUAN, J. (2004)
  Wedelolactone suppresses LPS-induced caspase-11 expression by directly inhibiting the IKK complex. Cell Death Differ, 11, 123-30.
- KONDO, T., SETOGUCHI, T. & TAGA, T. (2004) Persistence of a small subpopulation of cancer stem-like cells in the C6 glioma cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 101, 781-6.
- KRAUSE, D. S., LAZARIDES, K., VON ANDRIAN, U. H. & VAN ETTEN, R. A. (2006) Requirement for CD44 in homing and engraftment of BCR-ABL-expressing leukemic stem cells. Nat Med, 12, 1175-80.
- KRUGER, J. A., KAPLAN, C. D., LUO, Y., ZHOU, H., MARKOWITZ, D., XIANG, R. & REISFELD, R. A. (2006) Characterization of stem cell-like cancer cells in immune-competent mice. Blood, 108, 3906-12.
- KUCIA, M., RECA, R., MIEKUS, K., WANZECK, J., WOJAKOWSKI, W., JANOWSKA-WIECZOREK, A., RATAJCZAK, J. & RATAJCZAK, M. Z. (2005) Trafficking of normal stem cells and metastasis of cancer stem cells involve similar mechanisms: pivotal role of the SDF-1-CXCR4 axis. Stem Cells, 23, 879-94.

- KUKEKOV, V. G., LAYWELL, E. D., SUSLOV, O., DAVIES, K., SCHEFFLER, B., THOMAS, L. B., O'BRIEN, T. F., KUSAKABE, M. & STEINDLER, D. A. (1999) Multipotent stem/progenitor cells with similar properties arise from two neurogenic regions of adult human brain. Exp Neurol, 156, 333-44.
- KUPPERS, R. (2005) Mechanisms of B-cell lymphoma pathogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer, 5, 251-62.
- LABARGE, M. A. & BISSELL, M. J. (2008) Is CD133 a marker of metastatic colon cancer stem cells? J Clin Invest, 118, 2021-4.
- LAKSHMAN, M., SUBRAMANIAM, V., RUBENTHIRAN, U. & JOTHY, S. (2004) CD44 promotes resistance to apoptosis in human colon cancer cells. Exp Mol Pathol, 77, 18-25.
- LAMERATO-KOZICKI, A. R., HELM, K. M., JUBALA, C. M., CUTTER, G. C. & MODIANO, J. F. (2006) Canine hemangiosarcoma originates from hematopoietic precursors with potential for endothelial differentiation. Exp Hematol, 34, 870-8.
- LAPIDOT, T., DAR, A. & KOLLET, O. (2005) How do stem cells find their way home? Blood, 106, 1901-10.
- LAPIDOT, T., SIRARD, C., VORMOOR, J., MURDOCH, B., HOANG, T., CACERES-CORTES, J., MINDEN, M., PATERSON, B., CALIGIURI, M. A. & DICK, J. E. (1994) A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature, 367, 645-8.
- LEE, H., HERRMANN, A., DENG, J. H., KUJAWSKI, M., NIU, G., LI, Z., FORMAN, S., JOVE, R., PARDOLL, D. M. & YU, H. (2009) Persistently activated Stat3 maintains constitutive NF-kappaB activity in tumors. Cancer Cell, 15, 283-93.
- LEE, H. H., DADGOSTAR, H., CHENG, Q., SHU, J. & CHENG, G. (1999) NF-kappaBmediated up-regulation of Bcl-x and Bfl-1/A1 is required for CD40 survival signaling in B lymphocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 96, 9136-41.
- LEE, J., KOTLIAROVA, S., KOTLIAROV, Y., LI, A., SU, Q., DONIN, N. M., PASTORINO, S., PUROW, B. W., CHRISTOPHER, N., ZHANG, W., PARK, J. K. & FINE, H. A. (2006) Tumor stem cells derived from glioblastomas cultured in bFGF and EGF more closely mirror the phenotype and genotype of primary tumors than do serum-cultured cell lines. Cancer Cell, 9, 391-403.
- LEEDHAM, S. J., SCHIER, S., THLIVERIS, A. T., HALBERG, R. B., NEWTON, M. A. & WRIGHT, N. A. (2005) From gene mutations to tumours--stem cells in gastrointestinal carcinogenesis. Cell Prolif, 38, 387-405.
- LENDAHL, U., ZIMMERMAN, L. B. & MCKAY, R. D. (1990) CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. Cell, 60, 585-95.
- LENGNER, C. J., CAMARGO, F. D., HOCHEDLINGER, K., WELSTEAD, G. G., ZAIDI, S., GOKHALE, S., SCHOLER, H. R., TOMILIN, A. & JAENISCH, R. (2007) Oct4 Expression Is Not Required for Mouse Somatic Stem Cell Self-Renewal. Cell Stem Cell, 1, 403-415.
- LEONARD, G. D., FOJO, T. & BATES, S. E. (2003) The role of ABC transporters in clinical practice. Oncologist, 8, 411-24.
- LERNER, N. B., NOCKA, K. H., COLE, S. R., QIU, F. H., STRIFE, A., ASHMAN, L. K. & BESMER, P. (1991) Monoclonal antibody YB5.B8 identifies the human c-kit protein product. Blood, 77, 1876-83.
- LESSARD, J. & SAUVAGEAU, G. (2003) Bmi-1 determines the proliferative capacity of normal and leukaemic stem cells. Nature, 423, 255-60.

- LI, C., HEIDT, D. G., DALERBA, P., BURANT, C. F., ZHANG, L., ADSAY, V., WICHA, M., CLARKE, M. F. & SIMEONE, D. M. (2007) Identification of pancreatic cancer stem cells. Cancer Res, 67, 1030-7.
- LI, C. C., XIE, Z. X., ZHANG, Y. D., CHEN, J. H. & YANG, Z. (2003) Total synthesis of wedelolactone. J Org Chem, 68, 8500-4.
- LI, T., SU, Y., MEI, Y. P., LENG, Q. X., LENG, B. J., LIU, Z., STASS, S. A. & JIANG, F. (2010) ALDH1A1 is a marker for malignant prostate stem cells and predictor of prostate cancer patients' outcome. Lab Invest, 90, 234-44.
- LIANG, J., WAN, M., ZHANG, Y., GU, P., XIN, H., JUNG, S. Y., QIN, J., WONG, J., COONEY, A. J., LIU, D. & SONGYANG, Z. (2008) Nanog and Oct4 associate with unique transcriptional repression complexes in embryonic stem cells. Nat Cell Biol, 10, 731-9.
- LICHT, T., PASTAN, I., GOTTESMAN, M. & HERRMANN, F. (1994) P-glycoproteinmediated multidrug resistance in normal and neoplastic hematopoietic cells. Ann Hematol, 69, 159-71.
- LICHTENAUER, U. D., SHAPIRO, I., GEIGER, K., QUINKLER, M., FASSNACHT, M., NITSCHKE, R., RUCKAUER, K. D. & BEUSCHLEIN, F. (2008) Side population does not define stem cell-like cancer cells in the adrenocortical carcinoma cell line NCI h295R. Endocrinology, 149, 1314-22.
- LIEDTKE, S., ENCZMANN, J., WACLAWCZYK, S., WERNET, P. & KOGLER, G. (2007) Oct4 and its pseudogenes confuse stem cell research. Cell Stem Cell, 1, 364-6.
- LIEDTKE, S., STEPHAN, M. & KOGLER, G. (2008) Oct4 expression revisited: potential pitfalls for data misinterpretation in stem cell research. Biol Chem, 389, 845-50.
- LIM, S. C. & OH, S. H. (2005) The role of CD24 in various human epithelial neoplasias. Pathol Res Pract, 201, 479-86.
- LINDBLAD-TOH, K., WADE, C. M., MIKKELSEN, T. S., KARLSSON, E. K., JAFFE, D. B., KAMAL, M., CLAMP, M., CHANG, J. L., KULBOKAS, E. J., 3RD, ZODY, M. C., MAUCELI, E., XIE, X., BREEN, M., WAYNE, R. K., OSTRANDER, E. A., PONTING, C. P., GALIBERT, F., SMITH, D. R., DEJONG, P. J., KIRKNESS, E., ALVAREZ, P., BIAGI, T., BROCKMAN, W., BUTLER, J., CHIN, C. W., COOK, A., CUFF, J., DALY, M. J., DECAPRIO, D., GNERRE, S., GRABHERR, M., KELLIS, M., KLEBER, M., BARDELEBEN, C., GOODSTADT, L., HEGER, A., HITTE, C., KIM, L., KOEPFLI, K. P., PARKER, H. G., POLLINGER, J. P., SEARLE, S. M., SUTTER, N. B., THOMAS, R., WEBBER, C., BALDWIN, J., ABEBE, A., ABOUELLEIL, A., AFTUCK, L., AIT-ZAHRA, M., ALDREDGE, T., ALLEN, N., AN, P., ANDERSON, S., ANTOINE, C., ARACHCHI, H., ASLAM, A., AYOTTE, L., BACHANTSANG, P., BARRY, A., BAYUL, T., BENAMARA, M., BERLIN, A., BESSETTE, D., BLITSHTEYN, B., BLOOM, T., BLYE, J., BOGUSLAVSKIY, L., BONNET, C., BOUKHGALTER, B., BROWN, A., CAHILL, P., CALIXTE, N., CAMARATA, J., CHESHATSANG, Y., CHU, J., CITROEN, M., COLLYMORE, A., COOKE, P., DAWOE, T., DAZA, R., DECKTOR, K., DEGRAY, S., DHARGAY, N., DOOLEY, K., DOOLEY, K., DORJE, P., DORJEE, K., DORRIS, L., DUFFEY, N., DUPES, A., EGBIREMOLEN, O., ELONG, R., FALK, J., FARINA, A., FARO, S., FERGUSON, D., FERREIRA, P., FISHER, S., FITZGERALD, M., et al. (2005) Genome sequence, comparative analysis and haplotype structure of the domestic dog. Nature, 438, 803-19.
- LIU, B., EARL, H. M., BABAN, D., SHOAIBI, M., FABRA, A., KERR, D. J. & SEYMOUR, L. W. (1995) Melanoma cell lines express VEGF receptor KDR and respond to exogenously added VEGF. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 217, 721-7.

- LIU, S., DONTU, G., MANTLE, I. D., PATEL, S., AHN, N. S., JACKSON, K. W., SURI, P. & WICHA, M. S. (2006) Hedgehog signaling and Bmi-1 regulate self-renewal of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells. Cancer Res, 66, 6063-71.
- LIU, T. M., WU, Y. N., GUO, X. M., HUI, J. H., LEE, E. H. & LIM, B. (2009) Effects of ectopic Nanog and Oct4 overexpression on mesenchymal stem cells. Stem Cells Dev, 18, 1013-22.
- LIU, Y., LU, W. L., GUO, J., DU, J., LI, T., WU, J. W., WANG, G. L., WANG, J. C., ZHANG, X. & ZHANG, Q. (2008) A potential target associated with both cancer and cancer stem cells: a combination therapy for eradication of breast cancer using vinorelbine stealthy liposomes plus parthenolide stealthy liposomes. J Control Release, 129, 18-25.
- LOCKE, M., HEYWOOD, M., FAWELL, S. & MACKENZIE, I. C. (2005) Retention of intrinsic stem cell hierarchies in carcinoma-derived cell lines. Cancer Res, 65, 8944-50.
- LOEBINGER, M. R., GIANGRECO, A., GROOT, K. R., PRICHARD, L., ALLEN, K.,
  SIMPSON, C., BAZLEY, L., NAVANI, N., TIBREWAL, S., DAVIES, D. & JANES, S.
  M. (2008) Squamous cell cancers contain a side population of stem-like cells that are made chemosensitive by ABC transporter blockade. Br J Cancer, 98, 380-7.
- LOH, Y. H., WU, Q., CHEW, J. L., VEGA, V. B., ZHANG, W., CHEN, X., BOURQUE, G., GEORGE, J., LEONG, B., LIU, J., WONG, K. Y., SUNG, K. W., LEE, C. W., ZHAO, X. D., CHIU, K. P., LIPOVICH, L., KUZNETSOV, V. A., ROBSON, P., STANTON, L. W., WEI, C. L., RUAN, Y., LIM, B. & NG, H. H. (2006) The Oct4 and Nanog transcription network regulates pluripotency in mouse embryonic stem cells. Nat Genet, 38, 431-40.
- LONDON, C. A., GALLI, S. J., YUUKI, T., HU, Z. Q., HELFAND, S. C. & GEISSLER, E. N. (1999) Spontaneous canine mast cell tumors express tandem duplications in the proto-oncogene c-kit. Exp Hematol, 27, 689-97.
- LONDON, C. A., HANNAH, A. L., ZADOVOSKAYA, R., CHIEN, M. B., KOLLIAS-BAKER, C., ROSENBERG, M., DOWNING, S., POST, G., BOUCHER, J., SHENOY, N., MENDEL, D. B., MCMAHON, G. & CHERRINGTON, J. M. (2003) Phase I doseescalating study of SU11654, a small molecule receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, in dogs with spontaneous malignancies. Clin Cancer Res, 9, 2755-68.
- LONDON, C. A., KISSEBERTH, W. C., GALLI, S. J., GEISSLER, E. N. & HELFAND, S. C. (1996) Expression of stem cell factor receptor (c-kit) by the malignant mast cells from spontaneous canine mast cell tumours. J Comp Pathol, 115, 399-414.
- LONDON, C. A., MALPAS, P. B., WOOD-FOLLIS, S. L., BOUCHER, J. F., RUSK, A. W., ROSENBERG, M. P., HENRY, C. J., MITCHENER, K. L., KLEIN, M. K., HINTERMEISTER, J. G., BERGMAN, P. J., COUTO, G. C., MAULDIN, G. N. & MICHELS, G. M. (2009) Multi-center, placebo-controlled, double-blind, randomized study of oral toceranib phosphate (SU11654), a receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, for the treatment of dogs with recurrent (either local or distant) mast cell tumor following surgical excision. Clin Cancer Res, 15, 3856-65.
- LOOIJENGA, L. H., STOOP, H., DE LEEUW, H. P., DE GOUVEIA BRAZAO, C. A., GILLIS, A. J., VAN ROOZENDAAL, K. E., VAN ZOELEN, E. J., WEBER, R. F., WOLFFENBUTTEL, K. P., VAN DEKKEN, H., HONECKER, F., BOKEMEYER, C., PERLMAN, E. J., SCHNEIDER, D. T., KONONEN, J., SAUTER, G. & OOSTERHUIS, J. W. (2003) POU5F1 (OCT3/4) identifies cells with pluripotent potential in human germ cell tumors. Cancer Res, 63, 2244-50.

- LOTEM, J. & SACHS, L. (2006) Epigenetics and the plasticity of differentiation in normal and cancer stem cells. Oncogene, 25, 7663-72.
- LOU, H. & DEAN, M. (2007) Targeted therapy for cancer stem cells: the patched pathway and ABC transporters. Oncogene, 26, 1357-60.
- LUO, Y., ZHUO, Y., FUKUHARA, M. & RIZZOLO, L. J. (2006) Effects of culture conditions on heterogeneity and the apical junctional complex of the ARPE-19 cell line. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci, 47, 3644-55.
- MA, S., CHAN, K. W., HU, L., LEE, T. K., WO, J. Y., NG, I. O., ZHENG, B. J. & GUAN, X. Y. (2007) Identification and characterization of tumorigenic liver cancer stem/progenitor cells. Gastroenterology, 132, 2542-56.
- MA, S., LEE, T. K., ZHENG, B. J., CHAN, K. W. & GUAN, X. Y. (2008) CD133+ HCC cancer stem cells confer chemoresistance by preferential expression of the Akt/PKB survival pathway. Oncogene, 27, 1749-58.
- MABUCHI, S., OHMICHI, M., NISHIO, Y., HAYASAKA, T., KIMURA, A., OHTA, T., SAITO, M., KAWAGOE, J., TAKAHASHI, K., YADA-HASHIMOTO, N., SAKATA, M., MOTOYAMA, T., KURACHI, H., TASAKA, K. & MURATA, Y. (2004) Inhibition of NFkappaB increases the efficacy of cisplatin in in vitro and in vivo ovarian cancer models. J Biol Chem, 279, 23477-85.
- MADRAZO, J., GARCIA-FERNANDEZ, R. A., GARCIA-IGLESIAS, M. J., DURAN, A. J., ESPINOSA, J. & PEREZ-MARTINEZ, C. (2009) The role of CD44 adhesion factor in canine mammary carcinomas. Vet J, 180, 371-6.
- MAJETI, R., BECKER, M. W., TIAN, Q., LEE, T. L., YAN, X., LIU, R., CHIANG, J. H., HOOD, L., CLARKE, M. F. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2009) Dysregulated gene expression networks in human acute myelogenous leukemia stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106, 3396-401.
- MALANCHI, I., PEINADO, H., KASSEN, D., HUSSENET, T., METZGER, D., CHAMBON, P., HUBER, M., HOHL, D., CANO, A., BIRCHMEIER, W. & HUELSKEN, J. (2008) Cutaneous cancer stem cell maintenance is dependent on beta-catenin signalling. Nature, 452, 650-3.
- MANI, S. A., GUO, W., LIAO, M. J., EATON, E. N., AYYANAN, A., ZHOU, A. Y., BROOKS, M., REINHARD, F., ZHANG, C. C., SHIPITSIN, M., CAMPBELL, L. L., POLYAK, K., BRISKEN, C., YANG, J. & WEINBERG, R. A. (2008) The epithelialmesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. Cell, 133, 704-15.
- MANSUROGLU, T., RAMADORI, P., DUDAS, J., MALIK, I., HAMMERICH, K., FUZESI, L. & RAMADORI, G. (2009) Expression of stem cell factor and its receptor c-Kit during the development of intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma. Lab Invest, 89, 562-574.
- MARANGONI, E., LECOMTE, N., DURAND, L., DE PINIEUX, G., DECAUDIN, D., CHOMIENNE, C., SMADJA-JOFFE, F. & POUPON, M. F. (2009) CD44 targeting reduces tumour growth and prevents post-chemotherapy relapse of human breast cancers xenografts. Br J Cancer, 100, 918-22.
- MARHABA, R. & ZOLLER, M. (2004) CD44 in cancer progression: adhesion, migration and growth regulation. J Mol Histol, 35, 211-31.
- MARIAN, C. O., CHO, S. K., MCELLIN, B. M., MAHER, E. A., HATANPAA, K. J., MADDEN, C. J., MICKEY, B. E., WRIGHT, W. E., SHAY, J. W. & BACHOO, R. M. (2010a) The telomerase antagonist, imetelstat, efficiently targets glioblastoma
tumor-initiating cells leading to decreased proliferation and tumor growth. Clin Cancer Res, 16, 154-63.

- MARIAN, C. O., WRIGHT, W. E. & SHAY, J. W. (2010b) The effects of telomerase inhibition on prostate tumor-initiating cells. Int J Cancer, 127, 321-31.
- MASTERS, J. R. & STACEY, G. N. (2007) Changing medium and passaging cell lines. Nat Protoc, 2, 2276-84.
- MATSUDA, R., TAKAHASHI, T., NAKAMURA, S., SEKIDO, Y., NISHIDA, K., SETO, M., SEITO, T., SUGIURA, T., ARIYOSHI, Y., TAKAHASHI, T. & ET AL. (1993) Expression of the c-kit protein in human solid tumors and in corresponding fetal and adult normal tissues. Am J Pathol, 142, 339-46.
- MATSUI, W., HUFF, C. A., WANG, Q., MALEHORN, M. T., BARBER, J., TANHEHCO, Y., SMITH, B. D., CIVIN, C. I. & JONES, R. J. (2004) Characterization of clonogenic multiple myeloma cells. Blood, 103, 2332-6.
- MATSUI, W., WANG, Q., BARBER, J. P., BRENNAN, S., SMITH, B. D., BORRELLO, I., MCNIECE, I., LIN, L., AMBINDER, R. F., PEACOCK, C., WATKINS, D. N., HUFF, C. A. & JONES, R. J. (2008) Clonogenic multiple myeloma progenitors, stem cell properties, and drug resistance. Cancer Res, 68, 190-7.
- MAYO, M. W., WANG, C. Y., COGSWELL, P. C., ROGERS-GRAHAM, K. S., LOWE, S. W., DER, C. J. & BALDWIN, A. S., JR. (1997) Requirement of NF-kappaB activation to suppress p53-independent apoptosis induced by oncogenic Ras. Science, 278, 1812-5.
- MCDONOUGH, S. P. & MOORE, P. F. (2000) Clinical, hematologic, and immunophenotypic characterization of canine large granular lymphocytosis. Vet Pathol, 37, 637-46.
- McSweeney, P. A., ROULEAU, K. A., WALLACE, P. M., BRUNO, B., ANDREWS, R. G., KRIZANAC-BENGEZ, L., SANDMAIER, B. M., STORB, R., WAYNER, E. & NASH, R. A. (1998) Characterization of monoclonal antibodies that recognize canine CD34. Blood, 91, 1977-86.
- MEYLAN, E., DOOLEY, A. L., FELDSER, D. M., SHEN, L., TURK, E., OUYANG, C. & JACKS, T. (2009) Requirement for NF-kappaB signalling in a mouse model of lung adenocarcinoma. Nature, 462, 104-7.
- MILDE, K. F., ALEJANDRO, R. & PASTORI, R. L. (1994) Expression of CD44 variant transcripts in dog lymphatic tissue. Immunogenetics, 40, 437-44.
- MINOTTI, G., MENNA, P., SALVATORELLI, E., CAIRO, G. & GIANNI, L. (2004) Anthracyclines: molecular advances and pharmacologic developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev, 56, 185-229.
- MISAGHIAN, N., LIGRESTI, G., STEELMAN, L. S., BERTRAND, F. E., BASECKE, J., LIBRA, M., NICOLETTI, F., STIVALA, F., MILELLA, M., TAFURI, A., CERVELLO, M., MARTELLI, A. M. & MCCUBREY, J. A. (2009) Targeting the leukemic stem cell: the Holy Grail of leukemia therapy. Leukemia, 23, 25-42.
- MONZANI, E., FACCHETTI, F., GALMOZZI, E., CORSINI, E., BENETTI, A., CAVAZZIN, C., GRITTI, A., PICCININI, A., PORRO, D., SANTINAMI, M., INVERNICI, G., PARATI, E., ALESSANDRI, G. & LA PORTA, C. A. (2007) Melanoma contains CD133 and ABCG2 positive cells with enhanced tumourigenic potential. Eur J Cancer, 43, 935-46.
- MORIMOTO, K., KIM, S. J., TANEI, T., SHIMAZU, K., TANJI, Y., TAGUCHI, T., TAMAKI, Y., TERADA, N. & NOGUCHI, S. (2009) Stem cell marker aldehyde dehydrogenase 1-positive breast cancers are characterized by negative estrogen

receptor, positive human epidermal growth factor receptor type 2, and high Ki67 expression. Cancer Sci, 100, 1062-8.

- MORINI, M., BETTINI, G., PREZIOSI, R. & MANDRIOLI, L. (2004) C-kit gene product (CD117) immunoreactivity in canine and feline paraffin sections. J Histochem Cytochem, 52, 705-8.
- MOSERLE, L., INDRACCOLO, S., GHISI, M., FRASSON, C., FORTUNATO, E., CANEVARI, S., MIOTTI, S., TOSELLO, V., ZAMARCHI, R., CORRADIN, A., MINUZZO, S., ROSSI, E., BASSO, G. & AMADORI, A. (2008) The side population of ovarian cancer cells is a primary target of IFN-alpha antitumor effects. Cancer Res, 68, 5658-68.
- MOSHAVER, B., VAN RHENEN, A., KELDER, A., VAN DER POL, M., TERWIJN, M., BACHAS, C., WESTRA, A. H., OSSENKOPPELE, G. J., ZWEEGMAN, S. & SCHUURHUIS, G. J. (2008) Identification of a Small Subpopulation of Candidate Leukemia Initiating Cells in the Side Population (SP) of Patients with Acute Myeloid Leukemia. Stem Cells, 26, 3059-3067.
- MUELLER, M. M. & FUSENIG, N. E. (2004) Friends or foes bipolar effects of the tumour stroma in cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, 4, 839-49.
- MUNSON, L. & MORESCO, A. (2007) Comparative pathology of mammary gland cancers in domestic and wild animals. Breast Dis, 28, 7-21.
- MUNZ, M., BAEUERLE, P. A. & GIRES, O. (2009) The emerging role of EpCAM in cancer and stem cell signaling. Cancer Res, 69, 5627-9.
- MURASE, M., KANO, M., TSUKAHARA, T., TAKAHASHI, A., TORIGOE, T., KAWAGUCHI, S., KIMURA, S., WADA, T., UCHIHASHI, Y., KONDO, T., YAMASHITA, T. & SATO, N. (2009) Side population cells have the characteristics of cancer stem-like cells/cancer-initiating cells in bone sarcomas. Br J Cancer, 101, 1425-32.
- NA, Y. R., SEOK, S. H., KIM, D. J., HAN, J. H., KIM, T. H., JUNG, H. & PARK, J. H. (2009) Zebrafish embryo extracts promote sphere-forming abilities of human melanoma cell line. Cancer Sci, 100, 1429-33.
- NAKAMURA, Y., OKA, M., SODA, H., SHIOZAWA, K., YOSHIKAWA, M., ITOH, A., IKEGAMI, Y., TSURUTANI, J., NAKATOMI, K., KITAZAKI, T., DOI, S., YOSHIDA, H. & KOHNO, S. (2005) Gefitinib ("Iressa", ZD1839), an epidermal growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase inhibitor, reverses breast cancer resistance protein/ABCG2-mediated drug resistance. Cancer Res, 65, 1541-6.
- NAKANISHI, C. & TOI, M. (2005) Nuclear factor-kappaB inhibitors as sensitizers to anticancer drugs. Nat Rev Cancer, 5, 297-309.
- NAOR, D., WALLACH-DAYAN, S. B., ZAHALKA, M. A. & SIONOV, R. V. (2008) Involvement of CD44, a molecule with a thousand faces, in cancer dissemination. Semin Cancer Biol, 18, 260-7.
- NASIR, L., DEVLIN, P., MCKEVITT, T., RUTTEMAN, G. & ARGYLE, D. J. (2001) Telomere lengths and telomerase activity in dog tissues: a potential model system to study human telomere and telomerase biology. Neoplasia, 3, 351-9.
- NATALI, P. G., NICOTRA, M. R., SURES, I., MOTTOLESE, M., BOTTI, C. & ULLRICH, A. (1992) Breast cancer is associated with loss of the c-kit oncogene product. Int J Cancer, 52, 713-7.
- NAYLOR, C. S., JAWORSKA, E., BRANSON, K., EMBLETON, M. J. & CHOPRA, R. (2005) Side population/ABCG2-positive cells represent a heterogeneous group of haemopoietic cells: implications for the use of adult stem cells in transplantation and plasticity protocols. Bone Marrow Transplant, 35, 353-60.

- NEAME, S. J. & ISACKE, C. M. (1993) The cytoplasmic tail of CD44 is required for basolateral localization in epithelial MDCK cells but does not mediate association with the detergent-insoluble cytoskeleton of fibroblasts. J Cell Biol, 121, 1299-310.
- NICOLAS, M., WOLFER, A., RAJ, K., KUMMER, J. A., MILL, P., VAN NOORT, M., HUI, C. C., CLEVERS, H., DOTTO, G. P. & RADTKE, F. (2003) Notch1 functions as a tumor suppressor in mouse skin. Nat Genet, 33, 416-21.
- NIEMEYER, G. P., HUDSON, J., BRIDGMAN, R., SPANO, J., NASH, R. A. & LOTHROP, C. D. (2001) Isolation and characterization of canine hematopoietic progenitor cells. Exp Hematol, 29, 686-93.
- NISHIDA, H., YAMAZAKI, H., YAMADA, T., IWATA, S., DANG, N. H., INUKAI, T., SUGITA, K., IKEDA, Y. & MORIMOTO, C. (2009) CD9 correlates with cancer stem cell potentials in human B-acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 382, 57-62.
- NOCKA, K., BUCK, J., LEVI, E. & BESMER, P. (1990) Candidate ligand for the c-kit transmembrane kinase receptor: KL, a fibroblast derived growth factor stimulates mast cells and erythroid progenitors. Embo J, 9, 3287-94.
- NOLAN, D. J., CIARROCCHI, A., MELLICK, A. S., JAGGI, J. S., BAMBINO, K., GUPTA, S., HEIKAMP, E., MCDEVITT, M. R., SCHEINBERG, D. A., BENEZRA, R. & MITTAL, V. (2007) Bone marrow-derived endothelial progenitor cells are a major determinant of nascent tumor neovascularization. Genes Dev, 21, 1546-58.
- NORVAL, M., MAINGAY, J. & ELSE, R. W. (1984a) Studies of three canine mammary carcinoma cell lines--I. In vitro properties. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol, 20, 1489-500.
- NORVAL, M., MAINGAY, J. & ELSE, R. W. (1984b) Studies of three canine mammary cell lines--II. In vivo properties. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol, 20, 1501-8.
- NOWELL, P. C. (1976) The clonal evolution of tumor cell populations. Science, 194, 23-8.
- O'BRIEN, C. A., POLLETT, A., GALLINGER, S. & DICK, J. E. (2007) A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. Nature, 445, 106-10.
- OATES, J. E., GREY, B. R., ADDLA, S. K., SAMUEL, J. D., HART, C. A., RAMANI, V., BROWN, M. D. & CLARKE, N. W. (2009) Hoechst 33342 side population identification is a conserved and unified mechanism in urological cancers. Stem Cells Dev, 18, 1515-22.
- OGAWA, M., MATSUZAKI, Y., NISHIKAWA, S., HAYASHI, S., KUNISADA, T., SUDO, T., KINA, T., NAKAUCHI, H. & NISHIKAWA, S. (1991) Expression and function of c-kit in hemopoietic progenitor cells. J Exp Med, 174, 63-71.
- OHNUMA, T., ARKIN, H. & HOLLAND, J. F. (1986) Effects of cell density on druginduced cell kill kinetics in vitro (inoculum effect) Br J Cancer, 54, 415-421.
- OKADA, S., NAKAUCHI, H., NAGAYOSHI, K., NISHIKAWA, S., NISHIKAWA, S., MIURA, Y. & SUDA, T. (1991) Enrichment and characterization of murine hematopoietic stem cells that express c-kit molecule. Blood, 78, 1706-12.
- OLIVE, P. L., BANATH, J. P. & DURAND, R. E. (1997) Detection of subpopulations resistant to DNA-damaging agents in spheroids and murine tumours. Mutat Res, 375, 157-65.
- OLIVE, P. L., BANATH, J. P. & EVANS, H. H. (1993) Cell killing and DNA damage by etoposide in Chinese hamster V79 monolayers and spheroids: influence of

growth kinetics, growth environment and DNA packaging. Br J Cancer, 67, 522-30.

- OLIVE, P. L. & DURAND, R. E. (1985) Effect of intercellular contact on DNA conformation, radiation-induced DNA damage, and mutation in Chinese hamster V79 cells. Radiat Res, 101, 94-101.
- OLIVE, P. L. & DURAND, R. E. (1994) Drug and radiation resistance in spheroids: cell contact and kinetics. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 13, 121-38.
- PACKHAM, G. (2008) The role of NF-kappaB in lymphoid malignancies. Br J Haematol, 143, 3-15.
- PALTIAN, V., ALLDINGER, S., BAUMGARTNER, W. & WOHLSEIN, P. (2009) Expression of CD44 in canine mammary tumours. J Comp Pathol, 141, 237-47.
- PAOLONI, M. & KHANNA, C. (2008) Translation of new cancer treatments from pet dogs to humans. Nat Rev Cancer, 8, 147-56.
- PARDAL, R., CLARKE, M. F. & MORRISON, S. J. (2003) Applying the principles of stem-cell biology to cancer. Nat Rev Cancer, 3, 895-902.
- PASSEGUE, E., JAMIESON, C. H., AILLES, L. E. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2003) Normal and leukemic hematopoiesis: are leukemias a stem cell disorder or a reacquisition of stem cell characteristics? Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 100 Suppl 1, 11842-9.
- PASSEGUE, E., WAGNER, E. F. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2004) JunB deficiency leads to a myeloproliferative disorder arising from hematopoietic stem cells. Cell, 119, 431-43.
- PATRAWALA, L., CALHOUN, T., SCHNEIDER-BROUSSARD, R., ZHOU, J., CLAYPOOL, K. & TANG, D. G. (2005) Side population is enriched in tumorigenic, stem-like cancer cells, whereas ABCG2+ and ABCG2- cancer cells are similarly tumorigenic. Cancer Res, 65, 6207-19.
- PEACOCK, C. D., WANG, Q., GESELL, G. S., CORCORAN-SCHWARTZ, I. M., JONES, E., KIM, J., DEVEREUX, W. L., RHODES, J. T., HUFF, C. A., BEACHY, P. A., WATKINS, D. N. & MATSUI, W. (2007) Hedgehog signaling maintains a tumor stem cell compartment in multiple myeloma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104, 4048-53.
- PEARCE, D. J. & BONNET, D. (2007) The combined use of Hoechst efflux ability and aldehyde dehydrogenase activity to identify murine and human hematopoietic stem cells. Exp Hematol, 35, 1437-46.
- PEARCE, D. J., TAUSSIG, D., SIMPSON, C., ALLEN, K., ROHATINER, A. Z., LISTER, T. A. & BONNET, D. (2005) Characterization of cells with a high aldehyde dehydrogenase activity from cord blood and acute myeloid leukemia samples. Stem Cells, 23, 752-60.
- PELLEGATTA, S., POLIANI, P. L., CORNO, D., MENGHI, F., GHIELMETTI, F., SUAREZ-MERINO, B., CALDERA, V., NAVA, S., RAVANINI, M., FACCHETTI, F., BRUZZONE, M. G. & FINOCCHIARO, G. (2006) Neurospheres enriched in cancer stem-like cells are highly effective in eliciting a dendritic cell-mediated immune response against malignant gliomas. Cancer Res, 66, 10247-52.
- PERRY, J. M. & LI, L. (2007) Disrupting the stem cell niche: good seeds in bad soil. Cell, 129, 1045-7.
- PFENNINGER, C. V., ROSCHUPKINA, T., HERTWIG, F., KOTTWITZ, D., ENGLUND, E., BENGZON, J., JACOBSEN, S. E. & NUBER, U. A. (2007) CD133 is not present on neurogenic astrocytes in the adult subventricular zone, but on embryonic neural stem cells, ependymal cells, and glioblastoma cells. Cancer Res, 67, 5727-36.

- PHILLIPS, R. L., REINHART, A. J. & VAN ZANT, G. (1992) Genetic control of murine hematopoietic stem cell pool sizes and cycling kinetics. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89, 11607-11.
- PITTENGER, M. F., MACKAY, A. M., BECK, S. C., JAISWAL, R. K., DOUGLAS, R., MOSCA, J. D., MOORMAN, M. A., SIMONETTI, D. W., CRAIG, S. & MARSHAK, D. R. (1999) Multilineage potential of adult human mesenchymal stem cells. Science, 284, 143-7.
- POLLARD, S., CLARKE, I. D., SMITH, A. & DIRKS, P. (2009a) Brain Cancer Stem Cells: A Level Playing Field. 5, 468-469.
- POLLARD, S. M., YOSHIKAWA, K., CLARKE, I. D., DANOVI, D., STRICKER, S., RUSSELL, R., BAYANI, J., HEAD, R., LEE, M., BERNSTEIN, M., SQUIRE, J. A., SMITH, A. & DIRKS, P. (2009b) Glioma stem cell lines expanded in adherent culture have tumor-specific phenotypes and are suitable for chemical and genetic screens. Cell Stem Cell, 4, 568-80.
- POLYAK, K. & HAHN, W. C. (2006) Roots and stems: stem cells in cancer. Nat Med, 12, 296-300.
- PONTI, D., COSTA, A., ZAFFARONI, N., PRATESI, G., PETRANGOLINI, G., CORADINI, D., PILOTTI, S., PIEROTTI, M. A. & DAIDONE, M. G. (2005) Isolation and in vitro propagation of tumorigenic breast cancer cells with stem/progenitor cell properties. Cancer Res, 65, 5506-11.
- POSTE, G., DOLL, J. & FIDLER, I. J. (1981) Interactions among clonal subpopulations affect stability of the metastatic phenotype in polyclonal populations of B16 melanoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 78, 6226-30.
- POTTER, V. R. (1978) Phenotypic diversity in experimental hepatomas: the concept of partially blocked ontogeny. The 10th Walter Hubert Lecture. Br J Cancer, 38, 1-23.
- POTTER, V. R. (1987) Blocked ontogeny. Science, 237, 964.
- PRATT, M. A., TIBBO, E., ROBERTSON, S. J., JANSSON, D., HURST, K., PEREZ-IRATXETA, C., LAU, R. & NIU, M. Y. (2009) The canonical NF-kappaB pathway is required for formation of luminal mammary neoplasias and is activated in the mammary progenitor population. Oncogene, 28, 2710-22.
- PREFFER, F. & DOMBKOWSKI, D. (2009) Advances in Complex Multiparameter Flow Cytometry Technology: Applications in Stem Cell Research. Cytometry B Clin Cytom., 76, 295-314.
- PRINCE, M. E., SIVANANDAN, R., KACZOROWSKI, A., WOLF, G. T., KAPLAN, M. J., DALERBA, P., WEISSMAN, I. L., CLARKE, M. F. & AILLES, L. E. (2007) Identification of a subpopulation of cells with cancer stem cell properties in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104, 973-8.
- PRYER, N. K., LEE, L. B., ZADOVASKAYA, R., YU, X., SUKBUNTHERNG, J., CHERRINGTON, J. M. & LONDON, C. A. (2003) Proof of target for SU11654: inhibition of KIT phosphorylation in canine mast cell tumors. Clin Cancer Res, 9, 5729-34.
- QUINTANA, E., SHACKLETON, M., SABEL, M. S., FULLEN, D. R., JOHNSON, T. M. & MORRISON, S. J. (2008) Efficient tumour formation by single human melanoma cells. Nature, 456, 593-8.
- RAVI, R. & BEDI, A. (2004) NF-kappaB in cancer--a friend turned foe. Drug Resist Updat, 7, 53-67.

- RAYET, B. & GELINAS, C. (1999) Aberrant rel/nfkb genes and activity in human cancer. Oncogene, 18, 6938-47.
- REGENTHAL, R., KRUEGER, M., KOEPPEL, C. & PREISS, R. (1999) Drug levels: therapeutic and toxic serum/plasma concentrations of common drugs. J Clin Monit Comput, 15, 529-44.
- REYA, T. & CLEVERS, H. (2005) Wnt signalling in stem cells and cancer. Nature, 434, 843-50.
- REYA, T., DUNCAN, A. W., AILLES, L., DOMEN, J., SCHERER, D. C., WILLERT, K., HINTZ, L., NUSSE, R. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2003) A role for Wnt signalling in selfrenewal of haematopoietic stem cells. Nature, 423, 409-14.
- REYA, T., MORRISON, S. J., CLARKE, M. F. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2001) Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature, 414, 105-11.
- REYNOLDS, B. A. & RIETZE, R. L. (2005) Neural stem cells and neurospheres--reevaluating the relationship. Nat Methods, 2, 333-6.
- REYNOLDS, B. A., TETZLAFF, W. & WEISS, S. (1992) A multipotent EGF-responsive striatal embryonic progenitor cell produces neurons and astrocytes. J Neurosci, 12, 4565-74.
- REYNOLDS, B. A. & VESCOVI, A. L. (2009) Brain Cancer Stem Cells: Think Twice before Going Flat. 5, 466-467.
- REYNOLDS, B. A. & WEISS, S. (1992) Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science, 255, 1707-10.
- REYNOLDS, B. A. & WEISS, S. (1996) Clonal and population analyses demonstrate that an EGF-responsive mammalian embryonic CNS precursor is a stem cell. Dev Biol, 175, 1-13.
- RICCI-VITIANI, L., LOMBARDI, D. G., PILOZZI, E., BIFFONI, M., TODARO, M., PESCHLE, C. & DE MARIA, R. (2007) Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells. Nature, 445, 111-5.
- RICHARDSON, G. D., ROBSON, C. N., LANG, S. H., NEAL, D. E., MAITLAND, N. J. & COLLINS, A. T. (2004) CD133, a novel marker for human prostatic epithelial stem cells. J Cell Sci, 117, 3539-45.
- RICHARDSON, P. G., MITSIADES, C., HIDESHIMA, T. & ANDERSON, K. C. (2006) Bortezomib: proteasome inhibition as an effective anticancer therapy. Annu Rev Med, 57, 33-47.
- RIVERA, P., MELIN, M., BIAGI, T., FALL, T., HAGGSTROM, J., LINDBLAD-TOH, K. & VON EULER, H. (2009) Mammary tumor development in dogs is associated with BRCA1 and BRCA2. Cancer Res, 69, 8770-4.
- ROBEY, R. W., HONJO, Y., MORISAKI, K., NADJEM, T. A., RUNGE, S., RISBOOD, M., PORUCHYNSKY, M. S. & BATES, S. E. (2003) Mutations at amino-acid 482 in the ABCG2 gene affect substrate and antagonist specificity. Br J Cancer, 89, 1971-8.
- ROMASHKOVA, J. A. & MAKAROV, S. S. (1999) NF-kappaB is a target of AKT in anti-apoptotic PDGF signalling. Nature, 401, 86-90.
- ROWAN, K. (2009) Are cancer stem cells real? After four decades, debate still simmers. J Natl Cancer Inst, 101, 546-7.
- RUBIO, D., GARCIA-CASTRO, J., MARTIN, M. C., DE LA FUENTE, R., CIGUDOSA, J. C., LLOYD, A. C. & BERNAD, A. (2005) Spontaneous human adult stem cell transformation. Cancer Res, 65, 3035-9.

- RUSTEMEYER, P., WITTKOWSKI, W., JURK, K. & KOLLER, A. (2006) Optimized flow cytometric analysis of endothelial progenitor cells in peripheral blood. J Immunoassay Immunochem, 27, 77-88.
- RUTTEMAN, G. R., CORNELISSE, C. J., DIJKSHOORN, N. J., POORTMAN, J. & MISDORP, W. (1988) Flow cytometric analysis of DNA ploidy in canine mammary tumors. Cancer Res, 48, 3411-7.
- RYGAARD, K., NAKAMURA, T. & SPANG-THOMSEN, M. (1993) Expression of the proto-oncogenes c-met and c-kit and their ligands, hepatocyte growth factor/scatter factor and stem cell factor, in SCLC cell lines and xenografts. Br J Cancer, 67, 37-46.
- SABBATH, K. D., BALL, E. D., LARCOM, P., DAVIS, R. B. & GRIFFIN, J. D. (1985) Heterogeneity of clonogenic cells in acute myeloblastic leukemia. J Clin Invest, 75, 746-53.
- SAGARTZ, J. E., BODLEY, W. L., GAMBLIN, R. M., COUTO, C. G., TIERNEY, L. A. & CAPEN, C. C. (1996) p53 tumor suppressor protein overexpression in osteogenic tumors of dogs. Vet Pathol, 33, 213-21.
- SAHOVIC, E. A., COLVIN, M., HILTON, J. & OGAWA, M. (1988) Role for aldehyde dehydrogenase in survival of progenitors for murine blast cell colonies after treatment with 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide in vitro. Cancer Res, 48, 1223-6.
- SALVEN, P., MUSTJOKI, S., ALITALO, R., ALITALO, K. & RAFII, S. (2003) VEGFR-3 and CD133 identify a population of CD34+ lymphatic/vascular endothelial precursor cells. Blood, 101, 168-72.
- SANDLER, A., GRAY, R., PERRY, M. C., BRAHMER, J., SCHILLER, J. H., DOWLATI, A., LILENBAUM, R. & JOHNSON, D. H. (2006) Paclitaxel-carboplatin alone or with bevacizumab for non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med, 355, 2542-50.
- SANDMAIER, B. M., STORB, R., BENNETT, K. L., APPELBAUM, F. R. & SANTOS, E. B. (1998) Epitope specificity of CD44 for monoclonal antibody-dependent facilitation of marrow engraftment in a canine model. Blood, 91, 3494-502.
- SANSONE, P., STORCI, G., GIOVANNINI, C., PANDOLFI, S., PIANETTI, S., TAFFURELLI, M., SANTINI, D., CECCARELLI, C., CHIECO, P. & BONAFE, M. (2007) p66Shc/Notch-3 interplay controls self-renewal and hypoxia survival in human stem/progenitor cells of the mammary gland expanded in vitro as mammospheres. Stem Cells, 25, 807-15.
- SANTAGUIDA, M., SCHEPERS, K., KING, B., SABNIS, A. J., FORSBERG, E. C., ATTEMA, J. L., BRAUN, B. S. & PASSEGUE, E. (2009) JunB protects against myeloid malignancies by limiting hematopoietic stem cell proliferation and differentiation without affecting self-renewal. Cancer Cell, 15, 341-52.
- SANTISTEBAN, M., REIMAN, J. M., ASIEDU, M. K., BEHRENS, M. D., NASSAR, A., KALLI, K. R., HALUSKA, P., INGLE, J. N., HARTMANN, L. C., MANJILI, M. H., RADISKY, D. C., FERRONE, S. & KNUTSON, K. L. (2009) Immune-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition in vivo generates breast cancer stem cells. Cancer Res, 69, 2887-95.
- SATZGER, I., SCHAEFER, T., KUETTLER, U., BROECKER, V., VOELKER, B., OSTERTAG, H., KAPP, A. & GUTZMER, R. (2008) Analysis of c-KIT expression and KIT gene mutation in human mucosal melanomas. Br J Cancer, 99, 2065-9.

- SCHARENBERG, C. W., HARKEY, M. A. & TOROK-STORB, B. (2002) The ABCG2 transporter is an efficient Hoechst 33342 efflux pump and is preferentially expressed by immature human hematopoietic progenitors. Blood, 99, 507-12.
- SCHATTEMAN, G. C. & AWAD, O. (2004) Hemangioblasts, angioblasts, and adult endothelial cell progenitors. Anat Rec A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol, 276, 13-21.
- SCHUENING, F. G., APPELBAUM, F. R., DEEG, H. J., SULLIVAN-PEPE, M., GRAHAM, T. C., HACKMAN, R., ZSEBO, K. M. & STORB, R. (1993) Effects of recombinant canine stem cell factor, a c-kit ligand, and recombinant granulocyte colonystimulating factor on hematopoietic recovery after otherwise lethal total body irradiation. Blood, 81, 20-6.
- SCREATON, G. R., BELL, M. V., JACKSON, D. G., CORNELIS, F. B., GERTH, U. & BELL, J. I. (1992) Genomic structure of DNA encoding the lymphocyte homing receptor CD44 reveals at least 12 alternatively spliced exons. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 89, 12160-4.
- SECCHI, G. C. (1990) Cancer chemotherapy. Ann Ital Med Int, 5, 288-95.
- SEKIDO, Y., OBATA, Y., UEDA, R., HIDA, T., SUYAMA, M., SHIMOKATA, K., ARIYOSHI, Y. & TAKAHASHI, T. (1991) Preferential expression of c-kit protooncogene transcripts in small cell lung cancer. Cancer Res, 51, 2416-9.
- SELL, S. (2004) Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, 51, 1-28.
- SELL, S. & PIERCE, G. B. (1994) Maturation arrest of stem cell differentiation is a common pathway for the cellular origin of teratocarcinomas and epithelial cancers. Lab Invest, 70, 6-22.
- SERRA, M., RABANAL, R. M., MIQUEL, L., DOMENZAIN, C. & BASSOLS, A. (2004) Differential expression of CD44 in canine melanocytic tumours. J Comp Pathol, 130, 171-80.
- SETHI, V. S., JACKSON, D. V., WHITE, D. R., RICHARDS, F., STUART, J. J., MUSS, H. B., COOPER, M. R. & SPURR, C. L. (1981) Pharmacokinetics of Vincristine Sulfate in Adult Cancer Patients. Cancer Res, 41, 3551-5.
- SETOGUCHI, T., TAGA, T. & KONDO, T. (2004) Cancer stem cells persist in many cancer cell lines. Cell Cycle, 3, 414-5.
- SHACKLETON, M., QUINTANA, E., FEARON, E. R. & MORRISON, S. J. (2009) Heterogeneity in cancer: cancer stem cells versus clonal evolution. Cell, 138, 822-9.
- SHACKLETON, M., VAILLANT, F., SIMPSON, K. J., STINGL, J., SMYTH, G. K., ASSELIN-LABAT, M. L., WU, L., LINDEMAN, G. J. & VISVADER, J. E. (2006) Generation of a functional mammary gland from a single stem cell. Nature, 439, 84-8.
- SHAH, M. A. & SCHWARTZ, G. K. (2001) Cell cycle-mediated drug resistance: an emerging concept in cancer therapy. Clin Cancer Res, 7, 2168-81.
- SHAPIRO, H. M. (2003) Practical Flow Cytometry, Hoboken, New Jersey, John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- SHERIDAN, C., KISHIMOTO, H., FUCHS, R. K., MEHROTRA, S., BHAT-NAKSHATRI, P., TURNER, C. H., GOULET, R., JR., BADVE, S. & NAKSHATRI, H. (2006) CD44+/CD24- breast cancer cells exhibit enhanced invasive properties: an early step necessary for metastasis. Breast Cancer Res, 8, R59.
- SHI, Z., PENG, X. X., KIM, I. W., SHUKLA, S., SI, Q. S., ROBEY, R. W., BATES, S. E., SHEN, T., ASHBY, C. R., JR., FU, L. W., AMBUDKAR, S. V. & CHEN, Z. S. (2007)

Erlotinib (Tarceva, OSI-774) antagonizes ATP-binding cassette subfamily B member 1 and ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 2-mediated drug resistance. Cancer Res, 67, 11012-20.

- SHIMADA, Y., ISHII, G., NAGAI, K., ATSUMI, N., FUJII, S., YAMADA, A., YAMANE, Y., HISHIDA, T., NISHIMURA, M., YOSHIDA, J., IKEDA, N. & OCHIAI, A. (2009) Expression of podoplanin, CD44, and p63 in squamous cell carcinoma of the lung. Cancer Sci, 100, 2054-9.
- SHIPITSIN, M., CAMPBELL, L. L., ARGANI, P., WEREMOWICZ, S., BLOUSHTAIN-QIMRON, N., YAO, J., NIKOLSKAYA, T., SEREBRYISKAYA, T., BEROUKHIM, R., HU, M., HALUSHKA, M. K., SUKUMAR, S., PARKER, L. M., ANDERSON, K. S., HARRIS, L. N., GARBER, J. E., RICHARDSON, A. L., SCHNITT, S. J., NIKOLSKY, Y., GELMAN, R. S. & POLYAK, K. (2007) Molecular definition of breast tumor heterogeneity. Cancer Cell, 11, 259-73.
- SHIPITSIN, M. & POLYAK, K. (2008) The cancer stem cell hypothesis: in search of definitions, markers, and relevance. Lab Invest, 88, 459-63.
- SHMELKOV, S. V., BUTLER, J. M., HOOPER, A. T., HORMIGO, A., KUSHNER, J.,
  MILDE, T., ST CLAIR, R., BALJEVIC, M., WHITE, I., JIN, D. K., CHADBURN, A.,
  MURPHY, A. J., VALENZUELA, D. M., GALE, N. W., THURSTON, G.,
  YANCOPOULOS, G. D., D'ANGELICA, M., KEMENY, N., LYDEN, D. & RAFII, S.
  (2008) CD133 expression is not restricted to stem cells, and both CD133+ and
  CD133- metastatic colon cancer cells initiate tumors. J Clin Invest, 118, 2111-20.
- SHOOK, D. & KELLER, R. (2003) Mechanisms, mechanics and function of epithelialmesenchymal transitions in early development. Mech Dev 2003, 120, 1351-83.
- SHULL, R. M., SUGGS, S. V., LANGLEY, K. E., OKINO, K. H., JACOBSEN, F. W. & MARTIN, F. H. (1992) Canine stem cell factor (c-kit ligand) supports the survival of hematopoietic progenitors in long-term canine marrow culture. Exp Hematol, 20, 1118-24.
- SIMMONS, P. J. & TOROK-STORB, B. (1991) Identification of stromal cell precursors in human bone marrow by a novel monoclonal antibody, STRO-1. Blood, 78, 55-62.
- SIMPSON, C., PEARCE, D. J., BONNET, D. & DAVIES, D. (2006) Out of the blue: a comparison of Hoechst side population (SP) analysis of murine bone marrow using 325, 363 and 407 nm excitation sources. J Immunol Methods, 310, 171-81.
- SIMS-MOURTADA, J., IZZO, J. G., AJANI, J. & CHAO, K. S. (2007) Sonic Hedgehog promotes multiple drug resistance by regulation of drug transport. Oncogene, 26, 5674-9.
- SINGEC, I., KNOTH, R., MEYER, R. P., MACIACZYK, J., VOLK, B., NIKKHAH, G., FROTSCHER, M. & SNYDER, E. Y. (2006) Defining the actual sensitivity and specificity of the neurosphere assay in stem cell biology. Nat Methods, 3, 801-6.
- SINGH, S. K., CLARKE, I. D., TERASAKI, M., BONN, V. E., HAWKINS, C., SQUIRE, J. & DIRKS, P. B. (2003) Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Res, 63, 5821-8.
- SINGH, S. K., HAWKINS, C., CLARKE, I. D., SQUIRE, J. A., BAYANI, J., HIDE, T., HENKELMAN, R. M., CUSIMANO, M. D. & DIRKS, P. B. (2004) Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature, 432, 396-401.
- SIRARD, C., LAPIDOT, T., VORMOOR, J., CASHMAN, J. D., DOEDENS, M., MURDOCH, B., JAMAL, N., MESSNER, H., ADDEY, L., MINDEN, M., LARAYA, P., KEATING, A., EAVES, A., LANSDORP, P. M., EAVES, C. J. & DICK, J. E. (1996) Normal and

leukemic SCID-repopulating cells (SRC) coexist in the bone marrow and peripheral blood from CML patients in chronic phase, whereas leukemic SRC are detected in blast crisis. Blood, 87, 1539-48.

- SMITH, L. M., NESTEROVA, A., RYAN, M. C., DUNIHO, S., JONAS, M., ANDERSON, M., ZABINSKI, R. F., SUTHERLAND, M. K., GERBER, H. P., VAN ORDEN, K. L., MOORE, P. A., RUBEN, S. M. & CARTER, P. J. (2008) CD133/prominin-1 is a potential therapeutic target for antibody-drug conjugates in hepatocellular and gastric cancers. Br J Cancer, 99, 100-9.
- SNEATH, R. J. & MANGHAM, D. C. (1998) The normal structure and function of CD44 and its role in neoplasia. Mol Pathol, 51, 191-200.
- SPANGRUDE, G. J. & JOHNSON, G. R. (1990) Resting and activated subsets of mouse multipotent hematopoietic stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87, 7433-7.
- SREERAMA, L. & SLADEK, N. E. (1994) Identification of a methylcholanthreneinduced aldehyde dehydrogenase in a human breast adenocarcinoma cell line exhibiting oxazaphosphorine-specific acquired resistance. Cancer Res, 54, 2176-85.
- SREERAMA, L. & SLADEK, N. E. (1997) Cellular levels of class 1 and class 3 aldehyde dehydrogenases and certain other drug-metabolizing enzymes in human breast malignancies. Clin Cancer Res, 3, 1901-14.
- STEGMEIER, F., WARMUTH, M., SELLERS, W. R. & DORSCH, M. (2010) Targeted cancer therapies in the twenty-first century: lessons from imatinib. Clin Pharmacol Ther, 87, 543-52.
- STEINGOLD, S. F., SHARP, N. J., MCGAHAN, M. C., HUGHES, C. S., DUNN, S. E. & PAGE, R. L. (1998) Characterization of canine MDR1 mRNA: its abundance in drug resistant cell lines and in vivo. Anticancer Res, 18, 393-400.
- STEINIGER, S. C., COPPINGER, J. A., KRUGER, J. A., YATES, J., 3RD & JANDA, K. D. (2008) Quantitative mass spectrometry identifies drug targets in cancer stem cellcontaining side population. Stem Cells, 26, 3037-46.
- STINGL, J., EIREW, P., RICKETSON, I., SHACKLETON, M., VAILLANT, F., CHOI, D., LI, H. I. & EAVES, C. J. (2006) Purification and unique properties of mammary epithelial stem cells. Nature, 439, 993-7.
- STOCKHOLM, D., BENCHAOUIR, R., PICOT, J., RAMEAU, P., NEILDEZ, T. M., LANDINI, G., LAPLACE-BUILHE, C. & PALDI, A. (2007) The origin of phenotypic heterogeneity in a clonal cell population in vitro. PLoS One, 2, e394.
- STOICA, G., LUNGU, G., MARTINI-STOICA, H., WAGHELA, S., LEVINE, J. & SMITH, R., 3RD (2009) Identification of cancer stem cells in dog glioblastoma. Vet Pathol, 46, 391-406.
- STORMS, R. W., TRUJILLO, A. P., SPRINGER, J. B., SHAH, L., COLVIN, O. M., LUDEMAN, S. M. & SMITH, C. (1999) Isolation of primitive human hematopoietic progenitors on the basis of aldehyde dehydrogenase activity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 96, 9118-23.
- STRANDSTROM, H. V. & RIMAILA-PARNANEN, E. (1979) Canine atypical malignant lymphoma. Am J Vet Res, 40, 1033-4.
- STROHMEYER, T., PETER, S., HARTMANN, M., MUNEMITSU, S., ACKERMANN, R., ULLRICH, A. & SLAMON, D. J. (1991) Expression of the hst-1 and c-kit protooncogenes in human testicular germ cell tumors. Cancer Res, 51, 1811-6.
- STUDEBAKER, A. W., STORCI, G., WERBECK, J. L., SANSONE, P., SASSER, A. K., TAVOLARI, S., HUANG, T., CHAN, M. W., MARINI, F. C., ROSOL, T. J., BONAFE,

M. & HALL, B. M. (2008) Fibroblasts isolated from common sites of breast cancer metastasis enhance cancer cell growth rates and invasiveness in an interleukin-6-dependent manner. Cancer Res, 68, 9087-95.

- SUETSUGU, A., NAGAKI, M., AOKI, H., MOTOHASHI, T., KUNISADA, T. & MORIWAKI, H. (2006) Characterization of CD133+ hepatocellular carcinoma cells as cancer stem/progenitor cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 351, 820-4.
- SUO, G. L., HAN, J., WANG, X., ZHANG, J. Y., ZHAO, Y. N., ZHAO, Y. H. & DAI, J.
   W. (2005) Oct4 pseudogenes are transcribed in cancers. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 337, 1047-1051.
- SUTER, S. E., GOUTHRO, T. A., MCSWEENEY, P. A., NASH, R. A., HASKINS, M. E., FELSBURG, P. J. & HENTHORN, P. S. (2004) Isolation and characterization of pediatric canine bone marrow CD34+ cells. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 101, 31-47.
- SUTHERLAND, H. J., LANSDORP, P. M., HENKELMAN, D. H., EAVES, A. C. & EAVES, C. J. (1990) Functional characterization of individual human hematopoietic stem cells cultured at limiting dilution on supportive marrow stromal layers. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 87, 3584-3588.
- SUTHERLAND, R. M. (1988) Cell and environment interactions in tumor microregions: the multicell spheroid model. Science, 240, 177-84.
- SZOTEK, P. P., PIERETTI-VANMARCKE, R., MASIAKOS, P. T., DINULESCU, D. M., CONNOLLY, D., FOSTER, R., DOMBKOWSKI, D., PREFFER, F., MACLAUGHLIN, D. T. & DONAHOE, P. K. (2006) Ovarian cancer side population defines cells with stem cell-like characteristics and Mullerian Inhibiting Substance responsiveness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 103, 11154-9.
- TAIPALE, J. & BEACHY, P. A. (2001) The Hedgehog and Wnt signalling pathways in cancer. Nature, 411, 349-54.
- TAKAHASHI, K., TANABE, K., OHNUKI, M., NARITA, M., ICHISAKA, T., TOMODA, K. & YAMANAKA, S. (2007) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell, 131, 861-72.
- TAKAHASHI, K. & YAMANAKA, S. (2006) Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell, 126, 663-76.
- TAKAISHI, S., OKUMURA, T., TU, S., WANG, S. S., SHIBATA, W., VIGNESHWARAN, R., GORDON, S. A., SHIMADA, Y. & WANG, T. C. (2009) Identification of gastric cancer stem cells using the cell surface marker CD44. Stem Cells, 27, 1006-20.
- TAKEDA, J., SEINO, S. & BELL, G. I. (1992) Human Oct3 gene family: cDNA sequences, alternative splicing, gene organization, chromosomal location, and expression at low levels in adult tissues. Nucleic Acids Res, 20, 4613-20.
- TANAKA, H., NAKAMURA, M., KAMEDA, C., KUBO, M., SATO, N., KUROKI, S., TANAKA, M. & KATANO, M. (2009) The Hedgehog signaling pathway plays an essential role in maintaining the CD44+CD24-/low subpopulation and the side population of breast cancer cells. Anticancer Res, 29, 2147-57.
- TANEI, T., MORIMOTO, K., SHIMAZU, K., KIM, S. J., TANJI, Y., TAGUCHI, T., TAMAKI, Y. & NOGUCHI, S. (2009) Association of breast cancer stem cells identified by aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 expression with resistance to sequential Paclitaxel and epirubicin-based chemotherapy for breast cancers. Clin Cancer Res, 15, 4234-41.

- TARNOK, A., ULRICH, H. & BOCSI, J. (2010) Phenotypes of stem cells from diverse origin. Cytometry A, 77, 6-10.
- TAUSSIG, D. C., MIRAKI-MOUD, F., ANJOS-AFONSO, F., PEARCE, D. J., ALLEN, K., RIDLER, C., LILLINGTON, D., OAKERVEE, H., CAVENAGH, J., AGRAWAL, S. G., LISTER, T. A., GRIBBEN, J. G. & BONNET, D. (2008) Anti-CD38 antibodymediated clearance of human repopulating cells masks the heterogeneity of leukemia-initiating cells. Blood, 112, 568-75.
- TAUSSIG, D. C., PEARCE, D. J., SIMPSON, C., ROHATINER, A. Z., LISTER, T. A., KELLY, G., LUONGO, J. L., DANET-DESNOYERS, G. A. & BONNET, D. (2005) Hematopoietic stem cells express multiple myeloid markers: implications for the origin and targeted therapy of acute myeloid leukemia. Blood, 106, 4086-92.
- TAYLOR, C. W., DALTON, W. S., PARRISH, P. R., GLEASON, M. C., BELLAMY, W. T., THOMPSON, F. H., ROE, D. J. & TRENT, J. M. (1991) Different mechanisms of decreased drug accumulation in doxorubicin and mitoxantrone resistant variants of the MCF7 human breast cancer cell line. Br J Cancer, 63, 923-9.
- TEICHER, B. A. (1994) Hypoxia and drug resistance. Cancer Metastasis Rev, 13, 139-68.
- TEICHER, B. A., HOLDEN, S. A., GOFF, D. A., WRIGHT, J. E., TRETYAKOV, O. & AYASH, L. J. (1996) Antitumor efficacy and pharmacokinetic analysis of 4hydroperoxycyclophosphamide in comparison with cyclophosphamide +/hepatic enzyme effectors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, 38, 553-60.
- TELFORD, W. G., BRADFORD, J., GODFREY, W., ROBEY, R. W. & BATES, S. E. (2007) Side population analysis using a violet-excited cell-permeable DNA binding dye. Stem Cells, 25, 1029-36.
- TERGAONKAR, V., BOTTERO, V., IKAWA, M., LI, Q. & VERMA, I. M. (2003) IkappaB kinase-independent IkappaBalpha degradation pathway: functional NF-kappaB activity and implications for cancer therapy. Mol Cell Biol, 23, 8070-83.
- TERGAONKAR, V., PANDO, M., VAFA, O., WAHL, G. & VERMA, I. (2002) p53 stabilization is decreased upon NFkappaB activation: a role for NFkappaB in acquisition of resistance to chemotherapy. Cancer Cell, 1, 493-503.
- THIERY, J. P. (2002) Epithelial-mesenchymal transitions in tumour progression. Nat Rev Cancer, 2, 442-54.
- THOMSON, J. A., ITSKOVITZ-ELDOR, J., SHAPIRO, S. S., WAKNITZ, M. A., SWIERGIEL, J. J., MARSHALL, V. S. & JONES, J. M. (1998) Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. Science, 282, 1145-7.
- TILL, J. E. & MCCULLOCH, E. A. (1961) A direct measurement of the radiation sensitivity of normal mouse bone marrow cells. Radiat Res, 14, 213-222.
- TIRINO, V., CAMERLINGO, R., FRANCO, R., MALANGA, D., LA ROCCA, A., VIGLIETTO, G., ROCCO, G. & PIROZZI, G. (2009) The role of CD133 in the identification and characterisation of tumour-initiating cells in non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg, 36, 446-53.
- TIRINO, V., DESIDERIO, V., D'AQUINO, R., DE FRANCESCO, F., PIROZZI, G., GRAZIANO, A., GALDERISI, U., CAVALIERE, C., DE ROSA, A., PAPACCIO, G. & GIORDANO, A. (2008) Detection and characterization of CD133+ cancer stem cells in human solid tumours. PLoS One, 3, e3469.
- TOBE, M., ISOBE, Y., TOMIZAWA, H., NAGASAKI, T., TAKAHASHI, H., FUKAZAWA, T.
  & HAYASHI, H. (2003) Discovery of quinazolines as a novel structural class of potent inhibitors of NF-kappa B activation. Bioorg Med Chem, 11, 383-91.

- TOBUREN, D. (1981) Differential survival of cell subpopulations in spheroids after treatment with bleomycin. J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 102, 189-93.
- TODARO, M., ALEA, M. P., DI STEFANO, A. B., CAMMARERI, P., VERMEULEN, L., IOVINO, F., TRIPODO, C., RUSSO, A., GULOTTA, G., MEDEMA, J. P. & STASSI, G. (2007) Colon cancer stem cells dictate tumor growth and resist cell death by production of interleukin-4. Cell Stem Cell, 1, 389-402.
- TONDREAU, T., MEULEMAN, N., DELFORGE, A., DEJENEFFE, M., LEROY, R., MASSY, M., MORTIER, C., BRON, D. & LAGNEAUX, L. (2005) Mesenchymal stem cells derived from CD133-positive cells in mobilized peripheral blood and cord blood: proliferation, Oct4 expression, and plasticity. Stem Cells, 23, 1105-12.
- TORRES, J. & WATT, F. M. (2008) Nanog maintains pluripotency of mouse embryonic stem cells by inhibiting NFkappaB and cooperating with Stat3. Nat Cell Biol, 10, 194-201.
- TOYOTA, M., HINODA, Y., TAKAOKA, A., MAKIGUCHI, Y., TAKAHASHI, T., ITOH, F., IMAI, K. & YACHI, A. (1993) Expression of c-kit and kit ligand in human colon carcinoma cells. Tumour Biol, 14, 295-302.
- TRIEL, C., VESTERGAARD, M. E., BOLUND, L., JENSEN, T. G. & JENSEN, U. B. (2004) Side population cells in human and mouse epidermis lack stem cell characteristics. Exp Cell Res, 295, 79-90.
- TROPEPE, V., COLES, B. L., CHIASSON, B. J., HORSFORD, D. J., ELIA, A. J., MCINNES, R. R. & VAN DER KOOY, D. (2000) Retinal stem cells in the adult mammalian eye. Science, 287, 2032-6.
- TSAI, M., TAKEISHI, T., THOMPSON, H., LANGLEY, K. E., ZSEBO, K. M., METCALFE, D. D., GEISSLER, E. N. & GALLI, S. J. (1991) Induction of mast cell proliferation, maturation, and heparin synthesis by the rat c-kit ligand, stem cell factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 88, 6382-6.
- TURK, D., HALL, M. D., CHU, B. F., LUDWIG, J. A., FALES, H. M., GOTTESMAN, M. M. & SZAKACS, G. (2009) Identification of Compounds Selectively Killing Multidrug-Resistant Cancer Cells. Cancer Res, 69, 8293-8301.
- TURNER, A. M., ZSEBO, K. M., MARTIN, F., JACOBSEN, F. W., BENNETT, L. G. & BROUDY, V. C. (1992) Nonhematopoietic tumor cell lines express stem cell factor and display c-kit receptors. Blood, 80, 374-81.
- TWENTYMAN, P. R., FOX, N. E. & REES, J. K. (1989) Chemosensitivity testing of fresh leukaemia cells using the MTT colorimetric assay. Br J Haematol, 71, 19-24.
- TZANKOV, A., PEHRS, A. C., ZIMPFER, A., ASCANI, S., LUGLI, A., PILERI, S. & DIRNHOFER, S. (2003) Prognostic significance of CD44 expression in diffuse large B cell lymphoma of activated and germinal centre B cell-like types: a tissue microarray analysis of 90 cases. J Clin Pathol, 56, 747-52.
- UCHIDA, N., BUCK, D. W., HE, D., REITSMA, M. J., MASEK, M., PHAN, T. V., TSUKAMOTO, A. S., GAGE, F. H. & WEISSMAN, I. L. (2000) Direct isolation of human central nervous system stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97, 14720-5.
- UCHIDA, N., DYKSTRA, B., LYONS, K., LEUNG, F., KRISTIANSEN, M. & EAVES, C. (2004) ABC transporter activities of murine hematopoietic stem cells vary according to their developmental and activation status. Blood, 103, 4487-95.

- UOZURMI, K., NAKAICHI, M., YAMAMOTO, Y., UNE, S. & TAURA, Y. (2005) Development of multidrug resistance in a canine lymphoma cell line. Res Vet Sci, 78, 217-24.
- VAN DEN BERG, H. W., DESAI, Z. R., WILSON, R., KENNEDY, G., BRIDGES, J. M. & SHANKS, R. G. (1982) The pharmacokinetics of vincristine in man: reduced drug clearance associated with raised serum alkaline phosphatase and dose-limited elimination. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol, 8, 215-9.
- VAN DER POL, M. A., BROXTERMAN, H. J., PATER, J. M., FELLER, N., VAN DER MAAS, M., WEIJERS, G. W., SCHEFFER, G. L., ALLEN, J. D., SCHEPER, R. J., VAN LOEVEZIJN, A., OSSENKOPPELE, G. J. & SCHUURHUIS, G. J. (2003) Function of the ABC transporters, P-glycoprotein, multidrug resistance protein and breast cancer resistance protein, in minimal residual disease in acute myeloid leukemia. Haematologica, 88, 134-47.
- VAUPEL, P. & MAYER, A. (2005) Hypoxia and anemia: effects on tumor biology and treatment resistance. Transfus Clin Biol, 12, 5-10.
- VERMES, I., HAANEN, C., STEFFENS-NAKKEN, H. & REUTELINGSPERGER, C. (1995) A novel assay for apoptosis. Flow cytometric detection of phosphatidylserine expression on early apoptotic cells using fluorescein labelled Annexin V. J Immunol Methods, 184, 39-51.
- VERMEULEN, L., TODARO, M., DE SOUSA MELLO, F., SPRICK, M. R., KEMPER, K., PEREZ ALEA, M., RICHEL, D. J., STASSI, G. & MEDEMA, J. P. (2008) Single-cell cloning of colon cancer stem cells reveals a multi-lineage differentiation capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 105, 13427-13432.
- VERNAU, W. & MOORE, P. F. (1999) An immunophenotypic study of canine leukemias and preliminary assessment of clonality by polymerase chain reaction. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 69, 145-64.
- VISSER, J. W. & DE VRIES, P. (1988) Isolation of spleen-colony forming cells (CFUs) using wheat germ agglutinin and rhodamine 123 labeling. Blood Cells, 14, 369-84.
- VISVADER, J. E. & LINDEMAN, G. J. (2008) Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. Nat Rev Cancer, 8, 755-68.
- VORMOOR, J., LAPIDOT, T., PFLUMIO, F., RISDON, G., PATTERSON, B., BROXMEYER, H. E. & DICK, J. E. (1994) Immature human cord blood progenitors engraft and proliferate to high levels in severe combined immunodeficient mice. Blood, 83, 2489-97.
- WAELCHLI, R., BOLLBUCK, B., BRUNS, C., BUHL, T., EDER, J., FEIFEL, R., HERSPERGER, R., JANSER, P., REVESZ, L., ZERWES, H. G. & SCHLAPBACH, A. (2006) Design and preparation of 2-benzamido-pyrimidines as inhibitors of IKK. Bioorg Med Chem Lett, 16, 108-12.
- WANG, C., CURTIS, J. E., GEISSLER, E. N., MCCULLOCH, E. A. & MINDEN, M. D. (1989) The expression of the proto-oncogene C-kit in the blast cells of acute myeloblastic leukemia. Leukemia, 3, 699-702.
- WANG, J., GUO, L. P., CHEN, L. Z., ZENG, Y. X. & LU, S. H. (2007) Identification of cancer stem cell-like side population cells in human nasopharyngeal carcinoma cell line. Cancer Res, 67, 3716-24.
- WANG, Y., YANG, J., ZHENG, H., TOMASEK, G. J., ZHANG, P., MCKEEVER, P. E., LEE, E. Y. & ZHU, Y. (2009) Expression of mutant p53 proteins implicates a

lineage relationship between neural stem cells and malignant astrocytic glioma in a murine model. Cancer Cell, 15, 514-26.

- WEAVER, V. M., LELIEVRE, S., LAKINS, J. N., CHRENEK, M. A., JONES, J. C., GIANCOTTI, F., WERB, Z. & BISSELL, M. J. (2002) beta4 integrin-dependent formation of polarized three-dimensional architecture confers resistance to apoptosis in normal and malignant mammary epithelium. Cancer Cell, 2, 205-16.
- WEBSTER, J. D., YUZBASIYAN-GURKAN, V., TROSKO, J. E., CHANG, C. C. & KIUPEL, M. (2007) Expression of the embryonic transcription factor Oct4 in canine neoplasms: a potential marker for stem cell subpopulations in neoplasia. Vet Pathol, 44, 893-900.
- WEISENTHAL, L. M. & LIPPMAN, M. E. (1985) Clonogenic and nonclonogenic in vitro chemosensitivity assays. Cancer Treat Rep, 69, 615-32.
- WEISS, D. J. (2001) Flow cytometric and immunophenotypic evaluation of acute lymphocytic leukemia in dog bone marrow. J Vet Intern Med, 15, 589-94.
- WEISSMAN, I. L. (2000) Translating stem and progenitor cell biology to the clinic: barriers and opportunities. Science, 287, 1442-6.
- WEISSMAN, I. L., ANDERSON, D. J. & GAGE, F. (2001) Stem and progenitor cells: origins, phenotypes, lineage commitments, and transdifferentiations. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 17, 387-403.
- WENG, A. P. & ASTER, J. C. (2004) Multiple niches for Notch in cancer: context is everything. Curr Opin Genet Dev, 14, 48-54.
- WIJEWARDANA, V., SUGIURA, K., SHIGEYAMA, N., MORIGUCHI, M., TSUNODA, S., IKEHARA, S. & INABA, T. (2007) Isolation and characterization of hematopoietic progenitor cells in canine bone marrow. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 115, 230-8.
- WILKERSON, M. J., DOLCE, K., KOOPMAN, T., SHUMAN, W., CHUN, R., GARRETT, L., BARBER, L. & AVERY, A. (2005) Lineage differentiation of canine lymphoma/leukemias and aberrant expression of CD molecules. Vet Immunol Immunopathol, 106, 179-96.
- WILLIAMS, D. E., EISENMAN, J., BAIRD, A., RAUCH, C., VAN NESS, K., MARCH, C. J., PARK, L. S., MARTIN, U., MOCHIZUKI, D. Y., BOSWELL, H. S. & ET AL. (1990) Identification of a ligand for the c-kit proto-oncogene. Cell, 63, 167-74.
- WILSON, H., HUELSMEYER, M., CHUN, R., YOUNG, K. M., FRIEDRICHS, K. & ARGYLE, D. J. (2008) Isolation and characterisation of cancer stem cells from canine osteosarcoma. Vet J, 175, 69-75.
- WODARZ, A. & NUSSE, R. (1998) Mechanisms of Wnt signaling in development. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol, 14, 59-88.
- WRIGHT, M. H., CALCAGNO, A. M., SALCIDO, C. D., CARLSON, M. D., AMBUDKAR, S. V. & VARTICOVSKI, L. (2008) Brca1 breast tumors contain distinct CD44+/CD24- and CD133+ cells with cancer stem cell characteristics. Breast Cancer Res, 10, R10.
- WRIGHT, W. E. & SHAY, J. W. (2000) Telomere dynamics in cancer progression and prevention: fundamental differences in human and mouse telomere biology. Nat Med, 6, 849-51.
- WU, C. & ALMAN, B. A. (2008) Side population cells in human cancers. Cancer Lett, 268, 1-9.

- WU, C., WEI, Q., UTOMO, V., NADESAN, P., WHETSTONE, H., KANDEL, R., WUNDER, J. S. & ALMAN, B. A. (2007) Side population cells isolated from mesenchymal neoplasms have tumor initiating potential. Cancer Res, 67, 8216-22.
- WUCHTER, C., LEONID, K., RUPPERT, V., SCHRAPPE, M., BUCHNER, T., SCHOCH, C., HAFERLACH, T., HARBOTT, J., RATEI, R., DORKEN, B. & LUDWIG, W. D. (2000) Clinical significance of P-glycoprotein expression and function for response to induction chemotherapy, relapse rate and overall survival in acute leukemia. Haematologica, 85, 711-21.
- XIN, L., LUKACS, R. U., LAWSON, D. A., CHENG, D. & WITTE, O. N. (2007) Selfrenewal and multilineage differentiation in vitro from murine prostate stem cells. Stem Cells, 25, 2760-9.
- XU, Q. (2009) Isolation of tumour stem-like cells from benign tumours. Br J Cancer, 101, 303-311.
- XU, Y., JOSSON, S., FANG, F., OBERLEY, T. D., ST CLAIR, D. K., WAN, X. S., SUN, Y., BAKTHAVATCHALU, V., MUTHUSWAMY, A. & ST CLAIR, W. H. (2009) RelB enhances prostate cancer growth: implications for the role of the nuclear factorkappaB alternative pathway in tumorigenicity. Cancer Res, 69, 3267-71.
- YAN, L., EHRLICH, P. J., GIBSON, R., PICKETT, C. & BECKMAN, R. A. (2009) How can we improve antibody-based cancer therapy? MAbs, 1, 67-70.
- YANG, C. H., HUANG, C. J., YANG, C. S., CHU, Y. C., CHENG, A. L., WHANG-PENG, J. & YANG, P. C. (2005) Gefitinib reverses chemotherapy resistance in gefitinibinsensitive multidrug resistant cancer cells expressing ATP-binding cassette family protein. Cancer Res, 65, 6943-9.
- YANG, W., YAN, H. X., CHEN, L., LIU, Q., HE, Y. Q., YU, L. X., ZHANG, S. H., HUANG, D. D., TANG, L., KONG, X. N., CHEN, C., LIU, S. Q., WU, M. C. & WANG, H. Y. (2008) Wnt/beta-catenin signaling contributes to activation of normal and tumorigenic liver progenitor cells. Cancer Res, 68, 4287-95.
- YANG, Y. M. & CHANG, J. W. (2008) Bladder cancer initiating cells (BCICs) are among EMA-CD44v6+ subset: novel methods for isolating undetermined cancer stem (initiating) cells. Cancer Invest, 26, 725-33.
- YARDEN, Y., KUANG, W. J., YANG-FENG, T., COUSSENS, L., MUNEMITSU, S., DULL, T. J., CHEN, E., SCHLESSINGER, J., FRANCKE, U. & ULLRICH, A. (1987) Human proto-oncogene c-kit: a new cell surface receptor tyrosine kinase for an unidentified ligand. Embo J, 6, 3341-51.
- YE, Z. J., KLUGER, Y., LIAN, Z. & WEISSMAN, S. M. (2005) Two types of precursor cells in a multipotential hematopoietic cell line. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 102, 18461-6.
- YIN, L., CASTAGNINO, P. & ASSOIAN, R. K. (2008) ABCG2 expression and side population abundance regulated by a transforming growth factor beta-directed epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Cancer Res, 68, 800-7.
- Yoo, M. H. & HATFIELD, D. L. (2008) The cancer stem cell theory: is it correct? Mol Cells, 26, 514-6.
- YU, J., VODYANIK, M. A., SMUGA-OTTO, K., ANTOSIEWICZ-BOURGET, J., FRANE, J. L., TIAN, S., NIE, J., JONSDOTTIR, G. A., RUOTTI, V., STEWART, R., SLUKVIN, II & THOMSON, J. A. (2007) Induced pluripotent stem cell lines derived from human somatic cells. Science, 318, 1917-20.
- ZACCHETTI, A., VAN GARDEREN, E., TESKE, E., NEDERBRAGT, H., DIERENDONCK, J. H. & RUTTEMAN, G. R. (2003) Validation of the use of proliferation markers in

canine neoplastic and non-neoplastic tissues: comparison of KI-67 and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) expression versus in vivo bromodeoxyuridine labelling by immunohistochemistry. Apmis, 111, 430-8.

- ZANGROSSI, S., MARABESE, M., BROGGINI, M., GIORDANO, R., D'ERASMO, M., MONTELATICI, E., INTINI, D., NERI, A., PESCE, M., REBULLA, P. & LAZZARI, L. (2007) Oct-4 expression in adult human differentiated cells challenges its role as a pure stem cell marker. Stem Cells, 25, 1675-80.
- ZEILSTRA, J., JOOSTEN, S. P., DOKTER, M., VERWIEL, E., SPAARGAREN, M. & PALS, S. T. (2008) Deletion of the WNT target and cancer stem cell marker CD44 in Apc(Min/+) mice attenuates intestinal tumorigenesis. Cancer Res, 68, 3655-61.
- ZHANG, J., YANG, P. L. & GRAY, N. S. (2009a) Targeting cancer with small molecule kinase inhibitors. Nat Rev Cancer, 9, 28-39.
- ZHANG, J. C., WANG, Z. R., CHENG, Y. J., YANG, D. Z., SHI, J. S., LIANG, A. L., LIU, N. N. & WANG, X. M. (2003) Expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen and CD44 variant exon 6 in primary tumors and corresponding lymph node metastases of colorectal carcinoma with Dukes' stage C or D. World J Gastroenterol, 9, 1482-6.
- ZHANG, P., ZHANG, Y., MAO, L., ZHANG, Z. & CHEN, W. (2009b) Side population in oral squamous cell carcinoma possesses tumor stem cell phenotypes. Cancer Lett, 277, 227-34.
- ZHANG, S., BALCH, C., CHAN, M. W., LAI, H. C., MATEI, D., SCHILDER, J. M., YAN, P. S., HUANG, T. H. & NEPHEW, K. P. (2008a) Identification and characterization of ovarian cancer-initiating cells from primary human tumors. Cancer Res, 68, 4311-20.
- ZHANG, X., KOMAKI, R., WANG, L., FANG, B. & CHANG, J. Y. (2008b) Treatment of radioresistant stem-like esophageal cancer cells by an apoptotic gene-armed, telomerase-specific oncolytic adenovirus. Clin Cancer Res, 14, 2813-23.
- ZHAO, C., CHEN, A., JAMIESON, C. H., FERESHTEH, M., ABRAHAMSSON, A., BLUM, J., KWON, H. Y., KIM, J., CHUTE, J. P., RIZZIERI, D., MUNCHHOF, M., VANARSDALE, T., BEACHY, P. A. & REYA, T. (2009) Hedgehog signalling is essential for maintenance of cancer stem cells in myeloid leukaemia. Nature.
- ZHENG, C., REN, Z., WANG, H., ZHANG, W., KALVAKOLANU, D. V., TIAN, Z. & XIAO, W. (2009) E2F1 Induces Tumor Cell Survival via Nuclear Factor-{kappa}B-Dependent Induction of EGR1 Transcription in Prostate Cancer Cells. Cancer Res, 69, 2324-31.
- ZHENG, X., SHEN, G., YANG, X. & LIU, W. (2007) Most c6 cells are cancer stem cells: evidence from clonal and population analyses. Cancer Res, 67, 3691-7.
- ZHOU, B. B., ZHANG, H., DAMELIN, M., GELES, K. G., GRINDLEY, J. C. & DIRKS, P. B. (2009a) Tumour-initiating cells: challenges and opportunities for anticancer drug discovery. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 8, 806-23.
- ZHOU, G. & KUO, M. T. (1997) NF-kappaB-mediated induction of mdr1b expression by insulin in rat hepatoma cells. J Biol Chem, 272, 15174-83.
- ZHOU, J., WULFKUHLE, J., ZHANG, H., GU, P., YANG, Y., DENG, J., MARGOLICK, J. B., LIOTTA, L. A., PETRICOIN, E., 3RD & ZHANG, Y. (2007) Activation of the PTEN/mTOR/STAT3 pathway in breast cancer stem-like cells is required for viability and maintenance. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104, 16158-63.

- ZHOU, J., ZHANG, H., GU, P., BAI, J., MARGOLICK, J. B. & ZHANG, Y. (2008) NFkappaB pathway inhibitors preferentially inhibit breast cancer stem-like cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat, 111, 419-27.
- ZHOU, J. B., ZHANG, H., GU, P. H., MARGOLICK, J. B., YIN, D. L. & ZHANG, Y. (2009b) Cancer stem/progenitor cell active compound 8-quinolinol in combination with paclitaxel achieves an improved cure of breast cancer in the mouse model. Breast Cancer Res Treat (2009) 115:269–277, 269-277.
- ZHOU, S., SCHUETZ, J. D., BUNTING, K. D., COLAPIETRO, A. M., SAMPATH, J., MORRIS, J. J., LAGUTINA, I., GROSVELD, G. C., OSAWA, M., NAKAUCHI, H. & SORRENTINO, B. P. (2001) The ABC transporter Bcrp1/ABCG2 is expressed in a wide variety of stem cells and is a molecular determinant of the side-population phenotype. Nat Med, 7, 1028-34.
- ZIJLMANS, J. M., VISSER, J. W., KLEIVERDA, K., KLUIN, P. M., WILLEMZE, R. & FIBBE, W. E. (1995) Modification of rhodamine staining allows identification of hematopoietic stem cells with preferential short-term or long-term bone marrowrepopulating ability. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 92, 8901-5.
- ZIMMERMANN, S., VOSS, M., KAISER, S., KAPP, U., WALLER, C. F. & MARTENS, U. M. (2003) Lack of telomerase activity in human mesenchymal stem cells. Leukemia, 17, 1146-9.



Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



The Veterinary Journal

The Veterinary Journal 177 (2008) 311-323

Review

www.elsevier.com/locate/tvjl

## From viruses to cancer stem cells: Dissecting the pathways to malignancy

David J. Argyle \*, Thalia Blacking

Royal (Dick) School of Veterinary Studies, The University of Edinburgh Hospital for Small Animals, Easter Bush Veterinary Centre, Roslin, Midlothian EH25 9RG, UK

Accepted 13 September 2007

#### Abstract

Cancer is a disease of all vertebrate species and has been well documented throughout history with fossil records indicating that dinosaurs of the Jurassic period suffered from the disease. The Greek physician, Galen is accredited with describing human tumours as having the shape of a crab, with leg like tendrils invading deep into surrounding tissues – hence the term cancer. Today cancer can be defined as any malignant growth or tumour caused by abnormal and uncontrolled cell division that is able to invade tissues locally and spread to other parts of the body through the lymphatic system or the blood stream. This is obviously a simplistic attempt at describing a complex disease that can utilize a myriad of biological pathways to sustain growth and proliferation. Dissecting these pathways has been the challenge of cancer researchers for decades in the search for new treatment strategies. This review attempts to condense our understanding of cancer and to offer insights into an alternative theory regarding the existence of true cancer stem cells and how this will inform the development of new therapeutics.

© 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Cancer; Viral oncogenesis; Stem cell; Dog; Therapies

#### Introduction

Fundamental to our basic understanding of mammalian physiology is the concept of homeostasis. If we consider the body as a multi-cellular unit, then cells within this unit form part of a specialized society that cooperates to promote survival of the organism. In terms of homeostasis, cell division, proliferation and differentiation are strictly controlled and a balance exists between normal cell birth and natural cell death (Argyle and Khanna, 2006). In simple terms, cancer can be considered as a breakdown in cellular homeostasis leading to uncontrolled cell division and proliferation, which ultimately leads to a disease state.

The mechanisms of this breakdown are the subject of intense research, especially considering the high incidence of cancer in both humans and domestic animals. However,

\* Corresponding author. Tel.: +44 131 650 7650.

E-mail address: david.argyle@ed.ac.uk (D.J. Argyle).

despite the fact that cancer is a common disease, and considering the number of cells making up an organism, the change from normal cell to cancer cell is actually a very rare event (Evan and Littlewood, 1998). This is because evolution has allowed the development of many fail-safe mechanisms within the cell that react to DNA damage by arresting the cell cycle (to allow repair) or allow the cell to die naturally. In this short synopsis of cancer biology we will consider the current understanding of cancer biology and discuss some of the ways that this is leading to informed drug development. Further, we will consider the role of stem cells in cancer and how they are challenging conventional wisdom.

#### The pathways to cancer: A stochastic model

For many years, cancer researchers have considered a stochastic model of cancer development (McCance and Roberts, 1999). In this model, cancer formation is the

<sup>1090-0233/\$ -</sup> see front matter @ 2007 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.09.017

phenotypic end result of a whole series of changes that may have taken a long period of time to develop. Following an initiation step produced by a cancer forming agent on a cell, there follows a period of tumour promotion (Fig. 1). The initiating step is rapid and affects the genetic material of the cell. If the cell does not repair this damage, then promoting factors may progress the cell toward a malignant phenotype. In contrast to initiation, progression may be a very slow process, and may not even manifest in the lifetime of the animal.

Over the past four decades, cancer research has generated a rich and complex body of information revealing that cancer is a disease involving dynamic changes in the genome. Each stage of multi-step carcinogenesis reflects genetic changes in the cell with a selection advantage that drives the progression towards a highly malignant cell. The age-dependent incidence of cancer suggests a requirement for between four and seven rate limiting stochastic events to produce the malignant phenotype.

#### Oncogenes

Seminal to our understanding of cancer biology has been the discovery of the so called "cancer genes", or oncogenes, and tumour suppressor genes. Mutations that produce oncogenes with dominant gain of function, and tumour suppressor genes with recessive loss of function have been identified through their alteration in human and animal cancer cells and by their elicitation of cancer phenotypes in experimental models. The initial observation came in 1910 when Rous demonstrated that a filterable agent (later classified as a retrovirus termed avian leukosis virus) was capable of producing lymphoid tumours in chickens. Retroviral sequences that are responsible for transforming properties are called viral oncogenes (*v*-onc). Viral oncogenes were subsequently shown to have cellular homologues called cellular oncogenes (*c*-onc). Later the term proto-oncogene was used to describe cellular oncogenes that do not have transforming potential to form tumours in their native state but can be altered to lead to malignancy.

Most proto-oncogenes are key genes involved in the control of cell growth and proliferation and their roles are complex. For simplicity, their sites and modes of action in the normal cell can be divided as follows: growth factors, growth factor receptor, protein kinases, signal transducers, nuclear proteins and transcription factors (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000) (Table 1 and Fig. 2). The conversion of a proto-oncogene to an oncogene is a result of somatic events in the genetic material of the target tissue. The activated allele of the oncogene dominates the wild-type allele and results in a dominant gain of function. This means that only one allele has to be affected to obtain phenotypic change and is in contrast to tumour suppressor genes where both alleles have to be lost for phenotypic change. The mechanisms of oncogene activation include the following.

#### Chromosomal translocation

Where proto-oncogenes are translocated within the genome (i.e. from one chromosome to another), their function can be altered. In human chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML), a chromosomal breakpoint produces a translocation of the c-abl oncogene on chromosome 9 to a gene on chromosome 22 (bcr). The bcr/abl hybrid gene produces a novel transcript whose protein product has tyrosine



Fig. 1. *The stochastic model of carcinogenesis*: Cancer formation is the phenotypic end result of a whole series of changes that may have taken a long period of time to develop. They can occur in any cell type in the body. Following an initiation step produced by a cancer forming agent on a cell, there follows a period of tumour promotion. Each stage of multi-step carcinogenesis reflects genetic changes in the cell with a selection advantage that drives the progression towards a highly malignant cell. The age-dependent incidence of cancer suggests a requirement for between four and seven rate limiting, stochastic events to produce the malignant phenotype.

Table 1

Onaganas	oon ha anawith	factors	anowth footon	nacomtona	mentain 1	rimona	airma1	tranadurana	m110100m	meatoing and	transprintian	factors
Oncogenes	can be growin	factors.	growth factor	receptors.	DIOLEIII K	cmases.	signai	transducers.	nuclear	broteins and	uanscribuon	Tactors
			0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	L		0	,		T	· · · · <b>I</b> · · ·	

Oncogene class	Examples					
Growth factors	Platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) Epidermal growth factor (EGF) Insulin like growth factor-1 (ILGF-1) Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) Transforming growth factor-β (TGF-β) Interleukin-2 (IL-2)					
Growth factor receptors	PDGF-receptor (PDGF-R) EGFR-receptor (erbB-1) ILGF-1 receptor (ILGF-R) VEGF-receptor (VEGFR) IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) Hepatocyte growth factor receptor (met) Heregulin receptor (neu/erbB-2) Stem cell factor receptor (kit)					
Protein kinases	Tyrosine kinase e.g.: bcr-abl, src Serine-threonine kinase e.g.: raf/mil, mos					
G-Protein signal transducers	GTPase e.g.: H-ras, K-ras, N-ras					
Nuclear proteins	Transcription factors, e.g., ets, jun, fos, myb, myc, rel					



Fig. 2. Oncogenes are normal cellular genes involved in cell growth and proliferation: Most proto-oncogenes are key genes involved in the control of cell growth and proliferation and include growth factors, growth factor receptors, protein kinases, signal transducers, nuclear proteins and transcription factors. The conversion of a proto-oncogene to an oncogene is a result of somatic events in the genetic material of the target tissue. The activated allele of the oncogene dominates the wild-type allele and results in a dominant gain of function. The mechanisms of oncogene activation include chromosomal translocation, gene amplification, point mutations, and viral insertions.

kinase activity and can contribute to uncontrolled cellular proliferation (Heaney and Holyoake, 2007). This tyrosine kinase activity has become a major target for therapeutic intervention, with many drugs such as imatinib (a tyrosine kinase inhibitor) in human clinical trials.

#### Gene amplification

Amplification of oncogenes (i.e. multiple gene copies) can occur in a number of tumour types and has been dem-

onstrated in domestic animal cancers. As an example, the MDM2 proto-oncogene has been identified in dogs and horses and has been shown to be amplified in a proportion of canine soft-tissue sarcomas (Nasir et al., 2001).

#### Point mutations

These are single base changes in the DNA sequence of proto-oncogenes leading to the production of abnormal proteins. For example, point mutations in the Ras proto-oncogene are a consistent finding in a number of human tumours (Konstantinopoulos et al., 2007).

#### Viral insertions

Studies of the tumour causing viruses allowed for the discovery of oncogenes. In some circumstances protooncogene function can be damaged by the insertion of viral elements. A more detailed account of viral oncogenesis is given below.

#### Tumour suppressor genes

Changes in genes can lead to either a stimulatory or inhibitory effect on cell growth and proliferation. The stimulatory effects are provided by the proto-oncogenes described above. Mutations or translocations of these genes produce positive signals leading to uncontrolled growth. In contrast, tumour formation can result from a loss of inhibitory functions associated with another class of cellular genes called the tumour suppressor genes. The Retinoblastoma gene (Rb) was the first gene to inform mechanisms of tumour suppressor genes (Weinberg, 1995).

The retinoblastoma tumour suppressor Rb is the principal member of a family of proteins that also encompass pRb2/p130 and p107. Rb plays a central role in regulating cell cycle progression in G1 and disruption of Rb function has been found to be a common feature of many human cancers as well as the classical retinoblastoma tumour. Rb function can be abrogated by point mutations, deletions, or by complex formation with viral oncoproteins such as SV40 large T antigen or adenoviral E1a protein (Knudsen et al., 2006). In a cell with only one normal allele of a tumour suppressor gene such as Rb, that allele usually produces enough tumour suppressor product to remain normal. Mutations in tumour suppressor genes behave very differently from oncogene mutations. Whereas activating oncogene mutations are dominant to wild-type (they emit their proliferating signals regardless of the wild-type gene product), suppressor mutations are recessive. Mutation in one gene copy usually has no effect, as long as a reasonable amount of wild-type protein remains (Fig. 3).

The discovery of the p53 gene, another tumour suppressor, revolutionised our understanding of molecular oncology (Harris, 1996). p53 is a gene whose product is intimately involved in cell cycle control; it has been described as the guardian of the genome, by virtue of its ability to promote cell cycle arrest or apoptosis depending on the degree of DNA damage (Fig. 4). Consequently, the p53 tumour suppressor gene plays an important role in cell cycle progression, regulation of gene expression and in the cellular response mechanisms to DNA damage.

Under normal physiological conditions, wild type p53 can bind specific DNA sequences and regulate transcription of a number of genes involved in cell cycle progression and apoptotic pathways including p21<sup>waf1/cip1</sup> and bax. The p53-mediated mechanisms are responsible for tumour sup-



Fig. 3. In contrast to oncogene mutations, suppressor effects are recessive. Normal cell (a). Mutation in one copy (b) usually has no effect but the cell is at risk. Cells with both alleles affected produce no tumour suppressor effects (c).

pression and prevent accumulation of potentially oncogenic mutations and genomic instability. Failure by p53 to activate such cellular functions may ultimately result in abnormal uncontrolled cell growth leading to tumorigenic transformation (Fuster et al., 2007). p53 is the most frequently inactivated gene in human neoplasia with functional loss commonly occurring through gene mutational events including non-sense, mis-sense and splice site mutations, allelic loss, rearrangements and deletions (Lane, 1992; Levine, 1997). However, p53 function can also be abrogated by several non-mutational mechanisms including nuclear exclusion, complex formation with a number of viral proteins and through over expression of the cellular oncogene MDM2 (mouse double minute-2) (Haupt et al., 1997).

Oncogenenic viruses provided the first evidence that genetic factors play a role in the development of cancer (Jarrett and Onions, 1992). These viruses are a diverse group of pathogens that include all the major families of the DNA viruses and a class of RNA viruses known as Retroviruses. Although diverse, one almost universal feature is the importance of a DNA stage in the replication of the viral genome.

#### **Retroviruses and cancer**

Retroviruses are important oncogenic viruses of cats, cattle and chickens, the studies of which have been seminal to our understanding of viral and non-viral oncogenesis. The structure and basic replication cycle of a typical retrovirus is shown in Fig. 5. Retroviruses can promote carcinogenesis through the activation of cellular oncogenes by integrating adjacent to them. A good example of this is



Fig. 4. *p53 is considered a genomic guardian*: The p53 tumour suppressor gene plays an important role in cell cycle progression, regulation of gene expression and in the cellular response mechanisms to DNA damage. Under normal physiological conditions, wild type p53 can bind specific DNA sequences and regulate transcription of a number of genes involved in cell cycle progression and apoptotic pathways including p21<sup>waf1/cip1</sup> and bax. The p53-mediated mechanisms are responsible for tumour suppression and prevent accumulation of potentially oncogenic mutations and genomic instability. Failure by p53 to activate such cellular functions may ultimately result in abnormal uncontrolled cell growth leading to tumorigenic transformation. p53 is the most frequently inactivated gene in human neoplasia with functional loss commonly occurring through gene mutational events including non-sense, mis-sense and splice site mutations, allelic loss, rearrangements and deletions.



Fig. 5. *The structure and replication lifecycle of a typical retrovirus*. The retrovirus is a double stranded RNA virus, which, on entry to the cell, reverse transcribes into proviral DNA. This DNA can integrate into the host genome.

the *myc* gene, which is frequently activated in B-cell tumours of chickens caused by avian leukosis virus (ALV) and feline T cell lymphomas caused by feline leukaemia virus (FeLV). (Neil et al., 1984). *Myc* is an oncogene intimately associated with cell cycle progression and proliferation. When there is viral insertion close to the *myc* locus, the gene becomes controlled by the powerful viral promoters leading to up-regulated *myc* expression and prevention of cells entering Go of the cell cycle (Fig. 6).

In cattle, a leukaemia/lymphoma complex occurs both as a sporadic and an enzootic form, the latter being associated with infection with bovine leukaemia virus (BLV) (Gillet et al., 2007). In contrast to FeLV and ALV, BLV has a remarkable cell association and is only found in the latent form in B cells. Although all three viruses (ALV, FeLV, BLV) are considered type C retroviruses (based on electron microscopy), BLV cases have no free virus in the blood. In further contrast to the feline virus, BLV also contains an additional tax gene to gag, pol and env. This gene regulates the transcription of the pro-virus, which is often transcriptionally silent. When it is activated, the first mRNA produced encodes the tax protein, which activates other cellular proteins that bind the LTR and up-regulate transcription. Consequently, the expression of the tax



Fig. 6. Oncogenesis through insertional mutagenesis. In this scenario, the myc gene comes under control of the integrated retroviral promoters. There is a failure of cells to enter Go of the cell cycle, leading to uncontrolled proliferation.

protein acts as a positive feedback loop in the replication cycle BLV. The tax protein can also trans-activate certain cellular genes that may be involved in tumour production.

#### The DNA viruses

Many DNA viruses have been associated with the development of cancer in animals and humans. In particular, the papilloma viruses (which are small DNA viruses) have long been known to cause wart lesions, which can become malignant depending on a number of several other predisposing factors (Carrillo-Infante et al., 2007). Most often, wart lesions are overcome by the immune system and disappear from the animal over a 6-month period. The life cycle of the virus is tightly coupled with the differentiation process of the epithelial cell and, in certain circumstances, the benign wart can persist and ultimately become transformed to become a squamous cell carcinoma.

The most extensively studied of the papilloma viruses are the bovine papilloma viruses (BPV) and these have also been used as model systems to study the role of co-carcinogens in the development of cancer (Gaukroger et al., 1993). BPV fall into two groups: Subgroup A, comprising the fibropapillomaviruses BPV-1, 2 and 5, and Subgroup B, comprising the epitheliotropic papillomaviruses BPV 3, 4 and 6. BPV-2 is the common virus of common cutaneous warts in cattle. The high risk viruses have early gene products known as E6 and E7, which can immortalise cells and thus contribute to the development of malignancy. However, as we have discussed, the progression to produce a malignant cell requires a number of genetic insults in addition to the effects of E6 and E7 proteins. These proteins can bind to both p53 and Rb proteins thereby conferring a further growth advantage of the infected cell.

In healthy cattle the papillomas normally regress, but in cattle exposed to co-carcinogens, there is a positive correlation between warts and the development of cancer. BPV-2 has been associated with bladder cancer in cattle and BPV-4 is associated with a syndrome of upper alimentary tract cancer in bracken fed cattle. Bracken fern is a co-carcinogen where cattle are infected with papilloma virus.

Field cases of alimentary tract cancer were found to occur at high frequency in areas such as the Nasampolai Valley in Kenya and the Western Highlands of Scotland where the cattle were grazing on bracken (Pteridium aquilinum) infected land. Bracken-fed cattle become chronically immunosuppressed, develop chronic enzootic haematuria and bladder tumours and show a high incidence of alimentary tract cancers. The development of papillomas at this site and the concurrent transformation to cancer is through the immunosuppressive and carcinogenic effects of the sesquiterpene pterosins and pterosides present in bracken (Campo et al., 1992, 1994). Additional agents such as ptaquiloside and a-ecdysone, are also found in bracken and are associated with producing changes in cells such as chromosomal aberrations. More recently, it has been demonstrated experimentally that the components of bracken fern may activate viral oncogenes such as E7 to drive the cells towards malignancy. Further, activation of the ras proto-oncogene and inactivation of the p53 tumour suppressor gene may also have a role to play in the pathogenesis of this disease.

In contrast to the papilloma viruses, herpes viruses are large DNA viruses and are known to cause Marek's disease in chickens. The herpes viruses are the subject of extensive studies in man through their involvement in epstein barr virus (EBV) associated lymphomas and Kaposi's sarcoma.

#### Cancer arises through multiple molecular mechanisms

From the preceding section we can conclude that (1) cancer is a genetic disease, involving fundamental changes in the cell at the genetic level; (2) changes in oncogenes or tumour suppressor genes may contribute to carcinogenesis, and (3) one mechanism by which tumours can arise is through infection with oncogenic viruses.

However, the last two decades of cancer research has demonstrated that, despite the many potential causes of cancer and carcinogenic pathways, transformation of a normal cell into a malignant cell actually requires very few molecular, biochemical and cellular changes. These changes can be considered as the acquired capabilities of a cancer cell that allow it to be regarded as displaying a malignant phenotype. Further, despite the wide diversity of cancer types, these acquired capabilities appear to be common to all types of cancer. An optimistic view of increasing simplicity in cancer biology is further endorsed by the fact that all normal cells, irrespective of origin and phenotype, carry similar molecular machineries that regulate cell proliferation, differentiation, aging and cell death.

Consequently, we can consider that the vast array of cancer genotypes is a manifestation of only seven alterations in cellular physiology that collectively dictate malignant growth (Hanahan and Weinberg, 2000). These characteristics are acquired during the process of carcinogenesis and can be considered as:

- (1) A self sufficiency in growth
- (2) An insensitivity to anti-growth signals
- (3) An ability to evade programmed cell death (apoptosis)
- (4) Limitless replicative potential (mainly through reactivation of telomerase)
- (5) An ability to sustain angiogenesis
- (6) An ability to invade and metastasise
- (7) An ability to evade host immunity (Fig. 7)

It is important to stress that the pathways for cells becoming malignant are highly variable. Mutations in certain oncogenes can occur early in the progression of some tumours, and late in others. As a consequence, the acquisition of the essential cancer characteristics may appear at different times in the progression of different cancers. Furthermore, in certain tumours, a specific genetic event may, on its own, contribute only partially to the acquisition of a single capability, whilst in others it may contribute to the simultaneous acquisition of multiple capabilities. Irrespective of the path taken, the hallmark capabilities of cancer will remain common for multiple cancer types and will help clarify mechanisms, prognosis and the development of new treatments.

### A challenge to the stochastic model of carcinogenesis: The cancer stem cell theory

For decades, the accepted model of carcinogenesis has been a stochastic model, whereby any cell in the body has the potential for malignant transformation. However, this model is sometimes difficult to reconcile with what happens in the animal body. The majority of cells making up the various organ systems have a finite life-span, dictated largely through progressive telomeric attrition at each cell division. The question then arises as to how a cell would live long enough to acquire the number of mutations required to become a cancer cell? A challenge to the stochastic model is the cancer stem cell (CSC) theory, which suggests that cancer is, in fact, a true stem cell disease (Reya et al., 2001).

Stem cells are cells that have the ability to self-renew and are capable of asymmetric cell division, giving rise to another stem cell and a cell that gives rise to the phenotypically diverse range of cell types in the body (Moore and Lemischka, 2006). In the normal body we identify two broad classes of stem cells, namely embryonic stem cells (ESC) that are present in the inner cell mass of the early embryo and give rise to all cell types in the body, and adult stem sells (ASC) that are tissue specific and are responsible for cell replenishment in that organ system. The CSC theory states that malignant transformation occurs in the adult stem cell and gives rise to a cancer stem cell (Al-Hajj and Clarke, 2004) (Fig. 8). This would reconcile how a cell would survive long enough to acquire the appropriate number of genetic changes, as stem cells are long-lived.

Many parallels can be drawn between normal adult stem cells and cancer stem cells in terms of clonality and



Fig. 7. *The pathways to cancer*. Despite the complexity of cancer as a disease, it can be defined on the basis of the acquisition of seven fundamental characteristics: self sufficiency in growth, an insensitivity to anti-growth signals, an ability to evade programmed cell death (apoptosis), limitless replicative potential (mainly through reactivation of telomerase), an ability to sustain angiogenesis, an ability to invade and metastasise, and an ability to evade host immunity.



Fig. 8. *The cancer stem cell theory*: This theory challenges the stochastic model presented in Fig. 1 and suggests that malignant transformation is restricted to adult stem cells. Progression to a full malignant cell then leads to the formation of an asymmetrically dividing cancer cell capable of self-renewal and the production of daughter cells. In a similar way to the production of committed cells from normal stem cells, daughter cancer cells have a limited proliferative capacity.

asymmetric division, the implication being that this very small population of CSCs gives rise to daughter cancer cells that represent the bulk of a tumour mass. In support of this, it has been demonstrated that when cancer cells of different types are subjected to both in vitro and in vivo assays, that only a small minority of cells are able to proliferate extensively (Reya et al., 2001). This has given rise to the concept that tumours are composed of both CSCs, which have a large proliferative capacity, and a daughter population of cells, with a limited proliferative potential.

#### Do cancer stem cells exist?

The evidence for true CSCs was first documented for haematopoietic malignancies such as acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) and multiple myeloma. Using a NOD-SCID (severe combined immunodeficient) mouse model of AML, isolation of cells with a CD34<sup>++</sup>CD38<sup>-</sup> phenotype (representing only 0.2% of the tumour population) could reproduce the phenotype of the original tumour in a recipient animal. The heterogeneous AML population required far more cell numbers to achieve this result (Park et al., 1971; Huntly and Gilliland, 2005; Kamel-Reid et al., 1989; Lapidot et al., 1994; Sirard et al., 1996; Bonnet and Dick, 1997).

Similar studies have also been performed to show that cells of solid tumours are phenotypically heterogeneous and only a small proportion of cells are clonogenic in culture and in vivo (Fidler and Kripke, 1977; Fidler and Hart, 1982; Heppner, 1984; Nowell, 1986; Southam and Brunschwig, 1961). For example, only 1 in 1,000 to 1 in 5,000 lung cancer, ovarian cancer and neuroblastoma cells have been found to form colonies in soft agar. A number of reports have now emerged that suggest that cancers of the brain, colon, breast, pancreas and prostate arise from transformed stem cells (Reynolds et al., 1992; Ignatova et al., 2002; Hemmati et al., 2003; Singh et al., 2003, 2004; Balic et al., 2006; O'Brien et al., 2007). Taking either tumour tissues or cell lines, researchers have subjected cells to serumfree, low density culture conditions and demonstrated selection of colonies of cells (spheres) that exhibit stem cell properties, defined by their capacity for self-renewal, gene expression profiles, and their ability to recapitulate the tumour in model systems.

As an example, Dontu et al. (2003) reported a lowadherence, clonal density serum-free culture system which could be used to propagate "mammospheres", enriched in mammary stem/progenitor cells, in vitro from normal human mammary tissue. In this assay system, most primary mammary epithelial cells died under these conditions, but a few generated colonies of cells capable of self-renewal (passage) and differentiation into the three cellular lineages seen in adult mammary tissue.

Al-Hajj et al. (2003) used flow cytometry to separate cells from human primary and metastatic breast carcinomas according to the expression of cell surface markers. It was shown that CD44<sup>+</sup>CD24<sup>-/low</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells (i.e. those expressing primitive cellular markers) required initial cell inoculums of 2–10% of those required for unsorted cells to form tumours in immunosuppressed mice.

These studies have highlighted that using either a 'sphere' assay or sorting by flow cytometry (FACS), it is possible to identify a small, sub-population of cells that have stem cell properties. However, despite the evidence supporting the theory that cancer is initiated and propagated by cells with stem-like characteristics, it remains unclear whether the CSC is a normal tissue stem cell which has undergone malignant transformation, or a more differ-

entiated cell which has acquired more primitive, stem-like characteristics as a result of mutation or dedifferentiation. Many of the attributes of normal stem cells make them attractive candidates for malignant transformation into CSCs – they are programmed for self-renewal and multilineage differentiation; they persist and continue to divide for the lifetime of the host, allowing them more opportunity to accrue transforming mutations; isolated tumour-initiating cells show many phenotypic similarities to the corresponding normal tissue stem cell (e.g. cell-surface markers, protein expression, telomerase activity).

Polyak and Hahn (2006) proposed three models for development of malignancy involving stem cells:

- (1) A mutation causes dysregulation of asymmetric division in a tissue stem cell (TSC) and is passed on to all progeny; progression to full transformation occurs in this population as further mutations are acquired.
- (2) The TSC itself acquires mutations sufficient for malignancy, and passes these on to all progeny.
- (3) The transit-amplifying cells or more differentiated progeny accrue mutations leading to dedifferentiation and acquisition of stem-cell like properties; TSCs themselves are not involved.

The present evidence suggests that (1) and (2) are more likely, but more work is required to truly identify the target cell.

#### Evidence for cancer stem cells in the dog

Using similar culture techniques, the authors have isolated CSCs from canine osteosarcomas (Wilson et al., in press). In addition we have achieved similar results with canine lymphoma, melanoma and haemangiosarcoma (unpublished results). These cells were characterized by their ability to grow in harsh culture conditions, and through their expression of proteins such as Nanog and Oct 3/4 that are responsible for the maintenance of pluripotency. The identification of such cells in the dog opens up opportunities for the identification of therapeutic pathways to target these cells, and further supports developing the dog as a model to study human disease.

#### The niche environment

In vivo studies in mouse models have highlighted the importance of the niche environment during tumour initiation and development (Polyak and Hahn, 2006; Mueller and Fusing, 2004; Bjerkvig et al., 2005). The acquisition of the malignant phenotype by stem cells, may in part be a reflection of the cellular environment. For example, regions of severe oxygen deprivation (hypoxia) arise in tumours due to rapid cell division and aberrant blood vessel formation. The hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs) mediate transcriptional responses to localised hypoxia in normal tissues and in cancers and can promote tumour progression by altering cellular metabolism and stimulating angiogenesis.

Recently, HIFs have been shown to activate specific signalling pathways such as Notch and the expression of transcription factors such as Oct4 that control stem cell self renewal and multipotency. As the CSC theory evolves, it may suggest that a hypoxic environment may support the initiation of cancer in adult stem cell populations (Keith and Simon, 2007).

#### Mobilisation and metastasis

Studies on haematopoietic stem cells have shown that normal bone marrow stem cells possess the capacity to mobilise and migrate in the circulation to distant sites in response to tissue damage and stress with complex, coordinated homing mechanisms being involved (Lapidot et al., 2005). Stem cells from different tissues share common genetic programmes (Terskikh et al., 2001) and bone marrow stem cells display plasticity allowing them to differentiate into a variety of cell types (Bjerkvig et al., 2005; Kucia et al., 2005). There are many similarities between the mechanisms governing the migration of normal stem cells and the metastatic dissemination of tumour cells, such as the interaction between the cell surface CXCR4 receptor and its ligand, stromal-derived factor (SDF)-1, secreted by the niche (Macpherson et al., 2005). Cancer cells may disseminate to distant sites but never develop into true metastases despite remaining detectable in remote tissues (Brabletz et al., 2005). It would seem plausible within the CSC theory that the formation of metastatic deposits within tissues may require migration of CSCs into an appropriate niche environment. There is also recent evidence to suggest that the formation of metastatic deposits is intimately linked with the bone marrow. Kaplan et al. (2005) suggests that the primary tumour may signal the bone marrow to mobilise cells to various sites in the body to create a niche environment for metastatic deposition.

#### Are non-haematopoietic cancers bone-marrow-derived?

Most of the work on CSCs has been based upon an assumption that cancers are derived from adult stem cells. An alternative hypothesis has been suggested by some workers that implicate the bone marrow as the site from where cancer cells are derived. In elegant work by Houghton et al. (2004) using a mouse model of gastric cancer, marker cell studies showed that carcinoma cells in forming gastric carcinomas had their origins as haematopoietic cells. The implications of this are immense but much more work is required to validate this theory.

#### Cancer stem cells and the implications for therapy

If a population of CSCs is responsible for the propagation of a tumour, then this has huge implications for therapy. The evidence suggests that daughter cells, which make up the bulk population of tumours, may be sensitive to the effects of conventional treatments such as radiation and/or chemotherapy (Fig. 9). However, stem cell populations tend to harbour strong resistance mechanisms, entering periods of quiescence during which they are resistant to strategies aimed at eradicating cycling cells.

Many molecular mechanisms have been identified in association with stem-like behaviour in cancer cells. Often these mirror the differential expression patterns that mark out normal tissue stem cells. The side population (SP) phenotype was first identified in haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), when a subset of cells with low uptake of the dye Hoechst 33342 was isolated by FACS and found to be enriched for HSCs (Goodell et al., 1997). The dye-efflux SP phenotype for haematopoietic and several other tissue progenitor cells has been shown both in vitro and in vivo to be conferred by the ATP binding cassette (ABC) transporter ABCG2 (Zhou et al., 2001; Scharenberg et al., 2002), which has also been identified for its role in multiple drug resistance (Bunting, 2002), and shown to confer to breast cancer cells the ability to efflux chemotherapeutic drugs (Doyle and Ross, 2003). This would tie in with the high frequency of cancer relapse following initial remission after chemotherapy.

If conventional therapies are not appropriate for killing CSCs, then it would follow that alternative pathways in these cells need to be identified. Mutations in many of the signalling pathways and genetic mechanisms regulating normal stem cells have been demonstrated in human can-

cers. Polycomb genes, particularly *Bmi-1*, *HOX* transcription factors, and the Wnt-βcatenin, Notch and Sonic Hedgehog (SHh) pathways, are important in self-renewal and other functional stem cell properties, and may offer an opportunity for therapeutic targeting (Huntly and Gilliland, 2005; Taipale and Beachy, 2001; Pardal et al., 2003; Behbod and Rosen, 2005).

Other treatment modalities might also preferentially target putative CSCs. Transiently inactivating the causative oncogene in transgenic mouse model of osteogenic sarcomas can cause the tumours to regress, with reactivation leading to apoptosis (Jain et al., 2002). It would seem logical that forcing CSCs down a symmetrical division pathway, whereby two more committed daughter cells are produced, would deprive a tumour of its self renewal potential and effect a cure. Differentiation therapy with retinoids is effective in a majority of cases of human acute promyelocytic leukaemia, although responses in other malignancies have been variable (Sell, 2004).

Treatments directed solely at CSCs, however, may not have an effect on the differentiated progenitor and daughter cells. Therefore, the bulk of the tumour may remain intact while the CSCs are being destroyed – the dandelion phenomenon (Huff et al., 2006). This theory states that cutting off a dandelion at the roots, or treating the bulk of the tumour, takes away the disease that one can see, however the weed will still re-grow because the root has not been destroyed. Conversely, destroying the root, or CSCs, of the weed leaves the flower above soil initially. However,



Fig. 9. *Cancer stem cells may inform new therapies*: Currently conventional cancer therapies are directed at non-stem cell populations. Consequently, any tumour has the capacity to re-grow the original cancer. Therapies targeted at the cancer stem cell and the daughter cells would have the capacity to cause either stable disease or complete tumour eradication.

as the root dies, the portion above ground will eventually wither and die without the root.

According to the dandelion phenomenon of CSC therapy, a treatment regimen may be abandoned prematurely if we only consider remission of the tumour bulk. This response is likely to lag behind the destruction of CSCs. Conversely, treatment of chronic phase CML with imatinib mesylate has achieved high rates of complete remission despite the fact that BCR/ABL-expressing progenitors are spared (Bhatia et al., 2003). This may indicate the significance of the niche provided to a stem cell by its surrounding daughter cell population – removal of paracrine factors in targeting the tumour bulk may sometimes be sufficient to arrest the progress of disease (Polyak and Hahn, 2006).

Given that clinical response may not be an ideal way to monitor for response to therapies that target CSCs, overall survival is left as a common monitoring criteria. This requires long study times that can be impractical. Animal models are an ideal way to continue to use survival as criteria for determining effectiveness of therapy. Animal models of spontaneously occurring tumours often progress much faster than the human form of the disease. Many canine tumour models are very similar or even identical to their human counterparts (Gorlick et al., 2003; Khanna et al., 2006) and the natural canine model may represent an ideal testing ground for novel compounds directed at the CSC.

#### **Future perspectives**

The identification of CSCs in both humans and dogs has been a defining moment in cancer research. If the theory is correct, then future efforts must be made to characterise these cells with a view to identifying therapeutic targets. In our laboratory we have already begun the laborious task of characterising canine stem cells using microarray technology and marker analysis. However, it is highly likely that elimination of these cell populations will require targeting of self-renewal pathways that may be common to normal stem cells. As with most cancer treatments, we will be left developing drugs whose efficacy will depend on the degree of 'off target' effects.

#### References

- Al-Hajj, M., Clarke, M.F., 2004. Self-renewal and solid tumour stem cells. Oncogene 23, 7274–7282.
- Al-Hajj, M., Wicha, M.S., Benito-Hernandez, A., Morrison, S.J., Clarke, M.F., 2003. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 100, 3983–3988.
- Argyle, D.J., Khanna, C., 2006. The Biology of Cancer. In: Withrow, S.J., Vail, D.M. (Eds.), Small Animal Clinical Oncology. Elsevier, pp. 31– 53.
- Balic, M., Lin, H., Young, L., Hawes, D., Giuliano, A., McNamara, G., Datar, R.H., Cote, R.J., 2006. Most early disseminated cancer cells detected in bone marrow of breast cancer patients have a putative breast CSC phenotype. Clinical Cancer Research 12, 5615–5621.

- Behbod, F., Rosen, K.M., 2005. Will cancer stem cells provide new therapeutic targets? Carcinogenesis 26, 703–711.
- Bhatia, R., Holtz, M., Niu, N., Gray, R., Snyder, D.S., Sawyers, C.L., Arber, D.A., Slovak, M.L., Forman, S.J., 2003. Persistence of malignant hematopoietic progenitors in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients in complete cytogenetic remission following imatinib mesylate treatment. Blood 101, 4701–4707.
- Bjerkvig, R., Tysnes, B.B., Aboody, K.S., Najbauer, J., Terzis, A.J.A., 2005. Opinion: the origin of the cancer stem cell: current controversies and new insights. Nature Reviews Cancer 5, 899–904.
- Bonnet, D., Dick, J.E., 1997. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nature Medicine 3, 730–737.
- Brabletz, T., Jung, A., Spaderna, S., Hlubek, F., Kirchner, T., 2005. Opinion: migrating cancer stem cells-an integrated concept of malignant tumour progression. Nature Reviews Cancer 5, 744–749.
- Bunting, K.D., 2002. ABC transporters as phenotypic markers and functional regulators of stem cells. Stem Cells 20, 11–20.
- Campo, M.S., Jarrett, W.F., Barron, R., O'Neil, B.W., Smith, K.T., 1992. Association of bovine papillomavirus type 2 and bracken fern with bladder cancer in cattle. Cancer Research 52, 6898–6904.
- Campo, M.S., O'Neil, B.W., Barron, R.J., Jarrett, W.F., 1994. Experimental reproduction of the papilloma-carcinoma complex of the alimentary canal in cattle. Carcinogenesis 8, 1597–1601.
- Carrillo-Infante, C., Abbadessa, G., Bagella, L., Gordionao, A., 2007. Viral infections as a cause of cancer. International Journal of Cancer 30, 1521–1528.
- Dontu, G., Abdallah, W.M., Foley, J.M., Jackson, K.W., Clarke, M.F., Kawamura, M.J., Wicha, M.S., 2003. In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Genes and Development 17, 1253–1270.
- Doyle, L.A., Ross, D.D., 2003. Multidrug resistance mediated by the breast cancer resistance protein BCRP (ABCG2). Oncogene 22, 7340– 7358.
- Evan, G., Littlewood, T., 1998. A matter of life and cell death. Science 281, 1317–1322.
- Fidler, I.J., Hart, I.R., 1982. Biological diversity in metastatic neoplasms: origins and implications. Science 217, 998–1003.
- Fidler, I.J., Kripke, M.L., 1977. Metastasis results from preexisting variant cells within a malignant tumor. Science 197, 893–895.
- Fuster, J.J., Sanz-Gonzalez, S.M., Moll, U.M., Adres, V., 2007. Classic and novel roles of p53: prospects for anticancer therapy. Trends in Molecular Medicine 13, 192–199.
- Gaukroger, J.M., Bradley, A., Chandrachud, L., Jarrett, W.F., Campo, M.S., 1993. Interaction between bovine papillomavirus type 4 and cocarcinogens in the production of malignant tumours. Journal of General Virology 74, 2275–2280.
- Gillet, N., Florins, A., Boxus, M., Willems, L., 2007. Mechanisms of leukemogenesis induced by bovine leukemia virus: prospects for novel anti-retroviral therapies in human. Retrovirology 4. Art. 18 MAR 16.
- Goodell, M.A., Rosenzweig, M., Kim, H., Marks, D.F., DeMaria, M., Paradis, G., Grupp, S.A., Sieff, C.A., Mulligan, R.C., Johnson, R.P., 1997. Dye efflux studies suggest that hematopoietic stem cells expressing low or undetectable levels of CD34 antigen exist in multiple species. Nature Medicine 3, 1337–1345.
- Gorlick, R., Anderson, P., Andrulis, I., Arndt, C., Beardsley, G.P., Bernstein, M., Bridge, J., Cheung, N.K., Dome, J.S., Ebb, D., Gardner, T., Gebhardt, M., Grier, H., Hansen, M., Healey, J., Helman, L., Hock, J., Houghton, J., Houghton, P., Huvos, A., Khanna, C., Kieran, M., Kleinerman, E., Ladanyi, M., Lau, C., Malkin, D., Marina, N., Meltzer, P., Meyers, P., Schofield, D., Schwartz, C., Smith, M.A., Toretsky, J., Tsokos, M., Wexler, L., Wigginton, J., Withrow, S., Schoenfeldt, M., Anderson, B., 2003. Biology of childhood osteogenic sarcoma and potential targets for therapeutic development: meeting summary. Clinical Cancer Research 9, 5442–5453.
- Hanahan, D., Weinberg, R.A., 2000. The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100, 57–70.

- Harris, C.C., 1996. p53 tumor suppressor gene: from the basic research laboratory to the clinic – an abridged historical perspective. Carcinogenesis 17, 1187–1198.
- Haupt, Y., Maya, R., Kazaz, A., Oren, M., 1997. Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. Nature 387, 296–299.
- Heaney, N.C.B., Holyoake, T.L., 2007. Therapeutic targets in chronic myeloid leukaemia. Hematological Oncology 25, 66–75.
- Hemmati, H.D., Nakano, I., Lazareff, J.A., Masterman-Smith, M., Geschwind, D.H., Bronner-Fraser, M., Kornblum, H.I., 2003. Cancerous stem cells can arise from pediatric brain tumors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 100, 15178–15183.
- Heppner, G.H., 1984. Tumor heterogeneity. Cancer Research 44, 2259–2265.
- Houghton, J., Stoicov, C., Nomura, S., Rogers, A.B., Carlson, J., Li, H.C., Cai, X., Fox, J.G., Goldenring, J.R., Wang, T.C., 2004. Gastric cancer originating from bone marrow-derived cells. Science 306, 1568– 1571.
- Huntly, B.J., Gilliland, D.G., 2005. Leukaemia stem cells and the evolution of cancer-stem-cell research. Nature Reviews Cancer 5, 311–321.
- Huff, C.A., Matsui, W.H., Smith, B.D., Jones, R.J., 2006. Strategies to eliminate cancer stem cells: clinical implications. European Journal of Cancer 42, 1293–1297.
- Ignatova, T.N., Kukekov, V.G., Laywell, E.D., Suslov, O.N., Vrionis, F.D., Steindler, D.A., 2002. Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. Glia 39, 193–206.
- Jain, M., Arvanitis, C., Chu, K., Dewey, W., Leonhardt, E., Trinh, M., Sundberg, C.D., Bishop, J.M., Felsher, D.W., 2002. Sustained loss of a neoplastic phenotype by brief inactivation of MYC. Science 297, 102– 104.
- Jarrett, O., Onions, D., 1992. Leukaemogenic Viruses. In: Whittaker, J.A. (Ed.), Leukaemia, second ed. Blackwell's Scientific Publications, Oxford, pp. 34–63.
- Kamel-Reid, S., Letarte, M., Sirard, C., Doedens, M., Grunberger, T., Fulop, G., Freedman, M.H., Philips, R.A., Dick, J.E., 1989. A model of human acute lymphoblastic leukemia in immune-deficient SCID mice. Science 246, 1597–1600.
- Kaplan, R.N., Riba, R.D., Zacharoulis, S., Bramley, A.H., Vincent, L., Costa, C., MacDonald, D.D., Jin, D.K., Shido, K., Kerns, S.A., Zhu, Z.P., Hicklin, D., Wu, Y., Port, J.L., Altorki, N., Port, E.R., Ruggero, D., Shmelkov, S.V., Jensen, K.K., Rafii, S., Lyden, D., 2005. VEGFR1-positive haematopoietic bone marrow progenitors initiate the pre-metastatic niche. Nature 438, 820–827.
- Keith, B., Simon, M.C., 2007. Hypoxia-inducible factors, stem cells and cancer. Cell 129, 465–472.
- Khanna, C., Lindblad-Toh, K., Vail, D., London, C., Bergman, P., Barber, L., Breen, M., Kitchell, B., McNeil, E., Modiano, J.F., Niemi, S., Comstock, K.E., Ostrander, E., Westmoreland, S., Withrow, S., 2006. The dog as a cancer model. Nature Biotechnology 24, 1065– 1066.
- Knudsen, E.S., Sexton, C.R., Mayhew, C.N., 2006. Role of the retinoblastoma tumor suppressor in the maintenance of genome integrity. Current Molecular Medicine 7, 749–757.
- Konstantinopoulos, P.A., Karamouzis, M.V., Papavassiliou, A.G., 2007. Post-translational modifications and regulation of the RAS superfamily of GTPases as anticancer targets. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 6, 540–555.
- Kucia, M., Reca, R., Miekus, K., Wanzeck, J., Wojakowski, W., Janowska-Wieczorek, A., Ratajczak, J., Ratajczak, M.Z., 2005. Trafficking of normal stem cells and metastasis of cancer stem cells involve similar mechanisms: pivotal role of the SDF-1-CXCR4 axis. Stem Cells 23, 879–894.
- Lane, D.P., 1992. P53: Guardian of the genome. Nature 358, 15-16.
- Lapidot, T., Sirard, C., Vormoor, J., Murdoch, B., Hoang, T., Cacerescortes, J., Minden, M., Paterson, B., Caligiuri, M.A., Dick, J.E., 1994. A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. Nature 367, 645–648.

- Lapidot, T., Dar, A., Kollet, O., 2005. How do stem cells find their way home? Blood 106, 1901–1910.
- Levine, A.J., 1997. p53, the cellular gatekeeper for growth and division. Cell 88, 323–331.
- Macpherson, H., Keir, P., Webb, S., Samuel, K., Boyle, S., Bickmore, W., Forrester, L., Dorin, J., 2005. Bone marrow-derived SP cells can contribute to the respiratory tract of mice in vivo. Journal of Cell Science 118, 2441–2450.
- McCance, K.L., Roberts, L.K., 1999. The Biology of Cancer. In: McCance, K.L., Huether, S.E. (Eds.), Pathophysiology, The Biological Basis of Disease in Adults and Children. Mosby, pp. 304–349.
- Moore, K.A., Lemischka, I.R., 2006. Stem cells and their niches. Science 311, 1880–1885.
- Mueller, M.M., Fusing, N.E., 2004. Friends or foes bipolar effects of the tumour stroma in cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer 4, 839–849.
- Nasir, L., Rutteman, G.R., Reid, S.W.J., Schulze, C., Argyle, D.J., 2001. Analysis of p53 mutational events and MDM2 amplification in canine soft-tissue sarcomas. Cancer Letters 174, 83–89.
- Neil, J.C., Hughs, D., McFarlane, R., Wilkie, E.M., Onions, D.E., Lees, G., Jarrett, O., 1984. Transduction and rearrangement of the myc gene by feline leukaemia virus in naturally occurring T cell leukaemias. Nature 308, 814–820.
- Nowell, P.C., 1986. Mechanisms of tumor progression. Cancer Research 46, 2203–2207.
- O'Brien, C.A., Pollett, A., Gallinger, S., Dick, J.E., 2007. A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. Nature 445, 106–110.
- Pardal, R., Clarke, M.F., Morrison, S.J., 2003. Applying the principles of stem-cell biology to cancer. Nature Reviews Cancer 3, 895–902.
- Park, C.H., Bergsagel, D.E., McCulloc, E.A., 1971. Mouse Myeloma Tumour Stem Cells: Primary Cell Culture Assay. Journal of the National Cancer Institute 46, 411–422.
- Polyak, K., Hahn, W.C., 2006. Roots and stems: stem cells in cancer. Nature Medicine 12, 296–300.
- Reya, T., Morrison, S.J., Clarke, M.F., Weissman, I.L., 2001. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature 414, 105–111.
- Reynolds, B.A., Tetzlaff, W., Weiss, S., 1992. A multipotent EGFresponsive striatal embryonic progenitor cell produces neurons and astrocytes. Journal of Neuroscience 12, 4565–4574.
- Scharenberg, C.W., Harkey, M.A., Torok-Storb, B., 2002. The ABCG2 transporter is an efficient Hoechst 33342 efflux pump and is preferentially expressed by immature human hematopoietic progenitors. Blood 99, 507–512.
- Sell, S., 2004. Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. Critical Reviews in Oncology and Hematology 51, 1–28.
- Singh, S.K., Clarke, I.D., Terasaki, M., Bonn, V.E., Hawkins, C., Squire, J., Dirks, P.B., 2003. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. Cancer Research 63, 5821–5828.
- Singh, S.K., Hawkins, C., Clarke, I.D., Squire, J.A., Bayani, J., Hide, T., Henkelman, R.M., Cusimano, M.D., Dirks, P.B., 2004. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. Nature 432, 396–401.
- Sirard, C., Lapidot, T., Vormoor, J., Cashman, J.D., Doedens, M., Murdoch, B., Jamal, N., Messner, H., Addey, L., Minden, M., Laraya, P., Keating, A., Eaves, A., Lansdorp, P.M., Eaves, C.J., Dick, J.E., 1996. Normal and leukemic SCID-repopulating cells (SRC) coexist in the bone marrow and peripheral blood from CML patients in chronic phase, whereas leukemic SRC are detected in blast crisis. Blood 87, 1539–1548.
- Southam, C.M., Brunschwig, A., 1961. Quantitative studies of autotransplantation of human cancer. Cancer 14, 971–978.
- Taipale, J., Beachy, P.A., 2001. The Hedgehog and Wnt signalling pathways in cancer. Nature 411, 349–354.
- Terskikh, A.V., Easterday, M.C., Li, L.H., Hood, L., Kornblum, H.I., Geschwind, D.H., Weissman, I.L., 2001. From hematopoiesis to neuropoiesis: evidence of overlapping genetic programs. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 98, 7934– 7939.

- Weinberg, R.A., 1995. The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. Cell 81, 323–330.
- Wilson, H., Huelsmeyer, M., Chun, R., Young, K.M., Friedrichs, K., Argyle, D.J., in press. Isolation and characterisation of cancer stem cells from canine osteosarcoma. The Veterinary Journal.
- Zhou, S., Schuetz, J.D., Bunting, K.D., Colapietro, A.M., Sampath, J., Morris, J.J., Lagutina, I., Grosveld, G.C., Osawa, M., Nakauchi, H., Sorrentino, B.P., 2001. The ABC transporter Bcrp1/ABCG2 is expressed in a wide variety of stem cells and is a molecular determinant of the side-population phenotype. Nature Medicine 7, 1028–1034.

# Is cancer a stem cell disease? Theory, evidence and implications

#### T. M. Blacking<sup>1</sup>\*, H. Wilson<sup>2</sup>\* and D. J. Argyle<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Royal (Dick) School of Veterinary Studies, The University of Edinburgh, Hospital for Small Animals, Easter Bush Veterinary Centre, Midlothian, UK

<sup>2</sup>School of Veterinary Medicine, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, WI, USA

#### Introduction

Cells of muticellular organisms form part of a specialized society that cooperates to promote survival of the organism. In this, cell division, proliferation and differentiation are strictly controlled and a balance exists between normal cell birth and cell death. Inextricably linked to this fundamental concept is the role of the adult stem cell (ASC) whose progeny and microenvironment make up the anatomical structure that coordinates normal homeostatic production of functional mature cells. ASCs have been best characterized in the haematopoietic system but exist in all major organ systems. These cells are characterized by a capacity for selfrenewal, being undifferentiated but capable of multilineage differentiation, slowly cycling cells but clonogenic, and capable of asymmetric division. Further, ASC reside in particular 'niche' environments that support an appropriate spatiotemporal dialogue between ASC and microenvironmental cells in order to fulfil the lifelong demands for normal differentiated cells.<sup>1</sup>

For decades, advances in molecular techniques have allowed us to dissect the mechanisms of carcinogenesis, most work focusing on the accepted model of multistage carcinogenesis underpinned by progressive genetic changes that drive malignant transformation. In this model, any cell in the body has the potential for malignant transformation. More recently, attention has focused on an alternative model where the tumour is maintained by a cancer stem cell (CSC) which gives rise to a tumour composed mostly of daughter cancer cells and a small number of CSCs that drive tumour growth and expansion.

#### **Cancer stem cells**

The CSC theory probably represents a modern day interpretation of a similar proposal made by Virchow and Cohnheim nearly 150 years ago, proposing that cancer resulted from activation of dormant embryonic tissue. This theory was reawakened in the 1960s and 1970s with suggested theories of maturation arrest in tissue-specific stem cells,<sup>2,3</sup> and then ultimately with the identification of the leukaemic stem cell in seminal experiments performed by Fialkow et al. in the late 1960s.<sup>4</sup> In the current context, the CSC can be considered a cell that has the ability to self renew and is capable of asymmetric cell division, giving rise to another malignant stem cell and a cell that gives rise to the phenotypically diverse tumour cell population (Fig. 1).

Proof that CSC exists as a phenotypically different population of cancer cells requires isolation of different populations of cancer cells and demonstration that one or more groups are efficient at producing tumours while other groups lack this ability.<sup>5</sup> However, these cells cannot be definitively called CSC until it is possible to show that a single transplanted cancer cell can give rise to a diverse population of cancer cells within a tumour.<sup>5</sup>

#### **Evidence for CSC**

Many parallels can be drawn between normal ASC and CSC in terms of clonality and asymmetric division (Fig. 2). Further, it has been shown that when

Correspondence address: David J. Argyle Royal (Dick) School of Veterinary Studies The University of Edinburgh Hospital for Small Animals Easter Bush Veterinary Centre Roslin Midlothian EH25 9RG, UK e-mail: david.argyle@ed.ac.uk

\*These authors contributed equally to this review.



**Figure 1.** Two general models of cancer presented. In both (A) and (B) there is tumour cell heterogeneity. However, in (A) many different cancer cell phenotypes have the potential to proliferate extensively to cause a tumour. In (B) we predict that a small subset of cancer cells [the cancer stem cell (CSC)] are the only population that can form a new tumour upon transplantation.

cancer cells of different types are subjected to both *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays, that only a small minority of cells are able to proliferate extensively.<sup>6</sup> This has given rise to the concept that tumours are composed of both CSC, which have a large proliferative capacity, and a daughter population of cells, with a limited proliferative potential. eloid leukaemia (AML) and multiple myeloma. In seminal studies, it was found that when mouse myeloma cells were obtained from mouse ascites, and subjected to *in vitro* colony-forming assays, only 1 in 10 000 to 1 in 100 cancer cells were able to form colonies.<sup>7</sup> The normal haematopoietic stem cell (HSC), whose nature has still not been fully characterized, was first shown according to its ability to reconstitute the bone marrow of lethally irradiated

The evidence for true CSC was first documented action for haematopoietic malignancies such as acute my-



**Figure 2.** Parallels can be drawn between normal stem cell development and cancer stem cell development. Both pathways share properties of self-renewal and asymmetric division. Ultimately both pathways give rise to cells with limited proliferative potential.

mice. Mirroring this work, experiments using severe combined immunodeficient (SCID) mice indicated that normal haematopoietic stem cells become engrafted in the bone marrow of these immunodeficient animals (which lack B and T lymphocytes) such that all mature lineages, other than T-cells, were produced. Furthermore, transplantation of cells from human AML, chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML) and acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (ALL) could be performed in the same way and recapitulate the human cancer in the recipient mouse.<sup>8–11</sup>

However, the SCID mouse model had a number of limitations, which prevented definitive demonstration that the 'SCID leukaemia-initiating cell' (SL-IC) could recapitulate tumours; similarities between HSC and SL-IC cell-surface markers could only be shown for one leukaemia subtype.<sup>10</sup> It was only after the development of the non-obese diabetic (NOD)/SCID mouse, which has additional immune response deficits (e.g. natural killer cell activity, complement activation), that the engraftment experiments were refined to allow Dick and colleagues to show properties in the SL-ICs which met the definition of CSC. One problem with the SCID model was the need to transplant large numbers of host cells to ensure engraftment in the recipient. It was shown that 10-20 times fewer cells were required in the NOD-SCID mice to achieve the same level of engraftment.<sup>12</sup>

The resulting experiments showed that, for a range of AML subtypes, both unfractionated bone marrow samples and purified CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>-</sup> cells could reproduce the phenotype of the original human tumour in the recipient animal. This was seen even when the CD34<sup>+</sup> purified fraction represented a tiny (0.2%) proportion of blast cells. The heterogeneous human-derived blast population, with CD38 expressed in most, even when transplanted cells had been purified according to the absence of this cell-surface marker, seemed to evoke normal haematopoietic differentiation. Cells could be further transplanted into a secondary recipient, recapitulating the tumour; it was calculated that the SL-ICs population must have expanded 30-fold, providing further evidence for self-renewal properties. These findings were compelling evidence for AML being a stem cell disorder.12

#### **CSCs and solid cancers**

The CSC theory has only been applied to solid cancers in recent years, although similar studies had been performed to show that cells of solid tumours are phenotypically heterogeneous and only a small proportion of cells are clonogenic in culture and in vivo.13-17 For example, only 1 in 1000 to 1 in 5000 lung cancer, ovarian cancer and neuroblastoma cells were found to form colonies in soft agar in studies performed in the 1970s. Despite this, the extension of the CSC hypothesis to solid tumours has been more challenging experimentally. Normal haematopoietic differentiation is better understood than the corresponding process in most solid tissues - importantly, cell-surface markers for normal haematopoietic stem cells and their progeny have been identified, allowing their isolation. For many solid tissue stem cells, assays have yet to be developed. A further problem is the physical nature of the tissues. Cells from solid tissues are often larger and more fragile than blood cells, cells are often less accessible for sampling, and creation of viable single-cell suspensions is challenging.

In 1992, Reynolds showed that a <1% subpopulation of embryonic striatal cells were viable after 5 days in vitro when plated in serum-free, low-density culture in the presence of the mitogen epidermal growth factor (EGF). These EGF-responsive striatal progenitors initially divided to form clusters of cells (neurospheres), with most of the constituent cells showing immunoreactivity for nestin (a cytoskeletal intermediate filament protein expressed in neuroepithelial stem cells). After 14 divisions, the clusters had continued to expand, and now two distinct populations of daughter cells stained positive for neurone-specific enolase and glial fibrillary acidic protein, markers for the neuronal and astrocyte lineages, respectively. Thus, the assay conditions and presence of EGF seemed to select for multipotent stem cells, defined by their capacity for self-renewal and multilineage differentiation.<sup>18</sup>

Experiments using modifications of this system, some exerting additional selection pressure by suspending cells in methylcellulose in low-adherence culture wells have been widely used to test the CSC hypothesis in solid tumours.<sup>19,20</sup> Experiments inducing over-expression of the proto-oncogene Myc, Ras, Akt and platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) showed that neural progenitors underwent transformation (increased proliferation<sup>21</sup> and tumour formation<sup>22,23</sup>) more readily than more differentiated cell types.

Subsequently, reports were published of the isolation of CNS CSC from a variety of human cancers including astrocytomas, glioblastomas, medulloblastomas and ependymomas, by virtue of the ability of the cells to form neurosphere clones in serum-free culture in the presence of pleiotropic growth factors, and to differentiate into cells phenotypically similar to the lineages seen in the initial tumour.<sup>19,24–26</sup>

The foetal neuronal stem cell marker CD133 was widely expressed on these multipotent tumour cells.<sup>24,25</sup> Karyotypic abnormalities and aberrant differentiation profiles indicated that they were not normal neural stem cells migrating within the tumour,<sup>25</sup> but part of the tumour cell population. The *in vivo* ability of putative tumour stem cells to recapitulate the primary tumour mass was tested, by implanting cells isolated by sorting for CD133<sup>26</sup> or growth in serum-starved, clonal density conditions<sup>27</sup> into immunosuppressed mice, subcutaneously and/or intracranially. The resulting xenografts showed striking similarities to the tumours from which the progenitors were derived<sup>26,27</sup> albeit with a 'peculiar histomorphology' in some cases.<sup>27</sup>

Dontu *et al.* in 2003 reported a low-adherence, clonal density serum-free culture system, which could be used to propagate 'mammospheres', enriched in mammary stem/progenitor cells, *in vitro* from normal human mammary tissue. As with the neurosphere assay, most primary mammary epithelial cells died under these conditions, but a few generated colonies of cells capable of self-renewal (passage) and differentiation into the three cellular lineages seen in adult mammary tissue.<sup>28</sup>

Mammosphere initiating cells were contained within the side population (SP) of cells capable of excluding Hoechst 33342 dye and showed upregulation of genes coding for membrane and cytoskeletal proteins, transcription factors, signalling and cell adhesion molecules, cell cycle regulators and metalloproteinases when compared with cells grown in differentiating conditions.<sup>28</sup> The mammosphere system was used to show that activation of the Notch signalling pathway (Notch has been implicated as a proto-oncogene) affected lineage specification, and promoted self-renewal and proliferation of mammosphere cells. Conversely, alterations in signalling did not have any significant effect on fully committed mammary epithelial cells.<sup>29</sup>

Al-Hajj et al. used flow cytometry to separate cells from human primary and metastatic breast carcinomas according to the expression of cellsurface markers. In some cases, tumour cells were derived directly from patients and in others they had undergone one or two passages in mice. In all but one tumour, it was shown that CD44<sup>+</sup> CD24<sup>-/low</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells required initial cell inoculums of 2-10% of those required for unsorted cells to form tumours in immunosuppressed mice. CD24<sup>+</sup>Lineage cells were unable to form tumours except in one subject. The CD44<sup>+</sup> CD24<sup>-/low</sup>Lineage population showed similar cell cycle distribution to the nontumorigenic cells, excluding this as the cause of tumorigenicity. CD44<sup>+</sup> CD24<sup>-/low</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells could be serially passaged in mice, forming tumours from which further CD44<sup>+</sup> CD24<sup>-/low</sup>Lineage<sup>-</sup> cells could be isolated (i.e. self-renewal capacity) as well as the other nontumorigenic cell populations found in the original tumour (i.e. multilineage differentiation).<sup>30</sup>

It is interesting, given the use of metastatic breast cancer cells (pleural effusion) in eight out of the nine tumour types investigated, that in another study the prevalence of the putative CD44<sup>+</sup> CD24<sup>-/low</sup> tumour stem cell phenotype in breast tumours did not correlate with tumour progression or prognosis. A greater prevalence was associated, however, with a tendency for distant metastasis upon recurrence.<sup>31</sup> The presence of disseminated tumour cells in breast cancer can be detected with immunohistochemistry for cytokeratins (CK). Balic et al. assessed CK+ bone marrow samples from 50 patients with early breast cancer and found that all specimens had detectable CD44<sup>+</sup> CD24<sup>-/low</sup> cells, with prevalence (33–100%, median 65%) much greater than that seen in primary tumour masses, again associating the putative breast CSC population with a tendency towards metastasis.<sup>32</sup>

Gibbs *et al.* describe 'sarcospheres' created in low-adherence, serum-free culture from a variety of osteosarcomas and chondrosarcomas<sup>20</sup> – these phenotypically distinct tumours occur primarily in childhood and adulthood, respectively, yet the expression patterns and behaviour of the putative bone sarcoma stem cells were very similar. Self-renewal properties and multilineage gene expression were demonstrated, along with expression of the proteins Oct 3/4 and Nanog, associated with pluripotency and self-renewal in embryonic stem cells, and shared attributes with normal mesenchymal stem cells.<sup>20</sup>

Seaberg and van der Kooy showed the significance of serial passaging in the identification of stem cells.<sup>33</sup> Early progenitor cells have limited self-renewing capabilities; however, they are able to form secondary and even tertiary spheres in nonadherent serum-starved-media conditions typically reserved for isolation of stem cell populations. It is important to differentiate these early progenitor cells from true CSC by serially passaging them many times. CSCs should, theoretically, be capable of indefinite self-renewal under these conditions with very little change in their ability to self renew as well as form differentiated progeny.<sup>34</sup>

Two groups of investigators have found that the minority CD133<sup>+</sup>-cell population from human colon carcinomas can reproduce the primary tumour in immunusuppressed mice, whereas CD133<sup>-</sup> cells do not have this capacity. Dick and colleagues showed that all human colon cancer-initiating cells (CC-IC) were CD133<sup>+</sup>, and that while 1 in 57 000 unsorted tumour cells were CC-IC, this was enriched to one in less than 300 CD133<sup>+</sup> cells.<sup>35</sup> Unlimited self-renewal potential and capacity for differentiation into all cell types seen in the primary tumour was established *in vivo* with serial transplantation in mice and also *in vitro* with a serum-free sphere culture system.<sup>35,36</sup>

#### **CSC regulators and markers**

#### ABCG2

Many molecular mechanisms have been identified in association with stem-like behaviour in cancer cells. Often these mirror the differential expression patterns that mark out normal tissue stem cells. The SP phenotype was first identified in haematopoietic stem cells, when a subset of cells with low uptake of the dye Hoechst 33342 was isolated by fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) and found to be enriched for HSCs.<sup>37</sup> The dye–efflux SP phenotype for haematopoietic and several other tissue progenitor cells has been shown both *in vitro* and *in vivo* to be conferred by the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter ABCG2,<sup>38,39</sup> which has also been identified for its role in multiple drug resistance,<sup>40</sup> and shown to confer to breast cancer cells the ability to efflux chemotherapeutic drugs.<sup>41</sup>

This would tie in with the high frequency of cancer relapse following initial remission after chemotherapy, and a SP was detected in approximately 30% of cultured tumour cell lines from a variety of tissues including breast, colon, ovary and glioma. SP cells from breast, prostate and brain cancers were shown to be more tumorigenic than non-SP cells. However, when sorted according to ABCG2 expression, both ABCG2<sup>+</sup> and ABCG2<sup>-</sup> cells were tumorigenic to similar degrees. It was postulated that ABCG2<sup>+</sup> cells are tumour progenitors with more rapid turnover but that they themselves arise from more primitive, slow-cycling cells within the ABCG2<sup>-</sup> population with more long-term selfrenewal capacity.<sup>42</sup>

#### Signalling pathways

Mutations in many of the signalling pathways and genetic mechanisms regulating normal stem cells have been shown in human cancers. Polycomb genes, particularly *Bmi-1*, *HOX* transcription factors, and the Wnt– $\beta$ -catenin, Notch and Sonic Hedgehog pathways, are important in self-renewal and other functional stem cell properties; alterations in expression have been implicated in tumours of both blood and solid tissues.<sup>8,43–45</sup>

#### Bmi-1

Bmi-1 is a member of the Polycomb group of transcriptional repressor proteins, which acts through the *ink4a* locus to downregulate the tumour suppressors encoded there –  $p16^{INK4a}$  and  $p19^{ARF}$ (Fig. 3). Bmi-1 over-expression in mouse embryonic fibroblasts leads to their immortalization, and in co-operation with *ras* can cause neoplastic transformation.<sup>46</sup> Correspondingly, under-expression is associated with reduced proliferative capacity in both normal haematopoietic precursors derived from foetal liver cells and leukaemic stem cells in a


**Figure 3.** Bmi-1 signalling: Bmi-1 inhibits the transcription of two cyclin-dependent-kinase inhibitors, INK4A (p16) and ARF (p14). If INK4A is blocked, Retinoblastoma Protein (RP) becomes phosphorylated and inactivated by a complex of Cyclin-dependent kinase 4 (CDK4) and Cyclin D. This allows cells to enter the cell cycle. If ARF is blocked, MDM2 inhibits p53-dependent expression of genes that cause apoptosis.

mouse model of AML.47 Bmi-1-/- leukaemias were not transplantable into secondary recipients, although this capacity could be rescued by introduction of a retroviral Bmi-1 provirus. Interestingly, this Bmi-1-mediated rescue was also seen in Bmi-1<sup>-/-</sup> clones with defects in the expression of p16<sup>INK4a</sup> and p19<sup>ARF</sup>, indicating additional pathways through which the molecule exerts its effects.47 Glinsky et al. investigated the role of Bmi-1 in human prostate cancer using microarray analysis; elevation in expression was seen in all cancer cell lines, with greater increases seen in more metastatic tumour types. An 11-gene signature associated with Bmi-1 function in normal stem cells was found to be expressed in 11 different types of cancer, and consistently to predict metastasis and poor prognosis.48

#### Notch

The four Notch transmembrane receptors found in mammals are activated by their ligands Delta, Jagged and other members of the DSL (Delta, Serrate and Lag-3) family. Binding initiates a signalling pathway, which leads to the activation of the CSL transcription factor, along with mastermind-like (MAML) co-activators. This leads to transcription of genes associated with processes such as cell fate determination during development and self-renewal in adult tissues.<sup>49</sup>

Notch signalling has been shown to be oncogenic in mouse models of T-cell acute lymphoblastic leukaemia (T-ALL),<sup>50</sup> and can collaborate with the c-neu/erbB2 oncogene in the development of mammary tumours.<sup>51</sup> Dontu *et al.* showed that activation of Notch signalling promoted self-renewal and proliferation of normal mammary stem/progenitor cells cultured in mammospheres, but had no effect on fully committed mammary epithelial cells, suggesting that it exerts its oncogenic potential at the progenitor level.<sup>29</sup> Interestingly, loss-offunction mutations have been shown to contribute to neoplastic transformation,<sup>52</sup> showing that notchactivated gene expression has varied roles depending on the context.<sup>49</sup>

This may account for the differential expression of the Notch ligands, Delta and Jagged-1 and 2 between neurosphere clones derived from normal brain and glial tumour tissue. *Delta* expressed by normal tissue and neurosphere clones which had been allowed to attach to a substrate, but not suspended neurospheres; *Jagged-2* was expressed by normal clones but not those originating from tumours.<sup>19</sup> Conversely, recent microarray analysis of CD34<sup>+</sup> CD38<sup>-</sup> leukaemic stem cells (LSC) from AML has indicated over-expression of *Jagged-2*, with inhibition of *Jagged* and *Notch* signalling reducing LSC growth in colony-forming assays.<sup>50</sup>

### Wnt and **B**-catenin

Wnt signalling influences cell migration and developmental patterning, proliferation and survival, through the binding of  $\beta$ -catenin to the LEF/Tcf transcription factors and activation of downstream genes (Fig. 4). The binding of Wnt proteins to their Frizzled cell-surface receptors inhibits the cytoplasmic 'destruction complex' in which  $\beta$ -catenin is normally held, allowing it to accumulate in the cytoplasm and translocate to the nucleus. Over-expression of β-catenin in transgenic murine HSCs increased their self-renewal capacity; over time, while controls appeared to differentiate down myelo-monocytic lineage, an increased proportion of the B-catenin-transduced HSC population remained as lineage negative, proliferative cells. Inhibition of Wnt-signalling suppressed HSC growth between four- and sevenfold, suggesting that the pathway is required for normal HSC function.<sup>51</sup> It remains possible, however, that this is an *in vitro* phenomenon and that *in vivo*, alternative mechanisms are involved and Wnt is less significant.<sup>44</sup>

Wnt signalling is also involved in self-renewal of epithelial cells in other tissues [e.g. skin, intestine and central nervous system (CNS)]; overactivation of the pathway and increased nuclear β-catenin has been implicated in colon, prostate, ovarian, CNS and skin tumours as well as haematological malignancies.44 The Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) tumour suppressor gene mutated in familial adenomatous polyposis is part of the βcatenin destruction complex inhibited by Wnt signalling. It has been proposed that both germline and somatic mutations of APC confers a selective advantage to a cell, with increased proliferation in response to the Wnt-pathway dysregulation, but that APC function must not be so impaired so as to lead to apoptosis. Evidence exists for both the 'top down' model of colon cancer, whereby somatic APC mutation occurs first at the luminal surface and spreads down into the crypts, and the 'bottom up' model, where the mutation is propagated in, and spreads from the stem cell located in the crypt



Figure 4. Wnt binds to Frizzled (FRZ) receptors and activates Dishevelled (DSH). This disrupts a  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex and allows  $\beta$ -catenin to accumulate and translocate to the nucleus. In the nucleus  $\beta$ -catenin binds to LEF/Tcf transcription factors leading to expression of target genes (e.g. c-MYC) that promote survival, proliferation and cellular migration.

base – obviously the latter being more easily reconciled with the CSC hypothesis.<sup>52</sup>

### Telomeres and telomerase

When grown in tissue culture, the phenomenon of *senescence* limits the replicative potential of cells, in that eventually the cells will stop dividing.<sup>53</sup> This is partly governed by the gradual loss of the protective telomeres, tandem repeats of a 6-bp sequence, which are present at the ends of chromosomes. DNA polymerises cannot fully replicate the 3' end of the DNA strand, such that upon each cell division there is a loss of 50–100 bp at each end of every chromosome. The telomeres buffer this loss but are of finite length, so they gradually become shorter through the life of a dividing cell – this protective mechanism means that the cell will be directed to senescence or apoptosis after a certain number of divisions.<sup>54,55</sup>

Stem cells circumvent this 'end replication problem' with the expression of low levels of Telomerase, an enzyme which catalyses the addition of telomeric repeat sequences on to the ends of chromosomes, such that they have lifelong replicative potential. Telomerase is also expressed in over 80% of human cancers, and has been presumed to confer unlimited cell cycling ability. Conversely, many tumours show foreshortened telomeres. A twostep process has been proposed, whereby early telomere shortening promotes chromosomal instability and mutation, and then telomerase activity stabilizes the telomeres and allows uncontrolled replication. In most haematological malignancies, short telomeres and telomerase activity are detected; telomerase activity levels of between 2 and 50 times that of normal haematopoietic precursors has been shown.55

### Protein expression

The protein products of normal stem cells have been seen to be differentially expressed within tumours, with populations enriched for putative CSC showing higher levels of expression. Nestin is an intermediate filament protein and a marker for neuroepithelial precursors<sup>56</sup>; in undifferentiated clonal neurospheres from both normal brain<sup>18</sup> and brain tumour tissue<sup>24,25</sup> increased immunoreactivity is seen. Nanog and Oct 3/4 are homeoproteins involved in self-renewal and pluripotency of embryonic stem cells, with immunoreactivity demonstrable on tumour sections. Sarcospheres grown from osteosarcomas and chondrosarcomas show preferential expression of these proteins; the proportion of positively staining cells decreases as the spheres grow out and cells begin to differentiate.<sup>20</sup>

# Which cell is the target for transformation?

Despite the evidence supporting the theory that cancer is initiated and propagated by cells with stem-like characteristics, it remains unclear whether the CSC is a normal tissue stem cell, which has undergone malignant transformation, or a more differentiated cell, which has acquired more primitive, stem-like characteristics as a result of mutation or dedifferentiation.

As discussed, many of the attributes of normal stem cells make them attractive candidates for malignant transformation into CSC – they are programmed for self-renewal and multilineage differentiation; they persist and continue to divide for the lifetime of the host, allowing them more opportunity to accrue transforming mutations; isolated tumour-initiating cells show many phenotypic similarities to the corresponding normal tissue stem cell (e.g. cell-surface markers, protein expression and telomerase activity).

At the same time, pluripotent stem cells represent a small minority of cells within a tissue. An individual stem cell would be a very small target population for the accumulation of sufficient mutations to confer a neoplastic phenotype.<sup>57</sup> Also, mutations of pathways which control normal stem cell function, such as the Wnt– $\beta$ -catenin pathway, are seen in many cancers<sup>57,58</sup> – this would perhaps be unexpected if normal stem cell processes had simply been co-opted to lead to tumorigenesis, rather than independent acquisition of such functions through mutation. It has been suggested that normal stem cells may be protected from the effects of mutations, but that these may manifest in their more downstream progeny.<sup>8</sup>

Certainly evidence exists that tumour-initiating cells may lie in a more committed cell population than the CSC. Both committed myeloid progenitors and haematopoietic stem cells produce a transplantable murine model of AML when transduced with a mixed lineage leukaemia fusion gene. Moreover, the phenotypic characteristics and stage of maturation arrest was identical in leukaemias derived from transplanted HSCs, common myeloid progenitors or granulocyte-macrophage progenitors (GMP).<sup>59</sup> Analysis of the different cellular compartments in CML showed increased nuclear β-catenin in myeloid progenitors as the disease advanced to blast crisis, while levels in HSCs remained stable. Also in vitro self-renewal capacity was shown both by GMPs from leukaemic patients and normal GMPs with forced β-catenin expression.<sup>60</sup> (It is of note that the cellular compartments in the leukaemic samples were defined according to the surface marker phenotypes of the normal haematopoietic hierarchy - this may be inappropriate, given that markers of normal differentiation would be expected to show derangement in leukaemia, particularly at blast crisis stage.)

Polyak and Hahn<sup>57</sup> propose three models for development of malignancy involving stem cells: (1) a mutation causes dysregulation of asymmetric division in a CSC and is passed on to all progeny; progression to full transformation occurs in this population as further mutations are acquired; (2) the CSC itself acquires mutations sufficient for malignancy, and passes these on to all progeny; and (3) the transit-amplifying cells or more differentiated progeny accrue mutations leading to dedifferentiation and acquisition of stem-cell-like properties; CSCs themselves are not involved.

Although the dedifferentiation of a committed cell into one with more primitive, stem-like properties seems an unlikely event, it has been shown in *Drosophila melanogaster* that cells differentiating in four- to eight-cell cysts during early development can be induced to revert to germinal stem cells.<sup>61</sup> Autocrine signalling of PDGF has been implicated for its role in the development of human gliomas. Over-expression in not only neural progenitors but also (albeit with less efficiency) differentiated astrocytes *in vitro* leads to increased proliferation, and *in vivo* can induce tumour formation in mice; this is enhanced by loss-of-function of the *Ink4a* locus.<sup>23</sup>

It has been proposed that perhaps, rather than unlimited self-renewal capacity being conferred on CSC by gain-of-function mutations, that it is in fact a 'default' pathway (seen, for example, in most single-celled organisms). If tissue specialization relies on a balance between self-renewal, differentiation and cell death, then could any cell in which apoptosis is prevented or differentiation is blocked (the effects of many of the mutations seen in cancer) act as a self-renewing CSC?<sup>62</sup>

Recently, interesting findings have suggested that there exists an even more primitive population of precursors within the bone marrow, the putative 'haemangioblast'. One hallmark feature of CML, present in 95% of patients, is the Philadelphia chromosome - this truncated chromosome 22 results from a reciprocal translocation with chromosome 9, and produces the BCR-ABL fusion protein. The protein is found in multiple haematopoietic lineages in CML, suggesting that the translocation event arises in an HSC; however, demonstration of BCR-ABL expression in endothelial cells from a patient with CML may point to the mutational event having occurred in a cell preceding the HSC in the haematological hierarchy, with greater differentiation potential.<sup>63</sup> Certainly, as more is understood about the stem cell hierarchies present in normal tissues, understanding of the role of stem or stem-like cells in cancer will be enhanced.

# The importance of the niche

The potent effects imparted by the environment in which a cell exists, or 'niche', cannot be disregarded when considering the evolution of a tumour.<sup>57,64,65</sup> The tumour interacts with its surrounding stroma in a reciprocal manner similar to the communications between cells in normal tissues, and can influence the stroma such that it is more conducive to tumour growth. Indeed, epithelial tumour formation can be enhanced by inducing mutations in cleared (epithelial cell-free) stromal environments, and then introducing normal untreated epithelial cells.<sup>64</sup>

Normal bone marrow stem cells possess the capacity to mobilize and migrate in the circulation to distant sites in response to tissue damage and stress; complex, co-ordinated homing mechanisms are involved.<sup>66</sup> Stem cells from different tissues share common genetic programs,<sup>67</sup> and bone marrow stem cells display plasticity allowing them to differentiate into a variety of cell types.<sup>65,68</sup> There are many similarities between the mechanisms governing the migration of normal stem cells and the metastatic dissemination of tumour cells, such as the interaction between the cell-surface CXCR4 receptor and its ligand, stromal-derived factor 1, secreted by the niche.<sup>69</sup>

Cancer cells may disseminate to distant sites; however, while this may lead to the formation of metastases (whose cellular heterogeneity frequently resemble that of the primary tumour<sup>70</sup>), some of these migrating cells never develop further but remain detectable in remote tissues.<sup>6</sup> It has been proposed that it is the migration of the CSC population which allows the expansion of the tumour mass – manifesting as local invasion over short distances and metastatic spread for longer migrations.<sup>70</sup>

## The cell fusion hypothesis

An alternative mechanism proposed for the apparent plasticity shown by stem cells is cell fusion. Fusion of bone marrow stem cells with a variety of different cell types has been shown *in vivo* and *in vitro*. If this hypothesis is extended to cancer, the fusion of a stem cell with a somatic cell carrying mutations could result in a cell with genetic and karyotypic abnormalities, which has the properties of a CSC.<sup>65</sup> The case for cell fusion remains equivocal. It has been best shown in models involving severe tissue injury; it remains to be established whether it occurs in diploid, adult cells *in vivo* in the absence of cell damage.<sup>71</sup>

## Implications for cancer therapy

If a population of CSC is responsible for the propagation of a tumour, then these must be eliminated to effect a cure (Fig. 5). This may not be achieved by conventional strategies, which target rapidly dividing cells – stem cells may enter periods of quiescence during which they will be resistant to strategies aimed at eradicating cycling cells. This is evident in the treatment of acute leukaemias, in which total bone marrow ablation followed by reconstitution is required in a significant proportion of patients.<sup>71</sup> Guzman *et al.* report the use of MG-132, a proteasome inhibitor, and idarubicin, an anthracycline, in preferential targeting of leukaemic stem cells in *in vitro* and *in vivo* models of AML – the cells are driven to apoptosis, but normal HSCs are spared.<sup>72</sup>

Other treatment modalities might also preferentially target putative CSC. Transiently inactivating the causative oncogene in transgenic mouse model of osteogenic sarcomas can cause the tumours to regress, with reactivation leading to apoptosis.<sup>73</sup> It would seem logical that forcing CSC down a symmetrical division pathway, whereby two more committed daughter cells are produced, would deprive a tumour of its self-renewal potential and effect a cure. Differentiation therapy with retinoids is effective in a majority of cases of human acute promyelocytic leukaemia, although responses in other malignancies have been variable.<sup>71</sup>

Treatments directed solely at CSCs, however, may not have an effect on the differentiated progenitor and daughter cells. Therefore, the bulk of the tumour may remain intact while the CSCs are being destroyed. Jones *et al.* describes this theory as the dandelion phenomenon.<sup>74</sup> This theory states that cutting off a dandelion at the roots, or treating the bulk of the tumour, takes away the disease that one can see, however, the weed will still regrow because the root has not been destroyed. Conversely, destroying the root, or CSC, of the weed leaves the flower above soil initially. However, as the root dies, the portion above ground will eventually wither and die without the root.

According to this dandelion phenomenon of CSC therapy, a treatment regimen may be abandoned too quickly if the only judge of a response to therapy is a remission of the bulk of the tumour. This response is likely to lag behind the destruction of CSC. Conversely, treatment of chronic phase CML with imatinib mesylate, a tyrosine kinase inhibitor, has achieved high rates of complete remission despite the fact that BCR–ABL-expressing progenitors are spared.<sup>75</sup> This may indicate the significance of the



**Figure 5.** Currently conventional cancer therapies are directed at non-stem cell populations. Consequently, any tumour has the capacity to regrow and recapitulate the original cancer. Therapies targeted at the cancer stem cell and/or the daughter cells would have the capacity to cause either involution or complete tumour eradication.

niche provided to a stem cell by its surrounding daughter cell population – removal of paracrine factors, in targeting the tumour bulk, may sometimes be sufficient to arrest the progress of disease.<sup>57</sup>

Given that clinical response may not be an ideal way to monitor for response to therapies that target CSC, overall survival is left as common monitoring criteria. This requires long study times that can be impractical. Animal models are an ideal way to continue to use survival as criteria for determining effectiveness of therapy. Animal models of spontaneously occurring tumours often progress much faster than the human form of the disease. Many canine tumour models are very similar or even identical to their human counterparts,<sup>76,77</sup> and the natural canine model may represent an ideal testing ground for novel compounds directed at the CSC.

# References

- Moore KA and Lemischka IR. Stem cells and their niches. *Science* 2006; **311**: 1880–1885.
- 2. Pierce GB and Johnson LD. Differentiation and cancer. *In Vitro* 1971; 7: 140–145.

- Potter VR. Phenotypic diversity in experimental hepatomas: the concept of partially blocked ontogeny. The 10<sup>th</sup> Walter Hubert Lecture. *British Journal of Cancer* 1978; 38: 1–23.
- Failkow PJ, Jacobson RJ and Papayannopoulou T. Chronic myelocytic leukaemia: clonal origin in a stem cell common to the granulocyte, erythrocyte, platelet and macrophage/monocyte. *American Journal of Medicine* 1977; 63: 125–130.
- Al-Hajj M and Clarke MF. Self-renewal and solid tumor stem cells. Oncogene 2004; 23: 7274–7282.
- Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF and Weissman IL. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. *Nature* 2001; **414**: 105–111.
- Park CH, Bergsage DE and McCulloc EA. Mouse myeloma tumour stem cells: primary cell culture assay. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute* 1971; 46: 411.
- Huntly BJ and Gilliland DG. Leukaemia stem cells and the evolution of cancer-stem-cell research. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 2005; 5: 311–321.
- Kamel-Reid S, Letarte M, Sirard C, Doedens M, Grunberger T, Fulop G, Freedman MH, Phillips RA and Dick JE. A model of human acute lymphoblastic leukemia in immune-deficient SCID mice. *Science* 1989; 246: 1597–1600.

- Lapidot T, Sirard C, Vormoor J, Murdoch B, Hoang T, Caceres-Cortes J, Minden M, Paterson B, Caligiuri MA and Dick JE. A cell initiating human acute myeloid leukaemia after transplantation into SCID mice. *Nature* 1994; **367**: 645–648.
- 11. Sirard C, Lapidot T, Vormoor J, Cashman JD, Doedens M, Murdoch B, Jamal N, Messnor H, Addey L, Minden M, Laraya P, Keating A, Eaves A, Lansdorp PM, Eaves CJ and Dick JE. Normal and leukemic SCID-repopulating cells (SRC) coexist in the bone marrow and peripheral blood from CML patients in chronic phase, whereas leukemic SRC are detected in blast crisis. *Blood* 1996; 87: 1539–1548.
- Bonnet D and Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. *Nature Medicine* 1997; 3: 730–737.
- FidlerIJ and Kripke ML. Metastasis results from preexisting variant cells within a malignant tumor. *Science* 1977; 197: 893–895.
- Fidler IJ and Hart IR. Biological diversity in metastatic neoplasms: origins and implications. *Science* 1982; 217: 998–1003.
- 15. Heppner GH. Tumor heterogeneity. *Cancer Research* 1984; **44**: 2259–2265.
- Nowell PC. Mechanisms of tumor progression. Cancer Research 1986; 46: 2203–2207.
- Southam CM and Brunschwig A. Quantitative studies of autotransplantation of human cancer. *Cancer* 1961; 14: 971–978.
- Reynolds BA, Tetzlaff W and Weiss S. A multipotent EGF-responsive striatal embryonic progenitor cell produces neurons and astrocytes. *Journal of Neuroscience* 1992; 12: 4565–4574.
- Ignatova TN, Kukevov VG, Laywell ED, Suslov ON, Vrionis FD and Steindler DA. Human cortical glial tumors contain neural stem-like cells expressing astroglial and neuronal markers in vitro. *Glia* 2002; 39: 193–206.
- Gibbs CP, Kukekov VG, Reith JD, Tchigrinova O, Suslov ON, Scott EW, Ghivizzani SC, Ignatova TN and Steindler DA. Stem-like cells in bone sarcomas: implications for tumorigenesis. *Neoplasia* 2005; 7: 967–976.
- Fults D, Pedone C, Dai C and Holland EC. MYC expression promotes the proliferation of neural progenitor cells in culture and in vivo. *Neoplasia* 2002; 4: 32–39.
- 22. Holland EC, Celestino J, Dai C, Schaefer L, Sawaya RE and Fuller GN. Combined activation of Ras and Akt in neural progenitors induces glioblastoma formation in mice. *Nature Genetics* 2000; **25**: 55–57.

- 23. Dai C, Celestino JC, Okada Y, Louis DN, Fuller GN and Holland EC. PDGF autocrine stimulation dedifferentiates cultured astrocytes and induces oligodendrogliomas and oligoastrocytomas from neural progenitors and astrocytes in vivo. *Genes and Development* 2001; **15**: 1913–1925.
- 24. Hemmati HD, Nakano I, Lazareff JA, Masterman-Smith M, Geschwind DH, Bronner-Fraser M and Kornblum HI. Cancerous stem cells can arise from pediatric brain tumors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2003; **100**: 15178–15183.
- 25. Singh SK, Clarke ID, Terasaki M, Bonn VE, Hawkins C, Squire J and Dirks PB. Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors. *Cancer Research* 2003; 63: 5821–5828.
- 26. Singh SK, Hawking C, Clarke ID, Squire JA, Bayani J, Hide T, Henkelmen RM, Cusimano MD and Dirks PB. Identification of human brain tumour initiating cells. *Nature* 2004; **432**: 396–401.
- Galli R, Binda E, Ortanelli U, Gritti A, De Vitis S, Fiocco R, Foroni C, Dimeco F and Vescovi A. Isolation and characterization of tumorigenic, stemlike neural precursors from human glioblastoma. *Cancer Research* 2004; 64: 7011–7021.
- Dontu G, Abdallah WM, Foley JM, Jackson KW, Clarke MF, Kawamura MJ and Wicha MS. In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. *Genes and Development* 2003; 17: 1253–1270.
- Dontu G, Jackson KW, McNicholas E, Kawamura MJ, Adallah WM and Wicha MS. Role of Notch signaling in cell-fate determination of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. *Breast Cancer Research* 2004; 6: R605–R615.
- 30. Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ and Clarke MF. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2003; **100**: 3983–3988.
- Abraham BK, Fritz P, McClellan M, Hauptvogel P, Athelogou M and Brauch H. Prevalence of CD44+/ CD24-/low cells in breast cancer may not be associated with clinical outcome but may favor distant metastasis. *Clin Cancer Res* 2005; 11: 1154–1159.
- 32. Balic M, Lin H, Young L, Hawes D, Guiliano A, McNamara G, Datar RH and Cote RJ. Most early disseminated cancer cells detected in bone marrow of breast cancer patients have a putative breast cancer stem cell phenotype. *Clin Cancer Res* 2006; 12: 5615–5621.
- 33. Seaberg RM and Van der Kooy D. Stem and progenitor cells: the premature desertion of

rigorous definitions *Trends in Neurosciences* 2003; **26**: 125–131.

- Reynolds BA and Rietze RL. Neural stem cells and neurospheres-re-evaluating the relationship. *Nat Methods* 2005; 2: 333–336.
- 35. O'Brien CA, Pollett A, Gallinger S and Dick JE. A human colon cancer cell capable of initiating tumour growth in immunodeficient mice. *Nature* 2006.
- Ricci-Vitiani L, Lombardi DG, Pilozzi E, Biffoni M, Todaro M, Peschle C and De Maria R. Identification and expansion of human colon-cancer-initiating cells. *Nature* 2006.
- 37. Goodell MA, Rosenzweig M, Kim H, Marks DF, DeMaria M, Paradis G, Grupp SA, Sieff CA, Mulligan RC and Johnson RP. Dye efflux studies suggest that hematopoietic stem cells expressing low or undetectable levels of CD34 antigen exist in multiple species. *Nature Medicine* 1997; 3: 1337–1345.
- 38. Zhou S, Schuetz JD, Bunting KD, Colapietro AM, Sampath J, Morris JJ, Lagutina I, Grosveld GC, Osawa M, Nakauchi H and Sorrentino BP. The ABC transporter Bcrp1/ABCG2 is expressed in a wide variety of stem cells and is a molecular determinant of the side-population phenotype. *Nature Medicine* 2001; 7: 1028–1034.
- 39. Scharenberg CW, Harkey MA and Torok-Storb B. The ABCG2 transporter is an efficient Hoechst 33342 efflux pump and is preferentially expressed by immature human hematopoietic progenitors. *Blood* 2002; **99**: 507–512.
- Bunting KD. ABC transporters as phenotypic markers and functional regulators of stem cells. *Stem Cells* 2002; 20: 11–20.
- Doyle LA and Ross DD. Multidrug resistance mediated by the breast cancer resistance protein BCRP (ABCG2). Oncogene 2003; 22: 7340–7358.
- 42. Patrawala L, Calhoun T, Schneider-Broussard R, Zhou J, Claypool K and Tang DG. Side population is enriched in tumorigenic, stem-like cancer cells, whereas ABCG2+ and ABCG2- cancer cells are similarly tumorigenic. *Cancer Research* 2005; 65: 6207–6219.
- Taipale J and Beachy PA. The Hedgehog and Wnt signalling pathways in cancer. *Nature* 2001; 411: 349–354.
- 44. Pardal R, Clarke MF and Morrison SJ. Applying the principles of stem-cell biology to cancer. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 2003; **3**: 895–902.
- Behbod F and Rosen JM. Will cancer stem cells provide new therapeutic targets? *Carcinogenesis* 2005; 26: 703–711.

- Jacobs JJ, Kieboom K, Marino S, DePinho RA and Van Lohuizen M. The oncogene and Polycombgroup gene bmi-1 regulates cell proliferation and senescence through the ink4a locus. *Nature* 1999; 397: 164–168.
- 47. Lessard J and Sauvageau G. Bmi-1 determines the proliferative capacity of normal and leukaemic stem cells. *Nature* 2003; **423**: 255–260.
- 48. Glinsky GV, Berezovska O and Glinskii AB. Microarray analysis identifies a death-from-cancer signature predicting therapy failure in patients with multiple types of cancer. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation* 2005; **115**: 1503–1521.
- 49. Weng AP and Aster JC. Multiple niches for Notch in cancer: context is everything. *Current Opinion in Genetics and Development* 2004; 14: 48–54.
- Hoemann CD, Beaulieu N, Girard L, Rebai N and Jolicoeur P. Two distinct Notch1 mutant alleles are involved in the induction of T-cell leukemia in cmyc transgenic mice. *Molecular and Cell Biology* 2000; 20(11): p. 3831–42.
- Dievart A, Beaulieu N and Jolicoeur P. Involvement of Notch1 in the development of mouse mammary tumors. Oncogene 1999; 18: 5973–5981.
- 52. Nicolas M, Wolfer A, Raj K, Kummer JA, Mill P, Van Noort M, Hui CC, Clevers H, Dotto GP and Radtke F. Notch1 functions as a tumor suppressor in mouse skin. *Nature Genetics* 2003; 33: 416–421.
- Hanahan D and Weinberg RA. The hallmarks of cancer. *Cell* 2000; 100: 57–70.
- Argyle DJ and Nasir L. Telomerase: a potential diagnostic and therapeutic tool in canine oncology. *Veterinary Pathology* 2003; 40: 1–7.
- Ju Z and Rudolph KL. Telomeres and telomerase in cancer stem cells. *European Journal of Cancer* 2006; 42: 1197–1203.
- Lendahl U, Zimmerman LB and McKay RD. CNS stem cells express a new class of intermediate filament protein. *Cell* 1990; 60: 585–595.
- 57. Polyak K and Hahn WC. Roots and stems: stem cells in cancer. *Nature Medicine* 2006; **12**: 296–300.
- Reya T and Clevers H. Wnt signalling in stem cells and cancer. *Nature* 2005; 434: 843–850.
- 59. Cozzio A, Passegue E, Ayton PM, Karsunky H, Cleary ML and Weissman IL. Similar MLLassociated leukemias arising from self-renewing stem cells and short-lived myeloid progenitors. *Genes and Development* 2003; 17: 3029–3035.
- 60. Jamieson CH, Aillies LE, Dylla SJ, Muijtjens M, Jones C, Zehnder JL, Gotlib J, Li K, Manz MG, Keating A, Sawyers CL and Weissman IL. Granulocyte-macrophage progenitors as candidate leukemic stem cells in blast-crisis CML. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2004; **351**: 657–667.

- 61. Kai T and Spradling A. Differentiating germ cells can revert into functional stem cells in Drosophila melanogaster ovaries. *Nature* 2004; **428**: 564–569.
- 62. Passegue E, Jamieson CH, Ailles LE and Weissman IL. Normal and leukemic hematopoiesis: are leukemias a stem cell disorder or a reacquisition of stem cell characteristics? *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2003; **100**(Suppl. 1): 11842–11849.
- 63. Gunsilius E, Duba HC, Petzer AL, Kahnler CM, Grunewald K, Stockhammer G, Gabl C, Dirnhofer S, Clausen J and Gastl G. Evidence from a leukaemia model for maintenance of vascular endothelium by bone-marrow-derived endothelial cells. *Lancet* 2000; 355: 1688–1691.
- Mueller MM and Fusenig NE. Friends or foes bipolar effects of the tumour stroma in cancer. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 2004; 4: 839–849.
- 65. Bjerkvig R, Tysnes BB, Aboody KS, Najbauer J and Terzis AJ. Opinion: the origin of the cancer stem cell: current controversies and new insights. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 2005; **5**: 899–904.
- Lapidot T, Dar A and Kollet O. How do stem cells find their way home? *Blood* 2005; 106: 1901–1910.
- 67. Terskikh AV, Easterday MC, Li L, Hood L, Kornblum HI, Geschwind DH and Weissman IL. From hematopoiesis to neuropoiesis: evidence of overlapping genetic programs. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2001; **98**: 7934–7939.
- 68. Kucia MM, Reca R, Miekus K, Wanzeck J, Wojakowski W, Janowska-Wieczorek A, Ratajczak J and Ratajczak MZ. Trafficking of normal stem cells and metastasis of cancer stem cells involve similar mechanisms: pivotal role of the SDF-1-CXCR4 axis. *Stem Cells* 2005; 23: 879–894.
- 69. Macpherson H, Keir P, Webb S, Samuel K, Boyle S, Bickmore W, Forrester L and Dorin J. Bone marrow-derived SP cells can contribute to the respiratory tract of mice in vivo. *Journal of Cell Science* 2005; **118**(Pt 11): 2441–2450.
- 70. Brabletz T, Jung A, Spaderna S, Hlubek F and Kirchner T. Opinion: migrating cancer stem cells – an integrated concept of malignant tumour

progression. *Nature Reviews. Cancer* 2005; **5**: 744–749.

- Sell S. Stem cell origin of cancer and differentiation therapy. *Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology* 2004; 51: 1–28.
- 72. Guzman ML, Swiderski CF, Howard DS, Grimls BA, Rossi RM, Szilvassy SJ and Jordan CT. Preferential induction of apoptosis for primary human leukemic stem cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2002; **99**: 16220–16225.
- Jain M, Arvanitis C, Chu K, Dewey W, Leonhardt E, Trinh M, Sundberg CD, Bishop JM and Felsher DW. Sustained loss of a neoplastic phenotype by brief inactivation of MYC. *Science* 2002; 297: 102–104.
- Jones RJ, Matsui WH and Smith BD. Cancer stem cells – are we missing the target? *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 2004; 96: 583–585.
- 75. Bhatia R, Holtz M, Niu N, Gray R, Snyder DS, Sawyers CL, Arber DA, Slovak ML and Forman SJ. Persistence of malignant hematopoietic progenitors in chronic myelogenous leukemia patients in complete cytogenetic remission following imatinib mesylate treatment. *Blood* 2003; 101: 4701–4707.
- 76. Gorlick R, Anderson P, Andrulis I, Arndt C, Beardsley GP, Bernstein M, Bridge J, Cheung NK, Dome JS, Ebb D, Gardner T, Gebhardt M, Grier H, Hansen M, Healey J, Helman L, Hock J, Houghton J, Houghton P, Huvos A, Khanna C, Kieran M, Kleinerman E, Ladanyi M, Lau C, Malkin D, Marina N, Meltzer P, Meyers P, Schofield D, Schwartz C, Smith MA, Toretsky J, Tsokos M, Wexler L, Wigginton J, Withrow S, Schoenfeldt M and Anderson B. Biology of childhood osteogenic sarcoma and potential targets for therapeutic development: meeting summary. *Clinical Cancer Research* 2003; **9**: 5442–5453.
- 77. Khanna C, Lindblad-Toh K, Vail D, London C, Bergman P, Barber L, Breen M, Kitchell B, McNeil E, Modiano JF, Niemi S, Comstock KE, Ostrander E, Westmoreland S and Withrow S. The dog as a cancer model. *Nature Biotechnology* 2006; 24: 1065–1066.